

# Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Acts as a Risk Factor for the Development of Early Stage Alzheimer's Disease

Men Su

# ► To cite this version:

Men Su. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Acts as a Risk Factor for the Development of Early Stage Alzheimer's Disease. Molecular biology. Université Paris Saclay (COmUE), 2017. English. NNT: 2017SACLS121. tel-02826760

# HAL Id: tel-02826760 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02826760v1

Submitted on 7 Jun2020

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.







NNT: 2017SACLS121

# THESE DE DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITE PARIS-SACLAY PREPAREE A L'UNIVERSITE PARIS-SUD INSTITUT DES NEUROSCIENCES PARIS-SACLAY

ECOLE DOCTORALE N°568 : BIOSIGNE Signalisations et Réseaux Intégratifs en Biologie

Spécialité de doctorat : Aspects moléculaires et cellulaires de la biologie Neurosciences

Par

Mme Su Men

# Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus acts as a risk factor for the development of early stage Alzheimer's disease

## Thèse présentée et soutenue à Orsay, le 6 Juin 2017

## **Composition du Jury :**

Dr. Davis Sabrina	Chargée de recherche	University of Paris-Saclay	Directrice de thèse
Dr. Ferreira Guillaume	Directeur de recherche	University of Bordeaux	Rapporteur
Pr. Kelly Aine	Professeur	University of Dublin	Rapporteur
Dr. Daumas Stéphanie	Maitre de conférences	University of Sorbonne	Examinateur
Pr. Taouis, Mohammed	Professeur	University of Paris-Saclay	Président du jury

#### Acknowledgements

Time passed so quickly and it has been three years and half since I came to France. Now it is almost the end of my PhD study. I have learned and experienced a lot of new things in this period, it will remain a great treasure in my life. Here I'd like to give my best wishes and thanks to many people.

I would like to thank very much all jury members again, Pr. Aine Kelly, Dr. Guillaume Ferreira, Pr. Mohammed Taouis and Dr. Stéphanie Daumas; thanks so much for accepting to act as reviewers and examiners and evaluate my thesis in a short period of time. I would like to give my great thanks to Dr. Stéphanie Daumas as tutor, Dr. Benoît Delatour as external adviser in my study who both gave great advices on the project.

I'd like to give my special thanks to my supervisor Dr. Sabrina Davis, who gave me lots of help and excellent guidance during the study. She was really responsible for the project and my study, teaching me a lot in both scientific training and writing. I learned a lot from her on scientific attitude in research. Besides, she was also very kind and helped a lot out of the experiments; from finding an accommodation for me before I came to France and being patient with my poor English and correcting all the time during these 3 years and a half. I hope my English has improved and did not disappoint her. I also want to thank her so much for her help on lots of administrative things and lots of signatures....

Here I thank so much Dr. Serge Laroche for giving me so much help in my study, for correcting and giving advices on my thesis. He always encourages and motivates me during the study, and gave so many helps in my life from dealing with my administrative things in the lab/university to Visa problems.... He was patient spending time with my "problems" to call and ask again and again to try to solve them out one by one.... I really really appreciate all of these.

I also give my thanks to Nathalie Samson and Kambiz Naderi, who helped a lot in the project; Nathalie, she was always very kind and helped a lot in the animal experiments; Kambiz, as a postdoc in our group, did some of the western-blotting experiments; he was kind to give me advices and I could ask questions at any time, even after he left the lab. Here I also would like to thank a lot the people from the animal facility.

I am also very grateful to all of colleagues from the institute, Dr. Cyrille Vaillend, Dr. Valérie Enderlin and office friends, who always helped a lot and encouraged me during this time. Alexandra Gros, Rémi Chaoussenot, Ophélie Vacca and Medhi Belmaati; who helped a lot in my life in the lab. Due to my Zero French, I always had so many problems; they were always very kind and helpful at any time. Alex and Remi were my first colleagues in the lab; they helped me dealing with my 'situation' from lab life to my bank account.... Similarly, Ophélie and Medhi, they also gave great help and encouraged me during my wiring period. I am really glad to have met them all, and we had happy times in the lab and out of the lab. I am also very grateful to other students from the lab, Charlotte, Claire, Florian, who also gave me help; maybe for them just small easy things, but it means a lot for me. As a foreigner in the France, everything was new and these things could be a problem for me. But I am lucky to have met such great people form the lab, giving help so that I was able to focus on my work.

In addition, I would like to say thanks to my friends who I met here, I am very glad to have met these people, who gave me great memories of my stay in France, my lovely Mongolian, Chinese and European friends; especially Suli, Zhimin, Jinjin, Jingfang, Elena, Aruna, Mailas and Thomas. Special thanks to Jinjin, Qiqi and Jingfang, who were always encouraging me as a family when my motivation was getting down. I also would like to thank a lot the families of Kim and Liyang.

At last, I'd like to thank Pr. Michael Schumacher and Mr. Laurent Surdi, the director and secretary of ED419 Biosigne, Université Paris Sud, within which I am enrolled; I also give my thanks to the director of Paris Saclay Institute of Neuroscience (Neuro-PSI), CNRS, Dr. Philippe Vernier and leader of department Cognition and Behavior, Dr. Jean-Marc Edeline; thanks for accepting and giving me a great chance to work in the team. I also express my deep thanks to the China scholarship council and to the MEMOLOAD project for financial support for my stay in France.

To my parents and brother,

# Table of contents

List of figures, tables and boxes	3
Preamble	5
Introduction	9
1 Alzheimer's Disease	9
1.1 Clinical Assessment of Alzheimer's Disease	9
1.2 Pathological assessment of AD	10
1.2.1 Topographical Distribution	11
1.2.2 Clinicopathological correlations	11
1.3 Identification of amyloid plaques and the Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis	12
1.4 Rodent models of the disease	13
1.5 Immunisation Therapy and Clinical Trials	19
1.6 Biological processing of the Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP)	20
1.6.1 Cleavage of APP and its proteolytic fragments	21
1.6.2 Soluble ectodomains	22
1.6.3 P3 Fragment	22
1.6.4 AICD Fragment	23
1.6.5 Aβ Peptide	23
1.7 Standardisation of early AD staging with objective biomarkers of the disease	25
2 Lifestyle risk factors for the development of Alzheimer's Disease	
2.1 Ageing and Cognitive Reserve	
2.2 Environmental Enrichment in rodents	
2.3 Exercise	
2.4 Caloric restriction	34
3 Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM)	36
3.1 Diagnosis and classification for T2DM	
3.1.1 Diagnosis criteria	
3.1.2 Classification	
3.2 Insulin and glucose regulation	
3.2.1 Glucose	
3.2.2 Insulin	
3.2.3 Insulin-stimulated glucose regulation	
3.3 Pathology of T2DM	
3.3.1 Insulin resistance and hyperglycemia	
3.3.2 Pancreatic β-cell failure	40

3.4 Obesity as a risk factor for developing T2DM pathogenesis	41
3.5 Rodent Models of T2DM	43
3.5.1 Diet induced obesity (DIO)	43
3.5.2 STZ injected models	44
3.5.3 STZ injection coupled with HF diet	44
3.6 Cognitive deficits in T2DM	46
3.6.1 Cognitive changes in T2DM patients	46
3.6.2 Deficits in Memory and Synaptic Plasticity in models of obesity and T2DM	47
4 Links between Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer's Disease	48
4.1 T2DM and AD in Humans	48
4.2 Animal studies	48
4.3 Mechanisms associated with common pathologies	49
4.3.1 Insulin Regulation	49
4.3.2 Insulin-PI3K/Akt signalling pathway	51
4.3.3 Autophagy	52
4.3.4 Glucose metabolism	52
4.3.5 Inflammation	54
4.3.6 Apoptosis	56
Objectives	63
Results (manuscript of article)	65
General discussion10	03
References11	17
List of abbreviations15	59

## List of figures, tables and boxes

#### List of figures:

Figure 1. The amyloid cascade hypothesis of AD
Figure 2. Different genetic APP and PS1 mutations found in FAD
Figure 3. Proteolytic processing of APP within the anti-amyloidogenic and amyloidogenic pathways
Figure 4. Formation and toxicity mechanisms of extracellular Aβ oligomers
Figure 5. Dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade
Figure 6. Theoretical illustration of how cognitive reserve may mediate the relationships between AD neuropathology and cognitive function
Figure 7. Insulin-stimulated glucose transport is dependent on the activation of PI3K-Akt signalling pathway
Figure 8. Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus
Figure 9. Natural history of the adaptation of β-cells to obesity and diabetes
Figure 10. The consequences of energy imbalance in obesity
Figure 11. Insulin signalling in the CNS
Figure 12. NF<sub>K</sub>B as a central factor in pro-ageing and longevity pathways
Figure 13. Modulation of apoptotic injury by Wnt and Akt pathways

#### List of tables:

- Table 1A. Pathology in the models of AD transgenic mice
- Table 1B. Cognitive deficits and synaptic plasticity changes in AD mice models
- Table 2. Risk factors of AD
- Table 3. Diagnosis criteria of diabetes
- Table 4. Comparison of DIO and STZ induced models
- Table 5. Changes of key proteins in AD, T2D and obesity in literature

#### List of boxes:

- Box 1. Stages of Alzheimer's disease
- Box 2. Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP)
- Box 3. Imaging studies of AD markers
- Box 4. Classification of diabetes mellitus

### Preamble

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a chronic and progressive form of neurodegeneration, and is the leading cause of age-related dementia. It is characterized by early memory loss that rapidly progresses to deficits in speech and visuospatial perception, mental confusion and complete loss of intellectual function (Goedert and Spillantini, 2006). It increasingly impairs daily activities, induces mood disturbances and leaves the patient totally dependent on carers. Finally, there is loss of body and brain function that results in death.

The number of individuals diagnosed with AD today has already reached catastrophic levels. The World Alzheimer Report (2016) estimated that there are about 47 million people with dementia throughout the world and this is growing dramatically; it is predicted to increase to more than 131 million by 2050 (Prince et al., 2016) with much of the increase in developing countries. The total estimated worldwide cost of dementia was US \$604 billion in 2010 and a tentative estimate of an 85% increase in costs by 2030 has been made (Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI), 2010). In our current world of increased life expectancy and population growth this presents not only a huge global health concern, but has already become a massive socio-economic burden.

Despite knowing about the disease for over 100 years, currently there is no substantial treatment to prevent or stem its development. This is not from lack of experimental effort or financial support; over the past 10 years alone, PubMed registered 67, 465 publications on AD by December, 2016 and the amount of money poured into research has been US \$818 billion (World Alzheimer Report, 2016). Yet still the question as to how the disease is triggered remains unanswered. Partly this is due to the fact it is a notoriously difficult disease to diagnose at the early stages as it has a slow onset; and partly due to the prevailing Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis (Hardy and Higgins, 1992) that became the major driving force, channelling research down specific avenues to develop therapeutic strategies to treat the disease (Hansen et al., 2008; Wollen, 2010).

Alzheimer's disease was first described by Alois Alzheimer in 1901 when he encountered a 51 year old woman suffering 'strange' behavioural symptoms including short-term memory loss (Maurer et al., 1997). Post mortem examination of her brain in 1906 showed the presence of senile plaques or Amyloid Plaques (APs) associated with abnormal clusters of fibrils or Neurofibrillary Tangles (NFTs) in neurons. Later in 1912, Kraeplin defined 'Alzheimer's Disease' as a rare degenerative disease in 'young' subjects (Maurer et al., 1997; Goedert and Ghetti, 2007). Some 20 years later, based on assessment of several family pedigrees, AD was recognised as having, at least in some cases, a hereditary-based autosomal dominant form, Familial Alzheimer's Disease (FAD; Mullan et al., 1992) or what is known now as Early Onset Alzheimer's Disease until the mid-1980's and early 1990's when the core component part of the senile plaque was identified as amyloid (Glenner and Wong, 1984) and localised to the amyloid precursor

protein (APP) gene on chromosome 21 (Levy et al., 1990). Later genes encoding Presenilin 1 on chromosome 14 and Presenilin 2 on chromosome 1 (Levy-lahad et al., 1995; Rogaev et al., 1995; Sherrington et al., 1995) were identified. Despite evidence from post mortem studies that suggested dementia follows the progression of NFTs and cell loss rather that APs; and that other pathologies, not specific to AD were detected post mortem, research would focus on amyloid pathology as the causal lesion of the disease and dementia. The first mouse model showing amyloid pathology and memory deficits was published in 1995 (Games et al., 1995); and was rapidly followed by the first indication that amyloid beta (A $\beta$ ) immunisation could attenuate plaque load in these mice in 1999 (Schenk et al., 1999). Quite remarkably the first clinical trial, based on preclinical results in mice was terminated in 2002 at phase II as several patients developed autoimmune meningoencephalitis (Orgogozo et al., 2003). Subsequent analyses of the brains of these patients showed that although plaque load was attenuated there was no improvement in cognition nor prolongation of life (Holmes et al., 2008); and between 1984 until 2014, more than 100 drug trial have resulted in failure (see review by Schneider et al., 2014). Furthermore, more than 50 compounds have been tested in phase II, but none has passed phase III of clinical trials (see Bachurin, et al., 2017).

Across the same period of time huge experimental input was made into (i) understanding the pathological processing of amyloid and the attendant proteins associated with the process; (ii) the discovery of different species of soluble  $A\beta$ , (iii) development of biomarkers and live imaging techniques to identify plaques in demented and non-demented aged persons. This would result in accumulating evidence to suggest non-AD specific processes may have a more important role in the disease process than originally proposed; and epidemiological studies suggest the disease is subject to environmental risk factors (Chen et al., 2009; Nicolia et al., 2015). Despite the evidence that would potentially query the causal role of APs in the development of dementia; it was essentially ignored by a large and influential part of the scientific community, who doggedly adhered to the Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis supporting a causal role in development of the pathology and dementia. Only more recently is this being substantially challenged and alternative strategies to determine what triggers AD pathology being pursued (see Struble et al., 2010; Herrup, 2015). Most notably are the potential roles that lifestyle risk factors may have in creating a neuronal environment for the early development of AD, or at least the dementia associated with the disease; are coming to the forefront of research.

The introduction of my thesis is organised in 4 chapters; where the first chapter focuses on Alzheimer's disease. Here I describe the clinical features of this disease and development and anatomical distribution of the two major lesions that define the disease. Then, secondly; I take a relatively historical stance to describe how the driving force of research was based on the notion that the amyloid plaque was the critical causal trigger of the pathology and dementia. Thirdly, as the role of the amyloid plaque in the disease process and dementia collapsed; I describe our understanding of the processing of amyloid and how it may be implicated in the disease and more recent evidence from imaging studies in humans; that introduces the potential effect that risk factors may have in promoting the disease. The following 3 chapters

are dedicated to describing the major risk factors that have been associated with AD (chapter 2); with a focus on Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) as the most important factor of risk for AD after ageing (chapter 3) and lastly, I describe the common pathologies and deregulated functions between T2DM and AD and certain underlying mechanisms that may suggest T2DM has a critical role in promoting AD.

## Introduction

#### 1 Alzheimer's Disease

#### 1.1 Clinical Assessment of Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) has been, and to a certain extent still is, defined by the classic pathological lesions; the widespread presence of amyloid plaques (APs) and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs); and brain atrophy due to neuronal loss (Gómez-Isla et al., 1996; Heininger, 1999; Dickson and Vickers, 2001). Until more recently, with the development of different imaging technologies to identify the presence of biomarkers of the development of these lesions (Johnson et al., 2012), clear-cut identification of the disease has only been post mortem. Therefore, assessment was solely based on clinical diagnosis. Currently assessment of AD follows a number of stages where memory impairment signals the first indication of the potential development of the disease with mild cognitive impairment (MCI; Petersen, 2004).

#### Stages of Alzheimer's disease

Memory deficits constitute the central element of the clinical assessment of AD; they are early and manifest themselves under a form of progressive forgetting of recent facts and episodic memories (Conway,

2009; Tromp et al., 2015). These deficits implicate several memory systems (Heindel et al., 1989), which include working (Stopford et al., 2012; Kirova et al., 2015), and semantic (Hodges et al., 1992; Giffard et al., 2008) memory, whereas other systems such as memory procedural are conserved for ล comparatively longer time (Cohen and Squire, 1980; Deweer et al., 1994). The major problem arises from attempting to understand the very early stages of the disease. where it is possible to dissociate what

#### Box 1. Stages of Alzheimer's disease

**Stage 1**- Normal: This is considered a non-AD stage, with no subjective or objective symptoms of memory deficits.

Stage 2- Normal Aged Forgetfulness: The earliest stage where memory deficits are as reported mild but are difficult to distinguish from healthy aged persons. Individuals report difficulties in recalling names or where they have placed objects. At this stage, there is no ability to predict whether an individual will develop AD or not.

Stage 3- Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI): Memory deficits at this stage are subtle and can manifest themselves in the form of repeated queries, suggesting working memory deficits. Ability to perform executive skills required for job performance or mastering new skills, organizing social events and concentration may also be compromised. Evidence suggests that not all people with MCI with develop AD, it is considered a 'border stage', but those with memory deficits are predicted to go on and develop AD (Korolev et al., 2016). When symptoms become overtly noticeable, the subject is commonly midway or near the end of this stage.

Stage 4- Mild AD: Memory impairment at this stage is frank and overt. Deficits are prominent in episodic memory, where they have difficulty in recall of recent personal memories, such as a holiday or visit to a relative. Semantic memory, such as weather conditions or the name of famous persons at this stage is relatively intact. Because of these deficits, daily life, such as managing personal finances becomes compromised. There is a flattening of mood, denial of decline in intellectual capacity and withdrawal from social situations.

Stage 5- Moderate AD: Deficits are sufficient to make independent living difficult. Cognitively, there is further decline in episodic memory with a decline in semantic memory as well. Recall of remote memories becomes lost; spatial orientations and intellectual capacity starts to decline; for example, a tendency to get lost becomes apparent and ability to count back from 100 in 2's is compromised.

Stage 6- Moderately Severe AD: At the earliest, patients require assistance in dressing and bathing, and progresses into a decline in personal hygiene. Advancement in the stage results in urinary and then fecal incontinence. Cognitive deficits advance to severe levels with little or no knowledge of daily life events and complete loss of current events. Recall of personal information such as where they were born or former occupation is lost and identity of close family members is confused. At the later part of this stage patients suffer anxiety, and outbursts of aggressive and violent behaviour. Speech deficits are manifest where patients stutter and there is increasing paucity of speech.

Stage 7- Severe AD: This stage marks the decline into death; intellectual capacity is lost; speech is reduced to a minimal number of unintelligible words, followed by loss of ability to move. Patients now start to show physiological decline with development of joint deformities, and decline in neurological reflexes and the emergence of infantile or primitive reflexes, such as a grasping and sucking reflex. Most patients will then die of pneumonia but other causes are stroke, heart attack and cancer.

is described as normal ageing from pathological ageing. Reisberg and colleagues have described 7 stages of AD, existing in a continuum with normal ageing (Reisberg et al., 1999). No single age can pinpoint the start of the clinical syndrome, as at the earliest stage is difficult to distinguish 'normal' cognitive ageing from that which would develop into AD; and depending on the lifestyle history of the individual AD may start earlier or later (see also details in section 1.7). In general, however when individuals have been clinically diagnosed with AD they have of the order of 8-10 years to live (see Box 1; Reisberg et al., 1999; Feldman and Qadi, 2006).

#### 1.2 Pathological assessment of AD

That which defines AD over and above other forms of dementia and neurodegenerative diseases consists of the widespread presence of the amyloid plaques (APs), neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) neuropil threads, and dystrophic neurites containing hyperphosphorylated tau (Terry, 1994; Mandelkow and Mandelkow, 1998; Trojanowski and Lee, 2000; Crews and Masliah, 2010). These are accompanied by astrogliosis and microglial activity (Itagaki et al., 1989; Beach et al., 1991) and the characteristic loss of neurons, neuropil and synaptic elements (Terry et al., 1991; Gomez-Isla et al., 1997; Scheff, et al., 2006).

Amyloid plaques (APs) are insoluble proteinacious deposits of misfolded A $\beta$  peptides. These are released from the Amyloid Precursor protein (APP) in soluble forms, either A $\beta$ 40 or A $\beta$ 42 (LaFerla et al., 2007). A $\beta$ 42 is the species that has the greatest propensity to self-aggregate into fibrils that with time become compacted into dense cores surrounded by an outer sphere of A $\beta$  (Jarrett and Lansburry, 1993). They are intermingled with neuronal, astrocytic and microglial processes, known as dystrophic neurites and often contain packets of paired helical filaments and abnormal mitochondria (Hirai et al., 2001; Fiala et al, 2007). These are the classic APs that have been detected post mortem, but in addition there is the presence of diffuse plaques; amorphous deposits that lack a morphologically identifiable substructure and are not associated with a glial response or synaptic loss (Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011). Both morphologically defined  $\beta$ -amyloid plaque variants are now known to be present in both early and late stages of AD. Finally, more recently, other species of soluble and semi soluble A $\beta$  have been identified (see section 1.6.5).

The other major lesion is the neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs). Electron microscopy has identified NFTs as intracellular pairs of fibrils about 10 nm in diameter that are folded into helices. They are principally composed of abnormally phosphorylated Tau protein (Brion, 1985; Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986; Kosik et al., 1986). This protein is normally expressed in axons, but its abnormal phosphorylation interferes with the stabilisation of the microtubule network and the proteins accumulate in the form of paired helical filaments (PHFs) in the cytoplasm (Xie et al., 1998; Sergeant et al., 2005). Dysfunctional Tau affects intracellular transport and the morphology and viability of neurons, ultimately driving them to death via apoptosis (Lassman et al., 1995; Smale et al., 1995; Troncoso et al., 1996). A number of kinases are known to phosphorylate Tau, such as GSK3β (Baum et al., 1998), CaMKII, cAMP-PKC (Litersky et al., 1996), PKA (Zheng-Fischofer et al., 1998), Cdk5 (Maccioni et al., 2001) and DYRK2 and DYRK IA (Woods et al., 2001),

but their sequential action or the particular kinases responsible for excessive phosphorylation of Tau and dissociation of the microtubules are unknown.

#### 1.2.1 Topographical Distribution

Despite the widespread accumulation of APs and NFTs throughout the brain at end stages of AD, progression of the two lesions follow a different spatio-temporal pattern of distribution. APs start to accumulate in the isocortex; mainly in layers II-V (Braak and Braak, 1991; Thal et al., 2002). From then, according to Thal and colleagues there are another 4 stages; APs spread to allocortical regions such as the entorhinal cortex; hippocampal formation, amygdala, insular and cingulate cortex during stage 2 and are present in subcortical nuclei such as striatum, basal forebrain cholinergic nuclei, thalamus, hypothalamus and white matter by stage 3. By stage 4 they are present in brainstem structures including the red nucleus, substantia nigra, reticular formation of the medulla oblongata and superior and inferior colliculi. Finally stage 5 sees APs in the pons and molecular layer of the cerebellum (Thal et al., 2002).

The spatiotemporal pattern of progression of NFTs is much more predictable than that of the APs. Braak and colleagues (Braak and Braak, 1991; Braak et al., 2006) describe the progression in 6 stages, where they first appear in the transentorhinal cortex, then CA1 of the hippocampus by stage II. At stage III NFTs appear in the subiculum; and then spread to the amygdala, thalamus and claustrum in stage IV. Finally, by stage V and VI, they are present in all isocortical areas, with associative cortical areas being affected earlier and more severely in stage V than the later primary sensory, motor and visual areas in stage VI.

#### 1.2.2 Clinicopathological correlations

Numerous studies have shown that the level and distribution of NFTs correlate much better with the severity of AD than the APs (Arriagada et al., 1992; Gomez-Isla et al., 1997; Ingelsson et al., 2004). Moreover, the spatiotemporal appearance of NFTs matches the staging of cognitive deficits rather than their widespread distribution. For example, early impairment in episodic memory can be explained by the isolation of the hippocampus from the association isocortex. This is followed by NFT invasion of multimodal high order association isocortical regions that may account for the progressive loss of cognitive functions such as executive function, apraxia, visuospatial navigation, and semantic memory associated with full-blown dementia. By contrast, the late involvement of the primary motor, sensory and visual isocortical regions explains the sparing of these functions until the end stage of the disease (Hyman et al., 1984; Braak and Braak, 1991).

Closely associated with the classic pathology is the loss in brain weight and volume that affects many regions. Much of the loss of volume appears to be due to the shrinkage and loss of neuronal processes (Palop and Mucke, 2010). Regional and laminar neuronal loss matches NFTs rather than APs, but within the same region neuronal loss exceeds the number of NFTs. In addition to neuronal loss there is also loss of synapses, which is not only due to the loss of neurons as synapse loss can predate that of neurons, resulting in the loss of connections within neuronal circuits, suggesting synaptic density to be the best

correlate of cognitive decline (Scheff et al., 1990; 1993; 2006; Masliah et al., 1994; Ingelsson et al., 2004). Longitudinal studies in communities of non-demented aged persons have shown at post mortem they have a high amyloid plaque load that matches the regional distribution of pathological changes see in AD (Arriagada et al., 1992).

Together evidence at the time would show (i) a high amyloid load in non-demented aged individuals; (ii) progression of the two lesions do not follow each other, NFTs start in transentorhinal/hippocampal regions and progress to cortical regions; whereas APs follow the opposite progression, suggesting they may be independent pathological events; (iii) staging of clinical decline follows NFT lesions better than AP lesions; and (iv) memory deficits more closely correlate with cell and synapse loss than either of the two lesions. Together, the data could at the extreme level suggests that neither of the hallmark lesions may have a direct causal role in the cognitive deficits and dementia (see section 1.6.5). Nonetheless, despite even early evidence to suggest APs may not be directly linked with the dementia associated with AD, the Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis was unleashed on the scientific community in 1992 and would direct research over the next 20-25 years.

#### 1.3 Identification of amyloid plaques and the Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis

From the mid 1980's the core protein associated with amyloid plaques was identified (Glenner and Wong, 1984; Masters et al., 1985; St. George et al., 1987). Later, mutations in the APP and the Presenilin genes were identified in families with early onset FAD (Levy et al., 1990; Levy-lahad et al., 1995; Rogaev et al., 1995; Sherrington et al., 1995).

Based largely on these mutations identified in FAD; Hardy and Higgins postulated their Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis (1992). Quite simply the hypothesis stated that "the main component of the plaques is the causative agent of Alzheimer's pathology and that neurofibrillary tangles, cell loss, vascular damage and dementia follow as a direct result of this deposition" (Hardy and Higgins, 1992). Although this hypothesis would be applicable to the genetic form of the disease, which even in the 1990's was considered to be a rare form of AD, it was deemed to be of significant importance in understanding both the familial and sporadic forms of the disease (see Figure1; Blennow et al., 2010). Subsequently this hypothesis would then become the driving force behind the generation of transgenic mice modeling different mutations in the familial form of the disease and lead rapidly to clinical trials designed to reduce plaque load in the brain. The key feature of this hypothesis was that it is longitudinal, where all pathological events observed in AD patients, including NFTs and cell loss; and the ensuing dementia; are all downstream of APs. Later versions of the theory would suggest soluble species of A $\beta$  is the key triggering mechanism. The main point being that the theory precludes other pathological events having a causal role in inducing the pathology and/or the dementia.



**Figure 1. The amyloid cascade hypothesis of AD.** According to the amyloid hypothesis, pathological processing of APP leads to increased brain concentration of  $A\beta$  oligomers, which in turn leads to amyloid plaque deposition. The plaques and/or more soluble  $A\beta$  can lead to synaptic dysfunction, neuronal death and dementia, tau pathologies and other pathologies like inflammation and oxidative stress (Blennow et al., 2010).

#### 1.4 Rodent models of the disease

#### Development of the Pathology

The first generation transgenic mice engineered to model amyloid pathology over-expressed wildtype APP, either as the full length protein (Quon et al., 1991; Wirak et al., 1991; Mucke et al., 1994) or as C-terminal, amyloidogenic fragments (Kawabata et al., 1991; Sandhu et al., 1991; Kammesheidt et al., 1992). Most of these transgenic mouse models had two features in common: they failed to show increased levels of APP RNA and the development of amyloid plaques (see Elder et al., 2010).

This 'benign' means of attempting to induce amyloid pathology was rapidly dropped in favour of engineering the second generation transgenic mice over-expressing mutated forms of APP or the Presenilins that mimicked different families with the genetic form of the disease (see Figure 2). To date a number of different murine models have been generated (see Table 1A), and in general can be classified as (a) point mutations on the APP and/or the A $\beta$  peptide; (b) a combination of mutations in APP and Presenilin-1 (PS1), and (c) multiple mutations in APP, PS1 and Tau.

The 2 murine lines with point mutations in APP that have produced the most prolific data are the PDAPP over expressing the 'Indiana' mutation at position 717 (Games et al., 1995) and the Tg2576 model that over-expresses the 'Swedish' double mutation on APP695 on K670N and M671L (Hsiao et al., 1996). Both models show progressive deposits of APs, dystrophic neurites, apoptosis, synapse loss and gliosis.



Figure 2. Different genetic APP and PS1 mutations found in FAD. The amyloid peptide sequence is represented in gray and below shows the amino acid sequence. Numbering above the sequence represents the amino-acid numeration based on the full length of the APP and where point mutations have been identified in known cases of FAD. Numeration below the sequence represents that of the  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide. Small arrows indicate scission by the 3 secretases and the large arrows indicate the position and amino-acid substitutions of the different FAD families (modified from Davis and Laroche, 2003).

Frank fibrillar amyloid deposits appear around 6-10 months in hippocampus and cortical regions; although the development of pathology in PDAPP mice appears to be more aggressive than that in Tg2576 mice. At 6-9 months, when aggregated amyloid deposits are present they are already associated with astrocytosis and dystrophic neuritis and there is a decrease in synaptic activity indicated by reduced levels of synaptophysin (Games et al., 1995); however, this occurs later in Tg2576 mice, at 11 months (Irizarry et al., 1997). Despite the lack of Aps at an early age, both mouse models show certain pathophysiological events; such as a reduction in synaptic spine density in CA1 between 2-5 months in PDAPP mice (Lanz et al., 2003), and increased levels of A $\beta$ 40 (x5) and A $\beta$ 42 (x14) at 6 months of age in Tg2576 mice (Hsiao et al., 1996). The major features lacking in both models are the presence of NFTs, although both show hyperphosphorylated Tau (Masliah et al., 2001; Dobarro et al., 2013; Sherman et al., 2016), and cell loss (Irizarry et al. 1997; Masliah et al., 2001; Cuadrado-Tejedor et al. 2013; Sherman et al., 2016).

Based on Swedish families harbouring mutations in the Presenilin gene a number of double mutations in APP and PS1 were overexpressed (reviewed in Wisniewski and Sigurdsson, 2010; Marchetti and Marie 2011). In general, they show similar pathology to that observed in APP transgenic mice, but it is accelerated in these mice; an increase in Aβ42 starts as early as 6 weeks followed by age dependent increase in both Aβ42 and Aβ40 and widespread fibrillary deposits at 3-4 months and a further substantial increase by 6-7 months in the hippocampus and cortex (Borchelt et al. 1997; Holcomb et al. 1998). At 6-7 months, reactive astrocytosis appears around Aβ deposits (Holcomb et al., 1998; Duffy and Hölscher, 2013) with accompanying dendritic spine loss, thining of dendrites and breakages ajacent to APs (Tsai et al., 2004; Wisniewski and Sigurdsson, 2010). As with the APP transgenic mice there is no development of

NFTs but hyperphosphorylation of Tau (Ramos-Rodriguez et al. 2013; Ruan et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2016) and some neuronal loss in hippocampus or cerebral cortex, in association with caspase dependent apoptosis (Long et al. 2013; Soto et al. 2016). Importantly, PS1 mutations alone selectively elevate Aβ42, but there is no overt plaque pathology (Duff et al., 1996).

The key feature of the 3xTg mice is in addition to mutations in APP and PS1, there is an additional mutation in Tau, despite the general consensus that Tau mutations are not associated with the pathology in AD. Nonetheless, as both mutations in APP and APPxPS1 do not result in NFTs or substantial cell loss that has always been associated with NFTs, these mouse models were developed in an attempt to model how the full-blown pathology may impact cognitive function and synaptic plasticity (Selkoe, 2001: Oddo et al. 2003). The first 3xTg AD mouse carrying the PS1M146V, APPswe and tauP301L human mutations (Oddo et al. 2003) produced the closest recapitulation of AD pathology, as there was progressive development of both classical lesions, with a similar spatio-temporal distribution as seen in humans. Expression levels of APP or Tau are doubled in the hippocampus and cortex by 4 months and extracellular Aβ immunoreactivity is first detected in the neocortex at 3-4 months and subsequently in the hippocampus by 6 months. Aβ deposits first become apparent at 6 months in the frontal cortex, and are readily evident in different cortical regions and the hippocampus by 12 months. By 18 months these deposits are thioflavin S positive and co-localise with reactive astrocytes (Oddo et al. 2003). Different stages of Tau pathology, such as hyperphosphorylation and subsequent NFTs are initiated in the hippocampus at 12 months and progress to the neocortex, showing amyloid pathology develops much earlier than Tau pathology (Oddo et al. 2003; Watamura et al. 2016).

#### Development of cognitive deficits

Several groups have tested memory capacity and synaptic transmission and plasticity in the models described above, however there are comparatively few studies and they lack consistency largely due to the different paradigms used, the age at which mice are tested and variations in mutations and promoters (see Table 1B). Three most commonly used memory tests in which memory deficits have been observed are working memory (Blodgett and Mccutchan, 1947; Vanderwolf, 1964), spatial learning and memory (Barnes, 1979; Morris et al. 1982) and recognition memory (Ennaceur and Delacour 1988; Dunnett, 1993; Davis et al., 2013; See review by Webster et al., 2014). The majority of electrophysiological studies has been conducted in the hippocampus, most frequently in CA1 in vitro (Larson et al., 1999; Jacobsen et al., 2006; D'Amelio, et al., 2011) and have shown deficits in both synaptic transmission (Larson et al., 1999; Mitchell et al. 2009; D'Amelio et al., 2011) and plasticity (Chapman et al., 1999; Giacchino et al., 2000; Trinchese et al., 2004; Hartman et al., 2005; See Marcheitti and Marie, 2011; Pozueta et al., 2013). Some studies have shown when memory deficits occur, deficits in synaptic transmission (Jacobsen et al., 2006; D'Amelio et al., 2011) and plasticity (Larson et al., 1999; Giacchino et al., 2000) also occur in the hippocampus. In general, there are few studies that show progressive impairment once the deficit occurs. Two studies in spatial memory have shown this; one has shown PDAPP transgenic mice have a deficit prior to the onset of amyloid deposits (4 months) that significantly deteriorates with age (17-19 months; Hartman et al., 2005).

Another has shown progressive exacerbation in spatial reference memory in Tg2576 mice after the age of 6 months until the age of 20-25 months (Westerman et al., 2002). Despite these 2 studies a major limitation of these models is that there is at least one, if not more studies that show no deficit in either memory (Arendash et al., 2001) or synaptic transmission (Chapman, 1999; Giacchino et al., 2000; Michell et al., 2009) or plasticity (Giacchino et al., 2000; Fitzjohn et al., 2001). Thus, although most studies show dissociation between ages at which mice show normal memory and then a deficit, there is little convincing evidence of a subsequent progressive decline with ages (see Table 1B).

APP/PS1 transgenic mice show similar deficits in memory and synaptic plasticity to other mouse models with the exception that; in general, they occur earlier (approximately 3 months). However, some inconsistencies occur with other studies showing deficit at later ages (Holcomb et al., 1999; Arendash et al., 2001). Discrepancies also occur in reports on whether LTP is impaired or not (Fitzjohn et al., 2010; Pozueta et al., 2013), and at what age it occurs (Gong et al., 2004; Gurevicience et al., 2004; Trinchese et al., 2004; Gengler et al., 2010). However, there is general consistency in as much as deficits in LTP are usually associated with memory impairment (Trinchese et al., 2004; 2008; Yoshiike et al., 2008) and appearance of amyloid pathology (Trinchese et al., 2004; Chang et al., 2006; Gengler et al., 2010).

3xTg mice show progressive memory deficits in passive avoidance, associative learning and spatial memory at 3 months. This is followed by deficits in alternation memory, fear conditioning (6-8 months), and recognition memory (9-11 months); with deficits in reference memory in Barnes maze at 12-14 months (Billings et al., 2005; Clinton et al., 2007; Halagappa et al., 2007). Although some reports have shown no memory deficits at early ages (3-5 or 9-11 months), there is consistency in the deficits that start from 12 months onwards (Gimenez-Llort et al., 2007; Pietropaolo et al., 2008). Few studies of synaptic transmission and plasticity have been conducted, but these show a decrease in basal glutamatergic synaptic transmission and LTP in CA1 between 5 and 6 months (Oddo et al., 2003; Giannopoulos et al., 2014).

In general, none of the mouse models that have faithfully mimicked human FAD have recapitulated the full-blown AD pathology, neither do they show progressive decline in memory deficits with age. Only the 3xTg mouse line, that is not a strict model of AD, more faithfully mimics the pathology and progressive memory decline. It is not surprising this model better mimics the pathology as it is designed to do that, but the better fit with memory decline, might better argue for a more important role for Tau in inducing memory deficits as suggested from human pathological studies. All models show inconsistent results in early stage deficits in memory and synaptic transmission and plasticity. Whether this would reflect early variability observed in humans developing the disease is difficult to assess as there are relatively few studies and much of the variability could be attributed to the different learning and memory paradigms used and the different ages at which they are tested. Key questions relating to the validity of these models, particularly in terms of Aps inducing dementia and exactly what stage of AD they were modeling were essentially ignored, in favour of developing treatments to clear plaque load.

Table 1A. Pathology in the models of AD transgenic mice

Model	Aβ deposits	Tau pathology	Loss Neurons	Inflammation		
PDAPP Indianna	6-9 months Progressive	14 months phosphorylation	No	8 months Astroglyosis		
Tg2576 Swedish	6 months Progressive	9-10 months phosphorylation	No	11 months Astro- microgliosis		
APP/PS1 Swedish	3-4 months Progressive	7-8 months phosphorylation	14-23 months Hippocampus; Locus coeruleus	6-7 months Astroglyosis		
APP/PS1KI	2.5 months Progressive					
3×Tg AD Swedish; PS1; Tau	3-4 months Progressive	12 months phosphorylation + NFT	Ctx layer III: 4 months CA1: 8-11 months	3-18 months Astroglyosis		
5 x FAD Swedish; Florida; London; 2xPS1	2 months Progressive	12 months phosphorylation + NFT	9 months Cortex, Subiculum	2-10 months Astro- microgliosis		
APP23 Swedish	6 months Progressive	6-15 months phosphorylation	No	12 months Astro- microgliosis		
Tg CRND8 Swedish, Indianna	5 months Progressive					
APP J20 Swedish, Indianna	6-7 months Progressive					
APP V717I London	10-12 months Progressive		No			
APP Femish	No		No			
APP Swedish; Dutch; Iowa	7-10 months Progressive					
PS1	No					
PS1 KI	None					
PS1 cKO	decrease Aβ production					
PS cDKO	None	9 months 6 months Tau phosphorylation cortex		6-10 months Astrogliosis, Apoptosis		
APP/Tau P301L Swedish	10-12 months Progressive	14-18 months NFT: Hippocampus				
Tau (different types)	None	phosphorylation; NFTs	Yes, but not all	Axonal degeneration Astro- microgliosis		

Table indicates the age (in months) at which pathology appears in the brains of models of AD (see Figure 2 for details on the transgenic mouse lines). Empty cells indicate where there is no available data. Table is based on reviews by (Wisniewski and Sigurdsson, 2010; Marchetti and Marie, 2011; Pozueta et al., 2013). And references included in reviews (Games et al., 1995; Holcomb et al., 1998; King and Arendash 2002; Flood et al., 2002; Oddo et al., 2003; Ohno et al., 2006; Sturchler-Pierrat et al., 1997; Chishti et al., 2001; Mucke et al., 2000; Moechars et al., 1999; Kumar-Singh et al., 2000; Davis et al., 2004; Duff et al., 1996; Guo et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2001; Saura et al., 2004; Terwel et al., 2008; Boekhoorn et al., 2006).

		Working Memory		Spatial Reference Memory		Recognition memory		Basal Synaptic Transmission		Paired Pulse Facilitation		LTP	
	Aβ deposits (months)	No Deficit	Deficit	No Deficit	Deficit	No Deficit	Deficit	No Change	Decrease	No Change	Decrease	No Change	Decrease
PDAPP	6-9	3-9	13-21		3-19+	3-5; <mark>6-19</mark>	6-11	3-5; 24+	4-6; 24+	24+	24+; 4-6	3-5; 24+	3-6; 17- 20; 24+
Tg2576	6	1-2; <mark>3-18</mark>	3-19	1-2	6-19	6-8; 15-18	12-18	2-9; 12-18	3-6; 12- 13; 18-19	3-18	8-9	2-9; 12-19	4-18
APP/PS1	3-4	3-8; 15-18	3-5; 9-19	1-11	6-19	6-8	12-14	2-20	6-9	2-24+		2-20	3-13
APP/PS1KI	2.5	6-8	9-19+	6-11	15-19+			3-24+	9-24+	3-24+	3-7	9-24+	
3×Tg AD	3-4	3-5	6-14	1-5; 9-11	3-18	6-8	9-18	1-2	6-7	1-2; 6-7		1-2; 9-13	5-13
5xFAD	2	1-5	<u>5</u> -14		3-11		3-14	3.5-4	6	6		3.5-4	6
APP23	6	15-18	19+	1-2	3-19		3-8	3-13; 24+	12-13; 18-19	3-5; 12- 13		3-13;18- 19; 24+	3-5; 12-13
Tg CRND8	5	1-2	6-11		3-14		1-3	2-6		2-6	2-3	2-6	
APP J20	6-7	12-14	3-19+		3-14	3-5; 15-18	1-14	3-6	3-7	3-6	3-7	3-6	3-7
APP V717I	10-12				3								
APP-Flemish	None				3								
APP Swe/Dutch/Iowa	7-10				3								
PS1	None	12		4-9; 12		4-6					2-13; <b>??</b>		??
APP/Tau P301L	10-12						4-6						4-6
PS1 KI	None			4-6	3						??		??
PS1 cKO	decrease Aβ production			4-6	5-8			3-6		3-6		3-6	
PS cDKO	None				2								6

Table 1B. Cognitive deficits and synaptic plasticity changes in AD mice models

Deficits in different types of memory and aspects of synaptic transmission and plasticity in different transgenic models of AD. The deficit is observed and the range at which deficits in memory or decrease in physiological response appear. Values and "??" in red indicate age ranges where there are inconsistencies in the results. Those in blue indicate an increase in physiological response. It is important to note are some models show no evidence of frank amyloid pathology but still show deficits in memory or physiological response. Empty cells indicate where there is no available data. Table is based on reviews by (Wisniewski and Sigurdsson, 2010; Marchetti and Marie, 2011; Pozueta et al., 2013; Webster et al., 2014).

#### 1.5 Immunisation Therapy and Clinical Trials

On the strength of the results from transgenic mouse models, it was deemed sufficiently important to focus on potential strategies for developing therapies to reduce or eliminate plaques. In the mid 1990's Solomon and colleagues demonstrated that monoclonal antibodies against A $\beta$  could dissolve aggregated plaques and prevented soluble A $\beta$  from aggregation *in vitro* (Solomon et al., 1996; Solomon et al., 1997). Thus, was born the target strategy for immunotherapy; using either active immunotherapy, where injections of fibrillar A $\beta$  would stimulate the immune system or passive immunotherapy using injections of monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies against A $\beta$ .

The first study was conducted in the PDAPP mouse using active immunization. The results showed a reduction in amyloid pathology in older mice, and prevent development of the pathology in younger mice (Schenk et al., 1999). A number of other papers followed showing similar reduction in amyloid pathology in other transgenic mice using both active (Morgan et al., 2000; Das et al., 2001) and passive immunization (Vevites et al., 2006; Zago et al., 2012). In most cases the reduction in amyloid pathology resulted in the rescue of cognitive deficits (Janus et al., 2000; Morgan et al., 2000). However, in some studies only certain memory deficits were rescued (Billings et al., 2005; Mably et al., 2015), and in others improvement in memory was observed using passive immunization but no reduction in pathology (Dodart et al., 2002). Thus, as with the characterization of behavioural deficits associated with Tg mutant mice, few studies have been conducted and there is variability in the results. This, then questions whether immunotherapy, either active or passive, would pose a valid therapy for AD.

The first human phase 1 safety trial (AN1792) was stared in December of 1999 using active immunization against A $\beta$  plaques (Lemere and Masliah, 2010). The second phase was started in October 2001 with a total of 372 AD patients with mild to moderate AD, but was terminated in January 2002, as 6% of the patients developed aseptic meningoencephalitis and leukoencephalopathy and died (Orgogozo et al., 2003). The death however was due to the proinflammatory effect of the adjuvant (Lue and Walker, 2002; Nicoll et al., 2003; Monsonego et al., 2006). Despite termination of the study, follow up testing was continued in the remaining subjects and a number of adverse effects were detected, including infection, confusion, accidental injury, irritability, etc. (see Bayer et al., 2005); whether these were due to the adjuvant or the treatment is not clear. However, possibly the most damning result from this trial showed that although amyloid plaques were cleared from the brain, there was no overall improvement in cognitive function or disease progression (Nicoll et al., 2003; Holmes et al., 2008).

Nonetheless, second generation active immunization and passive immunization treatments using mono-and polyclonal antibodies to target smaller fragments and small molecules were developed. Following the failure of the AN1792 trial some 53 clinical trials based on positive preclinical trials to reduce amyloid load were started. Thirteen have been positively discontinued, 10 are still in the pipe line, the majority have either not been registered for further Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved clinical stages, while a small number have been approved for other treatment such as epilepsy (AGB101) and pain

(Ibuprofen). More importantly none has been approved for treatment of AD (see Mullane and Williams, 2013; St-Amour et al., 2016).

The failure of treatments was due mainly to lack of improvement in cognition, failure of efficient clearance of plaques or development of severe side effects. It was argued that drugs need to be refined and treatment should be started at an earlier age. However, the worst case in terms of the validity of the hypothesis that Aps have a causal role in the dementia; and the transgenic mice modelling human AD was that in which there was clearance of APs with no substantial improvement in cognition.

Based on these results, and the fact that the transgenic mice do not develop full AD pathology as predicted by the Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis, it would suggest that amyloid plaques have no causal role in triggering the downstream pathological events and the ensuing dementia in humans. However, ongoing research into understanding the processing of amyloid and live imaging in humans would suggest that if not the amyloid plaque then the amyloid peptide may have a functional role in the aetiology of the disease.

#### 1.6 Biological processing of the Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP)

This is a large ubiquitously expressed, transmembranal glycoprotein of about 110-140 kDa (see Box 2 for details). It is synthesized in the endoplasmic reticulum and transported through the Golgi and Trans Golgi network (TGN) to undergo posttranslational modification during maturation and then is delivered to the plasma membrane in TGN-derived secretory vesicles (Koo et al., 1990). The Trans Golgi network (TGN) is the major site of resident APP in neurons (see Jiang et al., 2014).

The principle interest in the protein is that it harbours the AB peptide that can be released from the APP by a series of cleavage events in amyloidogenic an manner, however it also undergoes non-amyloidogenic cleavage under socalled normal physiological processing.

#### Box 2. Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP)

APP: a complex protein in terms of structure, function and how it is processed. It contains a number of motifs and cleavage sites for metabolic fragments that together endow the protein with a number of potential functions, be they beneficial or detrimental. In addition it can undergo alternative splicing at exons 7 and 8 to produce three major isoforms; APP695, APP751, and APP770 that are distinguished by size and the presence or absence of certain functional domains: APP751 lacks the OX.2 domain and APP695 lacks both the OX.2 domain and the KPI domain. In brain, APP695 is the predominant isoform expressed in neurons (Kang et al., 1987; Haass et al., 1991); whereas the longer forms are expressed in non-neuronal cells (Rohan de Silva et al., 1997).

Starting at the extracellular N-terminal domain there is a signaling peptide, followed by an E1 domain that has binding domains for heparin (Small et al., 1994), zinc (Bush et al., 1993) and copper (Hesse et al., 1994). Binding at these sites allows dimerisation that can stabilize the protein to allow cell adhesion and ligand binding (see Dawkins and Small, 2014); characteristics that suggest it could act as a receptorlike entity (Deyts et al., 2016). The longer isoforms; APP751 and APP770 contain the kunitz protease inhibitory (KPI) domain (Kang et al., 1987); potentially involved in wound healing (Van Nostrand et al., 1991) and/or neuronal cell growth (Wang and Reiser, 2003); and an OX.2 domain (Kitaguchi et al., 1988), that may be involved in cell surface recognition and binding (Dawkins and Small, 2014). This is followed by an E2 domain that also readily dimerises and may act in a similar manner to the E1 domain. Evidence suggests dimerisation of APP facilitates synapse formation (Wang et al., 2009; Baumkotter et al., 2014). The E2 domain is followed by the Aβ peptide spanning part of the extracellular and the membranal domain, and finally a C-terminal cytoplasmic domain that contains a number of serine/threonine phosphorylation sites for at least PKC, CaMKII; JNK and GSK3β. Phosphorylation on these residues can modulate APP trafficking and signal transduction (Tamayev et al., 2009; Schettini et al., 2010). In general the full length protein under physiological conditions has been associated with cell adhesion, synaptic transmission and plasticity, neurogenesis, cell movement, neurite outgrowth and learning and memory and it has been putatively suggested it may act as a G-protein or receptor (Dodart et al., 2000; Soldano and Hassan, 2014; Deyts et al., 2016).

#### 1.6.1 Cleavage of APP and its proteolytic fragments

APP undergoes a number of posttranslational modifications; the most classically defined is cleavage within 2 mutually exclusive pathways, the amyloidogenic pathway that leads to the production of A $\beta$ , and the non-amyloidogenic pathway which prevents generation of the full length A $\beta$  peptide and consequentially was described as a benign pathway (Haass et al., 2012). Cleavage in both pathways occur in 2 consecutive events by three major secretases: (i)  $\alpha$ -secretase, a potential member of the ' $\alpha$ -disintegrin and metalloprotease' (ADAM) family (Allinson et al., 2003); (ii)  $\beta$ -secretase or BACE-1 (Hussain et al., 1999; Sinha et al., 1999; Lin et al., 2000); and (iii)  $\gamma$ -secretase, a transmembranal complex of 4 protein subunits that contain Presenilin 1 (PS1) or 2 (PS2) and nicastrin (DeStrooper et al., 1998; Yu et al., 2000; Kimberly et al., 2003).

In the non-amyloidogenic pathway the first cleavage event is induced by  $\alpha$ -secretase, which sheds a soluble fragment, the APP $\alpha$  (APP $\alpha$ ) predominantly at the cell surface (Parvathy et al., 1999), leaving the remaining C-terminal fragment, CTF83 (LaFerla et al., 2007). It is subsequently cleaved by the  $\gamma$ -secretase in the membrane to release a P3 fragment containing the stub of the A $\beta$  peptide from the C-terminal APP

intracellular domain (AICD: LaFerla et al., 2007; Haass et al., 2012; see Figure 3). If it is not cleaved, it is internalised into endosomal compartments where it is either recycled back to the cell surface or delivered to lysosomes for degradation (Norstedt et al., 1993; Caporaso et al., 1994). In the amyloidogenic pathway, βsecretase first sheds a soluble ectodomain, sAPPß from the remaining C-terminal fragment, CTF99 (LaFerla et al., 2007) at the last amino acid of the A $\beta$ .  $\gamma$ secretase then cleaves the full length AB peptide at the Cterminal AICD domain (LaFerla et al., 2007; Haass et al., 2012). The  $\beta$ -secretase requires an acidic environment for optimal activity and the majority of  $\beta$ -cleavage occurs in the endosomes (Haas et



Figure 3. Proteolytic processing of APP within the anti-amyloidogenic and amyloidogenic pathways. APP can undergo proteolytic processing by one of two pathways. In non-amyloidogenic pathway enzymatic cleavage is mediated by  $\alpha$ -secretase. Cleavage by  $\beta$ -secretase occurs within the A $\beta$ domain, thereby preventing the generation and release of the A $\beta$  peptide. Two fragments are released, the larger ectodomain (sAPP $\alpha$ ) and the smaller carboxy-terminal fragment ( $\alpha$ APP CTF or C83), which further can undergo an additional cleavage mediated by  $\gamma$ -secretase to generate P3. In amyloidogenic pathway, it is cleaved by  $\beta$ -secretase, releasing an ectodomain (sAPP $\beta$ ), and retaining the last 99 amino acids of APP ( $\alpha$ APP CTF or C99) within the membrane, then subsequently cleaved 38–43 amino acids from the amino terminus to release A $\beta$ , by the  $\gamma$ -secretase complex. This cleavage predominantly produces A $\beta$ 40, and the more amyloidogenic A $\beta$ 42 at a ratio of 10:1. AICD, APP intracellular domain. (LaFerla et al., 2007; Haass et al., 2012).

al., 1992; Golde et al., 1992; Vassar et al., 1999), however, it can also be found at the cell surface (see review by Zhang et al., 2012). In addition to cleaving A $\beta$ ,  $\beta$ -secretase has other substrates, but as with APP all substrates are transmembranal proteins (Vassar et al., 2009). The  $\gamma$ -secretase is localised at the plasma membrane and endosomal/lysosomal compartments (see Haass et al., 2012), however it is not clear whether the different locations of cleavage are associated with the two different pathways.

#### 1.6.2 Soluble ectodomains

The shedding of soluble proteolytic fragments in either pathway can mediate beneficial or detrimental effect. The soluble APPα fragment can stimulate cell and neuronal growth (Araki et al., 1991 Milward et al., 1992); partly by regulation of stem cells (Caille et al., 2004; Kwak et al., 2006) and have protective effects against traumatic brain injury (Thornton et al., 2006) and ischaemic injury in CA1 (Smith-Swintosky et al., 1994). Furthermore, it is associated with memory formation and facilitation (Roche et al., 1994; Meziane et al., 1998; Anderson et al., 1999; Taylor et al., 2008) and synaptic plasticity (Taylor et al., 2008). More importantly, lower levels of sAPPα have been found in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of AD patients compared with healthy subjects (Lannfelt et al., 1995) and their impaired spatial memory correlates with the level of sAPPα (Almkvist et al., 1997).

The soluble APP $\beta$  fragment cleaved in the amyloidogenic pathway is also endowed with some beneficial trophic properties; however, it has 100-fold lower potency than sAPP $\alpha$  in protecting hippocampal cells against excitotoxicity, A $\beta$  induced toxicity and glucose deprivation (Furukawa et al., 1996) and has no effect on synaptic plasticity (Taylor et al., 2008). As neurotrophic effects mediated by APP are at least in part mediated via the heparin binding sites, it is possible that the more potent effects of sAPP $\alpha$  over sAPP $\beta$  may be mediated in the first 16-17 amino acids of the A $\beta$  peptide.

#### 1.6.3 P3 Fragment

Following cleavage of APP in either the amyloidogenic or non amyloidogenic pathways, the second cleavage event is by the  $\gamma$ -secretase in both pathways. In the non-amyloidogenic pathway, the P3 fragment, which corresponds to a 3 kDa truncated A $\beta$  peptide is released from the AICD fragment and has been observed in diffuse plaques (Gowing et al., 1994; Iwatsubo et al., 1996), some dystrophic neurites around Aps and vesicle structures in the temporal lobes in AD brains (Higgins et al., 1996) and as fleecy deposits in the entorhinal cortex (Thal et al., 1999). Originally P3 was thought to be a benign form of amyloid as it was associated with diffuse plaques that lack amyloid with a fibrillary structure (Dickson 1997). However, it contains all structural requirements for fibril assembly (Higgins et al., 1996), adopts a  $\beta$ -sheet conformation and rapidly aggregates (Pike et al., 1995). P3 lacks the hydrophilic tail of the A $\beta$  peptide in the first 16-17 residues that permit them to stabilise in a soluble form. In fact, Dulin et al. (2008) have shown the highly hydrophobic P3 rapidly forms fibrils, passing through no intermediary soluble forms. P3 has been associated with apoptosis, although at a lower level of potency than A $\beta$  plaques (Wei et al., 2002) and promotes an inflammatory response (Szczepanik et al., 2001). Thus, as a fibrillary form of A $\beta$ , processed by the non-amyloidogenic pathway, it beggars the questions of how benign this pathway is in AD pathology.

#### 1.6.4 AICD Fragment

The intracellular AICD fragment is a product cleaved in both the amyloidogenic and nonamyloidogenic pathways by the  $\gamma$ -secretase. The dominant AICD fragment is 50 amino acids in length, however other species, AICD48/51/53 also exist that may be due to alternative cleavage at the  $\varepsilon$ -site (Sato et al., 2003; Müller et al., 2008). This fragment of the APP can be involved in a number of functions that may potentially be related to different putative phosphorylation sites regulated by kinases such as CaMKII. PKC GSK3β and JNK. In addition, it has certain protein binding motifs that allow it to bind to G-protein subunits; a caspase cleavage motif; an endocytotic signalling motif; and a number of site for adaptor proteins to bind to enhance regulation at this fragment (see Deyts et al., 2016). Importantly when AICD is cleaved in the non-amyloidogenic pathway it is destined for degradation by proteolytic processes; however, in the amyloidogenic pathway phosphorylation at a Thr668 site induces conformational change in the endocytotic motif that makes it less vulnerable to degradation and cleavage by caspases. It promotes interaction with the adaptor protein Fe65 and subsequent translocation to the nucleus (Chang et al., 2006). And, although not fully confirmed; AICD could putatively translate a number of genes associated with AD pathology, including APP, BACE, GSK3β (von Rotz, 2004), EGFR (Zhang et al., 2007) neprilysin (Belyaev et al., 2009), low density lipoprotein-receptor related family proteins (LRP1; Liu et al., 2007) and p53 (Chechler et al., 2007).

#### 1.6.5 Aß Peptide

The nexus of amyloid pathology is the A $\beta$  peptide. It is between 40-42/43 amino acids in length. The majority of the cleaved A $\beta$  peptide is 40 amino acids in length, only about 10% of the cleaved product is between 42-43 amino acids (Jarrett et al., 1993). Following cleavage, it is released from presynaptic sites and subsequently accumulates close to nerve terminals (Haass et al., 2012). It is released as a monomer and then proceeds to self-assemble into different soluble oligomers including dimers, trimers, putative dodecamer A $\beta$ -derived diffusible ligands (ADDLs) and annular protofibrils (APFs) prior to aggregating into the insoluble compacted plaques observed post mortem (see Glabe, 2008; Wang et al., 2016).

It was originally considered that the dense core amyloid plaque would grow in size and number with the progression of the disease and ultimately be the cause of the progressive decline in cognitive function. However, more contemporary research has shown that soluble, rather than dense-core plaques are more detrimental to the pathology. In fact, some have gone so far as to suggest that intracellular soluble oligomers are the most toxic forms of the peptide (Yankner et al., 1989; Lesne et al., 2006; Panza et al., 2011) and Aps might even be a protective pathway whereby  $A\beta$  is exported from the cell and aggregates into fibrils to reduce the burden of intracellular oligomers (Lorenzo and Yankner, 1994; Tiwari and Kepp, 2015).

Monomeric species are considered to be relatively ineffective, however as with all species of Aβ the neuronal environment can impact on its processing. For example, if monomeric Aβ is exposed to high concentrations of Aβ or form contact with metal ions it can form oligomers and fibrillary aggregations (Drago et al., 2008; Hung et al., 2010; Sharma et al., 2013). When fibrillary occurs, these soluble oligomeric species

have been shown to induce a slew of toxic and dysfunctional events that relate far better with memory deficits and synapse dysfunction than the aggregated fibrillary species. Evidence shows that soluble non-fibrillar A $\beta$  levels correlated strongly with the severity of the disease (McLean et al., 1999) and synaptic loss (Lue et al., 1999). Moreover, different species of soluble A $\beta$  appear at different times during life and are associated with different stages of AD. In humans, trimers are the earliest endogenous species of A $\beta$ , and can appear as early as 1 year of age in humans; as opposed to dimers that do not appear until about 50-60 years of age (Larson and Lesne, 2012). A $\beta$ \*56 a dodecamer, appears to peak during the preclinical stage of the disease and then decrease at the MCI stage and in AD patients, suggesting this may form in the ageing brain prior to and serve as a building block for amyloid plaques (Lesne, 2013). Some of these species have also been identified in transgenic mice, for example in Tg2576, A $\beta$ \*56 dodecamer appear around 6 months and remain relatively stable for up to 15 months of age, whereas other species; soluble monomers, insoluble monomers, dimers, trimers accumulate with monomers and dimers sharply increasing at 12 months (Larson and Lesne, 2012).

Experimental studies, infusing or injecting either extracts from human brains or synthetic fragments of the amyloid peptide can impair memory (Terranova et al., 1996; Cleary et al., 2005; Sipos et al., 2007; Eslamizade et al., 2016), synaptic plasticity and/or loss of synaptic function (Cullen et al., 1997; Walsh et al., 2002; Wang, et al., 2004; Townsend et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2010).

Evidence suggests this can be mediated extracellularly, by binding to and rendering dysfunctional several receptor types, including AMPA, NMDA,



Figure 4. Formation and toxicity mechanisms of extracellular A $\beta$  oligomers. A $\beta$  is released extracellularly as a product of proteolytically cleaved, plasma membranelocalized amyloid precursor protein (APP). Extracellular Aß oligomers can be formed in the presence of GM1 ganglioside on the cell membrane. GM1 induces Aß oligomerinduced neuronal cell death mediated by nerve growth factor (NGF) receptors. Toxic nonfibrillar A $\beta$  is also produced in the presence of  $\alpha$ B-crystallin and ApoJ. A cellular prion protein (PrPC) acts as an Aß oligomer receptor with nanomolar affinity, and mediates synaptic dysfunction. Furthermore, the membrane pore is formed by AB oligomers. The pores allow abnormal flow of ions, such as Ca2+, which causes cellular dysfunction. Binding of Aβ oligomers to the NMDA-type glutamate receptor (NMDAR) also causes abnormal calcium homeostasis, leading to increased oxidative stress and synapse loss. Binding of AB oligomers to the Frizzled (Fz) receptor can inhibit Wnt signaling, leading to cell dysfunctions such as tau phosphorylation and neurofibrillary tangles. Moreover, AB oligomer can induce insulin receptor loss from the neuronal surface and impaired kinase activity related to long-term potentiation (Sakono and Zako, 2010).

metabotropic receptor (mGluR) associated with glutamatergic transmission (Li et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2010; Brito-Moreira et al., 2011; Jurgensen et al., 2011). In addition they can also bind to or disrupt regulation of receptors associated with maintaining normal functioning of cells or homeostatic regulation that include receptor for Advanced Glycation End (RAGE), associated with oxidative stress (Wang et al., 2004; Eftekharzadeh et al., 2012); TNF receptors involved in inflammation (Eftekharzadeh et al., 2012; Morroni et al., 2016) and insulin receptors, associated with homeostatic regulation of energy and normal function of the cell (Townsend et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2008; De Felice et al., 2009; Sakono and Zako, 2010; Figure 4.). Intracellular A $\beta$  has been shown to disrupt vital functions associated with proteasomal activity (Young and Bennett, 2010), calcium deregulation (Resende et al., 2008; Jensen et al., 2013), autophagy (Caccamo et al., 2010; 2011) and can hyperphosphorylate Tau at pathological sites (Magdesian et al., 2008; Larson et al., 2012). Thus, soluble species of A $\beta$  are capable of mounting a pincer movement both from within and outwith the cell to disrupt physiological function (Wang et al., 2016).

However, as with APP, the A $\beta$  peptide has been shown to have a physiological function at picomol levels, albeit to date much of its function has been determined *in vitro*. Injection of picomol levels of both A $\beta$ 40 and A $\beta$ 42 increase the magnitude of LTP and mediates memory formation (Garcia-Osta and Alberini, 2009), whereas high nanomol levels impair LTP (Puzzo et al., 2008). Evidence suggests A $\beta$  may be strongly involved in vesicle release necessary for basal and activity regulated function at the synapse (Abramov et al., 2009). Physiological concentrations of A $\beta$  are also implicated in neurogenesis, defence against oxidative stress, maintaining the integrity of the Blood Brain Barrier (BBB), and influencing kinase signalling pathways, notably Insulin regulation of the PI3K-Akt pathway and calcium signalling (see reviews by Parihar and Brewer, 2010; del Cardenas-Aguayo et al., 2014).

Together these data suggest that cleavage to release the A $\beta$  peptide or parts of it are a lot more complex than originally thought and could have different consequential effects mediated by the different fragments of APP, that can result in or contribute to a physiological or pathological function. Therefore, whether it is the A $\beta$  peptide or the resulting fragments that have a causal role in the pathology becomes an important question. Nonetheless, the evidence that soluble species of A $\beta$  may be more detrimental than the AP has reached a level that can no longer be denied. It has a greater impact on synaptic function, now considered to be an important early event in the pathological processes of AD, and shows the best correlate with memory deficits. However, as strategies to combat AD are designed to develop treatments to eliminate production A $\beta$ , they risk creating other deficits by deregulating normal function of A $\beta$ . The optimal strategy would be to develop treatments that would maintain A $\beta$  within physiological levels.

#### 1.7 Standardisation of early AD staging with objective biomarkers of the disease

The NIA-AA (National Institute of Ageing and Alzheimer's Association Criteria) international workshop committee in 2011 would harness newly developed imagery and biomarker technology to

promote standardised objective measures to develop criteria for what they described as preclinical staging of AD, using a panel of live imaging and biomarkers (Sperling et al., 2011; Weiner et al., 2015; see Box 3).

#### Box 3. Imaging studies of AD biomarkers

**CSF Biomarkers:** Levels of A $\beta$ 42 show in general, a 50% decrease in patients with moderate AD compared with age-matched controls (Counts et al., 2016). In contrast there is an increase of up to 300% levels of all Tau isoforms (Counts et al., 2016). As Tau is not specific to AD and elevated in patients suffering other forms of dementia (see Formichi et al., 2006), the ratio of increased total Tau to decreased A $\beta$ 42 in the CSF of patients with MCI, AD and controls present the most robust combination for predicting the transition of MCI to AD (Counts et al., 2016).

*Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography (FGF-PET):* This form of imagery measures glucose metabolism to indicate synaptic activity and strongly correlates with synaptophysin in post mortem AD brains (Rocher et al., 2003). Hypermetabolic activity has been observed in a number of limbic and associated cortical structures, including at least the hippocampus, parietal and posterior cingulate gyri and portions of the temporal lobe and medial temporal cortices in AD patients, and worsens with age. At early stages hypometabolism occurs in regions that are highly vulnerable to A $\beta$  deposits (Klunk et al., 2004; Buckner et al., 2005) and are anatomically and functionally interconnected to form part of a distributed neuronal network known as the 'default mode network' (Raichle et al., 2001). Moreover FGF hypometabolism parallels cognitive function during the progression of the disease; from normal to preclinical to prodromal and established AD (Minoshima et al., 1997; Furst et al., 2010). Although plaque load has reached a plateau by the time AD is clinically established (Engler et al., 2006; Jack et al., 2009) FGF metabolism continues to decline in relation to cognitive function (Engler et al., 2006), most notably in the progression from MCI to AD (Chen et al., 2010). A major limitation to FGF retention is that it is not specific to AD and can be associated with inflammation and ischemia.

**Amyloid and Tau PET:** The development of PET radioligands have been used to detect fibrillary  $A\beta$  deposits and intracellular Tau aggregates to show they precede clinical onset of AD by years or even decades (Counts et al., 2016). The Pittsburg compound B (PiB) binds with high affinity to  $\beta$ -sheet structured amyloid aggregates (Levine. 1995) rather than soluble species or diffuse amyloid plaques. It is retained longer in AD patients compared with non-demented age-matched controls and shows a strong concordance with levels of CSF A $\beta$ 42 in controls, MCI and AD patients; but not CSF levels of Tau (Fagan et al., 2006). A major limitation with this imaging is that currently it is known that non demented elderly people; and those with prodromal stages of the disease also show a relatively high amyloid plaque burden, therefore using this form of imaging to determine early stage AD or the potential transition to AD becomes difficult on its own. In addition a number of different studies show conflicting results; in part due to heterogeneity in conducting and interpreting the tests (see Villemagne et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2014).

**Structural Magnetic Resonance Imagery (sMRI):** This is used for visualizing brain volume and thickness (Thompson et al., 2007) and to determine atrophy, thought largely to be due to dendritic and neuronal loss. AD is characterized by an inexorable progression of atrophy that first manifests in the hippocampus in AD patients (Scahill et al., 2002) and essentially follows the Braak and Braak staging of NFTs and cell loss (Johnson et al., 2012). When AD is clinically diagnosed, atrophy is already identified in temporal lobe regions. In presymptomatic and mildly effected individuals the hippocampal volume can be reduced by 15-20% and the entorhinal cortex by 20-30% (Johnson et al., 2012), whereas increasing rates of atrophy in the parietal cortex is observed at all stages of the disease (Scahill et al., 2002). Importantly, longitudinal studies show there is hippocampal loss at the MCI stage over 6 months that is accelerated over 1 year as the disease progresses (Ma et al., 2016). Although sMRI is a robust means of assessing brain atrophy it lacks the specificity of the pathological events inducing it.

*Functional MRI (fMRI):* This is a complementary form of imaging that identifies the functional integrity of brain networks by providing indirect measures of synaptic activity by measuring differences in blood oxygen level dependant (BOLD) MRI signals (Johnson et al., 2012). This can be done during resting states or during cognitive testing. Relatively few studies have been conducted using fMRI in MCI subjects or at risk individuals, but several studies have shown reduced activity in the medial temporal lobe in these subjects (Johnson et al., 2012). In contrast other studies have shown increased activities in individuals with very mild MCI or cognitively intact individual with genetic risk for developing AD (Dickerson et al., 2004; Celone et al., 2006; Lenzi et al., 2009; Fleisher et al., 2005; Fillipini et al., 2009). It has been suggested the hyperactivity may be present only in early stages of the disease and longitudinal studies show that early hyperactivity is a predictor of rapid cognitive decline (Brookheimer et al., 2000; Dickerson et al., 2004; Miller et al., 2008). Currently, there are few studies measuring activity in AD or preclinical subjects.

The term preclinical refers to a 'clinically silent stage of AD' and is part of a continuum between 'normal ageing' and different defined stages in presymptomatic AD. Stage 1 is characterized by evidence of Aβ accumulation either by CSF assays or PET scans; Stage 2 is defined by evidence of amyloidosis and neurodegeneration either as elevated CSF Tau levels or abnormal structural or functional MRI. Stage 3 requires amyloidosis and neurodegeneration with evidence of subtle cognitive decline that does not yet meet the criteria of MCI (see Figure 5; Jack et al., 2010). In addition, there exists a category of clinically normal individuals that are positive for one or more biomarkers (see Berti et al., 2016).

However, no single marker gives an adequate assessment, for example CSF levels of Aβ and Tau, gives no indication of the species of amyloid in the brain alone; sMRI and FGF-PET although robust measures of atrophy and metabolism reflecting neuronal activity, do not give specificity to the pathology; amyloid PET analyses APs and as such does not correlate with cognitive decline; and there are few studies

analyzing activity using fMRI and there are reservations about interpretation of the results (Johnson et al., 2012; John et al., 2016; Koch et al., 2012; Tentolouris-Piperas et al., 2016).

Combined biomarkers and imaging studies have shown two very important aspects of the pathology and its progression. Firstly, CSF Tau changes have been shown to occur approximately 15 years before the onset of clinical AD (Bateman et



Figure 5. Dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. A $\beta$  is identified by CSF A $\beta$ 42 or PET amyloid imaging. Tau-mediated neuronal injury and dysfunction is identified by CSF Tau or fluorodeoxyglucose-PET. Brain structure is measured by use of structural MRI (Jack et al., 2010).

al., 2012; Fagan et al., 2014); and Aβ accumulation can be observed around 20 years prior to onset of clinical symptoms (Jack et al., 2010). Moreover, using amyloid PET tracer accumulation; plaque load reaches a plateau in vulnerable brain regions, such as the hippocampus, in both sporadic and autosomal dominant AD and the estimated time between the ability to detect plaques with PET until saturation levels have been reached is about 15-20 years (see Jack et al., 2013).

Secondly, longitudinal studies in non-demented elderly people suggest that up to 45% would meet the criteria for AD based on imaging APs, had they been demented (Knopman et al., 2003; Bennet et al., 2006; Price et al., 2009; Schneider et al., 2009). Amyloid PET has shown positive retention of the radioligand in cognitively normal aged subjects (Mintun et al., 2006; Aizenstein et al., 2008) that show similar distribution to that seen in AD patients (Mintun et al., 2006; Aizenstein et al., 2008). This lends support to the notion that APs may not have a causal role in the dementia. A major advancement in the NIA-AA directives was the setting down of guidelines for attempting to assess preclinical AD using specific biomarkers that should be consistent at the international level (Alexopoulos et al., 2016). A major challenge, however; despite the general consensus that soluble Aβ would be an important target; is currently there is no biomarker or imaging assay that can detect this in the human brain. A second drawback that in fact might be more worrying is how the directives have classified the ever-growing evidence that cognitively normal aged individuals have a high amyloid load. On the one hand, as argued above, it might suggest that APs may not have a causal role in dementia; on the other hand, some within the NIA-AA working group (Vos et al., 2016) have suggested even cognitively normal nonagenarians with a heavy plaque load might be placed in a pre-stage 1 criteria. This carries the implicit understanding that everyone will enter the AD trajectory sooner or later; the question will not be whether an individual develops the disease, but when. Based on this, it further beggars the question of whether Alzheimer's disease is a disease or is it merely part of the ageing process. And if it is part of the ageing process, why do some aged persons with a high plaque load develop AD while others do not, and what determines the time point at which an individual will start the slippery slope into dementia.

Results from imaging studies in humans, although far from perfect, show two important findings; (i) that a growing number of aged persons that are cognitively normal have a high amyloid burden; and (ii) the increase in soluble A $\beta$  and plaques can start to increase 20 years or so before the first clinical signs of the disease are diagnosed. In fact, when people are first diagnosed with AD, plaque levels have reached a plateau. This together with drug trials that clear plaques but show no improvement in cognition must sure put the final nail in the coffin that suggesting the plaque is 'the' triggering mechanisms for the disease and ensuing dementia; which now has a growing consensus.

Not to dismiss the potential role of amyloid in the disease out of hand, soluble species have been shown to be toxic and can circulate throughout the brain. This allows us to rationalise how the differential distribution of amyloid and Tau; the two key-signature pathological markers of the disease may interact, and better fits with the slow insidious onset of the disease. However, as soluble species of amyloid interact with number of different receptor types it at least suggests dysfunction in AD can be induced in a parallel, not a linear manner as suggested in the Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis. Moreover, the process of shearing amyloid from APP creates a number of different fragments that potentially contribute to a slow ongoing dysfunctional process, well before plaques are detected; an important area of research that is not well documented to date.

An extremist point of view would be that amyloid is merely a by-product of other dysfunctional events (see Struble et al., 2010); others would suggest that although amyloid might be involved in the pathology and dementia, these processes are mediated by multifunctional effects (Frautschy and Cole, 2010; Herrup et al., 2010; 2013). Critical to both stand points is the fact that low levels of amyloid have a physiological effect; and this in turn asks the question as to what might trigger an increase in amyloid from a physiology level to a pathological level. In fact, it begs the question as to whether other pathological events, not specific

to AD may create a disequilibrium in functional homeostasis that together permit the development of the classic AD pathology and have a causal role in the ensuing dementia. Given the timeframe of the slow increase in soluble A $\beta$  and plaques, it brings into sharp focus the potential role that risk factors may have in the early development of the pathology.
# 2 Lifestyle risk factors for the development of Alzheimer's Disease

There are numerous risk factors for AD that have been identified; age being the most important. Other risk factors can generally be classified as either (i) genetic factors that mainly include mutations in A $\beta$ ; the APP or cleavage proteins observed in people with EOFAD; however excess copies of ApOE4 also pose a risk for the disease; (ii) metabolic diseases which include Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM); thyroid dysfunction, hypertension, cardiovascular disease. (iii) Finally, a third category is lifestyle risk factors that include basically a wide range of behavioural habits that have a negative impact on health. The importance of this category of risk factors is that they are both modifiable and can be risk factors for other risk factors.

Evidence suggests that environmental and lifestyle factors can have both a positive and negative impact on general health and disease (see Table 2). For the most part evidence has largely been obtained from epidemiological studies and clinical interview. Understanding how these factors may impact brain and cognitive function is not easy research to conduct, as much of it is correlational, subjective, occurs slowly over time and has a lot of inbuilt variability. Despite this paucity in our knowledge, modeling these effects in rodents has expanded our understanding of certain mechanisms mediated by lifestyle that may be associated with early stages of the development of AD.

	Risk factors	References		
Lifestyle	Smoking (-)	Launer et al., 1999; Almeida et al., 2002; Rusanen et al., 2011		
factors	Diet and nutrition (+/-)	Kalmijn et al., 1997 ; Mattson et al., 2003 ; Nicolia et al., 2015		
	Education, cognitive activity, social activity (+)	Kukull et al., 2002b ; Lindsay et al., 2002 ; Karp et al., 2004 ; Ngandu et al., 2007 ; Bickel and Kurz, 2009		
	Exercise (+)	Rovio et al., 2005; Hamer and Chida, 2009; Laurin et al., 2001		
	Caloric restriction (+)	Mattson et al., 2003; Van Cauwenberghe et al., 2016		
Other disease	Obesity (-)	Whitmer et al., 2007; Luchsinger and Gustafson, 2009; Barnes and Yaffe, 2011		
	T2DM (-)	Arvanitakis et al., 2004; Akomolafe et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2010; Profenno et al., 2010; Cheng et al., 2011		
	Cardiovascular disease (-)	Stampfer, 2006; de Bruijn and Ikram, 2014; Ferreira et al., 2014		
	Thyroidism (-)	Kapaki et al., 2006; Tan et al., 2008 ; Chaalal et al., 2014		
Other factors	Hypertention (-)	Forette et al., 2002; Barnes and Yaffe, 2011; Ogunniyi et al., 2011		
	Brain injury (-)	Lindsay et al., 2002; Plassman et al., 2000		
	Gender: More risk in women	Andersen et al., 1999; Ruitenberg, 2001 ; Liu et al., 2003		

# Table 2. Risk factors of AD

(+): Beneficial factor; (-): Detrimental factors

### 2.1 Ageing and Cognitive Reserve

The most obvious risk factor for developing sporadic AD is ageing and, unlike most of the other lifestyle risk, cannot be controlled. However, as already alluded to, there is a growing number of aged cognitively normal individuals that have a high plaque load (Hedden et al., 2009). Although the pro-amyloid hypothesis argues, regardless of their age they are relegated to the preclinical stage of AD; a viable alternative explanation, suggests these individuals build up what is described as 'cognitive reserve' (Stern, 2009). This remains to date a conceptual description, with few identified underlying mechanisms. In essence, the concept suggests that based on their lifestyle, these individuals are more resilient to brain damage or in the case of AD, the pathology before they begin to suffer the cognitive consequences (See Figure 6; Arenaza-Urquijo et al., 2015). Cognitive reserve is inextricably linked with intellectual capacity as epidemiological studies and clinical interview show the major influencing factors are education level, intellectual stimulation and socialization (Kukull et al., 2002; Karp et al., 2004; Ngandu et al., 2007; Bickel and Kurz, 2009), that can be beneficial to both young and aged adults (Piras et al., 2011; Ewers et al., 2013). Of particular importance are longitudinal studies that have been conducted in closed order religious communities; this allows elimination of other environmental factors such smoking and alcohol consumption; and their lifestyle over many years is well documented. Nuns were cognitively tested on an annual basis

and it was found in general those with higher educational standard were less likely to develop AD (Riley et al., 2005; Tyas et al., 2007; Bickel and Kurz, 2009). The concept suggests that greater intellectual stimulation promotes more plasticity in multiple neural circuits, such that in the event of a pathological insult in one neural circuit, cognition, memory and intellectual capacity can be maintained via other neuronal circuits.



**Figure 6. Theoretical illustration of how cognitive reserve may mediate the relationships between AD neuropathology and cognitive function.** Aged persons with a high cognitive reserve that develop AD, will not begin to show cognitive decline until the pathology has advance much more than those with a lower cognitive reserve (Arenaza-Urquijo et al., 2015).

Comparative imaging studies between aged individuals that are cognitive normal, those with MCI and those with AD show that atrophy and glucose metabolism are key dysfunctional mechanisms associated with cognitive decline (Thompson et al., 2007; Lehmann et al., 2011; Schöll et al., 2011; Ma et al., 2016). Moreover, cognitively normal aged persons show less activity during cognitive processing, suggesting a more effective use of neural networks (Solé-Padullés et al., 2009). Finally, cognitively normal aged persons with a high amyloid plaque level, compared with AD patients, have significantly less loss of

neurons and lower levels of inflammation (Lue et al., 1996), and larger brain and hippocampal volumes, suggesting potential preservation of neurons and synapses (Erten-Lyons et al., 2009).

#### 2.2 Environmental Enrichment in rodents

The equivalent to intellectual stimulation in rodents is exposure to environmental enrichment (EE); and there has been a long history of studies showing EE improves cognitive performance in young and old rodents (see reviews by van Praag et al., 2000; Simpson and Kelly, 2011) and can at least partially rescue cognitive deficits in rodent models of neurodegeneration (Nithianantharjan and Hannan, 2006; Laviola et al., 2008; Hannan, 2014). However, the beneficial effects of EE on cognition can vary depending on a number of factors such as the duration of enrichment, the presence or absence of a running wheel, size of the environment, etc (see Simpson and Kelly, 2011). In general EE is known to induce neurogenesis, but this is specific to the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (van Praag et al., 2000; Kempermann et al., 1998; Segovia et al., 2006; Mora et al., 2007; Rueda and Trejo, 2007). However, EE also (i) induces synaptogenesis (Levi et al., 2003; Kondo et al., 2012; Kelly et al., 2013) and angiogenesis (Ekstrand et al., 2008; Herring et al., 2008); (ii) increases brain weight, dendritic branching; (iii) prevents decreases in synaptic density and gliogenesis and (iv) positively changes the dynamics of several neurotransmitter system including glutamate and dopamine receptors (Foster et al., 2000; Mora et al., 2007; Laviola et al., 2008). Therefore, the mechanisms by which EE can have a beneficial effect are multifactorial and could mediate its effect in different mechanisms is different brain structures.

In view of the studies that suggest intellectual capacity can potentially affect the development or onset of AD in humans, a number of studies have been conducted in transgenic models of AD, but have yielded mixed results. For example, some studies report that EE improves cognition (Lazarov et al., 2005; Costa et al., 2007; Valero et al., 2011) and, in some cases, reduces A $\beta$  load (Lazarov et al., 2005; Costa et al., 2007) whereas others have reported an improvement in cognition in the absence of a change A $\beta$  load (Arendash et al., 2004; Mirochnic et al., 2009) or even that EE induces an increase in A $\beta$  load (Janowski et al., 2005). Others have shown that EE needs to start prior to the onset of plaque load (Verrret et al., 2013) or that the enrichment period needs to be extensive (Cracchiolo et al., 2007). These differences may result from the variables described above, but how they may relate to the beneficial effects of intellectual stimulation and education level in human is not well understood.

Two of the major beneficial lifestyle factors that could have a protective effect against development of AD or its severity are basically factors that are associated with the maintenance of a basic healthy lifestyle, namely exercise (Laurin et al., 2001; Lindsay et al., 2002; Podewils et al., 2005; Catlow et al., 2008) and caloric restriction (Mattson et al., 2003; Cauwenberghe et al., 2016). Complementary evidence suggests that a sedentary lifestyle and excess weight gain and obesity put individuals at risk for developing dementia (Laurin et al., 2001; Podewils et al., 2005; Whitmer et al., 2007; Luchsinger and Gustafson, 2009; Barnes and Yaffe, 2011).

#### 2.3 Exercise

Exercise has been shown to have general beneficial effect in humans across the life span (Prohaska and Peters, 2007: Rockwood and Middleton, 2007); studies reveal that being more physically active, especially as a teenager, is beneficial for cognitive performance in late adulthood (Middleton et al., 2010), and old age (Iwasa et al., 2012). Meta-analysis show that exercise intervention training in elderly people with cognitive impairment and dementia increases both physical and cognitive function (Heyn et al., 2004). Some have gone so far as describing exercise as having an inverse relationship to the risk of developing dementia in humans (Heyn et al., 2004; Rovio et al., 2005; Hamer and Chida, 2009). The effect on cognition is somewhat selective in as much as it improves executive-control processes (Colcombe and Kramer, 2003). Physical intervention has been shown to induce beneficial metabolic and neuropathological changes, such as increased brain tissue volume (Colcombe et al., 2006) particularly in the hippocampus (Killgore et al., 2013; Erickson et al., 2011; 2014) and maintenance of cortical plasticity (Erickson et al., 2007).

In contrast, sedentary lifestyle is detrimental to health and associated with obesity and cardiovascular disease, which may contribute to cognitive dysfunction and AD, but it is difficult to ascertain the precise direct effect of sedentary lifestyle on AD (Peterson et al., 2013; Ryan et al., 2015). Nonetheless, some studies have shown sedentary behaviour in elderly people may be responsible for decline in general cognitive function as exercise tends to improve these functions (Scherder et al., 2014; Falck et al., 2016).

In rodent studies, there is a vast bank of literature on the beneficial effects of exercise on memory processes and synaptic plasticity in both the young and aged (Farmer et al., 2004; van Praag, 1999b; 2005; Vaynman et al., 2004; O'Callaghan et al., 2007; Vivar et al., 2013) and in transgenic models of AD (Adlard et al., 2005; Hüttenrauch et al., 2016; Tapia-Rojas et al., 2016). In the dentate gyrus these beneficial effects are mediated largely by neurogenesis (Kitamura et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2008a; van Praag, 2009). This is mediated by inducing proliferation of neural progenitor cells, increasing the number of new neurons, and promoting survival of newborn cells in both young (van Praag et al., 1999a; Trejo et al., 2001) and aged animals (Fabel et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2008a). Some of the underlying mechanisms mediating exercised induced neurogenesis include growth and neurotrophic factors including BDNF (Cotman and Berchtold, 2002; Vaynman et al., 2004; Wu et al., 2008a), insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) associated with the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway (Carro et al., 2000; Trejo et al., 2001; Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2009; Heras-Sandoval et al., 2014).

In addition to inducing neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus, exercise enhances spine density in hippocampus and entorhinal cortex and maturation of dendritic spine in newborn neurons (Redila and Christie, 2006; Zhao, 2006; Stranahan et al., 2007) promotes angiogenesis (Fabel et al., 2003; van Praag, 2005; Cotman et al., 2007) and synaptogenesis (van Praag, 2009; Lista and Sorrentino, 2010), and increases hippocampal volume (Fuss et al., 2014; Biedermann et al., 2016). As exercise induced neurogenesis is specific to the dentate gyrus its effect on other forms of genesis and underlying

mechanisms suggest that the beneficial effects of exercise are multifactorial and can be mediated via different neural circuits.

Exercise in AD transgenic animals reduces Aβ load in hippocampus or cortex and improves the hippocampus dependent memory and novel object recognition memory (Adlard et al., 2005; Yuede et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2013; Moore et al., 2016). Voluntary exercise improves memory performance and attenuates AD pathology by decreasing Aβ burden, tau phosphorylation and astrogliosis, and increasing neurogenesis, as shown in several AD mice (García-Mesa et al., 2011; Rodríguez et al., 2011; Marlatt et al., 2013; Tapia-Rojas et al., 2015). Exercise therefore protects the hippocampus against AD pathology and has been shown to be mediated via a PI3K-dependent mechanism (Isla et al., 2016).

### 2.4 Caloric restriction

Caloric restriction (CR) is an evolutionary conserved mechanism from yeast to humans that promotes longevity (Fontana et al., 2010; Anderson and Weindruch, 2012; Mercken et al., 2012; Rizza et al., 2014). In humans, this basically equates to energy expenditure (the caloric intake versus the amount of physical output). Numerous studies have shown maintaining this balance reduces the risk of developing AD; whereas a high calorific diet is associated with a higher risk of developing AD, particularly with individuals carrying the apolipoprotein E4 allele (Spindler et al., 1996; Keene and Hope, 1997; Luchsinger et al., 2002). In our current, relatively sedentary environment, it has been shown that the 'Mediteranean Diet' (Morris et al., 2005; Scarmeas et al., 2006) or the 'Okinawan Diet' (Willcox et al., 2014) that is based on relatively high consumption of fruit, vegetables, cereals and fish; and low consumption of meat, cereals, unsaturated fatty acids, and processed food stuffs, have beneficial effects in both normal condition and reducing risk of developing disease.

CR has been shown to affect a number of different neuronal functions in the brain including resistance to oxidative stress, metabolic and excitotoxic injury and promotion of neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity (Hori et al., 1992; Contestabile et al., 2004; Kitamura et al., 2006; Gillettel-Guyonnet and Vellas, 2008). This can be mediated by stabilising glutamate receptors and synaptophysin required for excitatory transmission in hippocampus in rats (Adams et al., 2008) and also increasing levels of NMDAR, BDNF and genes associated with synaptic plasticity (Murphy and Dias, 2014).

In rodents, it has been shown to promote lifespan extension in different models at least in part by stimulating autophagy (Ferreira-Marques et al., 2016). In the brain, CR and autophagy is based on the availability of amino acids that determine how proteins are generated. When there are high levels of amino acids, the preferred mechanism for generating new proteins is protein synthesis and this is an energy expensive mechanism (Mortimore and Pösö, 1987; Mortimore et al., 1989). Under conditions of low levels of amino acid availability, the preferred mechanism is autophagic recycling of existing protein complexes as it is less energy-expensive (Mortimore and Pösö, 1987; Mortimore et al., 1989; Donati et al., 2001; Bergamini et al., 2007).

CR has shown to be neuroprotective and improve learning and memory performance in young and aged animals (Idrobo et al., 1987; Stewart et al., 1989; Sharma and Kaur, 2005; Qiu et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2014) and can restore memory deficits in Tg models of AD (Halagappa et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2008b). During normal ageing, autophagy declines and its inhibition can accelerate the ageing process; however, this can be prevented by CR (Donati et al., 2001; Bergamini et al., 2007). In transgenic mouse models of AD, CR has reduced levels of A $\beta$ 1–40, A $\beta$ 42 and phosphorylation of Tau in 3xTg mice (Halagappa et al., 2007) and prevented or reduced the accumulation of amyloid deposition in other models (Patel et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2005; Mouton et al., 2009).

To date few studies of CR on cognitive function in humans have been conducted, Witte and colleagues (2009) first showed the beneficial effect of CR on memory performance in aged healthy subjects, where a 30% reduction in caloric intake over 3 months resulted in improvement in memory performance, particularly in verbal memory tests, and this correlated with decreases in fasting plasma levels of insulin.

Although there are a number of known physiological dysfunctions that place an individual at risk for the development of AD, most notably metabolic disorders (see Table 2), these disorders are also subject to a maladapted lifestyle mainly in terms of excess weight and sedentary lifestyle. Following ageing, it is now considered that the greatest lifestyle risk factor for developing AD is T2DM (Arvanitakis et al., 2004; Janson et al., 2004; Akomolafe et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2011), a metabolic disorder that manifests itself in middle age and is highly susceptible to obesity (see section 3). Clinical assessment suggests that patients with T2DM have approximately 65% higher risk of developing AD in later age (Janson et al., 2004). There is a huge database in human studies and circumstantial evidence to suggest that dysfunctional regulation of brain homeostasis precedes the development of AD, the most likely candidates to induce this could be risk factors associated with the disease (Mattson et al., 2003). Since diabetes usually precedes AD, it is believed that conditions in diabetics are conducive for the development of AD at the early stage but the mechanisms by which this occurs are poorly understood.

# 3 Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM)

T2DM is one of a group of diabetes metabolic disorders (see Box 4) characterised by hyperglycaemia over a prolonged period, and dysfunctional insulin regulation (Alberti and Zimmet, 1998; Cersosimo et al., 2015). It is subject to a number of risk factors, of which the most prevalent is excess weight or obesity. In our current global climate in which there is increasing availability of highly processed foodstuffs and an overall increase in sedentary behaviours; the global incidence of the disease is increasing rapidly.

The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) reported that the number of people with T2DM in the world was estimated at 371 million in 2012 and will rise to 552 million by 2030. Four out of 5 people with T2DM are from low-income communities and their numbers in low and middle-income countries are on a rapid increase. As population studies show that all forms of diabetes at least double a person's risk of death, the global economic cost of T2DM in 2014 was estimated to be \$612 billion. The mechanism of pathogenesis, due to its complex and multifactorial nature (Aguiree et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 2014) are not fully understood and this is of major concern to socio-economic welfare on a global level.

# 3.1 Diagnosis and Classification for T2DM

# 3.1.1 Diagnosis criteria

The clinical diagnosis of all forms of diabetes is high levels of glycosuria usually present and often prompted by symptoms such as increased thirst and hunger, frequent urination, recurrent infections and drowsiness and coma in severe cases (World Health Organization, 1985). Most practical method for diagnosis of diabetes are based on traditional plasma (blood or serum) glucose criteria, either the fasting plasma glucose (FPG) or the 2-h plasma glucose (2-h PG) value after a 75-g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) (Nathan et al., 2009). Also factors such as elevated levels of triglycerides, blood pressure, body mass index *(*BMI) and family history of diabetes would be considered. The commonly used plasma glucose criteria, first suggested in 1995 and then renewed in 1998 by the WHO are described in Table 3.

	Fasting Plasma Glucose (mg/dL)	2-h Oral Glucose Tolerance test (mg/dL)
Normal	99 or below	139 or below
Prediabetes	100-125	140-199
Diabetes	126 or above	200 or above

# Table 3. Diagnosis criteria of diabetes

Based on American Diabetes Association, 2015

# 3.1.2 Classification

T2DM is the most common form of diabetes making up 85-90% of diabetic patients, also previously referred to as "non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus" (NIDDM), which has a late-onset, mainly occurring in middle age. It is characterized by chronic insulin resistance and progressive loss of beta-cell mass, which lead to impaired insulin resistance and hyperglycemia. The predominant feature of T2DM is disorders of either insulin action or insulin secretion. Both are usually present at the time that this form of diabetes is

clinically manifest. The specific reasons for the development of these abnormalities are not yet known (American Diabetes Association, 2015). T2DM is also subject to risk factors; obesity is a major risk factor thought to confer increased risk for T2DM through the mechanism of associated insulin resistance (Butler et al., 2003).

#### Box 4. Classification of diabetes mellitus

There are 2 major forms of diabetes: Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus (T1DM) and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM). The classification of the two types of diabetes is based on a clinically descriptive criterion but more recently a third form, Gestational Diabetes Mellitus (GDM) that is a temporary form that is specific to pregnant females has more recently been included in the classification (World Health Organization, 1985; American Diabetes Association., 2015).

#### Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM)

Type 1 DM has an early onset, was previously referred to as "insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus" (IDDM) results from autoimmune mediated destruction of  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas, where the pancreas failure to produce enough insulin. Its occurrence is most common in children and young adults (Humphrey et al., 1998). Individuals with T1DM eventually become dependent on insulin for survival and are at risk for ketoacidosis. There is a genetic predisposition to autoimmune destruction of beta cells, and it is also related to environmental factors that are still poorly defined (Willis et al., 1996). Although patients are rarely obese when they present with this type of diabetes, the presence of obesity is not incompatible with the diagnosis (Betterle et al., 1984).

#### Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM)

Gestational diabetes is carbohydrate intolerance resulting in hyperglycaemia of variable severity with onset or first recognition during pregnancy (Alberti and Zimmet, 1998). However, criteria for designating abnormally high glucose concentrations at this time have not yet been established. Individuals at high risk for gestational diabetes include older women, those with previous history of glucose intolerance; those with a history of large for gestational age babies; women from high-risk ethnic groups, and any pregnant woman who has elevated fasting, or blood glucose levels (World Health Organization, 1985; American Diabetes Association., 2015). Young offspring from GDM mothers show elevated risk of developing T2DM, howver the role of GDM in T2DM is currently unknown (Vaag et al., 2014).

#### 3.2 Insulin and glucose regulation

# 3.2.1 Glucose

Glucose is one of the major sources of energy required for body, brain and nervous system activity. The body converts carbohydrates from food into glucose, as it requires levels of glucose to be maintained within a very narrow range of 70-110 mg/dL. Glucose is converted to glycogen and stored in tissues such as muscle, liver and fat cells for a backup energy source when blood glucose levels drop (Kreitzman et al., 1992; Ryder et al., 2001). Glucose entry into cells requires glucose transporter proteins to cross the plasma membrane. Five different glucose transporters (GluTs) have been identified, GluT 1-5, which have their own specific tissue distribution and mechanisms depending on the demands of each tissue (Ryder et al., 2001). It is reported that under insulin stimulation both GluT 1 and GluT 4 localize from an intracellular storage site to the cell surface, however GluT 4 plays a main role in insulin-stimulated glucose transport in skeletal muscle of rodents and humans (Lund et al., 1994; Ryder et al., 2001). The brain is the organ that consumes the highest levels glucose, most notably for synaptic transmission (Howarth et al., 2012) as it does not produce or store glucose itself (Cunnane et al., 2011). Glucose is taken up into the brain via the blood brain barrier (BBB) in a gradient dependent manner by the insulin-independent GluT 1. It requires no

energy for transfer from the blood but Glut1 transfers glucose from the compartment with the higher glucose concentration to the lower; therefore, the brain is highly susceptible to levels of glucose in the periphery.

### 3.2.2 Insulin

Insulin, discovered by Banting and Best in 1921, is a hormone produced by  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas which reduces blood glucose levels by enhancing glucose uptake, mainly in liver, muscle and adipose tissue, thus promoting glucose oxidation and glycogen synthesis to regulate glucose homeostasis (Sonksen and Sonksen, 2000). It also inhibits lipolysis and hepatic glucose production and facilitates energy storage by promoting lipogenesis (So and Ng, 2000). There are four known specifically-named insulin receptor substrate (IRS) proteins. IRS 1 is the major IRS in skeletal muscle, IRS 2, is the main IRS in liver, IRS 3 is found only in adipose tissue,  $\beta$ -cells and liver and IRS 4 in thymus, brain and kidney (IRS 3 and 4 are less well characterised).

Up until 3 decades ago, insulin was considered only as a peripheral hormone and unable to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB). It is well established that insulin is taken up into the brain via the BBB through a saturable insulin transporter system; suggesting that high levels of blood insulin will not affect brain levels; however low levels will. More recently, some studies suggest that insulin can be synthesised in brain (see reviews by Duarte et al., 2012; Blazquez et al., 2014); however there is no consensus, as evidence supporting brain synthesis of insulin has been mainly conducted in lower order species or *in vitro* (Banks et al., 2012). Although it is well established that insulin plays an important role in brain function, notably during learning and memory (Park 2001; Duarte et al., 2012) and there are insulin receptors present in the brain (Werner and LeRoith, 2014); whether insulin mediated regulation of brain functions are due to insulin generated in the brain or whether it is taken up by the periphery is not clear.

# 3.2.3 Insulin-stimulated glucose regulation

In healthy conditions following the consumption of a meal blood glucose levels rise due to digestion of carbohydrates that triggers insulin secretion from  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas. Insulin exerts its biological function by binding to its receptor on the cell surface of specific target tissues (So and Ng, 2000). The insulin receptor belongs to a class of tyrosine kinase receptors, containing two ligand binding  $\alpha$  subunits and two tyrosine kinase  $\beta$  subunits. Binding of insulin to one of the extracellular  $\alpha$  subunits results in autophosphorylation and activation of multiple tyrosine molecules in the intracellular  $\beta$  subunits (Ryder et al., 2001).



Figure 7. Insulin-stimulated glucose transport is dependent on the activation of **PI3K-Akt signaling pathway** (Ryder et al., 2001).

This intracellular domain plays a central role in the

signalling cascade involved in glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis (So and Ng, 2000). The Insulin kinase receptor has specific cellular substrates, the family of insulin receptor substrate, IRS 1-4 (Chang and Chiang, 2005). The tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor can induce phosphorylation of IRS-

1 (Sun et al., 1991) which functions as an important scaffolding protein in various signalling pathways, such as insulin growth like factor (IGF-1), the PI3-kinase/AKT and MAPK pathways (del Rincón et al., 2004) in tissues such as, adipose tissue and muscle, to promote insulin stimulated glucose transport into cells (Figure 7; Ryder et al., 2001). Pharmacological inhibition of the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway prevents glucose transport, indicating a key role of this pathway in insulin-induced glucose transport.

# 3.3 Pathology of T2DM

The pathology of T2DM is principally due to a failure of insulin to clear and regulate levels of glucose in the blood. This can be due to a number of factors that include gene mutations associated with insulin function (Kahn et al., 1996; Brunetti et al., 2014); epigenetic deregulation that can be induced *in utero* (Swenne et al., 1992; Hales and Barker, 2013); but mainly by lifestyle and factors (McCarthy, 2015) that cause impaired  $\beta$ -cell insulin secretion, peripheral insulin resistance and hyperglycemia (Figure 8; So and Ng, 2000; Brunetti et al., 2014).



Figure 8. Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus (So and Ng, 2000)

#### 3.3.1 Insulin resistance and hyperglycemia

Insulin resistance and hyperglycemia are the most characteristic features of T2DM. Insulin resistance is an impaired biological response to insulin by its target tissues, mainly in muscle, liver and fat (Brunetti et al., 2014). Unlike normal conditions, the cells of these target tissues become resistance to insulin and are not able to function as effectively, leading to high blood sugar. Resistance can be mediated via numerous insults including inflammation, lipid toxicity and dysfunction gut microbiota (Johnson and Olefsky, 2013), but can also be induced by insulin receptor desensitisation and receptor internalisation (Boothe et al., 2016). To balance the increase in glucose levels, pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells secrete more insulin, further contributing to hyperinsulinemia (So and Ng, 2000).

Although insulin resistance is a strong predictor of T2DM, it alone is not sufficient to cause diabetes. The majority of patients with T2DM have a moderate degree of insulin resistance (DeFronzo, 1988) and non-diabetic obese individuals who also have a moderate degree of insulin resistance do not necessarily become glucose intolerant, thus indicating that relative insulin deficiency is essential for hyperglycaemia which constitutes the primary hallmark of T2DM (Gola et al., 1988; Brunetti et al., 2014). Once hyperglycaemia has developed, glucose toxicity can induce further insulin resistance and impaired pancreatic beta cell function, thus putting in place a self-serving detrimental cycle. Therefore, insulin secretion and its action are closely interconnected, and a defect in one is likely to lead to defect in the other and thereby contribute to the development of late-onset diabetes (Taylor et al., 1994; So and Ng, 2000).

#### 3.3.2 Pancreatic β-cell failure

Beta cells ( $\beta$  -cells) are found in the pancreatic islets of the pancreas, producing insulin and glucagon. Four different types of cells have been identified in the pancreatic islets:  $\alpha$ -cells that secrete glucagon responsible for increasing blood glucose,  $\beta$ -cells that secrete insulin,  $\delta$  and  $\gamma$  -cells which are involved in regulation of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  cells and secretion of pancreatic polypeptides. All these act to control blood glucose through secreting glucagon to increase the levels of glucose, and insulin to decrease it in a homeostatic manner (Cabrera et al., 2006).

T2DM is characterized by relative insulin deficiency in response to an increase in insulin induced by insulin resistance. Experiments in humans and rodent models have shown failure of βcells to increase mass and function is a key process in the development of T2DM. Hyperglycemia in insulin resistant individuals develops later when the  $\beta$ -cells fail to compensate for the decrease in insulin levels (Brunetti et al., 2014). All factors affecting normal  $\beta$ -cell function could contribute to the development of T2DM.

In a recent review, researchers divided the process of  $\beta$ -cell impairment in relation to obesity and diabetes into three phases: susceptibility, adaptation and failure (Figure 9; Alejandro et al., 2014). It is believed that genetic factors, fetal



Figure 9. Natural history of the adaptation of  $\beta$ -cells to obesity and diabetes. It is clear that the majority of the obese individuals develop insulin resistance. The  $\beta$ -cells adapt to insulin resistance by increasing mass and function. The  $\beta$ -cells compensates appropriately in the majority of obese individuals and hyperinsulinemia is a common finding in obesity. However, in a fraction of obese subjects  $\beta$ -cells fail to compensate appropriately with the development of hyperglycemia and diabetes. After the development of hyperglycemia, glucose acts synergistically with other factors to induce beta-cell failure. The evolution of  $\beta$ -cells in this process can be divided into three major stages: 1) Individuals with high risk of diabetes are born with increased susceptibility by genetic component, the fetal environment and the nutrient environment during the first years of life. 2) As individuals gain weight there is a phase of adaptation. 3) Individuals with increased susceptibility develop  $\beta$ -cell failure (Alejandro et al., 2014).

environment and exposure to certain postnatal nutritional regimes would have a causal role in the functional control of  $\beta$ -cell mass at early stages (susceptibility). In fact, most individuals will not develop T2DM unless they are exposed to an increase in insulin demand by conditions such as obesity-induced insulin resistance. In this case  $\beta$ -cells compensate for glucose homeostasis by enhancing insulin secretion and  $\beta$ -cell mass. However due to the lifestyle and diet or other factors,  $\beta$ -cells in obese people fail to properly compensate and they subsequently develop hyperglycemia (adaptation). The persistence of insulin resistance and hyperglycemia becomes harmful, and together with other metabolic abnormalities induced by obesity results in a progressive loss of  $\beta$ -cells and impairment in function (Alejandro et al., 2014).

# 3.4 Obesity as a risk factor for developing T2DM pathogenesis

Although studies have shown there are certain genetic risk factors for developing T2DM, the known variants account for less than 10% of the overall estimated T2DM risk, suggesting in general environmental factors play a large part in inducing the disease (Alejandro et al., 2014); most notable is obesity (Srinivasan, 2005).

Most people with T2DM are overweight or obese at the point of diagnosis. Overweight and obesity represent a rapidly growing threat to the health of people in the world. Classification of overweight or obesity based on the body mass index (BMI) suggests that when BMI is between 25 to 30 people are considered overweight; and when it is higher than 30 it is considered to be an indication of obesity (World Health Organization, 2000). Statistics have shown in 2014 that 39% of adults were overweight with at least 2.8 million people dying each year as a result of it. Therefore, obesity poses a huge economic burden and health threat to people as it also increases the risk for developing many disease including cardiovascular disease, dementia, hypertension, stroke, heart disease, cancer and metabolic disorder especially T2DM. (World Health Organisation, 2014).

At the heart of obesity is dietary consumption; this is not solely based on the volume of food versus the expenditure of energy, but also the quality of foodstuffs consumed. Individuals with long-term excess diet, particularly that which is high in fat and sugar, have more chance of developing obesity, T2DM and other metabolic disorders such as cardiovascular disease (see Djoussé et al., 2010; Riccardi et al., 2004). Human diets are complex and include many specific dietary components, however long-term consumption of food that is high in sugar and fat, as is abundantly used in "fast food" are particularly detrimental as they have a high propensity for inducing obesity.

Carbohydrates are the main components of food that are responsible for postprandial glycemia and insulinemia and excess levels are related to the etiology of many chronic metabolic diseases, including T2DM and obesity (Bao et al., 2011). The type and amount of fat intake can differentially regulate insulin sensitivity; polyunsaturated fats appear to have beneficial effects on insulin action by enhancing peripheral glucose utilisation as measured in rodents (Lardinois and Starich, 1991; Okere et al., 2006), whereas monounsaturated fat impairs insulin sensitivity (Vessby et al., 2001). As stated above changes in fatty acids may influence insulin action in the body through many mechanisms that affect lipid composition, metabolism and signal-transduction pathways (De Ferranti and Mozaffarian, 2008).

The etiology of obesity however is multifactorial, with the main cause considered to be energy imbalance, leading to storage of excess energy in adipocytes. This then can lead to both hypertrophy and hyperplasia leading to cell dysfunction associated with intracellular deregulation of (i) free fatty acid (FFA) and adipokines production; (ii) inflammation in the muscle and endothelium resulting insulin resistance, and (iii) endoplasmic reticulum and oxidative stress, leading to apoptosis in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. Exposure of hepatocytes and pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells to excess carbohydrates also leads to insulin resistance. Obesity and T2DM are associated with chronic inflammation in tissues involved in energy homeostasis in related tissue including fat, liver, muscle, and islets. Although inflammation can be induced by metabolic signals, how excess nutrition and obesity initiate and sustain inflammation in metabolically active tissues including the  $\beta$ -cells is not fully understood (Alejandro et al., 2014).

In contrast, certain types of dietary intervention can reduce body weight and reduce the risk of developing T2DM (Clark et al., 2016). Lifestyle intervention is an important way to prevent and slow the progression of chronic diseases. Diet is one of the main modifiable factors and reduction in caloric intake is effective for both prevention and reversal of obesity and T2DM and their associated health problems (McLellan, 2011). Caloric restriction has also been shown to be a very effective regime to prevent and delay metabolic and neurodegenerative disease and also improve learning and together Taken memory. excess caloric intake and less



Figure 10. The consequences of energy imbalance in obesity. Excess postprandial lipids and glucose circulate through the blood stream and are taken up by the pancreas, the liver, and adipose tissue. The adipocyte stores triglycerides in the lipid droplet, leading to adipocyte hypertrophy. These exposures in excess lead to cellular dysfunction, manifested as abnormalities in adipokines, increased circulating free fatty acids, and a proinflammatory state. These in turn affect skeletal muscle (lipid accumulation, peripheral insulin resistance), cardiac muscle (lipid deposition), and endothelial dysfunction. Exposing the  $\beta$ -cell to excess fats and carbohydrates leads to steatohepatitis and insulin resistance (De Ferranti and Mozaffarian, 2008).

physical activity, creates the perfect storm for the development of obesity (Figure 10; De Ferranti and Mozaffarian, 2008).

Modelling obesity in rodents has had a long history with the first diet-induced model of obesity being published in 1949 (Ingle, 1949). A number of other animal models have been developed and widely used.

Models focusing specifically on the effects of a high fat or a high sugar; have shown that high fat diets are more effective at inducing obesity than high sugar diets (Sleder et al., 1980). The normal laboratory rodent diet contains 5% fat; however, in numerous models of obesity the level of fat ranges between 30%-78% of total energy. In most studies this has been done by feeding rodents' calibrated high fat pellets; however some have used human high fat foodstuffs (see review by Hariri and Thibault, 2010).

Evidence shows several T2DM animal models are obese, reflecting the links between obesity related and the development of T2DM (Al-awar et al., 2016). The fact that obesity is a major risk factor for developing T2DM is supported by evidence from rodent models of obesity induced by diet (Von Diemen et al., 2006; Hariri and Thibault, 2010; Sim et al., 2014) and genetic models, such as ob/ob obese mice and Zucker rats (Al-awar et al., 2016).

#### 3.5 Rodent Models of T2DM

To date there are a number of different types of rodent models. The first of the main 3 categories are mice and rats with genetic modifications; in general, these models have been used to understand the underlying metabolic mechanisms associated with obesity and T2DM in peripheral organs. They are not the focus of my thesis however they are discussed in a number of important reviews (King and Bowe, 2016; King et al., 2016; Kitada et al., 2016). The other two categories are Diet-Induced Obesity (DIO) and the use of Streptozotocin (STZ), to kill  $\beta$ -pancreatic cells.

#### 3.5.1 Diet induced obesity (DIO)

Diet induced obesity (DIO) is a straight forward model of obesity, there are a number of studies using high fat, high sugar diet induced animal models which show obesity and/or T2DM profiles (Setti et al., 2015). The majority of studies have used calibrated high calorific (HC)/high fat (HF) laboratory diet (Levin and Dunn-Meynell, 2002; Woods et al., 2003; Dourmashkin et al., 2006). Other studies have used high fat/sugar and human junk food (Cafeteria Diet: CD; Esteve et al., 1994; Sclafani and Gorman, 1977; Harrold et al., 2000; Levin and Dunn-Meynell, 2002). Models of diet induced obesity vary distinctly in different studies, mainly due to the duration of the feeding regime, the difference in fat/sugar content and different species (see Table 4).

The most successful diets that induce obesity are those in which the total energy intake contains 40% fat; whereas in control diet the fat content is 5% of total energy (Buettner et al., 2007; Hariri and Thibault, 2010). Rodents develop obesity and insulin resistance but rarely develop hyperglycemia that constitutes a partial T2DM phenotype (Storlien et al., 1991; Dourmashkin et al., 2006; Reuter, 2007). In contrast, high carbohydrate diet alone is less efficient (Sleder et al., 1980; Zavaroni et al., 1980; Hariri and Thibault, 2010), whilst with human junk food rodents gain weight more efficiently with short feeding duration (8-10 weeks; Harrold et al., 2000; Levin and Dunn-Meynell, 2002); show fat deposition and insulin resistance, but not hyperglycemia as seen with HF diet (Prats et al., 1989; Kretschmer et al., 2005).

One major limitation with these diet-induced models is usually the feeding regime has a long duration and there are no standard protocols. Calibrated HF/HC laboratory diet gives precise information concerning

the volume of fat, sugar, protein and calories, which is used to correlate with pathology or dysfunctional regulation of proteins. In contrast, CD lacks this precision but mimics human obesity more closely, as much as human foodstuffs contain preservative and chemical colorants etc., and is more palatable compared with calibrated laboratory diet (Rothwell and Stock, 1988; Shafat et al., 2009). In general, diet induced obesity can induce weight gain and insulin resistance, but not hyperglycemia.

## 3.5.2 STZ injected models

Streptozotocin (STZ) is a broad-spectrum antibiotic that is used in cancer treatment in humans. However, it is widely used to induce diabetes mellitus in experimental animals (Rossini, 1977). STZ induces pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell death; by being taken into the cells via GluT 2, where it induces alkylation of DNA and DNA fragmentation leading to cellular toxicity and an immune response that cause hypoinsulinemia and hyperglycemia in animals (Szkudelski, 2001; Motyl and McCabe, 2009). STZ is most commonly used for inducing T1DM, but high doses are required (Motyl and McCabe, 2009; O'Brien et al., 2014; Al-awar et al., 2016; Kitada et al., 2016). In contrast, single or multiple low dose injections of STZ tend to induce T2DM, and importantly the dose of STZ will determine degree of glucose tolerance across time (Ito et al., 2001; Ventura-Sobrevilla et al., 2011). However, in general STZ induced diabetic rats develop hyperglycemia primarily by direct cytotoxic action on the  $\beta$ -cells and insulin deficiency rather than insulin resistance. Depending on dose and duration of the protocol, these effects can be reversed due to spontaneous regeneration of  $\beta$ -cells (Srinivasan and Ramarao, 2007; King et al., 2016). The toxic action is not specific to pancreatic beta cells and can cause damage to other tissues including the liver and kidney. In higher dose it may lead to mortality (Deeds et al., 2011).

#### 3.5.3 STZ injection coupled with HF diet

Diet influences the sensitivity of the effect of STZ for inducing diabetes in rodents, and several studies have developed models coupling low dose STZ that does not on its own induce T2DM with high fat diet. Reed et al. (2000) show rats with high fat diet coupled with a single low dose injection of STZ (50 mg/kg) show insulin resistance and hyperglycemia, but not insulin deficiencies and is confirmed by other studies (Srinivasan et al., 2005; Sugano et al., 2006). Other models using multiple injections coupled with high fat diet induces a mild impairment of insulin secretion and stable hyperglycemia, and inflammation-mediated destruction of the  $\beta$ -cells (Zhang et al., 2008) compared with rapid cell death induced by a single high dose of STZ (Goyal et al., 2016). Up to 2014, more than 30 studies using high-fat/carbohydrates diet coupled with low dose STZ were reported to successfully induce early or late stage T2DM in rats (Skovsø, 2014), where an increase in insulin response is initially triggered by high energy diet feeding and subsequently decreased by STZ injection and is accompanied by hyperglycemia. In addition to inducing long lasting hyperglycemia, polyuria, polydipsia, and polyphagia, dyslipidemia and diabetic complications such as hypertension are also observed (Srinivasan and Ramarao, 2007; Skovsø, 2014). This model more closely mimics natural history and metabolic characteristics of the human syndrome due to obesity and insulin resistance and is considered a better and stable model of T2DM compared to others (See Table 4). Although some genetic models recapture some of the phenotypes, they don't mimic the etiology of the

majority of patients who develop T2DM largely due to diet or lifestyle factors, and not always genetic modifications (Heydemann, 2016).

Comparison of DIO and STZ induced models							
Model	HF	HF	CD	STZ	STZ	STZ+ HF	STZ+HF
Animal	Rat	Mice	Rat	Rat	Mice	Rat	Mice
Treatment (range)	36-85 % fat	40-72 % fat	13-52.5 % fat	25-45 mg/kg	35-80 mg/kg	30-58 mg/kg + 22-60 % fat	30-90 mg/kg+ 36-54 %fat
Ct (range)	6.5-10 % fat	6.1-13 % fat	9.2-9.6 % fat	Vehicle/ no	Vehicle/ no	Normal diet+ STZ/no	Normal diet+ STZ/no
Duration (w)	6-65	8-19	8-10	Single or multiple injection(s)	Single or multiple injection(s )	2-4 w HF + STZ injection(s)+ HF	3-6 w HF + STZ injection(s)+ HF
Weight gain	+	+	+	NC/-	NC/-	+ (mild)	+ (mild)
Insulin resistance	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes
Hyperglyce mia	Lack/NC/ NR	Lack/NC/ NR	Lack/NC/ NR	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Advantage	Obesity induced, good standardi zation	Obesity induced, quicker than rats; good standardiz ation	More efficiency to induce DIO in rat, mimic human food	Quick frank hyperglyce mia; rats more sensitive	Quick frank hyperglyc emia	Stimulate natural disease progression, better model of T2DM	Stimulate natural disease progression, better model of T2DM
Limitation	Long duration; chow not palatable ; variability	Relatively long duration; Chow not palatable	Less standardis ation, cost and time consuming for feeding	Less stable; reversible; T1 or T2?	Less stable; reversible; T1 or T2?	Dose dependent	Dose dependent; Less studies
References	Reuter, 2007; Harri and Thibauult, 2010	Reuter, 2007; Harri and Thibauult, 2010	Reuter, 2007; Harri and Thibauult, 2010	Goyal et al., 2016; Radenković et al., 2016; King et al., 2016	Deeds et al., 2011; Goyal et al., 2016; Radenković et al., 2016	Skovso, 2014; King et al., 2016; Goyal et al., 2016	King et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016

Table 4. Comparison of DIO and STZ induced models

Description: 1). Model: DIO, diet induced obesity; HF, High fat diet; CD, Cafeteria diet; STZ, Streptozotocin; STZ+HF, STZ injection(s) coupled with HF. T1or T2: Type1 or 2 diabetes. Treatment: range of fat contained in diet or STZ dose used in different studies. % fat: percentage fat of total energy in HF/CD food; mg/kg: dose of STZ injection based on body weight (i.p.); Ct: controls related to treatment group, for DIO: controls given normal laboratory diet chow, STZ injected experiments, controls received vehicle or no vehicle injection. Duration, range of treatment time by weeks (w). 3). T2DM phenotypes: changes compared to Ct: Body weight gain: + increase, - decrease, NC, No change. Hyperglycemia: lack, very few studies shown hyperglycemia; most of the cases NC, No change or NR, Not reported. Table based on summaries from several different reviews focused on different aspects and recent papers.

#### 3.6 Cognitive deficits in T2DM

Diabetes is associated with significantly faster decline in cognitive functions in older people, showing a high risk of mild and moderate cognitive impairment. This association may contribute to dementia as people with diabetes are at 1.5 times higher risk of developing dementia than those without it (Lu et al., 2009). However, the mechanism underlying this phenomenon remain unclear.

### 3.6.1 Cognitive changes in T2DM patients

There is not a lot of data concerning cognitive impairments induced by T2DM and the forms of cognitive dysfunction vary from subtle executive dysfunction to moderate memory deficits (Kirkman et al., 2012). A recent study also showed Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and depression like behaviour in older people with T2DM, supporting T2DM as a risk factor for AD (Gorska-Ciebiada et al., 2014). Characteristic cognitive dysfunction in persons with T2DM mainly focuses psychomotor efficiency, attention, learning and memory, cognitive flexibility and speed, and executive function, while across studies the most common finding is impairment in processing speeding, attention and memory (Barbagallo and Dominguez, 2014).

A 3.25-year follow up study in the U.S. and Canada has shown poor performance in T2DM patients using Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST) which assesses a wide variety of executive functions including visual motor speed, learning capacity, sustained attention and working memory. This study also suggested an association between hyperglycemia and cognitive dysfunction (Punthakee et al., 2012). Similarly in a 5 and a half year longitudinal study, people with diabetes showed lower baseline scores on tests of episodic memory, semantic memory, working memory, visuospatial ability, but also a rapid rate of decline in perceptual speed (Arvanitakis et al., 2004)

Imaging studies have shown that brain anatomy is altered in people with T2DM and may be associated with cognitive dysfunction at different stages. For example, global moderate brain atrophy and volume loss that is similar to or up to three times the rate of atrophy rate in normal ageing (Ryan, 2014). Moreover, brain tissue loss is accelerated by expansion of the ventricles with regions round them, such as the subcortical gray or white matter and the hippocampus becoming comparatively smaller (Biessels and Reijmer, 2014). Although there is little evidence indicating the direct contribution of atrophy to memory deficits, some show reduced gray matter volume correlates with memory and executive function, while others show no direct relation between brain atrophy and cognition (Espeland et al., 2013). MRI studies show that white matter hyperintensity (WMH) and infarcts are associated with the slowing of processing speed and decrements in attention and executive functioning in T2DM patients, and progression of WHM has been linked to accelerated cognitive decline (Biessels and Reijmer, 2014). It has been suggested that white matter abnormalities occur in the early stage of the disease where disruption of white matter connections in the temporal lobe is associated with memory (Reijmer et al., 2013). Although the dysfunction mediating these deficits have been linked with inflammation and BBB disruption the underlying mechanisms have not been clarified (Biessels and Reijmer, 2014). Importantly, the severity of insulin resistance and longer duration of T2DM have been correlated with decrease in brain volume, confirming the long-term harmful effects T2DM may have on the brain (Saczynski et al., 2009; Tan et al., 2011). Finally, fMRI studies show resting-state brain activity abnormalities in T2DM patients, showing decreased low frequency fluctuations in the post central gyrus and occipital cortex in the absence of structural brain changes, and this is related to poorer memory performance and executive functioning (Cui et al., 2013; Reijmer et al., 2013). These resting state networks strongly overlap with task related networks and are compromised in various cognitive disorders, such as mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and AD (Chhatwal and Sperling, 2013). Therefore, in summary, T2DM is associated with alterations in both in structural and functional brain connectivity that evolve with age; and are likely to start in prediabetic stages, contributing to the slow decline in cognitive function (Reijmer et al., 2013).

#### 3.6.2 Deficits in Memory and Synaptic Plasticity in models of obesity and T2DM

There are limited studies on cognition in diet and/STZ induced rodent models of T2DM; the majority of studies have been conducted in rodents with genetic mutations. However, studies using models of obesity (Petrov et al., 2015; Cordner and Tamashiro, 2015) and T1-and T2DM (reviewed in Reagan, 2012) report memory deficits in hippocampus dependent spatial memory tested in water maze, radial arm maze and object recognition task, with more consistent deficits in diet-induced models (Mielke et al., 2006; McNay et al., 2010). In STZ induced diabetic rats (Sasaki-Hamada et al., 2012; Kalalian-Moghaddam et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2013) and HF diet induced obesity (Woo et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2015), a deficit is observed in CA1 of the hippocampus and is accompanied by downregulation of insulin signalling (Grillo et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2015).

Taken together, studies in humans and animal models suggest T2DM can induce cognitive deficits. However, how T2DM pathologies in peripheral tissue cause an abnormal neuronal environment that leads to changes in synaptic plasticity and cognitive function is not well understood.

Significant advances have been made in recent years in our understanding of the pathogenesis of T2DM. This has significantly improved our knowledge of one of the most serious health threats in the world, allowing us to identify genes and pathways involved in the development and progression of the disease. Diabetes is associated with increased risk of multiple co-existing medical conditions in older adults, ranging from cardiovascular disease to dementia and cancer. T2DM is frequently associated with ageing and age related disease, such as Alzheimer's disease. As our understanding of the neural effects of T2DM advances; it provides inroads into understanding how it may promote AD.

### 4 Links between Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Alzheimer's Disease

As described above AD is characterized by progressive impairment in memory and cognitive functions, while insulin resistance and hyperglycemia are the hallmarks of T2DM. Epidemiological and animal studies show a strong association between T2DM and AD. Persons with T2DM have a higher risk of cognitive decline and of developing all types of dementia including AD in later life compared with age-matched non-diabetic individuals (Barbagallo and Dominguez, 2014). Evidence suggests patients with AD share some classic pathologies associated with T2DM and, conversely those with T2DM share some pathologies associated with AD; many of which are linked with impaired insulin and PI3K signalling.

### 4.1 T2DM and AD in Humans

Epidemiological studies suggest that the incidence of AD is 2-5 times higher in people with T2DM (Luchsinger et al., 2001; Desai et al., 2014). In a 5.5 year follow up study, people with diabetes were shown to have a 65% higher risk of developing AD compared with those without diabetes (Arvanitakis et al., 2004), and diabetic patients show similar cognitive deficits to those patients with early stage AD (Gorska-ciebiada al., 2014). Imaging studies show patients with both T2DM and AD et have increased cortical atrophy compared with the AD with non-T2DM group (Biessels et al., 2006). As with AD, T2DM patients show more hippocampus and amygdala atrophy compared to controls (Den Heijer et al., 2003).

In addition, tests conducted in the Mayo Clinic show 81% of patients of AD had either impaired fasting glucose (IFG, 110-125 mg/dL) or T2DM (Janson et al., 2004). Hyperglycemia is associated with reduced cognitive performance and reduction in the gray matter volume in brain in young and middle aged adults (Verdile, 2015). Post-mortem analysis of brains from people with T2DM show increased levels of neurofibrillary tangles and amyloid plaques (Peila et al., 2002; Jellinger, 2008; Mittal and Katare, 2016), and importantly once the cerebral amyloid is present, its accumulation correlates with the duration of T2DM (Janson et al., 2004). Moreover, T2DM patients have accumulation of amyloid plaques and hyperphosphorylated Tau in the pancreas (Miklossy et al., 2010) and increased levels of serum A $\beta$  (Kim et al., 2010). Conversely, AD patients have more frequent and extensive amyloid in the pancreas compared with non-AD individuals (Janson et al., 2004).

#### 4.2 Animal studies

Several animal studies also indicate the close pathophysiological link between T2DM and AD. For example diabetic phenotypes exacerbate memory impairment, cerebral amyloid accumulation, tau pathology and inflammation as seen in AD transgenic mice fed high fat diet (Ho et al., 2004; Julien et al., 2010; Knight et al., 2014; Walker et al., 2017). Conversely reducing fat intake in these models can reverse some of the AD type pathology (Walker et al., 2017). Further evidence shows in a model in which rats fed high fat diet were given STZ injections and subsequently injected with Aβ42 into hippocampus showed greater spatial memory deficits compared with rats injected with Aβ alone (Ma et al., 2013).

48

More recently, studies where sub-diabetogenic doses of STZ were injected into the brain (icv) reveal induction of a form of insulin resistance and mice and rats shows many aspects of sporadic AD (Lannert and Hoyer, 1998; Chen et al., 2013; Salkovic-Petrisic et al., 2013; Grieb, 2016). STZ induces insulin resistance, decreased glucose and energy metabolism and cognitive deficits without changing peripheral insulin and glucose levels (Lannert and Hoyer, 1998; Kamat et al., 2016). In addition, STZ treated rats show vascular Aβ deposits in the brain 3 months after injections and cerebral amyloid angiopathy between 6 and 9 months later; characteristic Aβ that is frequently observed in sporadic AD patients (Salkovic-Petrisic et al., 2011); however, there is no evidence of APs or NFTs in the brain (Salkovic-Petrisic et al., 2011). Other effects induced by STZ are neuro-inflammation, altered synaptic proteins and insulin/IGF signalling and hyperphosphorylation of Tau (Lester-Coll et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2013) and changes in expression of a number of genes are consistent with those observed in AD brains. Importantly, most genes that are down regulated are those associated with insulin signalling and glucose metabolism (Chen et al., 2012), further suggesting impaired insulin signalling in T2DM might be a common trigger contribute to the development of AD.

This model mimics a number of pathological events observed in AD and induces insulin resistance in the brain. This has led some in the scientific community to describe AD as a form of diabetes; T3DM (De la Monte and Wands, 2008). However, referring to AD as T3DM might be considered somewhat of an over simplification; as insulin resistance largely refers to the relative inability of insulin receptors to respond to insulin in the brain. T2DM is characterized principally by hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia/insulin resistance; in AD patients, the brain is essentially hypoglycemic (Meneilly and Tessier, 2016) and there are no indications that there is an increase in levels of insulin even at early stages of the disease (Stanley et al., 2016). These differences do not negate the potential for T2DM to induce a dysfunctional neuronal environment that would promote or be implicated in the pathology associated with AD. What becomes important now is to understand how dysregulation of mechanisms associated with T2DM can promote AD.

# 4.3 Mechanisms associated with common pathologies

T2DM and AD increase with age and they share amyloid pathological features in the islets of the pancreas and the brain (Kahn et al., 1990), since amyloid in the pancreas is more frequent and extensive in patients with AD (Janson et al., 2004). They share other pathologies such as inflammation, apoptosis, autophagy, oxidative stress, advanced glycation end products (AGEs), impaired insulin signalling and glucose metabolism, many of which are mediated by insulin mediated PI3K-Akt signalling pathway; albeit in T2DM these are regulated in the periphery (see reviews by Cole et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2010; Verdile, 2015; Mittal and Katare, 2016).

#### 4.3.1 Insulin Regulation

Insulin is hormone belonging to a super family of insulin related proteins that include the insulin-like growth factors (IGFs). Almost all types of cell respond to insulin, in particular, liver, muscle, adipose tissue

and brain are most sensitive (Duarte et al., 2012). Although still a moot point as to whether the brain can synthesis its own insulin; it is taken up through the BBB and, once in the brain, insulin binds to the insulin receptors that are highly enriched in olfactory bulb, cortex, hippocampus, hypothalamus and amygdala in rat brains (Havrankova et al., 1978). It has key roles in the CNS such as hypothalamus and other brain regions regulating glucose/energy metabolism, neuronal survival and longevity, synaptic transmission, learning and memory and is dysfunctional in neurodegenerative disease, particularly AD (see reviews by Park, 2001; van der Heide et al., 2006; Duarte et al., 2012). Similarly, IGF-1 and IGF-2 are distributed throughout the brain and play similar roles to insulin in the CNS functions, notably synaptic transmission and effects on learning and memory and cognition (Nelson and Alkon, 2005; Benarroch, 2012; O'Neill et al., 2012).

Insulin Degrading Enzyme (IDE) is the major mechanism by which misfolded or abnormal insulin is cleared. It is a highly conserved zinc metallopeptidase that is ubiquitously express in all tissues, and is particularly abundant in brain liver and muscle; tissues susceptible to insulin regulation. In general, it is localised in the cytosol, but is present to a lesser extent in mitochondria (Leissring et al., 2004). In addition to degrading misfolded insulin, IDE also degrades monomeric Aβ to prevent formation of oligomers and aggregates, but also degrades the AICD fragment of APP preventing this fragment from translocating to the nucleus to transcribe genes associated with the disease (Llovera et al., 2008). Mice with mutated forms of IDE show increased Aβ accumulation and AD phenotypes (Farris et al., 2003; Miller et al., 2003).

AD patients have decreased insulin clearance and elevated insulin stimulated A $\beta$  in plasma; and this abnormal regulation in the periphery may also contribute to a higher risk of developing AD (Kulstad et al., 2006). They also show a decrease in levels of leptin, an increase in adiponectin and insulin in the blood that positively correlate with the severity of dementia (Khemka et al., 2014). Peripheral hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance in T2DM down regulate brain insulin uptake at the BBB, resulting in long-term reduction in brain insulin levels (Craft, 2005), and AD patients have reduced CSF to plasma insulin ratio compared with healthy controls (Craft et al., 1998). Intranasal administration of insulin has been shown to improve memory and cognition in people with MCI and early AD (Reger et al., 2006; 2008). In the AD brain the A $\beta$  degrading capacity of IDE is about 50% of the normal brain. Decreased IDE activity is found in the brains of both genetic and sporadic AD (Cook et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2007); however, in neurons adjacent to senile plaques, IDE is upregulated (Bernstein et al., 1999), suggesting they are actively trying to reduce A $\beta$ .

Experimental studies in animals show abnormal brain insulin/IGF-1 is associated with learning and memory impairment and age related neurodegenerative disease such as AD (O'Neill et al., 2012). Moreover, insulin promotes the release of intracellular Aβ to the extracellular space (Gasparini et al., 2001) and regulates expression of IDE (Zhao et al., 2004). Conversely overexpression of IDE in mouse brains reduces Aβ accumulation and slows the progression of AD (Leissring et al., 2003). IDE may also prevent amyloid fibril formation by serving as a 'dead-end chaperone', forming stable complexes with Aβ to prevent

progression to fibrils (Llovera et al., 2008). Importantly, peripherally injected insulin directly influences the brain and causes rapid cerebral insulin receptor signal transduction and tau phosphorylation *in vivo*, suggesting the important link of T2DM and neurodegeneration through insulin signalling (Freude et al., 2005); however the exactly how T2DM leads to these dysfunctional mechanims in the brain and whether they have a causal role, currently is not well understood.

Impaired insulin signalling in T2DM stimulates abnormal in several functions including glucose metabolism (Virally et al., 2007), autophagy (Glick et al., 2010), inflammation (Garcia et al., 2010), apoptosis (Liu et al., 2008a) and also deposition of amyloid and tau phosphorylation in peripheral tissues (Erol, 2008). Such common pathologies are also seen in the AD but the mechanisms of their interactions are not clearly understood.

#### 4.3.2 Insulin-PI3K/Akt signalling pathway

In the periphery, insulin-stimulated glucose transport is dependent on the activation of PI3K-Akt signalling pathway as described in Chapter 3. In a similar manner, insulin in the brain stimulates an increase in insulin receptor tyrosine phosphorylation and PI3K signalling. Under normal conditions Akt can be activated via a number of different sources in addition to insulin receptors such as growth factors (IGF, VEGF), neurotrophins (BDNF) (Singh et al., 2015). In turn it activates a number downstream targets associated with different functions, such as energy and glucose metabolism, apoptosis, autophagy and protein synthesis, inflammation and transcription (Yao et al., 2014; Singh et al., 2015). Thus, Akt acts as a major hub integrating signals from various sources mediated by different environmental inputs and redirecting appropriate responses via its downstream targets. Proteins regulated by Akt are also subject to

regulation by other mechanisms, maintaining a finely tuned balance necessary for the well-being of cells and neurons. Therefore, the state of the cell, in terms of basal protein expression and phosphorylation could tip the balance in one direction or another when Akt is activated.





Studies report a decrease in the levels and activities of several components of insulin-PI3K-Akt signalling in AD and T2DM patients (Schubert et al., 2004; Steen et al., 2005), and importantly this decrease is more severe in patients with both T2DM and AD cases (Liu et al., 2011). The levels and activation of the insulin-Akt signalling pathway negatively correlated with Tau phosphorylation, suggesting the important impact of the insulin-Akt signalling to neurodegeneration in AD and the possible molecular link between T2DM and AD (Liu et al., 2011).

### 4.3.3 Autophagy

Autophagy; a function necessary for eliminating misfolded proteins (Xie and Klionsky, 2007), and also recycling proteins under conditions of low nutrient availability (Backer, 2008), is dysfunctional in both T2DM and AD (Laplante and Sabatini, 2012; O'Neill et al., 2012). Under normal conditions, autophagic recycling of proteins requires a concerted balance between activity of mTOR and Beclin-1. Caloric restriction reduces mTOR activity and experimental reduction of mTOR by rapamycin (Yang et al., 2014), coupled with activation of Beclin-1 to promote longevity across a number of different species (Bergamini et al., 2007; Minina et al., 2013; Ntsapi and Loos, 2016).

Evidence suggests that a number of transcription factors that include FoxO3, NFκB, cJUN and E2F1 can drive Beclin-1 expression (Wirawan et al., 2012). In addition, anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family, such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL can interact with Beclin-1 via protein-protein interaction to inhibit autophagy, suggesting a regulated link between autophagy and apoptosis (Debnath et al., 2005; Maiuri et al., 2007).

Evidence suggests that the autophagic machinery is dysfunctional in obesity (Khamzina et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2010), T2DM (Ma et al., 2013) and AD (Ma et al., 2010; Laplante and Sabatini, 2012), either by causing an increase in mTOR activity and/or a decrease in Beclin-1 (Khamzina et al., 2005; Pickford et al., 2008) and may be instrumental in allowing A $\beta$  peptides to aggregate (Pickford et al., 2008). Importantly, hippocampal mTOR levels and hyperphosphorylated Tau levels are increased in T2DM-AD rats compared with T2DM and AD alone, and it has been suggested that T2DM may activate mTOR excessively by impairing insulin signalling in the brain, thus increasing Tau phosphorylation and promoting AD development (Ma et al., 2013). In contrast, inhibition of mTOR signalling correlates with impairment in hippocampal synaptic plasticity in Tg2576 AD mice and hippocampal slices from wildtype exposed to exogenous A $\beta$ 42; while upregulation of mTOR signalling rescues LTP in AD mice and A $\beta$ -induced LTP impairment (Ma et al., 2010). Given that mTOR is involved in mechanisms subserving both autophagy and protein synthesis; these opposing results may reflect the physiological status of the brain under slightly different conditions.

#### 4.3.4 Glucose metabolism

In the cerebral cortex glucose consumption is used in neurons mainly to restore ion balance after some form of activity. For example, in theory, 55% is used following postsynaptic glutamate receptor activation; 21% on action potentials; 20% on resting potentials and 4% on transmitter recycling (Howarth et al., 2012). It consumes approximately 20% of the body's glucose that is largely taken up into the brain

from the periphery via the BBB, although some studies have suggested that glucogenesis could occur in the brain (Yip et al., 2016). Most of the glucose is processed by astrocytes either at the BBB or in the intersticial space to produce energy requirements for neurons (Pellerin, 2008) by producing lactate, which is then shuttled to neurons (Dringen et al., 1993).

Impaired cerebral glucose metabolism in the brain has been associated with a number of brain insults including stroke, head trauma and neurodegenerative diseases (Cunnane et al., 2011; Jalloh et al., 2015) and consequently it impacts on brain plasticity and cognitive processing. In AD glucose toxicity is associated with oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, autophagy, GSK3 activation and inflammation, which may partly be due to impaired insulin signing in the brain (Chen and Zhong, 2013).

#### Brain glucose and glucose transporter-1

Glucose is transported into the brain by GluT 1, a member of a family of 14 different transporters. It is highly expressed in brain endothelial cells forming the blood brain barrier (BBB) as opposed to peripheral endothelia (Harik et al., 1990) and astrocytes (Virgintino et al., 1997). Imaging studies (FGF-PET) in AD patients have shown progressive reduction in glucose metabolism that correlates with the severity of the disease (Mosconi et al., 2006). Glucose hypometabolism in AD first arises in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex; then progresses to parietal, temporal and posterior cingulate cortex. Impaired glucose metabolism results in early abnormalities in cognitive abilities (Mittal and Katare, 2016). The decrease in hippocampal glucose metabolism has also been shown to arise in MCI (Mosconi et al., 2006); GluT1 is decreased in the cortex of AD brains (Simpson et al., 1994; Mooradian et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2008).

#### GSK3β and β-Catenin

Glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK3  $\beta$ ) is an unconventional kinase compared with others, as it is constitutively active and expression levels are relatively high; however, when cells are exposed to growth factors or insulin, GSK3 $\beta$  activity can be reduced to between 30 and 70% quite rapidly (Sutherland, 2011). This is achieved by phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  on serine 9, principally by Akt (Cross et al., 1995), but possibly also by p90RSK (Eldar-Finkelman et al., 1995) and/or PKA (Fang et al., 2000). Constitutively active GSK3 $\beta$  mediates two downstream mechanisms: (i) it phosphorylates and inhibits glycogen synthase to prevent uptake and storage of glucose in cells (Cohen and Frame, 2001); (ii) it catalyses the phosphorylation and inhibition of eukaryotic protein synthesis initiating factor 2B (eIF2B) thereby inhibiting protein synthesis (Cohen and Frame, 2001). Therefore, inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$  by Akt would result in an increase in glucose uptake and storage and protein synthesis.

GSK3 also principally interacts with the Wnt signalling pathway in a rather unorthodox manner. A key downstream target of Wnt is  $\beta$ -Catenin, and in the absence of a Wnt signal, constitutive GSK3 forms part of a multiprotein 'destruction complex' with the scaffolding protein Axin that leads to hyperphosphorylation of  $\beta$ -Catenin and directs it towards degradation by proteosomal mechanisms (Cohen and Frame, 2001; Medina and Wandosell, 2011). By a series of phosphorylation steps triggered by Wnt,  $\beta$ -

53

Catenin is dissociated from the 'destruction complex', accumulates in the cytosol; and then can mediate two distinct functions: (i) it can complex with other proteins to form the adherent-junctions to create and/or maintain adhesion between cells, mainly epithelial layer cells (Brembeck et al., 2006) and/or (ii) translocate to the nucleus to activate a number of target genes, including cyclin D, involved in cell cycle progression; the multifunctional protein, c-myc involved in cell proliferation and differential and apoptosis; and Axin 2 that is part of the 'destruction complex' with GSK3. Therefore, inhibition of GSK3 by Akt would result in increased activity of the protein function signalled by  $\beta$ -Catenin (Zhao et al., 2005; Sutherland, 2011).

GSK3 however is a promiscuous protein and more recently has been shown to be involved in other putative functions such as microtubule stability, apoptosis, receptor trafficking and inflammation (Sutherland, 2011). This however largely depends on the proteins it targets or interacts with (Doble and Woodgett, 2003; Sutherland, 2011). Not surprisingly, given the number of functions it is associated with, dysfunctional regulation of GSK3 is observed in a number of psychiatric disorders, such as depression (Chen et al., 2015), metabolic diseases, such as diabetes (Eldar-Finkelman and Kaidanovich, 2002; Lappas, 2014) and neurological disease such as AD (Forlenza et al., 2011) to the point where therapeutic targets have been designed to reduce expression levels (De Sarno et al., 2002; Gould and Manji, 2002).

In AD, GSK3<sup>β</sup> has been shown to phosphorylate Tau at several pathological sites to promote the formation of paired helical filaments (Zheng-Fischhöfer et al., 1998; Phiel et al., 2003; Cole et al., 2007). However, it is not clear whether under normal conditions, GSK3 may interact with Tau to evoke a physiological response (Doble and Woodgett, 2003). In AD brains GSK3β expression is present in the cytoplasm of pre-tangle neurons and its over expression coincides with the development of neurofibrillary changes (Pei et al., 1999). In addition, it has been shown to facilitate Aβ release by increasing the cellular maturation of APP, a process associated with early stage AD (Citron et al., 1994; Aplin et al., 1997). Loss of Wnt signalling is also associated with AD, via neurotoxicity of AB deposition induced by increased levels of GSK3ß (Chong et al., 2005). GSK3 suppresses glycogen synthase and insulin receptor substrate-1, two key targets of insulin action. GSK3ß activity is increased and consequently reduced phosphorylation in peripheral tissues such as the liver in obese mice (Cai et al., 2005), T2DM models (Eldar-Finkelman and Kaidanovich, 2002) and in brains of T2DM patients (Liu et al., 2011). GSK3β activity is increased in blood of patients with MCI that have memory impairment and AD (Forlenza et al., 2011); and in white cells in patients with early AD (Hye et al., 2005) and the hippocampus of AD patients (Steen et al., 2005). In APP/PS1 transgenic mice GSK3ß activity is decreased at 6 months of age but increased at 18 months (Jimenez et al., 2011), suggesting an age related biphasic regulation of GSK3β.

#### 4.3.5 Inflammation

Neuroinflammation is one of the important pathologies associated with AD (Salminen et al., 2008; Hommet et al., 2014), and is detected by inflammatory markers in brain and CSF of AD patients postmortem (Lue et al., 2001; Rösler et al., 2001) and brains of transgenic mouse models of AD (Guillot et al., 2016; Yin et al., 2016). Population based studies in the Netherlands show high levels of inflammatory proteins in plasma are associated with increased risk of dementia and AD (Engelhart et al., 2004). Similar correlations between early inflammation and AD and or dementia was revealed by analysis of blood samples in a 25-year follow-up study of Japanese American men (Reinhold et al., 2002). Importantly this is independent of cardiovascular risk factor and disease, indicating the inflammation in the periphery contributes to the brain disease; possibly via disruption of the BBB, and these processes are detectable long before clinical symptoms occur (Reinhold et al., 2002). As with AD, T2DM, obesity and insulin resistance, are associated with inflammation, and with increased levels of inflammatory mediators such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), C-reactive protein and IKK/NF-κB (Hak et al., 2001; van de Ree et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2008; Cai, 2013).

Nuclear factor-kB (NFkB) is a transcription factor regulating genes classically involved in the immune response, inflammation and oncogenesis in all tissues (Tornatore et al., 2012). It is poised in the cytoplasm ready to respond rapidly to signals from a number of sources, including metabolic stress, inflammatory cytokines and insulin signalling (Patel and Santani, 2009; Ye and Keller, 2010; Tornatore et al., 2012). There are 5 members of the NFkB family of transcription factors, RelA-p65, RelB and cRel and the precursor proteins p105 and p100 (Kistler et al., 1998), which can dimerise with each other. Under resting conditions NFkB is tethered in the cytoplasm by tight binding to inhibitory IkB kinases (Zandi et al., 1997; Hinz and Scheidereit, 2014). Stimuli leading to activation of NFkB are mediated via the Inhibitor of nuclear factor-kB (IkB) kinase (IKK) complex comprising the catalytically active kinases, IKKa and IKKB and the regulatory Ikky (Zandi et al., 1997; Sakurai et al., 1997). They phosphorylate IkB's for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation, thereby releasing NFκB dimers to translate to the nucleus. This tripartite IKK structure is the most abundant form, however, in vitro studies have shown that Ikky (NEMO) can interact with IKKα and IKKβ homodimers (Hinz and Scheidereit, 2014) to induce a more diverse range of effects. The IKK complex is classically regulated by signals from cytokine receptors such as TNF and IL-1, antigen receptors and Toll-like receptors to activate NFkB. However, IKKa homodimers are crucial regulators of non-canonical NFκB signalling necessary for β-cell maturation and are involved in the maturation of dendritic cells and pancreatic homeostasis (Li et al., 2013; Mancino et al., 2013).

In addition to releasing NF $\kappa$ B to translocate to the nucleus, both IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$  have other substrates that are either common or specific to each kinase. For example, both kinases can interact with other proteins in, or associated with, Akt signalling such as  $\beta$ -Catenin, Akt-mTOR regulation of autophagy, and regulation of different proteins that ultimately increase or decrease transcriptional regulation of NF $\kappa$ B (Hinz and Scheidereit, 2014). In particular, IKK $\alpha$  participates in Akt-dependent regulation of mTORC1 (Dan et al., 2014). In addition, it enhances mTORC2 kinase feedback regulation of Akt and Akt-mediated regulation of FoxO3 and Gsk3 $\beta$  (Dan et al., 2014). Thus, the potentially rapid response that NF $\kappa$ B can make is tightly controlled by a number of positive and negative regulatory elements at multiple levels.

It is possible that different complex compositions may be associated with different stimulus inputs, different tissues and functions; however very little is known about this.

Although NFkB is best known for its function in immunity, inflammation, cell senescence, apoptosis and metabolism associated with ageing, more recently it has been shown to be involved in processes regulating life span, through its interaction with associated with proteins apoptosis, such as FoxO3 and autophagy, such as mTOR (Figure 12; Tilstra et al., 2011). Not surprisingly, aberrant regulation of IKK/NFkB has associated been with



**Figure 12.** NF $\kappa$ B as a central factor in pro-ageing and longevity pathways. Pro-growth survival pathways known to promote ageing phenotypes, specifically Insulin/IGF-1 and mTOR are known to stimulate NF $\kappa$ B as described. Insulin/IGF-1 acts via two mechanisms, AKT and mTOR signalling, to activate NF $\kappa$ B. However, through AKT, Insulin/IGF-1 signalling also interacts with known longevity processes by inhibiting FOXO. As with the other known longevity factors and signalling components, SIRT and caloric restriction, FOXO inhibits NF $\kappa$ B signalling as described. Additionally, stress/damage pathways known promote age-associated changes including genotoxic stress, ROS, and inflammation also activate NF $\kappa$ B. Secondary to activation of NF $\kappa$ B by pro-ageing pathways, NF $\kappa$ B then acts to promote ageing related changes by contributing to cellular senescence, senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP), apoptotoic signals and inflammatory responses (Tilstra et al., 2011).

neurodegenerative diseases such as AD (Guillot et al., 2016), diabetes and obesity (De Souza et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2008; Moraes et al., 2009); not least due to its role in inflammation (Patel and Santani, 2009; Tilstra et al., 2011; Tornatore et al., 2012).

# 4.3.6 Apoptosis

Apoptosis in normal physiological conditions plays a significant role as a counterpart to mitosis; particularly during development, as, critically, in the nervous-and immune systems there is overproduction of cells, and apoptosis rids the system of those cells that fail to establish functional synaptic connections or productive antigen specificities (Nijhawan et al., 2000; Opferman and Korsmeyer, 2003).

Bcl-2-associated death promotor (BAD) and FoxO3 promote apoptosis, albeit by different mechanisms. One mechanism common to both is that they can be phosphorylated by Akt, which tethers them in the cytoplasm with 14-3-3 proteins to prevent their downstream action in promoting apoptosis (Zhou et al., 2000; Li et al., 2001; Zhao et al., 2005). BAD belongs to the super apoptotic, Bcl-2 family and in response to stress signals, it translocates to the mitochondria where it forms heterodimers with the anti-

apoptotic proteins, Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 to prevent their anti-apoptotic action (Reed, 1996; Chao and Korsmeyer, 1998). Activation of Akt leads to inhibition of apoptotic pathway by phosphorylating and inactivating BAD at Ser136 (Datta et al., 1997). In contrast, activation of BAD results in apoptotic processes in the cells where cytochome c is released to engage initiator caspases, such as caspase 9 (Figure 13; Zhao et al., 2005) and the activation of executioner caspases such as caspase 3 and caspase 7 to promote cell death (Galluzzi et al., 2016).

FoxO3 is a member of the O subclass of family of Forkhead transcription factors. As a transcription factor, upon activation by oxidative stress, FoxO3 will translocate to the nucleus to regulate pro-apoptotic genes such as Bim (Hagenbuchner et al., 2012; Kopycinska et al., 2013) and PUMA (Dey et al., 2014;

Shukla et al., 2016) and downregulate anti-apoptic genes such as FLIP, but it also disrupt can mitochondrial membrane permeability to release cytochrome C (Yu et al., 2003) and caspase-induced cell death (Kraft, 2015). Similar to Akt inhibiting its translation to the nucleus, serum and glucocorticoidinducible protein kinase (SGK) also induces nuclear exclusion, by phophorylation at different sites to that of Akt (Leong et al., 2003). In to its role addition in apoptosis, FoxO3 has been associated with autophagy



Figure 13. Modulation of apoptotic injury by Wnt and Akt pathways. Akt inactivates BAD and FoxO3 to prevent apoptosis. Akt targets GSK3 $\beta$  through phosphorylation, resulting in the inactivation of GSK3 $\beta$  and blocking the degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Furthermore, phosphorylation of the translation initiation factor 2B (eIF2B) is prevented to prevent the release of cytochrome c (Cyto c) to inhibit apoptosis (Zhao et al., 2005).

and proteostasis but mainly in non-neuronal cells (Webb and Brunet, 2015). This is partly due to the autophagic genes it transcribes, including Beclin-1 in response to nutrient deprivation via positive activation of AMPK (Greer et al., 2007). Other evidence suggests that it can suppress the activity of raptor to lower the activity of the mTORC1 complex (Webb and Brunet, 2015). This combined ability of FoxO3, to regulate apoptosis and autophagy, has been suggested to at least in part, promote, longevity, as supported by population studies showing the presence of FoxO3 genetic polymorphisms in old people is linked with lower prevalence for cancer and cardiovascular disease and higher cognitive abilities (Martins et al., 2016). In addition to FoxO3 activation by Akt, it can be phosphorylated by SGK and IKKβ to induce nuclear exclusion

and also by AMPK in response to nutrient deprivation to positively regulate transcriptional activity (Dobson et al., 2011; Tzivion et al., 2011; Tzivion and Hay, 2011).

Furthermore, in ageing organisms, cells deteriorate at a faster rate and apoptosis will eliminate these to avoid pathology, neurodegeneration and autoimmune disease (Elmore, 2007). A $\beta$  is thought to induce apoptosis by causing oxidative stress and activation of extrinsic death pathways such as FasL pathway (Elmore, 2007). A number of apoptotic mechanisms have been shown to be dysfunctional in AD and obesity. For example, an activation of caspases has been observed post mortem in the brains of AD patients (Rohn et al., 2002; Pompl et al., 2003). Increased caspase 3 is found in either MCI or early stage AD (Gastard et al., 2003). Activated caspase 3 co-localises with PHFs in mild forms of AD (Rohn et al., 2002); and in exposure of cultured cells to A $\beta$  directly results in activation of caspase 3 and 9 (MCardoso et al., 2002; Tamagno et al., 2003). Finally, increased caspase activation is found in the hypothalamus of obese rats (Moraes et al., 2009).

In conclusion, evidence suggests that T2DM and AD do share a number of common pathologies and dysfunctional mechanisms, most notably impaired insulin and glucose regulation, disrupted autophagy, increased inflammation and apoptosis. Insulin stimulated PI3K-Akt signalling and their target proteins are strongly involved in these biochemical functions; however how these proteins interact with each other and contribute to the different functions are not clear. Chronic hyperglycemia and insulin resistance together may play key roles in the cognitive dysfunction and cerebral lesions in people with T2DM that may, at least in part, promote AD (Kodl and Seaquist, 2008).

# Table 5. Changes of key proteins in AD, T2D and obesity in literature

AD model:

Protein	Change	Region	Detail	Ref
Akt	<b>↓</b>	Frontal cortex	AD patients	Liu et al., 2011
	↓	Hippocampus	3x Tg mice	Chen et al., 2013
pAkt Ser 473	Î	Hippocampus	AD patients	Steen et al., 2005
	1	Hippocampus	3x Tg mice	Chen et al., 2013
GSK3β	1	White cells	MCI and AD patients	Hye et al., 2005
	<b>↓</b>	Hippocampus	3 x Tg mice	Chen et al., 2013
	<b>↓</b>	Hippocampus	AD patients	Čaušević et al., 2010
pGSK3β Ser 9	Ţ	Blood	MCI and AD patients	Forlenza et al., 2011
	l	Hippocampus	AD patients	Steen et al., 2005
	1 6 M	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Jimenez et al., 2011
	<b>↓</b> 18 M	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Jimenez et al., 2011
mTOR	1	CA1	APP/PS1 mice	Guillot et al., 2016
pmTOR Ser2448	1	Temporal cortex	AD patients	Griffin et al., 2005
Bad	18 M	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Jimenez et al., 2011
β-Catenin	1 6 M	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Jimenez et al., 2011
	<b>↓</b> 18 M	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Jimenez et al., 2011
pβ-Catenin	<b>1</b> 8 M	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Jimenez et al., 2011
Beclin-1	1	Mid-frontal cortex	Early AD and MCI patients	Pickford et al., 2008
APP	1	Hippocampus Hypothalamus	AD patients	Steen et al., 2005
	1	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Guillot et al., 2016
	1	Ventral posterior cortex	APP/PS1 mice	Hiltunen et al., 2012
IDE	Ţ	Hippocampus	Severe AD patients	Candeias et al., 2012
	1	Hippocampus	AD patients + APOEε4	Cook et al., 2003
	<b>↓</b>	Hippocampus	APP/PS1 mice	Vepsäläinen et al., 2008
	↓ I	Hippocampus	AD patients	Čaušević et al., 2010
GluT1	<b>↓</b>	Cortex	AD patients	Simpson et al., 1994
	Ţ	Frontal cortex	AD patients	Liu et al., 2008b
	l	Cortex	AD patients	Mooradian et al.,1997

Caspase 7	1	Brain	AD/dementia patients	Pompl et al., 2003
Caspase 9	1	Brain	AD/dementia patients	Pompl et al., 2003
pNFkB	1	CA1 / DG	APP/PS1 mice	Guillot et al., 2016
FoxO3	1	Hippocampus	P25 mice	Shi et al., 2016

# T2DM-AD models:

Protein	Change	Region	Detail	Ref
Akt	<b>↓</b>	frontal cortex	AD-T2DM patients	Liu et al., 2011
pAkt Ser 473	l	frontal cortex	AD-T2DM patients	Liu et al., 2011
	1	Hippocampus	Tg2576 + DIO mice (9 M)	Ho et al., 2004
	Ţ	Hippocampus	STZ-ICV rats	Xiang et al., 2015
GSK3β	l	frontal cortex	AD-T2D patients	Liu et al., 2011
pGSK3β Ser 9	l	frontal cortex	AD-T2D patients	Liu et al., 2011
	<b>↓</b>	Hippocampus	Tg2576 + DIO mice (9 M)	Ho et al., 2004
	1	ventral posterior cortex	APP/PS1- IGF-2 Tg mice	Hiltunen et al., 2012
	1	Hippocampus	STZ-ICV rats	De la Monte et al., 2008
mTOR	1	Hippocampus	STZ-HF/HC+ Aβ injection	Ma et al., 2013
IDE level and activity	1 1	Hippocampus	Tg2576 + DIO mice (9 M)	Ho et al., 2004
GluT1	<b>↓</b>	Forebrain	Slc2a1 <sup>+/-</sup> APP To mice	Winkler et al., 2015

# T2DM model:

Protein	Change	Region	Detail	Ref
Akt	Ţ	frontal cortex	T2DM patients	Liu et al., 2011
pAkt Ser 473	1	Kidney	Diabetes patients	Habib and Liang, 2014
	1	Hippocampus	NIRKO mice	Schubert et al., 2004
	↓	Hippocampus	GK diabetic rat	Xiang et al., 2015
GSK3β	1	frontal cortex	T2DM patients	Liu et al., 2011
pGSK3β Ser 9	1	frontal cortex	T2DM patients	Liu et al., 2011
	Ţ	Hippocampus	NIRKO mice.	Schubert et al., 2004
	1	Hippocampus	IGF- 2 Tg mice	Hiltunen et al., 2012
	1	Ventral posterior cortex	IGF- 2 Tg mice	Hiltunen et al., 2012
mTOR	1	Hippocampus	STZ (ip, 30 mg/kg) +HF/HC(8 W) rat	Ma et al., 2013
IDE	1	Cortex	GK rat	Fakhrai-Rad et al., 2000
	1	Ventral posterior cortex	IGF-2 Tg mice	Hiltunen et al., 2012
GluT-1	Î	Forebrain	SLC2A1 +/- GluT1 deficient mice	Winkler et al., 2015

# Obesity model:

protein	Change	Region	Detail	Ref
pAkt Ser 473	ţ	Muscle	SD + HFD rats (15 W)	Yong et al., 2016
	Ţ	Hippocampus	Hamsters + H-fructose (6 W)	Mielke et al., 2005
	1	Liver/ muscles	Wistar rats + HF/HS (4 W)	Khamzina et al., 2005
pGSK3β	ſ	Liver	LIKKTg mice	Cai et al., 2005
mTOR	l	Muscle	SD rats + HF (15 W)	Yong et al., 2016
mTOR 1	1	Muscle	SD rats + HF (15 W)	Yong et al., 2016
mTOR 2	<b>↓</b>	Muscle	SD rats + HF (15 W)	Yong et al., 2016
pmTOR Ser 2448	1	Liver	Wistar rats + HF/HS (4 W)	Khamzina et al., 2005
Beclin-1	l	Liver	ob/ob mice	Yang et al., 2010
	<b>↓</b>	Liver	C57BL/6J mice + HF (5M)	Yang et al., 2010
NFkB	1	Hypothalamus	Wistar rats + HF (16W)	De Souza et al., 2005
	1	Hypothalamus	ob/ob mice	Zhang et al., 2008
	1	Hypothalamus	C57BL/6 mice + HFD	Zhang et al., 2008
	1	Liver	C57BL/6 mice + HF (8 W)	Cai et al., 2005
	1	Liver	LIKK Tg mice	Cai et al., 2005
ΙΚΚβ	1	Hypothalamus	ob/ob mice	Zhang et al., 2008
	1	Hypothalamus	C57BL/6 mice + HF (8 W)	Zhang et al., 2008
IKK ( $\alpha$ and $\beta$ )	1	Liver; Isolated adipocytes	C57BL/6 mice + HFD (4 M)	Chiang et al., 2009
рІКК	1	Hypothalamus	Wistar rats + HF (8 W)	Moraes et al., 2009
Caspase 9	1	Hypothalamus	Wistar rats + HF (8 W)	Moraes et al., 2009

# Abbreviations:

AD: Alzheimer's disease; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus; T2DM-AD: Both with T2DM and AD; MCI: Mild cognitive impairment; GK rat: Goto-Kakizaki diabetic rat; IGF-2: Insulin like growth factor-2 overexpressing transgenic mice; NIRKO mice: Neuron specific insulin receptor knock-out mice; Slc2a1: GLUT 1; LIKK: Liver IKK selectively active expressing mice; SD: Sprague Dawley rat; HFD: High fat diet; HC: High carbohydrate diet; HFHS: High fat high sucrose diet; STZ: Streptozotocin; W: weeks; M: months. Increase; Decrease.

# **Objectives**

Sufficient evidence from a wide range of research now suggests that the main species of  $A\beta$  that is more detrimental in the Alzheimer pathology are the oligomeric forms rather than the plaque. Moreover, this process starts much earlier than was originally thought; up to 20 years prior to the onset of the first clinical signs of cognitive deficits. This now suggests early interventive strategies would be more propitious (Jack et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2011; Hampel et al., 2011) even though this would be well before the onset of cognitive disturbances. The start of this slow increase in  $A\beta$ , puts it in the right time frame for risk factors associated with AD to be implicated in potentially triggering the increase. Some evidence suggests that picomole levels of  $A\beta$  have a physiological role and can in fact facilitate memory and synaptic plasticity. This then suggests metabolic destabilisation induced in risk factors, that themselves develop slowly across many years could provide a neuronal environment that tips the balance of physiological  $A\beta$  production to a pathological level.

Following ageing, T2DM, is the main risk factor associated with AD; it is largely induced by obesity and manifests itself in middle age. Both T2DM and AD share a number of pathologies, including amyloid pathology; and disruption of cellular functions that are in part, regulated by PI3K-Akt signalling cascade, a pathway that responds directly to environmental input (Desai et al., 2014). The major difference between the two pathologies is that in T2DM it is mediated in the periphery, whereas in AD the pathology is in the brain. However, under physiological conditions the brain must access both glucose and insulin from the periphery; and as these are the two characteristic dysfunctions in T2DM, it can have an impact on the brain. *The specific aim* of the project therefore, is to understand how and by what mechanism T2DM may induce a favourable neuronal environment to promote dysfunction and cognitive deficits associated with AD.

To address this our strategy was to conduct studies that more closely resembled the human condition. Therefore, we conducted (a) longitudinal studies (over approximately 10 months) that would more closely mimic the slow onset of dysfunction as that seen with T2DM and AD; (b) a feeding regime using human junk food instead of calibrated high fat laboratory pellets; (c) a low dose infusion of soluble A $\beta$ 42 to ensure in increase in A $\beta$ ; (d) analyses of dysfunctional regulation of expression and phosphorylation of proteins in the PI3K signalling pathway in CA1. Therefore, our hypothesis was that any dysfunctional effect induced by A $\beta$  would be exacerbated by a T2DM phenotype. Our hypothesis is that T2DM pathology creates dysfunctional homeostatic regulation of glucose and energy metabolism and decreased insulin signalling in the brain; and will exacerbate any effect induced by A $\beta$  alone.

Currently, there are numerous models of T2DM, ranging from genetically modified mice or inbred rats; STZ injection, high fat feeding with calibrated pellets or the use of human junk food. Other models have used a combination of low dose injections of STZ coupled with high fat diet. We adapted this model but substituted high fat calibrated pellets for human junk food. The rationale for using low dose injections of STZ was based on evidence showing this protocol reduces lethality and added complications induced

by single high doses (see Goyal et al., 2016). In our protocol, we used 2 low dose injections that will kill a portion of the  $\beta$ -pancreatic cells and induce insulin resistance that is more associated with T2DM.

In addition, we used human junk food instead of calibrated high fat pellets. A limitation with this choice was that we were not able to have a precise analysis of the nutritional components of the food; however, this was not our major question. Our major interest was to feed rats a diet containing the same food stuffs that humans eat to mimic more closely how obesity and T2DM develop. To date we believe this particular model has not been reported in the literature.

Our rationale for infusing a low dose soluble form of A $\beta$ 42 is based partly on the fact that, as we are developing a relatively new T2DM model; we had no way of knowing whether our T2DM phenotype would alone would induce an increase in amyloid pathology. It is also based on our own preliminary results that show this dose of A $\beta$  induced a temporary deficit in spatial memory that recovered 6 weeks following infusion. In order to have a functional readout of the effects of the treatments, we conducted spatial memory testing repeatedly throughout the experimental period. We chose to use a spatial recognition memory task as it is susceptible to damage or dysfunction in the hippocampus (Vann and Albasser, 2011). Furthermore, as the task is based on natural exploration of objects and remembering their location within a spatial environment, it requires no appetitive reward or aversive conditions to promote learning; therefore, it is a task that is the least likely to affect subsequent learning and memory.

To monitor the development and evolution of T2DM we conducted repeated glucose tolerance tests; a standard test used in humans to assess diabetes. At the end of the experiment blood was harvested for analyses of insulin levels. This allowed us to measure basal insulin levels; and in relation to basal glucose levels to assess hyperinsulinemia; insulin resistance and β-pancreatic cell failure.

At the end of the experiment, CA1 was dissected for biochemical analyses of basal expression and phosphorylation of proteins in the PI3K signalling pathway, that are associated with a number of dysfunctions that are common to both AD and T2DM. In addition, other proteins associated with dysfunctional amyloid processing and associated with T2DM were examined. As our experimental protocol was relative novel, we chose to analyse a broad spectrum of proteins, rather than focusing on in-depth analyses of proteins mediating specific neuronal dysfunction induced by T2DM that could contribute to AD pathology.

Finally, to deconstruct the potential contributions of the T2DM phenotype or A $\beta$  alone to the memory deficits and regulation of proteins, a number of groups were tested: Control rats fed with laboratory diet (Ct), rats fed with cafeteria diet (CD), rats injected with Streptozotocin (STZ) and rats fed with cafeteria diet combined with STZ injections (STZ-CD). Twenty weeks after the start of feeding regimes, some rats in each group were infused with soluble A $\beta$ 42 to determine the effect of A $\beta$  alone and the impact of T2DM treatment on A $\beta$ . The deconstruction of these groups allowed us to identify the relative importance of each contributory effect to the endpoint effect on functional regulation of memory processing and proteins.

Results (manuscript of article)
# Mechanisms by which Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) may act as a potential risk factor for the development of Alzheimer's disease (AD)

Men SU<sup>a</sup>, Kambiz NADERI<sup>a</sup>, Nathalie SAMSON<sup>a</sup>, Livia FÜLOP<sup>b</sup>, Serge LAROCHE<sup>a</sup>, Sabrina DAVIS<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Paris Saclay Institute of Neuroscience, UMR 9197, CNRS, University Paris-Sud, University Paris-Saclay, 91400 Orsay, France

<sup>b</sup> Department of Medical Chemistry, University of Szeged, 6720 Szeged, Hungary

# Abstract

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) is the most important risk factor after ageing for developing Alzheimer's disease (AD). It is a metabolic disorder characterised by hyperglycemia and insulin resistance that develops in middle age and is promoted largely by obesity. We conducted a longitudinal study (10 months) using a T2DM rat model to assess the potential impact T2DM may have on the development of pathologies associated with AD. Rats were fed cafeteria-style diet (CD) coupled with subdiabetogenic doses of Streptozotocin (STZ)(STZ-CD). STZ-CD treated rats showed classic signs of T2DM and a modest deficit in consolidation of spatial recognition memory.

To test whether this phenotype could exacerbate an effect of amyloid we infused intracerebroventricularly a soluble form of amyloid beta42 (Aβ42). The phenotype prolonged a deficit in spatial recognition memory induced by Aβ42 alone; and although environmental enrichment improved memory deficits, it was short lasting.

Biochemical analyses were conducted on proteins in-or associated with the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway and markers of A $\beta$  processing and glucose transport in CA1. The T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$  induced a number of long-lasting changes in proteins associated with aberrant functions identified in brains of AD patients and models of the disease. When we deconstructed the component parts of the T2DM phenotype and A $\beta$  alone, we found; although a number of changes were specific to the T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$ ; others were independently driven by either CD alone or A $\beta$  alone whereas STZ injections alone had a negligible effect. Most of the aberrantly regulated proteins are associated with functions such as autophagy, inflammation, apoptosis, glucose availability and amyloid processing. The data suggest T2DM may promote a dysfunctional neuronal environment that would allow A $\beta$  to induce pathological events associated with early stage of AD and cognitive deficits.

# Introduction

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is an age-related form of neurodegeneration that has a slow and insidious onset. It is defined clinically by dementia and pathologically by the widespread presence of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles and cell loss (Heininger, 1999; Dickson and Vickers, 2001). Until recently, the focus of research into understanding the progression of the disease and the development of treatments to stem or arrest the pathology has been centred on the amyloid pathology. However; over the past 10 years or so, accumulation of evidence would now suggest that the hard-core, immobile amyloid plague is not the key triggering mechanism of at least the dementia associated with AD. The main evidence supporting this is clinical trials using plague removing drugs that do not improve cognition or prolong life in AD patients (Holmes et al., 2008); and that cognitively 'normal' aged persons have an equivalent plague load as do those diagnosed with AD (Knopman et al., 2003; Oh et al., 2015; Mufson et al., 2016). Moreover, more recent research has shown that pre-aggregated species of amyloid may be more instrumental in inducing the dementia associated with the disease (Larson and Lesne, 2012; Lesne, 2014). These species are toxic, relatively mobile and, extracellularly, they can bind to and render dysfunctional a number of receptors (Sakono and Zako, 2010) and their subsequent regulation of signaling pathways. This can promote inflammation and apoptosis processes (Eftekharzadeh et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 2016) and also deregulate homeostatic processes such as autophagy and energy regulation (Townsend et al., 2007; Caccamo et al., 2011; See Wang et al., 2016). Experimental evidence in rodents suggests these amyloid species induce deficits in memory (Cleary et al., 2005; Sipos et al., 2007; Eslamizade et al., 2016) and synaptic plasticity (Walsh et al., 2002; Townsend et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2008). Finally, evidence shows amyloid increases slowly over some 15 to 20 years prior to the onset of the first identifiable clinical signs and has reached a plateau at this time point (Jack et al., 2010; Jack et al., 2013; Swerdlow et al., 2014). Thus, there is a growing consensus that suggests pre-aggregated species may constitute a preclinical stage of the disease where development of interventive treatments may be the optimal strategy. However, in the absence of live markers of pre-aggregated amyloid in humans, it becomes difficult to dissociate mild memory deficits in normal aged persons from those that will develop AD.

One potential predictive marker for early development of AD is Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM); a disease characterised by hyperglycemia and insulin resistance and/or hyperinsulinemia (Alberti and Zimmet, 1998; Brunetti et al., 2014). Following ageing, it is the most important risk factor for developing AD; the incidence of AD is 2-5 times higher in people with T2DM (Mayeux and Stern, 2006; Desai et al., 2014). As with AD, T2DM develops over time; displaying characteristic symptoms around the 5<sup>th</sup> decade of life (Aguiree et al., 2013; American Diabetes Association., 2015) and is also subject to risk factors, namely obesity (van Leiden et al., 2003; World Health Organization, 2000). Epidemiological and animal studies show a strong association between T2DM and AD and it is suggested T2DM can exacerbate the process of AD (Verdile et al., 2015a). Diabetic patients show lower levels of global cognition, episodic memory, semantic memory, working memory and perceptual speed (Arvanitakis et al., 2004). T2DM and AD also share some common pathologies, such as hippocampal atrophy; and structural and function neuronal

connectivity (Den Heijer et al., 2003; Reijmer et al., 2013, John et al., 2014); impaired fasting glucose (Janson et al., 2004) and the presence of neurofibrillary tangles and amyloid plaques (Peila et al., 2002; Mittal and Katare, 2016) albeit these key signature lesions are in the pancreas in T2DM patients. Moreover, studies have reported impaired insulin-PI3K-Akt signaling in AD and T2DM patients (Schubert et al., 2004; Steen et al., 2005) that could contribute to dysfunctions such as inflammation, apoptosis, autophagy, oxidative stress, impaired insulin signaling and glucose metabolism, many of which are mediated by insulin mediated PI3K/Akt signaling pathway as reviewed (Cole et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2010; Verdile, 2015b; Mittal and Katare, 2016). Although these common dysfunctions are principally observed in peripheral tissues in T2DM, it is known that the brain is wholly reliant on the peripheral system for glucose and the majority of its insulin; suggesting deregulation by T2DM will affect brain energy homeostasis.

Thus, given the common pathologies and dysfunctional mechanisms, the memory deficits observed in T2DM may constitute an early, fragile state, where a slight disruption of homeostatic regulation of neuronal mechanisms may tip the balance in favour of developing AD and the ensuing dementia. Furthermore, the age at which the disease manifests, places it in the right time frame for the start of the rise in amyloid in patients.

A number of studies have shown that sporadic AD is a metabolic brain disorder (Igbal and Grundke-Iqbal, 2005; Heiss et al., 1991; Gong et al., 2006), where impaired glucose metabolism occurs prior to the appearance of AD symptoms and worsens with age (Heiss et al., 1991; Smith et al., 1992; Hoyer, 2004). In addition the AD brain shows insulin resistance (Riveral et al., 2005; Talbot et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2011) that is associated with decreased glucose metabolism (Liu et al., 2009; 2011). Some studies have coupled T2DM with AD, for the main part using AD transgenic mice (Ho et al., 2004; Hiltunen et al., 2012; McClean and Hölscher, 2014; Yeh et al., 2015) that have principally focused on amyloid and tau pathology (Ho et al., 2004; Takeda et al., 2010; Yeh et al., 2015) or T2DM pathology (Takeda et al., 2010; Hiltunen et al., 2012). Given the associations between the two diseases, the aim of our experiments was to uncover dysfunctional mechanisms in CA1 of the hippocampus mediated by T2DM that might exacerbate an early increase in amyloid in preclinical stages of AD. Although the amyloid cascade hypothesis (Hardy and Higgins, 1992; Selkoe and Hardy, 2016), a major driving force directing research in AD would suggest that all non-specific AD pathology is downstream of amyloid, a major underlying concept on our experiment is that chronic low level destabilization of brain function induced by T2DM promotes an environment to permit dysfunctional regulation of A $\beta$ . To this end, we developed a model of T2DM in rats that closely mimicked the human condition and conducted longitudinal studies. When characteristic symptoms of T2DM were established we infused a low concentration of soluble A
<sup>β</sup>42 and monitored rats for a further 15 weeks. As a functional readout, we repeatedly tested spatial recognition memory across the experimental period. And, finally we examined regulation of proteins in the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway, as this is associated with the normal homeostatic regulation of functions that are shown to be aberrant in AD.

# Methods

#### Animals

Male Sprague Dawley rats (200g-300g) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories, France. The animals were housed in standard cages (2 rats/cage) and maintained in a temperature and humidity controlled colony room with 12/12-hour light dark cycle with fresh water *ad libitum* and normal laboratory pellets (A04, SAFE, France) until the start the feeding protocol. All efforts were made to minimize the animal number and suffering during the whole experimental procedure. Experiments were conducted according to the European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986 (86/609/EEC), EU Directive 2010/63/EU, and the French National Committee (87/848), and approval of the local ethics committee (n°59).

#### General protocol and Experimental groups

We conducted longitudinal studies over 8-10 months. Rats were first started on a feeding regime and injected twice with subdiabetogenic doses of STZ, one week apart. After 20 weeks, some of the rats were implanted with minipumps containing soluble A $\beta$ 42 and the experiment was continued for another 15 weeks. Throughout the experimental period, regular glucose tolerance tests (GTTs) and spatial recognition memory tests were conducted (see timeline below, Fig 1). There were 4 main experimental groups: Control rats fed with laboratory diet (Ct, n=21), rats fed with cafeteria diet (CD, n=8), rats injected with Streptozotocin (STZ, n=10) and rats fed with cafeteria diet combined with STZ injections (STZ-CD,n=9). A sub group of these groups were infused with soluble A $\beta$ 42 (See supplementary Figure 1).



*Figure 1. Time line of experimental protocol:* Protocol starts with feeding Cafeteria Diet (CD) at week 0. Thereafter different treatments across a period of 35 weeks are depicted. Abbreviations: STZ1 and 2 are the times at which low dose injections of Streptozotocin are given; SR1-4 depict the times at which spatial reference memory is tested; GTT1-4 depict when glucose tolerance testing is conducted;  $A\beta$ + indicates the time following the end infusion of  $A\beta$ .

# Feeding Protocol

After 2 weeks' adaptation to laboratory conditions, rats were randomly divided into two basic feeding regimes; calibrated laboratory diet (LD) at the recommended dose to maintain normal health and growth; or cafeteria diet (CD), comprising human 'junk' food (see supplementary Table 1) that was high in calories, sugar and fat. Moreover, these foods contained chemical components used as stabilisers, colorants, etc. A wide range of food products was offered to rats at the start of the experiment to determine their food preference and these foods stuffs were given in excess quantities on a daily basis. This feeding regime was continued throughout the experimental period. Body weight was recorded on a weekly basis.

Consumption of major nutritional components in CD was assessed each day over a 6-week period in the middle of the experiment.

# Streptozotocin (STZ) injection

STZ (Sigma- Aldrich) was dissolved in citric acid (pH 6.0), prepared as required and protected from light. Rats were given 2 sub-diabetogenic doses (*30 mg/kg* i.p.) one week apart approximately 7 weeks after the start of the feeding regime.

# Surgical procedure and amyloid-beta (AB) infusion

The Aβ42 peptide was specifically synthesised to be maintained in a soluble form (L. Fulöp, University Szeged, Hungary) and stored as lypholised aliquots (0.1 mg) at -80° until required. Prior to use the peptide was resuspended in HyPure Molecular biology double distilled sterile water (Thermo; France), sonicated and diluted to a concentration of 50 mM in aCSF (Alzet protocol) and filtered.

Approximately 20 weeks after the start of the feeding regime half of the rats in each group underwent surgery to implant osmotic minipumps (Alzet, model 2004, USA) to infuse A $\beta$ 42 intraventricularly (icv) over 7 days (0.5  $\mu$ l/hour). Rats were deeply anaesthetised with Ketamine (1.5 ml/kg) and Domitor (0.5 ml/kg). They were placed in a stereotaxic frame, the skull exposed to allow a single hole to be drilled out to place a cannula in the lateral ventricle (Bregma 1.3 mm; midline 1.8 mm; depth 3.0 mm from the brain surface). The cannula was connected to osmotic minipump via flexible tubing and fixed in place with cement. The pump was then inserted subcutaneously between the scapula and the scalp incision was closed with surgical staples.

# Glucose tolerance test (GTT)

At different time points during the experiment (see Fig 1), glucose tolerance tests were conducted. After overnight fasting, blood from the tail vein (approximately 4  $\mu$ l each time) was sampled prior to (0 min) and 15, 30, 60, and 120 minutes after a bolus injection of glucose (i.p, 2g/kg body weight, Sigma- Aldrich,). Blood glucose levels (mg/dL) were analysed using a glucometre (HemoCue<sup>R</sup>, Sweden). Statistical analyses using one-way ANOVA were conducted on basal (0 min) glucose levels and the area under curve (AUC) in response to the glucose challenge in each rat.

#### Blood insulin assay

At the end of the experiment after overnight fasting, whole blood was collected immediately following sacrifice. Plasma was separated by centrifugation (3500 rpm, 25min, at 4°C) and stored at -20°C until analysis. Plasma insulin was measured using a Rat/Mouse Insulin ELISA Kit (Cat # EZRMI-13K, Millipore, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol and analysed using spectrophotometry (Molecular Device, France) at an absorbance level of 450 nm. Sample insulin concentrations (ng/ml) were calculated based on standard insulin curves and one-way ANOVA was used to analyse group differences.

# Spatial Recognition task

The spatial recognition memory was conducted in a circular open field (diameter 90cm, height 50cm, painted black) in a room containing multiple 3-dimensional cues. Before training rats were habituated to the open field (5 min/day, for 3 days). Following habituation, rats were given a sample phase (3 sessions of 4 minutes with a 4-minute interval between sessions) where they explored three different objects constructed out of Lego<sup>TM</sup>. Following a delay (24 or 72 hrs) one of the objects was changed to a new location and rats were allowed a single session of exploration (4 min). Time spent exploring the objects was recorded via a video tracking system (ANYMAZE, Stoelting Co., USA). ANOVA was conducted on the total time spent exploring objects during the sample phase to determine whether differences in exploration would indicate deficits in motor coordination or stress that may contribute to cognitive performance. Percent time spent exploring the novel location *vs* a mean of the two familiar locations was calculated to determine 50% as chance level and analysed with one-way ANOVA.

# Environmental enrichment

A mild form of environmental enrichment (EE); developed in the laboratory (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2005) was given to a subset of rats in the STZ-CD and control groups infused with A $\beta$  or not. Groups of 4-5 rats were placed in a large wooden box (Length 100 cm; Width 80 cm; Height 60 cm) containing junk objects for 3 hours a day over 14 days.

# Brain tissue preparation for biochemical analyses

Rats were sacrificed by decapitation and CA1 of the hippocampus was dissected for analyses of expression and phosphorylation of proteins using immunowestern-blotting analyses. Dissected tissue was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and kept at -80°C for later use. Proteins were extracted from the frozen tissue in lysis buffer (described in Davis et al., 2000); and Complete Protease Inhibitor Cocktail and PhosSTOP (Roche, France). Homogenized samples were incubated on ice for 30 minutes and centrifuged at 15,000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C; then the supernatant was recovered and stored at -80°C. Protein concentrations were calculated using Bio-Rad protein assay (Bio-Rad, Germany) and samples were diluted with lysis buffer to give equal protein concentration of 1µg/µl.

#### Western-blotting

The protocol was based on previous experiments (Kelly et al., 2003), briefly 20 µl of sample was denatured in 5 x Laemmli sample buffer and boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes before loading onto gradient acrylamide gels (6-12%). Proteins were separated using constant voltage (150 V; between 1.5-3 hr) and then transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham, GE Healthcare, Germany) by electro-blotting at a constant voltage (100 V; 90 min). Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk (Bio-Rad, France) in TBS-T (Euromedex, France) and incubated overnight in primary antibodies at 4°C with gentle shaking (see primary antibodies and dilution in supplementary Table 2). Membranes were washed 3 times (5min) in TBS-T and incubated in a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse/ rabbit immunoglobulin IgG

secondary antibody (Dilution 1:2000 – 1:10,000 in 5 % BSA, Amersham, GE Healthcare, France) for 1-1.5 hours at room temperature. Membranes were rinsed x 3 (5 min) in TBS-T and proteins were reacted with Chemiluminescence ECL solution (Amersham, GE healthcare, France), exposed to film (optimal exposure time for each antibody was maintained) and developed by hand. Membranes were subsequently washed and stripped (Re-blot plus; Millipore, Germany) and re-incubated with other antibodies using the same procedure as described above. Protein bands were quantified using Gene Tools software (SynGene, Cambridge, UK). Total proteins were normalised to  $\beta$ -Actin and phosphorylated proteins to corresponding total protein. The relative changes in expression and phosphorylation of proteins were represented as percent of control levels per gel and statistical analyses, using Students t-Test determined whether changes were significantly different from controls, and one-way ANOVA to determine group differences.

### Results

# Food intake and weight gain

We made cursory analyses of the food consumption over a 6-week period in the middle of the experiment in the groups fed laboratory diet (control and STZ alone) and cafeteria diet (CD alone and STZ-CD). We found rats fed CD consumed nearly twice the amount of weekly calories (853 kcal) compared with those fed laboratory diet (488 kcal; t=73.93; p<0.0001; Fig 2A). In terms of the major nutritional food groups rats fed CD consumed about the same amount of carbohydrates as those fed laboratory diet (t=0.7383; p>0.05); less overall protein content (t=72.29; p<0.0001; Fig 2B) and more lipids (t=204.2; p<0.0001). However, the amount of sugar contained in the CD was approximately 49.4% whereas in laboratory diet it was 3.2%. And the protein content in CD was mainly derived from animal proteins where as it was at least 66% vegetable proteins in laboratory diet. The other major differences in nutritional composition are shown in Fig 2C.

Weight was measured on a weekly basis and, of course at the start of experiment all rats had the same weight (F<1). Not surprisingly, rats fed with cafeteria diet (CD alone and STZ-CD group) gained significantly more weight than those groups fed laboratory diet (Controls and STZ alone) across the experimental period. By the end of the experiment rats fed CD had gained approximately 25% more weight than those on the control diet (F(3,96)=12.78; P<0.0001; see Fig 2D). Although rats could not be considered obese compared with other models (Bray, 1977; Harishankar et al., 2011); some studies have suggested that weight gain between 10 and 25% is an indicator of obesity (Levin and Dunn-Meynell, 2002; Woods et al., 2003).



*Figure 2. Food intake and weight gain:* (A) shows the relative caloric intake in rats fed normal laboratory diet (LD) or cafeteria diet (CD). (B) Indicates the consumption of major food groups, Carb (Carbohydrates); Prot (Proteins); and Lipids. (C) Percentage of nutritional components in standard laboratory diet and Cafeteria Diet. (D) Weight gain in the 4 major groups: Ct (fed Laboratory Diet); STZ (fed Laboratory Diet), CD (fed Cafeteria Diet) and STZ-CD (fed Cafeteria Diet). Arrows indicate start of feeding regime (red) and the second STZ injection (grey). Abbreviations: STZ, Strepotozotocin, CD, Cafeteria diet; LD, Laboratory Diet; CD. \*\*\* p<0.001.

# Blood glucose levels

We conducted 4 glucose tolerance tests (GTT) at different time points throughout the experimental period (see timeline in Fig 3A). ANOVA and Tukey post hoc analyses conducted on basal glucose levels in the first test showed a significant difference between groups (GTT1: F(3,84)=3.041; p<0.05) that was attributed solely to a modest increase in STZ-CD treated rats compared with controls (Tukey post hoc analysis; p<0.05). This effect was maintained in the second test (F(2,58)=5.23; P<0.1) where the difference was attributed to STZ-CD treated rats (Tukey post hoc analysis; p<0.05). NB at this time point we did not test rats fed CD alone. However, by the third and fourth tests, basal glucose was greatly elevated in STZ-CD treated rats but there was also a modest increase in rats injected with STZ alone or fed CD alone GTT3: F(3,53)=10.56; p<0.0001; GTT4: F(3,52)=6.729; =0.001; Fig 3B). Analysis of the AUC, in response to glucose challenge, showed a similar pattern to that observed with basal levels.



*Figure 3. Glucose regulation:* (A) depicts time line of the 4 glucose tolerance tests. (B) Shows evolution of fasted basal glucose levels (0-time point; mg/dL) across the 4 time points. (C) Shows Area Under Curve (AUC) of individual response curves to a glucose challenge. (D and E) show the mean group differences of the response curves in first test (D) and the last test (E) in mg/dL (Time after glucose injection). Data is represented as mean $\pm$ SEM; \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001.

The first two tests showed only a significant increase in the STZ-CD treated rats (GTT1: F(1,3)=5.01; p<0.01; GTT2: F(1,2)=13.22; p<0.001). However by the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> test, STZ-CD treated rats showed an even greater increase; with STZ-alone and CD-alone showing an increase but to a much lesser extent (GTT3: F(1,3)=4.31; p<0.05; GTT4: F(1,3)=9.55; p<0.001; Fig 3C). Importantly both basal levels and AUC significantly increased across time in STZ-CD treated rats (Basal levels: F(3,71)=6.37; p<0.001; AUC: F(3,79)=7.49; p<0.001) and this is reflected in figures 3D and E showing glucose curves in mg/dL in the first and last test. In summary, only STZ-CD treated rats showed obvious hyperglycemia as they had a consistent increase in basal fasting plasma glucose and impaired glucose tolerance in response to glucose challenge that evolved with time.

#### Blood insulin levels

At the end of the experiment, plasma insulin was measured using ELISA. ANOVA showed very high levels in rats fed CD that is a common feature of obesity (see Templeman et al., 2017); with a slight

non-significant increase in rats injected with STZ alone, and a trend towards a decrease in STZ-CD treated rats (F(3,15)=18.14; p<0.0001; Fig 4A). To compare the relationship between glucose and insulin, we normalised blood insulin and glucose levels, in the last test to their corresponding controls (Fig. 4B). In rats injected with STZ alone although there was a slight increase in insulin to glucose levels it was not significant (t=0.88; p>0.05). In rats fed CD there was a huge and significant increase in insulin level compared with a relatively normal level of glucose (t=9.19; p<0.01) suggesting either insulin resistance and/or hyperinsulinemia. In contrast, STZ-CD treated rats had increased levels of glucose and a corresponding decrease in levels of insulin (t=6.24; p<0.05), suggesting  $\beta$ -pancreatic cell failure (Leahy, 2005; Alejandro et al., 2014).



*Figure 4. Insulin regulation:* (A) shows blood insulin level at the end of the experiment in the 4 major experimental groups. (B and C) show the relationship between glucose (solid bars) at the last test and insulin (hatched bars) when killed. Data are normalised to respective control levels. (B) shows relationship between glucose and insulin levels at the end of the experiment. (C) Depicts relationship between glucose and insulin in a subgroup of STZ-CD treated rats and control rats killed at the earlier time point of 21 weeks. Data is represented as mean $\pm$ SEM; \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001.

Importantly we analysed a group of STZ-CD treated rats at an earlier time point (week 21) and found the relationship between glucose and insulin levels resembled that of the rats fed CD tested at the end of the experiment; where there was no significant difference in glucose levels between control and STZ-CD treated rats (t=0.91; p>0.05) but a large difference in insulin levels (t=8.43; p<0.0001) and a significant increase in insulin to glucose (t=6.03; p<0.01) suggesting hyperinsulinemia and/or insulin resistance (Fig 4C). Together the weight gain, hyperglycemia and impaired insulin that were specific to the rats treated with STZ-CD suggests this treatment at least promotes a number of characteristics associated with a T2DM phenotype. Moreover, the difference between the glucose and insulin levels at the earlier time point compared with the later time point suggests that the T2DM phenotype evolved with time and at the end of the experiment represents a more advanced stage of T2DM than that induced by CD alone.

## Memory deficits induced by T2DM

To test whether the T2DM phenotype, STZ injections and CD alone induced memory deficits we tested rats 4 times throughout the experimental period (see time line; Fig 5A). In all 4 tests, during the sample phase, rats in all groups showed equal exploration of the 3 objects (all F values <1; data not shown), suggesting the different treatments had no discernible effect on locomotor activity or the normal tendency for exploration of the objects. When we tested consolidation of the memory 24 hour following the sample phase we found on the first test that the T2DM phenotype, STZ-alone and CD-alone showed significantly poorer memory compared with controls (F(3,36)=23.48; p<0.0001, Fig. 5B). However, their performance was significantly greater than chance level (all p values <0.01 compared with 50%). This same pattern of a modest deficit was also observed in the subsequent tests (Week 23, F(3,36)=23.35; p<0.0001); Week 27, F(3,27)=30.47; p<0.0001; Week 34, F(3,27)=25.45; p<0.0001). This suggests that each component of the T2DM phenotype is capable of affecting consolidation of recognition memory and maintaining a stable impairment across time (see Fig 5B).



*Figure 5. Effect of the T2DM phenotype (STZ-CD) and component parts, STZ injections alone (STZ) and rats fed cafeteria diet alone (CD) on spatial recognition memory.* (A) depicts the time line of memory testing. (B) Shows the percent exploration of the novel location at the different time points tested (SR1-4). Data is represented as mean±SEM; \*\*\*p<0.001.

# T2DM prolongs the memory deficits induced by Aß

At week 20 half the rats in each group were infused with soluble oligomeric A $\beta$ 42 peptide into lateral ventricle (icv) for 7 days. We conducted a first experiment to determine whether A $\beta$ 42 alone induced a deficit in spatial recognition memory. Here rats were either infused with aCSF or the A $\beta$  peptide and tested 12, 42, 78 and 112 days following the end of infusion. During the sample phase all rats showed a comparable level of exploration in the 4 tests (all p values <0.05; data not shown). Compared with control

rats, those infused with A $\beta$  showed a significant deficit in memory consolidation at day 12 (t=4.96;p<0.0001) with performance falling to chance level. Although slowly starting to recover by day 42, rats still showed significantly poorer performance when compared with non-infused rats (t=2.42; p<0.05); however, they were significantly above chance level (t=5.62; p<0.01). By day 78 the memory had recovered and showed no difference to non-infused rats (t=1.57; p>0.05) and this was maintained at day 112 (t=0.53; p>0.05). Furthermore ANOVA confirms the recovery of memory deficit across time (F(1,3)= 3.34; p<0.05; see Fig 6A).



Figure 6. Effect of  $A\beta$  alone and in conjunction with T2DM and component parts on spatial recognition memory: (A) Depicts a preliminary study testing the effect that  $A\beta$  alone (hatched bars) compared with non  $A\beta$  infused rats (white bars) tested repeated at different time points after infusion of  $A\beta$ . (B) shows the time line of testing of the effect of infusion of  $A\beta$  in STZ alone, CD alone and in combination (STZ-CD). (C-E) memory deficits induced in all groups at different times following infusion of  $A\beta$  (hatched bars) compared with non- $A\beta$  infused (solid bars) groups. NB, non-infused groups are the same as those depicted in figure 5. Data is represented as mean±SEM; \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001.

We therefore tested rats in the different groups infused with A $\beta$ , 16, 44, and 96 days following the end of A $\beta$  infusion. This corresponds to the same time at which non-A $\beta$  infused groups were tested. In the first test (A $\beta$ +16 days) compared with non-infused controls, A $\beta$  induced a deficit (t=11.27; p<0.0001) and performance dropped to chance levels comparable to that we observed previously. Importantly, rats injected with STZ alone, fed CD alone or treated with STZ-CD also showed a deficit compared with their non-infused counterparts (STZ: t=4.18; p<0.001; CD: t=3.53; p<0.05; STZ-CD: t=4.65; p<0.001; Fig 6B). By day 44 following infusion, the control, STZ and CD groups recovered to the same level of performance to that of their non-infused counterparts (Ct: t=1.79; p>0.05; STZ: t=0.62; p>0.05; CD: t=0.26; p>0.05). In contrast, STZ-CD treated rats still showed a deficit (t=0.387; p=0.0024; Fig 6C) and this same performance in all groups was maintained by the last test; 96 days post A $\beta$ -infusion; (Ct: t=1.07; p>0.05; STZ: t=1.04; p>0.05; CD: t=0.54; p>0.05; STZ-CD: t=5.05; p<0.001; Fig. 6D). Importantly, the deficits observed in rats injected with STZ or fed CD alone, only recovered to their level of performance prior to infusion of A $\beta$ ,

suggesting there is no spontaneous recovery and suggesting STZ and CD alone independently induce a modest but stable deficit across time. However, the combined STZ-CD treatment exacerbates the deficit induced by Aβ by prolonging it.

# Beneficial effect of environmental enrichment on spatial memory

As rats treated with STZ-CD showed a prolonged deficit in spatial recognition memory we tested whether environmental enrichment (EE) could have a beneficial effect on memory consolidation. We first established the effect of EE in control rats by comparing performance in rats given 14 days of EE with home-caged rats (HC). We conducted 5 spatial recognition tests, the first prior to EE, and then 4 tests following enrichment. Prior to enrichment both groups show equivalent memory consolidation (t=0.74; p>0.05; Fig 7A). Thirty-one days following enrichment we found both groups also showed good memory consolidation, significantly above chance level, and were not significantly different from each other (t=0.75; p>0.05). As spatial memory 24 hours after the sample phase in HC rats was relatively high, it suggests the potential beneficial effect of EE may be masked. Therefore we conducted another test 10 days later where we made the task more difficult, by increasing the delay between the sample and test phase to 72 hours. Here we found that the performance of home-caged rats; although greater than chance level (t=11.45; p<0.001; Fig 7A) was significantly poorer compared with those that were given EE (t=2.64; p<0.05). We conducted a second test with a 24 hr delay, 60 days post EE, and again both groups performed equally well (t=0.38; p>0.05).



*Figure 7. The effect of environmental enrichment (EE) on control and STZ-CD treated rats infused with*  $A\beta$ : (A) An initial experiment determines whether EE impacts on home-caged (HC) rats (white bars) and rats exposed to EE (stippled bars) at different times following EE. Time-delay between the sample and test phase is either 24 hr or 72 hr (red asterisk). (B) Represents the time line of experimental testing for the effect of EE on STZ-CD treated and control rats. (C) Represents memory capacity in control rat infused with  $A\beta$  or not; prior to and at different time points after EE. (D) Represent STZ-CD treated rats infused with  $A\beta$  or not at the same time points as control rats. Hatched bars represent either control rats or STZ-CD treated rats that are infused with  $A\beta$ . Data are represented as mean±SEM; \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001.

And finally, a second test with a 72 hr delay, 95 days post EE to test the duration of the effect of EE and again, the memory performance in home caged rats dramatically dropped compared with that of the enriched group (t= 3.59; p<0.01). Together these data show that that the beneficial effect of EE is long-lasting.

As the effect of A $\beta$  on memory consolidation was only prolonged in STZ-CD treated rats; we focused on this treatment (STZ-CD, STZ-CD+A $\beta$ ) and controls (Ct, Ct+A $\beta$ ). We conducted 5 tests; 12 days following infusion of A $\beta$  and prior to EE; and the others at different time points following EE (see time line in Fig 7B). In the first test prior to EE, both control (t=6.71; p<0.0005) and STZ-CD treated rats (t=3.2; p<0.05) that were infused with A $\beta$  showed poorer performance compared with their non-infused counterparts; as we have shown previously (see Fig 6C). Four days following EE at a time point when A $\beta$  still impairs memory, the control animals infused with A $\beta$  performed as well as their non-infused counterparts (t=1.56; p>0.05; Fig 7C). In STZ-CD treated rats we found those infused with A $\beta$ , although they had significantly poorer performance than their non-infused counter parts (t=4.21; p<0.01) were significantly better than in their previous test (t=2.83; p<0.05). The deficit compared with non infused STZ-CD treated rats was due to the fact that non-infused STZ-CD treated rats also benefited from EE as their memory capacity was significant better than their performance on the previous test (t=3.99; p<0.01; see Fig 7D).

As the time of testing was relatively close to the end of the time window in which A $\beta$  impaired memory performance in control rats, we conducted at test with a 72-hour delay, approximately 2 weeks later. Non-A $\beta$  infused control rats showed normal memory capacity as shown previously (see Fig 7A); however, with the longer delay A $\beta$  induced a deficit in memory performance; although not statistically significant when compared with non-infused controls (t=2.18; p=0.07) and their performance in the previous test (t=2.52; p<0.05); suggesting that even though memory consolidation over a 24 hour delay has recovered in control rats infused with A $\beta$ , either due to the time window or to EE; when the demand on memory is made more severe there is a residual effect of A $\beta$ . As expected memory performance in both STZ-CD treated rats whether infused with A $\beta$  or not; deteriorated to chance level (see Fig 7D).

A further test with a 24-hour delay was conducted; principally to determine whether the beneficial effect of EE on memory with a 24-hour consolidation period was maintained in the STZ-CD treated rats infused with A $\beta$ . This test was conducted 39 days following EE and memory performance in rats treated with STZ-CD, whether infused with A $\beta$  or not, had fallen back to about the same levels as that observed prior to enrichment with no significant difference between the two tests in STZ-CD treated rats (t=1.47; p>0.05) and those infused with A $\beta$  (t=0.47; p>0.05).

A final test with a 72-hour delay was conducted only in control rats at a time when we have previously shown that the effect of A $\beta$  on memory consolidation had washed out (67 days post infusion and 45 days post EE). Indeed we found the performance level in this group was now no longer different from non-infused control rats (t=1.56; p>0.05; Fig 7C) and was substantially better, although not significantly so from the previous test with a 72-hour delay (t=1.2; p>0.05), confirming the limited time window in which A $\beta$  can elicit

a deficit; however, it further suggests that task difficulty also plays an important role in the impact A $\beta$  can have on memory performance. In contrast in STZ-CD treated rats whether infused with A $\beta$  or not the beneficial effect of EE is more limited.

# Regulation of the Akt signaling pathway and associated proteins

We conducted western-blotting analysis in CA1 on the expression and phosphorylation of the key proteins in the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway that are associated with a number of dysfunctions common to both T2DM and AD. To address this, we organized the analyses in a series of logical steps. All values of proteins examined are presented in Table 1 and sample blots for some proteins are shown in Supplementary Figure 2.

#### T2DM phenotype induced dysregulation of proteins

We first asked whether the T2DM phenotype induced lasting changes in expression or phosphorylation of proteins. Compared with controls, we found changes in certain key proteins directly associated with Akt signaling in STZ-CD treated rats. These include an increased expression of mTOR (t=3.0; p<0.01), BAD (t=3.28; p<0.01), FoxO3 (t=2.48; p<0.05), and IKK $\alpha$  (t=2.43; p<0.05); and proteins downstream of direct targets of Akt, such an increase in expression of  $\beta$ -Catenin (t=2.33; p<0.05) and phosphorylation of pNF $\kappa$ B (t=3.74; p<0.01). Finally, there was an increase in expression of IDE (t=3.01; p<0.01; see Table 1, panel A). We then asked whether the component parts of the T2DM phenotype; STZ and CD independently or in combination, regulated the same proteins. We found STZ injections alone had very little effect; only an increase in expression of mTOR (t=3.05; p<0.01; see Table 1, panel B). In contrast a number of proteins regulated by STZ-CD treatment were also regulated by CD alone; such as mTOR (t=2.75; p<0.05), IKK $\alpha$  (t=2.49; p<0.05), and  $\beta$ -Catenin (t=2.84; <p0.01; Fig 8A) to approximately the same level as in the T2DM phenotype.

The increase in expression of FoxO3 and IDE in the CD group however was significantly greater than that observed in the T2DM phenotype (FoxO3: t=4.79; p<0.01; IDE: t=3.22; p<0.05; Fig 8B). Importantly, however, some proteins were regulated by CD alone that were not regulated in STZ-CD treated rats; this was mainly hyperphosphorylation of pmTOR (t=2.52; p=0.05), pGSK3β (t=3.29; p<0.05) and as opposed to the increase in pNFkB seen in STZ-CD treated rats; there was a decrease with CD alone (t=7.15; p<0.0001; see Table 1, panel C and Fig 8C).

In general, STZ-CD treatment resulted in an increase in expression and/or phosphorylation of the proteins examined. Only the increased expression of BAD could be attributed solely to the T2DM phenotype (F(1,2)=5.43; p<0.05; Fig 8D); most of the changes could be potentially attributed to CD alone as STZ alone had little effect on proteins. This may be explained by the fact that injections were made some 27 weeks prior to analyses of proteins, and evidence suggests that STZ induced diabetes may not be stable over a long period of time (Goyal et al. 2016), possibly due to low level regeneration of  $\beta$ -cells (Afelik and Rovira, 2016).



*Figure 8. Proteins regulated in the STZ-CD group and effect of STZ and CD alone:* All groups are represented, but only when there is a significant difference from control levels of at least one group, indicated by \* p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01; \*\*\* p<0.0001 (see Table 1 for details). (A) Shows equal contribution of STZ and CD to the levels of mTOR in STZ-CD group. (B) Shows the significant elevation in FoxO3a and IDE with STZ-CD treatment is due to that regulated by CD alone. (C) Shows regulation of pmTOR and pGSK3β in CD in the absence of change with STZ-CD treatment and an opposing effect with pNFkB. (D) BAD is solely regulated by STZ-CD treatment. Data represents % change from controls indicated by the bar at 100%. ANOVA shows significant group differences and Tukey post hoc analyses indicate with bars that the differences are between CD alone and STZ-CD treatment.

As CD was maintained until the end of the experiment, it is not surprising that the majority of changes could be attributed to CD in the T2DM phenotypic group. However, some changes specific to CD that were not observed with STZ-CD treatment are difficult to explain. One possibility is to suggest that the treatments alone regulate proteins differentially, and even in the absence of any change induced by STZ injections alone, in conjunction with CD may alter regulation mediated by CD alone. Another potential explanation is that, as we suggested, based on the difference in insulin levels in CD alone and STZ-CD, it may reflect a different stage in the evolution of T2DM.

# Effect of Aβ alone on protein regulation

As the effect A $\beta$  had on memory consolidation was temporally restricted we analysed proteins at 2 time points; one 3 days following the end of infusion; and the other at the end of the experiment to determine whether there was evolution of the effect A $\beta$  alone.

At the early time point (3 days-post infusion)  $A\beta$  induced a number of changes in expression or phosphorylation of proteins (see Table 1, panel D), but for the majority of these changes they were only

temporary as they had returned to control levels by the end of the experiment (see Table 9 panel E; Fig 9A). Only the increase in expression of IKK $\alpha$  (t=2.26; p<0.05) and Fox03a (t=7.15; p<0.0001) was maintained until the end of the experiment; albeit for Fox03a the expression was significantly lower at the end of the experiment compared with that observed at the earlier time point (t=3.43; p<0.01). In contrast the increased expression of mTOR (t=4.27; p<0.001) and phosphorylation of NF $\kappa$ B (t=2.09; p<0.05) was specific to the late time point (see Fig 9). In summary, the majority of changes induced by A $\beta$  alone were not enduring and may have had some influence on the temporary deficits in memory consolidation. We cannot, however dismiss the possibility that early changes induced by A $\beta$  may contribute to longer term alterations in the T2DM phenotype or the independent component aspects of the phenotype. Importantly those changes in FoxO3a and IKK $\alpha$  and the late regulation of mTOR and pNF $\kappa$ B are similar to those observed in the T2DM phenotype.



*Figure 9. The effect of infusion of Aβ alone on protein regulation:* Protein regulation was analysed at 2 different time points; either 3 days (white bars) or 107 days (hatched bars) following the end of infusion of Aβ (see Table 1 for details). Only proteins that were regulated at the end of the experiment are represented in the figure (for those represented at 3 days post infusion that contributed to protein regulation induced in the STZ-CD group infused with Aβ, see figures 10B and C; and 11B and C). (A) shows proteins regulated at day 3 that were significantly elevated at the end of the experiment. (B) shows proteins regulated only at the later time point. Data represents % change from controls indicated by the bar at 100%. Significant changes from control levels are indicated by \* p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01; \*\*\* p<0.0001 and Students t-Test shows significant differences between the 2 time points indicated by bars.

## Effect of the T2DM phenotype on A<sub>β</sub> regulation of proteins

As our hypothesis was that the T2DM phenotype would exacerbate a temporary effect induced by Aβ, we first examined protein changes in STZ-CD treated rats infused with Aβ. This group induced more protein regulation compared with any of the other groups; and similar regulation of these proteins has also

been observed in the brains of AD patients and rodent models of the disease (see Table 1, panels F and I). When we compared regulation of expression and phosphorylation of proteins with the other groups there were only two changes that we could attribute solely to infused A $\beta$ ; namely a decrease in phosphorylation of Akt (t=3.61; p<0.01) and an increase in expression of APP (t=4.22; p<0.001; see Fig 10A) as none of the other treatments alone or in conjunction with A $\beta$  induced significant changes compared with control rats. Other changes in proteins in this group were mediated by a number of layers of complexity via the different treatments.



*Figure 10. Proteins regulated by STZ-CD treatment and infusion of Aβ:* All proteins significantly regulated in this group compared with control rats are represented. Levels of protein induced by Aβ (both time points) and in conjunction with STZ alone and CD alone are also represented. Non-Aβ-infused STZ and CD alone groups are only represented when they show a significant change from control levels. (A) pAKT and APP are the only 2 proteins that are specifically regulated by STZ-CD+Aβ treatment. (B and C) represent changes induced specifically by STZ-CD+Aβ, but CD drives opposing regulation. Note the increase in phosphorylation of NFkB is driven by the non-Aβ infused T2DM phenotype. (C) Opposing regulation of protein expression mediated via infusion of Aβ measured 3 days post infusion. Data represents % change from controls indicated by the bar at 100%. Significant changes from control levels are indicated by \* p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01; \*\*\* p<0.0001. ANOVA shows significant group differences and Tukey post hoc analyses indicate differences between specific treatments by the bars.

First we found the regulation of certain proteins was specific to the T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$ , but other treatments alone induced opposite regulation of the same proteins. For example, the decrease in expression of IDE (t=2.74; p<0.05), and phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  (t=2.62; p<0.05) and the increase in pNF $\kappa$ B (t=3.0; p<0.001) were accompanied by an increase in IDE (t=9.76; p<0.0001) and pGSK3 $\beta$  (t=9.77; p<0.0001) and a decrease in pNF $\kappa$ B (t=3.14; p<0.01) induced by CD alone. This was specific to CD treatment as there was no significant difference in these protein levels in the corresponding group infused with A $\beta$  (IDE: t=1.8; p>0.05; pGSK3 $\beta$ : t=1.97; p>0.05; pNF $\kappa$ B: t=0.68, p>0.05; see Fig 10B).

We also found a similar opposing effect with A $\beta$  in expression of Beclin-1 and GSK3 $\beta$ . Whereas the phenotype infused with A $\beta$  induced a decrease in Beclin-1 (t=3.0; p<0.01) and an increase in GSK3 $\beta$  (t=6.54; p<0.001); infusion of A $\beta$  alone induced and an increase in Beclin-1 (t=2.93; p<0.001) and a decrease in of GSK3 $\beta$  (t=3.61; p<0.0001; see Fig 10C). However, regulation by A $\beta$  was observed at the early time point and these changes were short lasting, suggesting it has no impact on the effect observed in the phenotype infused with A $\beta$  at the later time point.

Although CD alone and A $\beta$  alone mediated opposing regulation of proteins specific to the phenotype infused with A $\beta$ , for the regulation of some proteins they appeared to be driving the changes observed in the T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$ . First we found the increase in expression of BAD may be attributed to the T2DM phenotype. Even though there was a substantial increase mediated by A $\beta$  observed at the early time point it was not lasting (see Fig 11A1). In contrast STZ, CD and infusion of A $\beta$  increase expression of mTOR in a parallel but independent manner (Fig 11A2).

CD accounts solely for the increase in phosphorylation of mTOR (F<1) and is a driving force for increasing the expression of FoxO3 (F(1,6)=6.29; p<0.0007);  $\beta$ -Catenin (F(1,6)=3.62; p<0.001) and IKK $\alpha$  (F(1,6)=4.21; p<0.01); however, infusion of A $\beta$  may have a contributory effect as it at least increases levels of the same proteins in the group injected with STZ. Of particular importance is the increase in expression of IKK $\alpha$  as it is increased by CD alone and A $\beta$  alone but is substantially elevated in the combined treatment compared with the independent treatments (see Fig 11B).

Finally, we found infusion of A $\beta$  alone strictly observed at the early time point may induce the decrease in expression of GluT 1 (t=3.2; p>0.5) and in conjunction with CD to elicit the decrease in phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -Catenin (F(1,4= 15.19; p<0.0001) observed in the T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$  (Fig 11C).



Figure 11. Positive contributory effects of separate treatments to protein regulation in STZ-CD+A $\beta$  treated rats: All proteins significantly regulated in this group compared with control rats are represented. Levels of protein induced by A $\beta$  (both time points) and in conjunction with STZ alone and CD alone are also represented. Non-A $\beta$ -infused STZ and CD alone groups are only represented when they show a significant change from control levels. (A1) Increase in expression of BAD is driven by non-A $\beta$  infused phenotype as with pNF $\kappa$ B (Fig 10B), even though there is an increase in the A $\beta$  alone group at 3 days post infusion, this is not sustained and has no effect in STZ and CD alone groups. (A2) mTOR expression is driven by non-A $\beta$  infused STZ and CD alone in parallel. (B) Expression of FoxO3a,  $\beta$ -Catenin and pmTOR are driven by non-A $\beta$  infused CD and other treatments exacerbate the CD-induced increase in the expression of IKK $\alpha$  in STZ-CD+A $\beta$  treatment. (C) Decreased expression of Glu-T1 and p $\beta$ -Catenin at the early time point after infusion of A $\beta$  is exacerbated by STZ-CD+A $\beta$  treatment. Data represents % change from controls indicated by the bar at 100%. Significant changes from control levels are indicated by \* p<0.05; \*\* p<0.01; \*\*\* p<0.0001. ANOVA shows significant group differences and Tukey post hoc analyses indicate differences between specific treatments by the bars.

In summary, although there were numerous proteins regulated in the T2DM phenotypic group infused with A $\beta$ , few were specific to the group, the phenotype alone or infusion of A $\beta$  alone, which constitute the key effectors of the disease process. We did find certain changes in expression or phosphorylation of proteins specific to the T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$  in terms of the direction of change but these were accompanied largely by opposing effects mediated either by CD or by A $\beta$  at an early stage. When we

deconstructed the phenotype by analysing the effects mediated by STZ and CD independently, we found that many of the effects observed with the T2DM phenotype infused or not with A $\beta$  were mediated by CD alone. STZ injections alone had very little effect on the regulation of proteins, however when infused with A $\beta$  certain proteins were regulated in a similar manner to that seen in the T2DM phenotype with A $\beta$ .

	Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I	J
	STZ-CD	STZ	CD	Aβ+3 days	Αβ	STZ-CD+Aβ42	STZ-Aβ	CD- <b>A</b> β	AD/models	Ref
Akt	101.7+/-3.1	104.3+/-6.2	105.9+/-3.1	97.7+/-2.8	105.9+/-2.0	108.9+/-4.6	105.9+/-7.0	110.+/-0.8	L I	[1][2]
pAkt	110.1+/-8.1	102.0+/-9.5	91.2+/-5.3	95.4+/-7.1	91.85+/-3.8	77.6+/-4.7* 👢	89.1+/-6.5	99.7+/-9.8	1	[3]
mTOR	139.2+/-3.9** 🔒	132.5+/-8.0** 1	132.0+/-5.6* 🔒	98.7+/-12.0	143.4+/-9.0*** 1	159.2+/-9.3*** 懀	131.8+/-11.5* 懀	152.7+/-8.7* 1	t	[4]
pmTOR	101.8+/-6.3	89.7+/-6.0	119.6+/-3.9* 1	91.2+/-7.1	97.0+/-4.1	124.7+/-6.3* 1	91.6+/-4.1	114.0+/-6.2* 📋	1	[5]
Beclin	93.8+/-0.5	114.8+/-8.4	91.1+/-6.1	121.1+/-9.9** 1	94.3+/-6.2	81.8+/-2.8** 👢	115.4+/-7.6	96.5+/-6.1	1	[6]
GSK3β	104.4+/-11.8	100.2+/-4.9	106.4+/-4.5	82.2+/-3.9***	97.6+/-2.6	120.8+/-4.1* 🔒	93.8+/-3.3	101.3+/-1.6	1	[7]
pGSK3β	107.2+/-6.3	110.4+/-12.2	190.1+/-9.0*** 1	95.7+/-8.02	104.3+/-3.9	87.5+/-3.2* 👢	115.7+/-17.5	143.8+/-10.9***	1	[3][8]
β-Catenin	128.8+/-6.9* 1	110.7+/-4.9	131.7+/-10.1** 🕇	135.0+/-5.7*** 1	101.3+/-6.2	123.7+/-3.7* 1	130.4+/-8.3* 🔒	134.2+/-1.9** 🕇	L L	[8]
pβ-Catenin	108.6+/-8.2	83.9+/-9.5	88.1+/-24.6	73.3+/-7.8*** 🖡	98.6+/-7.4	16.9+/-1.4*** 🖡	110.1+/-6.6	42.2+/-5.6*** 🖡	1	[8]
BAD	123.7+/-10.4** 1	99.8+/-12.5	86.2+/-7.9	148.0+/-10.2*** 1	93.7+/-6.4	149.8+/-4.1*** 1	93.7+/-9.8	94.8+/-9.2	1	[8]
pBAD	90.8+/-1.71	104.2+/-6.8	105.4+/-7.0	93.4+/-9.1	106.7+/-4.7	102.2+/-9.3	108.9+/-8.0	115.0+/-2.7		
FOXO3a	141.0+/-4.9* 1	103.9+/-18.8	180.6+/-6.1*** 1	212.2+/-23.1*** 1	127.5+/-5.2** 1	133.8+/-6.5* 1	146.8+/-3.7* 1	132.1+/-12.5* 1	1	[9]
Caspase 7	89.7+/-2.6	90.9+/-6.2	97.2+/-2.6	112.9+/-8.7* 1	106.9+/-3.3	103.0+/-5.0	95.16+/-7.6	100.7+/-11.1		
Caspase 9	87.5+/-0.5	106.6+/-9.4	108.5+/-4.2	87.9+/-4.2* 👢	93.6+/-3.0	98.26+/-3.2	90.6+/-5.3	101.1+/-5.3		
C-Caspase 9	97.7+/-7.4	96.3+/-6.0	108.7+/-10.1	108.8+/-10.5	102.9+/-5.7	92.7+/-7.9	105.6+/-0.5	100.1+/-6.7		
IDE	134.6+/-15.9** 1	113.3+/-8.3	194.1+/-10.8*** 1	120.0+/-4.9*** 1	94.8+/-6.4	76.83+/-6.7* 👢	99.5+/-12.3	161.9+/-14.3***	L L	[10-13]
APP	90.0+/-4.5	93.4+/-5.5	93.3+/-6.7	96.4+/-3.6	90.9+/-3.6	133.2+/-3.7*** 1	91.5+/-4.4	96.96+/-5.5	1	[3][4][14]
NFĸB	98.1+/-5.9	102.5+/-4.4	94.2+/-15.6	102.8+/-3.8	94.6+/-7.7	90.2+/-5.3	98.5+/-17.8	100.4+/-18.5		
pNFкB	156.1+/-6.3* 👔	102.1+/-6.7	57.4+/-10.8** 👢	97.58+/-3.3	119.3+/-7.1* 1	169.8+/-20.9* 1	98.7+/-4.88	44.1+/-16.2** 👃	1	[4]
ΙΚΚα	129.8+/-11.9* 1	106.9+/-4.8	125.1+/-5.3** 肯	121.6+/-10.2* 👔	138.2+/-11.0** 懀	206.6+/-24.3***	140.1+/-17.4** 🕇	124.3+/-9.1* 1		
Glu-T1	94.4+/-21.0	92.6+/-6.1	105.2+/-9.3	77.8+/-10.1* 🛛 👢	93.2+/-7.9	36.5+/-2.8** 👢	100.5+/-25.5	93.8+/-12.7	Ļ	[15-17]

Table 1. Representation of all protein changes as a percent change form control rats

Analyses were conducted individually with Students t-Test in each condition (panels A-H). Arrows indicate the direction of change and asterisks indicate the level of significance; \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001. Panel (I) indicates changes and the direction of change in human studies and experimental models. (j) References: 1. Liu et al., 2011; 2. Chen et al., 2013; 3. Steen et al., 2005; 4. Guillot et al., 2016; 5. Griffin et al., 2005; 6. Pickford et al., 2008; 7. Hye et al., 2005; 8. Jimenez et al., 2011; 9. Shi et al., 2016; 10. Cook et al., 2003; 11. Vepsäläinen et al., 2008; 12. Čaušević et al., 2010; 13. Candeias et al., 2012; 14. Hiltunen et al., 2012; 15. Simpson et al., 1994; 16. Mooradian et al., 1997; 17. Liu et al., 2008. All references refer to studies in brains from AD patients with the exception of 2, 4, 8, 9, 11 and 14, that are conducted in AD transgenic mice.

#### Discussion

The aim of our experiment was to identify whether proteins in-or associated with the PI3K signaling pathway may have a causal role in inducing a mild dysfunctional neuronal environment, which would exacerbate an effect induced by infusion of low dose A $\beta$ . Furthermore, as our main focus was on dysfunctional regulation of proteins, and we were unsure whether our T2DM model would induce elevated levels of A $\beta$  we chose to infuse a low dose of A $\beta$ 42 to address whether the T2DM phenotype would exacerbate an effect induced by A $\beta$  alone; thereby suggesting it as a risk factor for developing early AD-type dysfunction. To this end we attempted to mimic the human condition as closely as possible by

developing a model of T2DM coupling subdiabetogenic doses of STZ with human junk food; and conducting longitudinal studies. To our knowledge, a model such as this has not been reported in the literature previously.

Our model showed characteristic dysfunctions associated with T2DM; namely the development of hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia and subsequent  $\beta$ -pancreatic cell failure. Importantly, we found a hierarchical effect, where STZ alone induced the least dysfunction; followed by CD alone, which induced hyperinsulinemia in the absence of hyperglycemia; and STZ-CD treatment which induced an early state of hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia, followed by a later stage of hyperglycemia and  $\beta$ -pancreatic cell failure. This finds support in reports showing STZ injections alone do not induce insulin resistance or weight gain; are less stable and potentially reversible (Goyal et al., 2016; King et al., 2016). In contrast, highenergy diets induce weight gain, insulin resistance and lack of hyperglycemia (Reuter, 2007; Harri and Thibault, 2010). Studies coupling subdiobetogenic doses of STZ with high fat diet have reported mild weight gain, insulin resistance and hyperglycemia (Reuter, 2007; King et al., 2016; Skovso, 2014). Our model has two major advantages over the others inasmuch as we used human junk food over calibrated high energy pellets that mimics the human condition more faithfully; and, in the absence of frank obesity it suggests that the quality of processed human junk food might make a more detrimental contribution to T2DM than merely quantity of food intake. Secondly the duration of our experimental protocol exceeds those previously reported and with this we were able to see the evolution of T2DM characteristics; most importantly being that STZ-CD treated rats at an early stage showed a similar profile to that of CD at the late stage; but evolved to develop late stage T2DM characterized by β-pancreatic cell failure (Srinivasan and Ramarao, 2007; King et al., 2016; Skovso, 2014).

Despite the hierarchical effect of STZ-alone, CD-alone and the combined STZ-CD treatments we found STZ and CD independently induced a modest but remarkably stable deficit in spatial recognition memory across the entire testing period. Several studies in humans with T2DM have reported that cognitive dysfunction can vary from subtle executive dysfunction to moderate memory deficits (see Barbagallo and Dominguez, 2014; Kirkman et al., 2012). Rodent studies of obesity and T2DM have shown deficits in hippocampal dependent tasks such as spatial learning and memory and recognition memory (see McNay et al., 2010; Reagan et al., 2012; Petrov et al., 2015; Corder and Tamashiro, 2015); however, it is not clear what the degree of severity of the deficit was. What we found surprising, was that although STZ alone had a minimal impact on developing T2DM and protein regulation in CA1; it had an equivalent effect on memory to that observed in rats fed CD alone or the combined treatment. We can only argue that it may be mediated via mechanisms not examined in our experiment. Given that the increase in expression of mTOR was common to all treatments it suggests it may play a key role in mediating the deficits in memory.

The major effect of interest was whether dysfunctional neural mechanisms induced by T2DM could exacerbate a short-lasting effect induced by Aβ42. Functionally we found Aβ alone induced a deficit in recognition memory within a specific time window of approximately 7 weeks following infusion. Numerous

studies have shown that soluble A $\beta$  induces deficits in learning and memory; including spatial learning and memory (Sipos et al., 2007; Eftekharzadel et al., 2012; Chang et al., 2015; Morroni et al., 2016) and recognition memory (Sipos et al., 2007; Souza et al., 2016; Morroni et al., 2016). However, there is a degree of variability in the results that is dependent on the source and type of amyloid species and the route of administration; type of learning and memory processes tested; and the time at which testing was conducted following administration (Selkoe, 2008; Ghasemi et al., 2014). The major point of importance in our study is that we repeatedly tested rats and established (a) the effect of A $\beta$  was not long lasting which suggests it is eliminated from the brain relatively rapidly, and (b) the time window in which a deficit in memory was observed. Most other studies have not tested effects later than approximately 3 weeks (Nabeshima and Nitta, 1994; Terranova et al., 1996; Malin et al., 2001; Sipos et al., 2007; Eftekharzadeh et al. 2012; Chang et al., 2015, Morroni et al., 2016; Nassireslami et al., 2016).

Infusion of A $\beta$  in rats injected with STZ alone, and CD alone or the combined STZ-CD treatment turned a modest deficit in spatial recognition memory into complete loss of memory. However infusion of A $\beta$  alone also induced complete memory loss; and when it recovered, so did the memory loss induced by STZ and CD alone when infused with A $\beta$ , suggesting the deficit could only be attributed to A $\beta$ . This is also reinforced by the fact that the deficits observed when A $\beta$  is coupled with STZ alone and CD alone recover to the same levels as prior to infusion of A $\beta$ . Although STZ alone and CD alone induced a mild deficit in memory independent of each other; independent treatments were not sufficient to prolong the effect of A $\beta$  as did in the manner that the combined STZ-CD treatment. Thus only in combination does the treatment serve as a risk factor for memory deficits. Moreover, we found environmental enrichment had a beneficial effect on memory in the T2DM phenotype group infused with A $\beta$ ; however it was short-lasting.

To date few studies have examined whether T2DM can exacerbate early memory deficits in AD. Studies have shown high fat diet fed to either SAMP8 mice (Mehla et al., 2014) or transgenic mice (Ho et al., 2004; Cao et al., 2007; Herculano et al., 2013; Maesako et al., 2013; 2012a; 2012b) accelerates deficits in different learning and memory tasks. However, other studies feeding AD transgenic mice high fat diet have shown that either the memory deficits induced by a high fat diet are not specifically associated with AD pathology (Knight et al., 2014); or subsequent adjustment of weight to that of control levels in not sufficient to reverse the memory deficits (Maesako et al., 2012b). This suggests that the dietary regime could induce irreversible changes in brain function that may contribute to the memory deficits. The authors show that exercise has a more beneficial effect than reverting the dietary regime and Neprilysin, an Aß degrading enzyme, mediates this. However, as the authors did not assess regulation of other proteins know to be associated with the beneficial effects of exercise (Carro et al., 2000; Trejo et al., 2001; Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2009) or caloric restriction (Contestabile, 2009; Pani G, 2015), it is difficult to know exactly what mechanisms are modified by high fat diet. In our experiments we used environmental enrichment that couples social and sensory stimulation with mild exercise that has been shown to have a beneficial effect on memory performance in healthy rodents (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2005; van Praag et al., 2000) and can mitigate cognitive deficits in AD transgenic mice (Arendash et al., 2004; Costa et al., 2007; Hu et al., 2010;

Valero et al., 2011; Wolf et al., 2006; Verret et al., 2013). In these experiments EE had a beneficial effect on memory for at least 4 months after EE; as opposed to the short lasting effect we found in our experiment. However, the duration of exposure to environmental enrichment may account for this difference; in many of these reports mice have lived in the enriched environment from weaning until the onset of cognitive deficits; and even in reports suggesting transient exposure to EE was used, it was 2 months (Verret et al., 2013) as opposed to 3 hours a day for 2 weeks in our experiment.

An integral part of our experiment was to gain insight into the potential mechanisms induced by T2DM that could promote a neuronal environment to favour the development of pathologies associated with AD. We found a number of dysfunctionally regulated proteins in-and associated with the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway. Most protein regulation was observed in the T2DM phenotypic group infused with Aβ that could be described in a number of different interconnected hubs associated with different functions.

Firstly we found the only 2 proteins regulated that were specific to the T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$  were a decrease in phosphorylation of Akt and an increase in expression of APP. Akt was associated with decreased phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  that was accompanied by an increase in expression of the constitutively active protein, suggesting the protein is abnormally regulated as is observed in AD patients (Blalock et al., 2004). Over expression of GSK3 $\beta$  in mice prevents induction of hippocampal LTP and impairs spatial learning (Hernandez et al., 2002; Hooper et al., 2007); suggesting it is an important mechanism mediating memory deficits in AD. In addition overexpression of GSK3 $\beta$  can hyperphosphorylate Tau (Lucas et al., 2001) and mediate A $\beta$  production from APP, by binding to PS1 (Phiel et al., 2003). In our experiments although we did not measure A $\beta$  levels, we found increased expression of APP, which could indirectly support aberrant processing of APP mediated via GSK3 $\beta$ . In support of this we also found a decrease in IDE levels suggesting less clearance of aberrantly processed A $\beta$  as observed in AD patients (Cook et al., 2003; Causevic et al., 2010), AD transgenic mice (Vepsalainen et al., 2008) and those fed high fat diet (Ho et al., 2004).

Under normal conditions constitutively active GSK3 $\beta$  phosphorylates  $\beta$ -Catenin to signal its degradation by proteosomal activity. However we found a decrease in GSK3 $\beta$  induced phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -Catenin with a corresponding increase in the expression of the protein, suggesting it is in an active state. In general, most studies suggest that  $\beta$ -Catenin is decreased in AD (Zhang et al., 1998; He and Shen, 2009) and, in cell cultures, activation of Wnt signaling increases  $\beta$ -Catenin in a manner that is neuroprotective (Garrido et al., 2002; Inestrosa et al., 2002; De Ferrari et al., 2014). However; regulation of  $\beta$ -Catenin is complex and not well understood; a number of different signaling events compete with each other to regulate  $\beta$ -Catenin (Stamos and Weis, 2013) and certain evidence does suggest in AD transgenic mice there is biphasic regulation of the expression of  $\beta$ -Catenin, showing an early increase followed by a later decease with age (Jimenez et al., 2011).

Secondly, we found an increase in both expression and phosphorylation of mTOR, coupled with a decrease in Beclin-1 that together would imply inhibition of autophagy over protein synthesis. Under healthy

conditions autophagy is a mechanism to recycle proteins that requires less energy than the synthesis of new proteins and is associated with longevity (Salminen and Kaarniranta, 2009; Glick et al., 2010). In addition, it is a necessary mechanism for clearing misfolded proteins that is a common dysfunction in age related diseases (Menzies et al., 2011). Inhibition of autophagy is reflective of excess proteins and is dysfunctional in models of T2DM and AD where there is an increase in mTOR activity and/or a decrease in Beclin-1 (Groffo, et al., 2005; Khamzina et al., 2005; Pickford et al., 2008; Ma et al., 2013). Conversely, in PDAPP transgenic mice, long-term inhibition of mTOR increases autophagy and is accompanied by a reduction in A $\beta$  levels and improvement in learning and memory (Spilman et al., 2010).

Thirdly, we found an increase in expression and phosphorylation of proteins associated with apoptosis (BAD and FoxO3) and inflammation (IKKα and phosphorylation of NFκB) that are also activated in AD (Bamberger and Landreth, 2002; Obulesu and Lakshmi, 2014; Heppner et al., 2015). As we found a decrease in phosphorylation of Akt; and as it normally prevents BAD entering the nucleus to transcribe proapoptotic genes (Zhao et al., 2005), this confirms that BAD may be in an active state. However; we found no regulation of several caspases that reflect key end-stage mechanisms of apoptosis. Apart from acting as a proapoptotic transcription factor, FoxO3 is implicated in a number of other functions, such as autophagy by its interaction with mTOR and Beclin-1 (Greer et al., 2007; Brunet, 2015) but it has also been shown to increase levels of Aβ and induce astrocytosis in AD transgenic mice (Shi et al., 2016). In contrast inactivation of FoxO3 attenuates spatial memory deficits and amyloid pathology in Tg2576 mice (Qin et al., 2008), suggesting FoxO3 is closely linked with early pathological changes in AD. Dysregulation of IKK/NFκB is commonly associated with inflammation and has been identified in AD (Tilstra et al., 2011), diabetes and obesity (Patel and Santini., 2009). However, it is also implicated in apoptotic and autophagic processes (Tilstra et al., 2011) and *in vitro* studies have shown that IKKα can phosphorylate mTOR in the TORC1 complex contributes to Akt dependent regulation of mTORC1; FoxO3 and GSK3β (Dan et al., 2014).

Finally, we found a severe decrease in Glu-T1; the principle transporter of glucose across the blood brain barrier suggesting a hypoglycemic state in the brain (Brant et al., 1993; Ngarmukos et al., 2001). It has been shown there is a progressive reduction in glucose metabolism in the brain that correlates with the severity of the disease in AD patients (Mosconi et al., 2006). In total the differential regulation of proteins we find in our T2DM phenotypic group infused with Aβ share common dysfunctions observed in AD.

When we deconstructed the independent treatments of the T2DM phenotype and  $A\beta$  alone to determine their contribution to protein regulation observed in the T2DM phenotype infused with  $A\beta$ , we found the interactive effects to be highly complex. Our original expectation was that STZ injections alone and CD alone would have an additive effect in the T2DM phenotype. This in turn we anticipated would exacerbate an effect induced by  $A\beta$  alone; however this hypothesis did not hold true. On the contrary we found no proteins to be regulated in this manner. Instead, we found a number of proteins to be associated either with CD alone or with  $A\beta$  alone, that appear to be acting in a parallel but independent manner. This would not necessarily be surprising if one considers AD pathology to be multifactorial and can be elicited

by numerous independent mechanisms occurring in parallel at different stages or in different neural circuits (see Herrup, 2015). In addition, we found CD alone induced excess or opposing expression and phosphorylation of proteins compared with the T2DM phenotype that may reflect an earlier stage of T2DM. Moreover we found  $A\beta$  alone could induce early changes in protein expression and phosphorylation that were not always sustained, but may be instrumental in driving changes seen at the later time point in the T2DM phenotype.

A clear limitation of our results is that although we have identified a number of deregulated proteins that would implicate the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway, we can only speculate from the literature how they may interact with each other to induced neural dysfunction. Moreover, we did not measure key signaling lesions associated with AD pathology, such as amyloid levels and phosphorylation of Tau. However, this was not the aim of our experiments and our data now guide us for future experiments. Thus, in summary, our model of T2DM induced characteristic features of the disease and a modest but stable deficit in spatial recognition memory. Infusion of a soluble form of A $\beta$ 42 alone induced a temporary deficit in memory; but on the T2DM background this was protracted. Moreover, the T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$  induced dysregulation of proteins involved in functions such as autophagy, inflammation, apoptosis, and glucose and insulin metabolism; known to be aberrantly regulated in AD. More importantly these changes were present in CA1 at a substantial length of time after infusion of A $\beta$  (5 months), supporting the notion that T2DM or component parts can promote a dysfunctional neuronal environment to promote pathology associated with AD.

### Acknowledgements

This study was supported by EU 7<sup>th</sup> Framework Programme Grant HEALTH-F2-2007-201159 and a LECMA financed project grant to SD. SM was supported by the Chinese Science Council and the EU 7FP and KN by the LECMA funded project grant.

#### References

- Afelik S, Rovira M (2016) Pancreas β-cell regeneration: Facultative or dedicated progenitors? Mol Cell Endocrinol 445: 85-94.
- Aguiree F, Brown A, Cho N, Dahlquist G (2013) IDF Diabetes Atlas. International Diabetes Federation. Six edition. 03: 1-155.
- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ (1998) Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med15:539-553.
- Alejandro EU, Gregg B, Blandino-Rosano M, Cras-Méneur C, Bernal-Mizrachi E (2014) Natural history of beta-cell adaptation and failure in type 2 diabetes. Mol Asp Med 1:19–41.

American Diabetes Association. (2015) Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 38:S8–S16.

Arendash GW, Garcia MF, Costa DA, Cracchiolo JR, Wefes IM, Potter H (2004) Environmental enrichment improves cognition in aged Alzheimer's transgenic mice despite stable beta-amyloid deposition. Neuroreport15:1751–1754.

- Arvanitakis Z, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Evans D, Bennett D (2004) Diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer disease and decline in cognitive function. Arch Neurol 61:661–666.
- Bamberger ME, Landreth GE (2002) Inflammation, apoptosis and Alzheimer's Disease. Neurosci 8:276–283.
- Barbagallo M, Dominguez LJ (2014) Type 2 diabetes mellitus Alzheimer's disease. World J Diabetes 5:889–893.
- Blalock EM, Geddes JW, Chen KC, Porter NM, Markesbery WR, Landfield PW (2004) Incipient Alzheimer's disease: Microarray correlation analyses reveal major transcriptional and tumor suppressor responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101:2173–2178.
- Brant AM, Jess TJ, Milligan G, Brown CM, Gould GW (1993) Immunological analysis of glucose transporters expressed in different regions of the rat brain and central nervous system. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 192:1297–1302.
- Bray GA (1977) The Zucker-fatty rat: a review. Fed Proc 36:148–153.
- Bruel-Jungerman E, Laroche S, Rampon C (2005) New neurons in the dentate gyrus are involved in the expression of enhanced long-term memory following environmental enrichment. Eur J Neurosci 21:513–521.
- Bruel-Jungerman E, Veyrac A, Dufour F, Horwood J, Laroche S, Davis S (2009) Inhibition of PI3K-Akt signaling blocks exercise-mediated enhancement of adult neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. PLoS One 4:e7901.
- Brunetti A, Chiefari E, Foti D (2014) Recent advances in the molecular genetics of type 2 diabetes mellitus. World J Diabetes 5:128–140.
- Caccamo A, Maldonado MA, Majumder S, Medina DX, Holbein W, Magrí A, Oddo S (2011) Naturally secreted amyloidb increases mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activity via a PRAS40-mediated mechanism. J Biol Chem 286:8924–8932.
- Candeias E, Duarte AI, Carvalho C, Correia SC, Cardoso S, Santos RX, Plácido AI, Perry G, Moreira PI (2012) The impairment of insulin signaling in Alzheimer's disease. IUBMB Life 64:951–957.
- Contestabile A (2009) Benefits of caloric restriction on brain aging and related pathological states: Understanding mechanisms to devise novel therapies. Cur Med Chem, 16:350-361.
- Cao D, Lu H, Lewis TL, Li L (2007) Intake of sucrose-sweetened water induces insulin resistance and exacerbates memory deficits and amyloidosis in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem 282:36275–36282.
- Carro E, Nunez A, Busiguina S, Torres-Aleman I (2000) Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates effects of exercise on the brain. J Neurosci 20:2926–2933.
- Čaušević M, Farooq U, Lovestone S, Killick R (2010) Beta-Amyloid precursor protein and tau protein levels are differently regulated in human cerebellum compared to brain regions vulnerable to Alzheimer's type neurodegeneration. Neurosci Lett 485:162–166.
- Chang L, Cui W, Yang Y, Xu S, Zhou W, Fu H, Hu S, Mak S, Hu J, Wang Q, Ma VP-Y, Choi TC, Ma ED, Tao L, Pang Y, Rowan MJ, Anwyl R, Han Y, Wang Q (2015) Protection against β-amyloid-induced synaptic and memory impairments via altering β-amyloid assembly by bis(heptyl)-cognitin. Sci Rep 5:10256 1-16.
- Chen Y, Liang Z, Blanchard J, Dai CL, Sun S, Lee MH, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Liu F, Gong CX (2013) A Nontransgenic Mouse Model (icv-STZ Mouse) of Alzheimer's Disease: Similarities to and Differences from the Transgenic Model (3xTg-AD Mouse). Mol Neurobiol 47:1–15.
- Cleary JP, Walsh DM, Hofmeister JJ, Shankar GM, Kuskowski M a, Selkoe DJ, Ashe KH (2005) Natural oligomers of the amyloid-beta protein specifically disrupt cognitive function. Nat Neurosci 8:79–84.
- Cole AR, Astell A, Green C, Sutherland C (2007) Molecular connexions between dementia and diabetes. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:1046–1063.
- Cook DG, Leverenz JB, McMillan PJ, Kulstad JJ, Ericksen S, Roth R a, Schellenberg GD, Jin L-W, Kovacina KS, Craft S (2003) Reduced hippocampal insulin-degrading enzyme in late-onset Alzheimer's disease is associated with the apolipoprotein E-epsilon4 allele. Am J Pathol 162:313–319.

- Costa DA, Cracchiolo JR, Bachstetter AD, Hughes TF, Bales KR, Paul SM, Mervis RF, Arendash GW, Potter H (2007) Enrichment improves cognition in AD mice by amyloid-related and unrelated mechanisms. Neurobiol Aging 28:831–844.
- Dan HC, Antonia RJ, Baldwin AS (2014) PI3K/Akt promotes feedforward mTORC2 activation through IKKα. Oncotarget 7:1–12.
- Davis S, Vanhoutte P, Pages C, Caboche J, Laroche S (2000) The MAPK/ERK cascade targets both Elk-1 and cAMP response element-binding protein to control long-term potentiation-dependent gene expression in the dentate gyrus in vivo. J Neurosci 20:4563–4572.
- De Ferrari G V, Avila ME, Medina MA, Perez-Palma E, Bustos BI, Alarcon MA (2014) Wnt/β-catenin signaling in Alzheimer's disease. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 13:745–754.
- Den Heijer T, Vermeer SE, Van Dijk EJ, Prins ND, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Breteler MMB (2003) Type 2 diabetes and atrophy of medial temporal lobe structures on brain MRI. Diabetologia 46:1604–1610.
- Desai GS, Zheng C, Geetha T, Mathews ST, White BD, Huggins KW, Zizza CA, Broderick TL, Babu JR (2014) The pancreas-brain axis: Insight into disrupted mechanisms associating type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 42:347–356.
- Dickson TC, Vickers JC (2001) The morphological phenotype of beta-amyloid plaques and associated neuritic changes in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 105:99–107.
- Eftekharzadeh B, Ramin M, Khodagholi F, Moradi S, Tabrizian K, Sharif R, Azami K, Beyer C, Sharifzadeh M (2012) Inhibition of PKA attenuates memory deficits induced by beta-amyloid (1-42), and decreases oxidative stress and NF-kappaB transcription factors. Behav Brain Res 226:301–308.
- Eslamizade MJ, Madjd Z, Rasoolijazi H, Saffarzadeh F, Pirhajati V, Aligholi H, Janahmadi M, Mehdizadeh M (2016) Impaired memory and evidence of histopathology in CA1 pyramidal neurons through injection of Abeta1-42 peptides into the frontal cortices of rat. Basic Clin Neurosci 7:31–42.
- Garrido JL, Godoy JA, Alvarez A, Bronfman M, Inestrosa NC (2002) Protein kinase C inhibits amyloid beta peptide neurotoxicity by acting on members of the Wnt pathway. FASEB J 16:1982–1984.
- Ghasemi R, Zarifkar A, Rastegar K, Maghsoudi N, Moosavi M (2014) Repeated intra-hippocampal injection of betaamyloid 25-35 induces a reproducible impairment of learning and memory: Considering caspase-3 and MAPKs activity. Eur J Pharmacol 726:33–40.
- Glick D, Barth S, Macleod KF (2010) Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. J Pathol 221:3–12.
- Gong C-X, Liu F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (2006) Impaired brain glucose metabolism leads to Alzheimer neurofibrillary degeneration through a decrease in tau O-GIcNAcylation. J Alzheimers Dis 9:1–12.
- Goyal SN, Reddy NM, Patil KR, Nakhate KT, Ojha S, Patil CR, Agrawal YO (2016) Challenges and issues with streptozotocin-induced diabetes - A clinically relevant animal model to understand the diabetes pathogenesis and evaluate therapeutics. Chem Biol Interact 244:49–63.
- Greer EL, Oskoui PR, Banko MR, Maniar JM, Gygi MP, Gygi SP, Brunet A (2007) The energy sensor AMP-activated protein kinase directly regulates the mammalian FOXO3 transcription factor. J Biol Chem 282:30107–30119.
- Griffin RJ, Moloney A, Kelliher M, Johnston JA, Ravid R, Dockery P, O'Connor R, O'Neill C (2005) Activation of Akt/PKB, increased phosphorylation of Akt substrates and loss and altered distribution of Akt and PTEN are features of Alzheimer's disease pathology. J Neurochem 93:105–117.
- Guillot F, Kemppainen S, Lavasseur G, Miettinen PO, Laroche S, Tanila H, Davis S (2016) Brain-specific basal and novelty-induced alternations in PI3K-Akt and MAPK/ERK signaling in a middle-aged AβPP/PS1 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 51:1157–1173.
- Hardy JA, Higgins GA (1992) Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 256:184–185.
- Harishankar N, Vajreswari A, Giridharan NV (2011) WNIN/GR-Ob an insulin-resistant obese rat model from inbred WNIN strain. Indian J Med Res 134:320–329.

- He P, Shen Y (2009) Interruption of β-Catenin Signaling Reduces Neurogenesis in Alzheimer's Disease. J Neurosci 29:6545–6557.
- Heininger K (1999) A unifying hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. II. Pathophysiological processes. Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp 14:525–581.
- Heiss WD, Szelies B, Kessler J, Herholz K (1991) Abnormalities of energy metabolism in Alzheimer's disease studied with PET. Ann N Y Acad Sci 640:65–71.
- Heppner FL, Ransohoff RM, Becher B (2015) Immune attack: the role of inflammation in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 16:358–372.
- Herculano B, Tamura M, Ohba A, Shimatani M, Kutsuna N, Hisatsune T (2013) β-alanyl-L-histidine rescues cognitive deficits caused by feeding a high fat diet in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 33:983–997.
- Hernández F, Borrell J, Guaza C, Avila J, Lucas JJ (2002) Spatial learning deficit in transgenic mice that conditionally over-express GSK-3beta in the brain but do not form tau filaments. J Neurochem 83:1529–1533.
- Herrup K (2015) The case for rejecting the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Nat Neurosci 18:794–799.
- Hiltunen M, Khandelwal VKM, Yaluri N, Tiilikainen T, Tusa M, Koivisto H, Krzisch M, Vepsäläinen S, Makinen P, Kemppainen S, Miettinen P, Haapasalo A, Soininen H, Laakso M, Tanila H (2012) Contribution of genetic and dietary insulin resistance to Alzheimer phenotype in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. J Cell Mol Med 16:1206–1222.
- Ho L, Qin W, Pompl PN, Xiang Z, Wang J, Zhao Z, Peng Y, Cambareri G, Rocher A, Mobbs C V, Hof PR, Pasinetti GM (2004) Diet-induced insulin resistance promotes amyloidosis in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J 18:902–904.
- Holmes C, Boche D, Wilkinson D, Yadegarfar G, Hopkins V, Bayer A, Jones RW, Bullock R, Love S, Neal JW, Zotova E, Nicoll JAR (2008) Long-term eff ects of Aβ 42 immunisation in Alzheimer's disease : follow-up of a randomised, placebo-controlled phase I trial. 372:11–14.
- Hooper C, Markevich V, Plattner F, Killick R, Schofield E, Engel T, Hernandez F, Anderton B, Rosenblum K, Bliss T, Cooke SF, Avila J, Lucas JJ, Giese KP, Stephenson J, Lovestone S (2007) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibition is integral to long-term potentiation. Eur J Neurosci 25:81–86.
- Hoyer S (2004) Glucose metabolism and insulin receptor signal transduction in Alzheimer disease. Eur J Pharmacol 490:115–125.
- Hu Y-S, Xu P, Pigino G, Brady ST, Larson J, Lazarov O (2010) Complex environment experience rescues impaired neurogenesis, enhances synaptic plasticity, and attenuates neuropathology in familial Alzheimer's disease-linked APPswe/PS1DeltaE9 mice. FASEB J 24:1667–1681.
- Hye A, Kerr F, Archer N, Foy C, Poppe M, Brown R, Hamilton G, Powell J, Anderton B, Lovestone S (2005) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is increased in white cells early in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 373:1–4.
- Inestrosa NC, De Ferrari G V., Garrido JL, Alvarez A, Olivares GH, Barria MI, Bronfman M, Chacon MA (2002) Wnt signaling involvement in beta-amyloid-dependent neurodegeneration. Neurochem Int 41:341–344.
- Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I (2005) Metabolic/signal transduction hypothesis of Alzheimer?s disease and other tauopathies. Acta Neuropathol 109:25–31.
- Jack CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Shaw LM, Aisen PS, Weiner MW, Petersen RC, Trojanowski JQ (2010) Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. Lancet Neurol 9:119–128.
- Jack CR, Barrio JR, Kepe V (2013) Cerebral amyloid PET imaging in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol 126:643– 657.
- Janson J, Laedtke T, Parisi JE, O'Brien P, Petersen RC, Butler PC (2004) Increased risk of type 2 diabetes in Alzheimer disease. Diabetes 53:474–481.
- Jimenez S, Torres M, Vizuete M, Sanchez-Varo R, Sanchez-Mejias E, Trujillo-Estrada L, Carmona-Cuenca I, Caballero C, Ruano D, Gutierrez A, Vitorica J (2011) Age-dependent accumulation of soluble amyloid beta (Aβ) oligomers reverses the neuroprotective effect of soluble amyloid precursor protein-a (sAPPα) by modulating

phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt-GSK- 3β pathway in Alzheimer mouse model. J Biol Chem 286:18414– 18425.

- Kelly A, Laroche S, Davis S (2003) Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase in hippocampal circuitry is required for consolidation and reconsolidation of recognition memory. J Neurosci 23:5354–5360.
- Khamzina L, Veilleux A, Bergeron S, Marette A (2005) Increased activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway in liver and skeletal muscle of obese rats: Possible involvement in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Endocrinology 146:1473–1481.
- Kim I, Lee J, Hong HJ, Jung ES, Ku YH, Jeong IK, Cho YM, So I, Park KS, Mook-Jung I (2010) A relationship between Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus through the measurement of serum amyloid-beta autoantibodies. J Alzheimers Dis 19:1371–1376.
- King S, Klineberg I, Levinger I, Brennan-Speranza TC (2016) The effect of hyperglycaemia on osseointegration: a review of animal models of diabetes mellitus and titanium implant placement. Arch Osteoporos 11-29.
- Kirkman MS, Brisco VJ, Clark N, Florez H (2014) Diabetes in older adults: Consensus report. J Am Geriatr Soc 60: 2342-2356.
- Knight EM, Martins IVA, Gümüsgöz S, Allan SM, Lawrence CB (2014) High-fat diet-induced memory impairment in triple-transgenic Alzheimer's disease (3xTgAD) mice isindependent of changes in amyloid and tau pathology. Neurobiol Aging 35:1821–1832.
- Knopman DS, Parisi JE, Salviati A, Floriach-Robert M, Boeve BF, Ivnik RJ, Smith GE, Dickson DW, Johnson KA, Petersen LE, McDonald WC, Braak H, Petersen RC (2003) Neuropathology of cognitively normal elderly. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 62:1087–1095.
- Kumar S, Paul A, Kalita S, Ghosh AK, Mandal B, Mondal AC (2016) Protective effects of β-sheet breaker α/β-hybrid peptide against amyloid β-induced neuronal apoptosis in vitro. Chem Biol Drug Des 2016 1-13.
- Larson ME, Lesne SE (2012) Soluble Abeta oligomer production and toxicity. J Neurochem 120 Suppl:125–139.
- Leahy JL (2005) Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Arch Med Res 36:197-209.
- Lesne SE (2014) Toxic oligomer species of amyloid- $\beta$  in Alzheimer's disease, a timing issue. Swiss Med Wkly 144:w14021 1-10.
- Levin BE, Dunn-Meynell AA (2002) Reduced central leptin sensitivity in rats with diet-induced obesity. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283:R941-948.
- Liu Y, Liu F, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I, Al. C-XG et (2008) Decreased glucose transporters correlate to abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau in Alzheimer disease. FEBS Lett 582:359–364.
- Liu Y, Liu F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Gong C-X (2009) Brain glucose transporters, O-GlcNAcylation and phosphorylation of tau in diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 111:242–249.
- Liu Y, Grundke-Iqbal FLI, Gong KI and Gong C-X (2011) Deficient brain insulin signalling pathway in Alzheimer's disease and diabetes. J pathol 225:54–62.
- Lucas JJ, Hernández F, Gómez-Ramos P, Morán MA, Hen R, Avila J (2001) Decreased nuclear beta-catenin, tau hyperphosphorylation and neurodegeneration in GSK-3beta conditional transgenic mice. EMBO J 20:27–39.
- Ma YQ, Wu DK, Liu JK (2013) MTOR and tau phosphorylated proteins in the hippocampal tissue of rats with type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. Mol Med Rep 7:623–627.
- Maesako M, Uemura K, Iwata A, Kubota M, Watanabe K, Uemura M, Noda Y, Asada-Utsugi M, Kihara T, Takahashi R, Shimohama S, Kinoshita A (2013) Continuation of exercise is necessary to inhibit high fat diet-induced β-Amyloid Deposition and Memory Deficit in Amyloid Precursor Protein Transgenic Mice. PLoS One 8:e72796.
- Maesako M, Uemura K, Kubota M, Kuzuya A, Sasaki K, Asada M, Watanabe K, Hayashida N, Ihara M, Ito H, Shimohama S, Kihara T, Kinoshita A (2012a) Environmental enrichment ameliorated high-fat diet-induced Aβ deposition and memory deficit in APP transgenic mice. Neurobiol Aging 33:1011.e11-23.

- Maesako M, Uemura K, Kubota M, Kuzuya A, Sasaki K, Hayashida N, Asada-Utsugi M, Watanabe K, Uemura M, Kihara T, Takahashi R, Shimohama S, Kinoshita A (2012b) Exercise is more effective than diet control in preventing high fat diet-induced β-Amyloid deposition and Memory Deficit in Amyloid Precursor Protein Transgenic Mice. J Biol Chem 287:23024–23033.
- Malin DH, Crothers MK, Lake JR, Goyarzu P, Plotner RE, Garcia SA, Spell SH, Tomsic BJ, Giordano T, Kowall NW (2001) Hippocampal injections of Amyloid β-peptide 1-40 impair subsequent one-trial/day reward learning. Neurobiol Learn Mem 76:125–137.
- Mayeux R, Stern Y (2006) epidemiology of Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 20:S58–S62.
- McClean PL, Hölscher C (2014) Lixisenatide, a drug developed to treat type 2 diabetes, shows neuroprotective effects in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuropharmacology 86:241–258.
- McNay EC, Ong CT, McCrimmon RJ, Cresswell J, Bogan JS, Sherwin RS (2010) Hippocampal memory processes are modulated by insulin and high-fat-induced insulin resistance. Neurobiol Learn Mem 93:546–553.
- Mehla J, Chauhan BC, Chauhan NB (2014) Experimental induction of type 2 diabetes in aging-accelerated mice triggered Alzheimer-like pathology and memory deficits. J Alzheimers Dis 39:145–162.
- Menzies FM, Moreau K, Rubensztein DC (2011) Protein misfolding disorders and macroautophagy. Cur Opin Cell Biol 23:190-197.
- Mittal K, Katare DP (2016) Shared links between type 2 diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease: A review. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev 10:1–6.
- Mooradian AD, Chung HC, Shah GN (1997) GLUT-1 expression in the cerebra of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 18:469–474.
- Morroni F, Sita G, Tarozzi A, Rimondini R, Hrelia P (2016) Early effects of Aβ1-42 oligomers injection in mice: Involvement of PI3K/Akt/GSK3 and MAPK/ERK1/2 pathways. Behav Brain Res 314:106–115.
- Mosconi L, Santi S De, Li Y, Li J, Zhan J, Tsui WH, Boppana M, Pupi A, Leon MJ De (2006) Visual rating of medial temporal lobe metabolism in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease using FDG-PET. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 33: 210-221.
- Mufson E, Malek-Ahmadi M, Perez S, Chen K (2016) Braak staging, plaque pathology, and APOE status in elderly persons without cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging 37:147–153.
- Nabeshima T, Nitta A (1994) Memory impairment and neuronal dysfunction induced by beta-amyloid protein in rats. Tohoku J Exp Med 174:241–249.
- Nassireslami E, Nikbin P, Amini E, Payandemehr B, Shaerzadeh F, Khodagholi F, Yazdi BB, Kebriaeezadeh A, Taghizadeh G, Sharifzadeh M (2016) How sodium arsenite improve amyloid beta-induced memory deficit? Physiol Behav 163:97–106.
- Ngarmukos C, Baur EL, Kumagai AK (2001) Co-localization of GLUT1 and GLUT4 in the blood-brain barrier of the rat ventromedial hypothalamus. Brain Res 900:1–8.
- Obulesu M, Lakshmi MJ (2014) Apoptosis in Alzheimer's Disease: An understanding of the physiology, pathology and therapeutic avenues. Neurochem Res 39:2301–2312.
- Oh H, Steffener J, Razlighi QR, Habeck C, Liu D, Gazes Y, Janicki S, Stern Y (2015) Abeta-related hyperactivation in frontoparietal control regions in cognitively normal elderly. Neurobiol Aging 36:3247–3254.
- Pani G (2015) Neuroprotective effects of dietary restriction: Evidence and mechanisms. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 40:106-114.
- Patel S, Santani D (2009) Role of NFkB in the pathogenesis of diabetes and its associated complications. Pharmacol Reports 61:595–603.
- Peila R, Rodriguez BL, Launer LJ (2002) Type 2 Diabetes, APOE gene, and the risk for dementia and related pathologies. Diabetes 51:1256–1262.
- Petrov D, Pedrós I, Artiach G, Sureda FX, Barroso E, Pallàs M, Casadesús G, Beas-Zarate C, Carro E, Ferrer I, Vazquez-Carrera M, Folch J, Camins A (2015) High-fat diet-induced deregulation of hippocampal insulin signaling

and mitochondrial homeostasis deficiences contribute to Alzheimer disease pathology in rodents. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis. 852:1687–1699.

- Phiel CJ, Wilson C a, Lee VM-Y, Klein PS (2003) GSK-3α regulates production of Alzheimer's disease amyloid-beta peptides. Nature 423:435–439.
- Pickford F, Masliah E, Britschgi M, Lucin K, Narasimhan R, Jaeger P a, Small S, Spencer B, Rockenstein E, Levine B, Wyss-coray T (2008) The autophagy-related protein beclin 1 shoes reduced expression in eary Alzheimer disease and regulates amyloid beta accumulation in mice. J Clin Invest 118: 2190-2199.
- Qin W, Zhao W, Ho L, Wang J, Walsh K, Gandy S, Pasinetti GM (2008) Regulation of forkhead transcription factor FoxO3a contributes to calorie restriction-induced prevention of Alzheimer's disease-type amyloid neuropathology and spatial memory deterioration. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1147:335–347.
- Reagan LP (2012) Diabetes as a chronic metabolic stressor: Causes, consequences and clinical complications. Exp Neurol 233:68–78.
- Reijmer YD, Brundel M, De Bresser J, Kappelle LJ, Leemans A, Biessels GJ (2013) Microstructural white matter abnormalities and cognitive functioning in type 2 diabetes: A diffusion tensor imaging study. Diabetes Care 36:137–144.
- Reuter TY (2007) Diet-induced models for obesity and type 2 diabetes. Drug Discov Today Dis Model 4:3-8.
- Rivera EJ, Goldin A, Fulmer N, Tavares R, Wands JR, de la Monte SM (2005) Insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and function deteriorate with progression of Alzheimer's disease: link to brain reductions in acetylcholine. J Alzheimers Dis 8:247–268.
- Sakono M, Zako T (2010) Amyloid oligomers: Formation and toxicity of Aβ oligomers. FEBS J 277:1348–1358.
- Salminen A, Kaarniranta K (2009) Regulation of the aging process by autophagy. Trends Mol Med 15:217–224.
- Schubert M, Gautam D, Surjo D, Ueki K, Baudler S, Schubert D, Kondo T, Alber J, Galldiks N, Küstermann E, Arndt S, Jacobs AH, Krone W, Kahn CR, Brüning JC (2004) Role for neuronal insulin resistance in neurodegenerative diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101:3100–3105.
- Selkoe DJ (2008) Soluble oligomers of the amyloid beta-protein impair synaptic plasticity and behavior. Behav Brain Res 192:106–113.
- Selkoe DJ, Hardy J (2016) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. EMBO Mol Med, 8:595-608.
- Shi C, Viccaro K, Lee H, Shah K (2016) Cdk5–Foxo3 axis: initially neuroprotective, eventually neurodegenerative in Alzheimer's disease models. J Cell Sci 129:1815–1830.
- Simpson IA, Chundu KR, Davies-Hill T, Honer WG, Davies P (1994) Decreased concentrations of GLUT1 and GLUT3 glucose transporters in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 35:546–551.
- Sipos E, Kurunczi A, Kasza Á, Horváth J, Felszeghy K, Laroche S, Toldi J, Párducz Á, Penke B, Penke Z (2007) Beta-Amyloid pathology in the entorhinal cortex of rats induces memory deficits: Implications for Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 147:28–36.

Skovsø S (2014) Modeling type 2 diabetes in rats using high fat diet and streptozotocin. J Diabetes Investig 5:349–358.

- Smith GS, de Leon MJ, George AE, Kluger A, Volkow ND, McRae T, Golomb J, Ferris SH, Reisberg B, Ciaravino J (1992) Topography of cross-sectional and longitudinal glucose metabolic deficits in Alzheimer's disease. Pathophysiologic implications. Arch Neurol 49:1142–1150.
- Souza LC, Jesse CR, Antunes MS, Ruff JR, de Oliveira Espinosa D, Gomes NS, Donato F, Giacomeli R, Boeira SP (2016) Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase mediates neurobehavioral alterations induced by an intracerebroventricular injection of amyloid-beta1-42 peptide in mice. Brain Behav Immun 56:363–377.
- Spilman P, Podlutskaya N, Hart MJ, Debnath J, Gorostiza O, Bredesen D, Richardson A, Strong R, Galvan V (2010) Inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin abolishes cognitive deficits and reduces amyloid-beta levels in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 5:e9979.
- Srinivasan K, Ramarao P (2007) Animal models in type 2 diabetes research: an overview. Indian J Med Res 125:451– 472.

- Stamos JL, Weis WI (2013) The beta-Catenin destruction complex. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 5:a007898– a007898.
- Steen E, Terry BM, Rivera EJ, Cannon JL, Neely TR, Tavares R, Xu XJ, Wands JR, de la Monte SM (2005) Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease - is this type 3 diabetes? J Alzheimers Dis 7:63–80.
- Swerdlow RH, Burns JM, Khan SM (2014) The Alzheimer's disease mitochondrial cascade hypothesis: Progress and perspectives. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1842:1219–1231.
- Takeda S, Sato N, Uchio-Yamada K, Sawada K, Kunieda T, Takeuchi D, Kurinami H, Shinohara M, Rakugi H, Morishita R (2010) Diabetes-accelerated memory dysfunction via cerebrovascular inflammation and Abeta deposition in an Alzheimer mouse model with diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:7036–7041.
- Talbot K, Wang H, Kazi H, Han L, Bakshi KP, Stucky A, Fuino RL, Kawaguchi KR, Samoyedny AJ, Wilson RS, Arvanitakis Z, Schneider J a, Wolf B a, Bennett D a, Trojanowski JQ, Arnold SE (2012) Demonstrated brain insulin resistance in alzheimer's disease patients is assocaited with IGF-1 resisitance, IRS-1 dysregulation, and cognitve decline. J Clin Invest 122: 1316-1338.
- Terranova JP, Kan JP, Storme JJ, Perreaut P, Le Fur G, Soubrie P (1996) Administration of amyloid beta-peptides in the rat medial septum causes memory deficits: Reversal by SR 57746A, a non-peptide neurotrophic compound. Neurosci Lett 213:79–82.
- Tilstra JS, Clauson CL, Niedernhofer LJ, Robbins PD (2011) NF-κB in Aging and Disease. Aging Dis 2:449–465.
- Townsend M, Shankar GM, Mehta T, Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ (2006) Effects of secreted oligomers of amyloid betaprotein on hippocampal synaptic plasticity: a potent role for trimers. J Physiol 572:477–492.
- Townsend M, Mehta T, Selkoe DJ (2007) Soluble Abeta inhibits specific signal transduction cascades common to the insulin receptor pathway. J Biol Chem 282:33305–33312.
- Trejo JL, Carro E, Torres-Aleman I (2001) Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates exercise-induced increases in the number of new neurons in the adult hippocampus. J Neurosci 21:1628–1634.
- Valero J, España J, Parra-Damas A, Martín E, Rodríguez-Álvarez J, Saura CA (2011) Short-term environmental enrichment rescues adult neurogenesis and memory deficits in APP(Sw,Ind) transgenic mice. PLoS One 6: e16832.
- van Leiden H a, Dekker JM, Moll AC, Nijpels G, Heine RJ, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CD, Polak BCP (2003) Risk factors for incident retinopathy in a diabetic and nondiabetic population: the Hoorn study. Arch Ophthalmol 121:245–251.
- van Praag H, Kempermann G, Gage FH (2000) Neural consequences of environmental enrichment. Nat Rev Neurosci 1:191–198.
- Vepsäläinen S, Hiltunen M, Helisalmi S, Wang J, van Groen T, Tanila H, Soininen H (2008) Increased expression of Abeta degrading enzyme IDE in the cortex of transgenic mice with Alzheimer's disease-like neuropathology. Neurosci Lett 438:216–220.
- Verdile G, Fuller SJ, Martins RN (2015a) The role of type 2 diabetes in neurodegeneration. Neurobiol Dis 84:22–38.
- Verdile G. Keane KN. Cruzat VF. Medic S. Sabale M. Rowles J. Wijesekara N. Martins RN. Fraser PE. Newsholme P (2015b) Inflammation and Oxidative Stress: The Molecular Connectivity between Insulin Resistance, Obesity, and Alzheimer's Disease. Mediators Inflamm 2015: 105828 1-17.
- Verret L, Krezymon A, Halley H, Trouche S, Zerwas M, Lazouret M, Lassalle J-M, Rampon C (2013) Transient enriched housing before amyloidosis onset sustains cognitive improvement in Tg2576 mice. Neurobiol Aging 34:211–225.
- Walsh DM, Klyubin I, Fadeeva J V, Cullen WK, Anwyl R, Wolfe MS, Rowan MJ, Selkoe DJ (2002) Naturally secreted oligomers of amyloid beta protein potently inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. Nature 416:535–539.
- Wang Z-X, Lan T, Inyuan L, T Y in-T (2016) The essential role of soluble Aβ oligomers in Alzheimer's Disease. Mol Neurobiol:1905–1924.
- Woods SC, Seeley RJ, Rushing P a, D'Alessio D, Tso P (2003) A controlled high-fat diet induces an obese syndrome in rats. J Nutr 133:1081–1087.

- World Health Organization (2000) Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 894:1-253.
- Yeh CW, Yeh SHH, Shie FS, Lai WS, Liu HK, Tzeng TT, Tsay HJ, Shiao YJ (2015) Impaired cognition and cerebral glucose regulation are associated with astrocyte activation in the parenchyma of metabolically stressed APPswe/PS1dE9 mice. Neurobiol Aging 36:2984–2994.
- Zhang Z, Hartmann H, Do VM, Abramowski D, Sturchler-Pierrat C, Staufenbiel M, Sommer B, van de Wetering M, Clevers H, Saftig P, De Strooper B, He X, Yankner BA (1998) Destabilization of beta-catenin by mutations in presenilin-1 potentiates neuronal apoptosis. Nature 395:698–702.
- Zhao W-Q, De Felice FG, Fernandez S, Chen H, Lambert MP, Quon MJ, Krafft G, Klein WL (2008) Amyloid beta oligomers induce impairment of neuronal insulin receptors. FASEB J 22:246–260.
- Zhao ZC, Li F, Maiese K (2005) Oxidative stress in the brain: Novel cellular targets that govern survival during neurodegenerative disease. Prog Neurobiol 75:207–246.

# Supplementary data

Food product		
Bacon	Fruit cake	Napolitain cake
Belin biscuits	Grated cheese	Pasta
Belin chips	Grissini sticks	Peanut butter
Belin Curves	Harrys bread	Pizza sandwich
Benenuts toasts	Jacquet bread	Popcorn
Breakfast biscuits	Ketchup	Processed bread
Buns	Kiri cheese	Ravioli
Butter	Lu biscuits	Rillette
Cereal Bars	Madeleine	Sausage
Chicken Nuggets	Marzipan	Smacks
Classic chips	Mayonnaise	sunflower seeds
Coca Cola	Mc chips	Sweet milk
Cream	Mini toasts	Trancetto cake
Croutons	Mini waffles	Tuc biscuits
Crusti Croc Flips	Muesli	

Table 1: List of human 'junk' food given for cafeteria diet rats

# Table 2. List of primary Antibodies for WB

Antibody name	Supplier	Source	MW(kDa)	Dilution
β-Actin	Sigma	mouse	42	1:10000
Akt	CST	rabbit	60	1:1000
pAKt (ser473)	CST	rabbit	60	1:1000
mTOR	CST	rabbit	289	1:1000
pmTOR (ser2448)	CST	rabbit	289	1:1000
Beclin-1	CST	rabbit	60	1:1000
GSK3β	CST	rabbit	46	1:1000
pGSK3β (ser9)	CST	rabbit	46	1:1000
β-Catenin	CST	rabbit	92	1:4000
pβ-Catenin (ser33/37)	CST	rabbit	92	1:1000
Bad	CST	rabbit	23	1:1000
pBad (ser136)	CST	rabbit	23	1:1000
FoxO3a	CST	rabbit	82	1:1000
Caspase7	CST	rabbit	35	1:1000
Caspase9	CST	rabbit	40/51	1:1000
IDE	Abcam	rabbit	118	1:1000
APP	CST	rabbit	100	1:1000
NFκB (p65)	CST	rabbit	65	1:1000
pNFκB (ser536)	CST	rabbit	65	1:750
ΙΚΚα	CST	rabbit	85	1:1000
GluT1	Thermo	rabbit	55	1:1000
# Figure 1. Experimental groups and numbers of rats



Figure 2. Representative sample western-blots



General discussion

#### Successful model of T2DM

Several population studies and animal studies demonstrate a strong correlation and possible underlying links between type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and Alzheimer's disease (AD), many of which are linked via the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway (see reviews Li et al., 2015; Walker and Harrison, 2015; Mittal and Katare, 2016). However, the underlying mechanism of how T2DM leads to the development of AD is not clear. We developed a model to assess the impact T2DM may have on the development of AD. We modified an existing model, coupling low dose injections of Streptozotocin (STZ) with high fat diet, using STZ with cafeteria diet (CD). In order to see the individual effect of each treatment contributing to the model, we also had rats only fed with CD or injected with STZ. We found our STZ-CD treated rats showed hyperglycemia and impaired insulin levels in blood indicating a successful T2DM model.

Studies in rats fed a high fat/sugar diet to induce obesity coupled with low dose of STZ injection(s) could represent a good T2DM model; most of the studies used calibrated high fat diet (see Skovsø, 2014). However, in our study, rats were fed with processed food to induce obesity instead of calibrated high fat/sugar diet, which more closely mimics the development of the human disease. These foods are high in sugar and fat, and importantly the industrialized food enhances rewarding properties by manipulating salt, flavours and other food additives to make such foods more addictive (Cocores and Gold, 2009; Gearhardt et al., 2011; Carter et al., 2016).

Obesity is one of the major risk factors of T2DM. A diet rich in fat and sugar can easily induce obesity in humans and in animals as described in the introduction. After 35 weeks of cafeteria diet, our rats gained 25% more weight than the controls. In animal studies, there is no standard threshold for obesity such as body mass index (BMI) in humans. However, some studies suggest that around 10-25% more body weight over age-matched control rats fed laboratory diet is considered to be an indicator of "obesity" (Levin and Dunn-Meynell, 2002; Woods et al., 2003). We found that the food composition mainly contained carbohydrates, lipids and proteins, where carbohydrates comprised more than 50% of the total nutritional content. Interestingly, in human junk food, the percentage of sugar in carbohydrates is half, while the percentage of sugar was only 3.2% in normal animal diet. The main source of Carbohydrates is from food and they are responsible for postprandial glycemia and insulinemia and related to the etiology of many chronic metabolic diseases (Bao et al., 2011). We found that rats fed with cafeteria diet alone showed increased blood insulin levels, but no significant high glucose levels even at the end of the experiment, which may suggest insulin resistance with CD treatment alone. This result is consistent with data showing that high fat/caloric diet induces obesity and insulin resistance with hyperinsulinemia but rarely hyperglycemia (Dourmashkin et al., 2006; Templeman et al., 2017). However, rats for which CD and STZ injections were coupled showed both hyperglycemia and impaired insulin level.

STZ is widely used to induce diabetes in rodents (Radenković et al., 2016). The phenotype is dose dependent, where high dose injections can quickly induce T1DM, by impairing insulin secretion (for example 50 mg/kg body weight). In contrast, relatively low doses of STZ (25-50 mg/kg body weight) have been

shown to induce a mild impairment in insulin secretion; especially multiple low dose injections coupled with HF diet tends to induce T2DM (Skovsø, 2014). In our STZ injection model we used 30 mg/kg injections (twice, one week apart), a dose which has been reported to be able to induce stable hyperglycemia coupled with HF diet (Zhang et al., 2008). If compared with control rats, STZ injections alone induced mild increases in glucose level at the later time points, relatively higher insulin level but not significant at the end in our tests. This may be due to the fact that in general STZ induced diabetic rats develop hyperglycemia, primarily by direct cytotoxic action on the β pancreatic cells and insulin deficiency rather than as a consequence of insulin resistance (Srinivasan and Ramarao, 2007; King et al., 2016) and is less stable (Srinivasan and Ramarao, 2007). However, the most obvious stable hyperglycemia was shown in rats receiving the STZ-CD treatment, which was not observed in CD alone and STZ alone groups. A study using the same dose (30mg/kg) of STZ coupled with HF diet showed rats fed for 4 weeks with high fat diet had a 85% diabetic success rate and most importantly presented typical features of T2DM with insulin resistance, stable hyperglycemia and blood lipid disorders observed between 3 and 8 weeks following STZ injections (Zhang et al., 2008). Our STZ-CD rat model also showed hyperglycemia and impaired glucose tolerance 4 weeks after STZ injections, and showed stable hyperglycemia until the end of the experiment, 33 weeks after the start of cafeteria diet.

Importantly, STZ-CD rats showed hyperinsulinemia at an early time point (week 21), which is consistent with data showing that early stages of T2DM is associated with hyperinsulinemia; interestingly the increased insulin level was similar in the CD treatment alone group at late time point (week 35), which indicates that the combined treatment seems to accelerate or aggravate the development of the T2DM phenotype. However, STZ-CD rats showed hyperglycemia in parallel with relatively decreased insulin but not significantly different from controls at the end, suggesting the combined treatment may cause failure of β-cell to secrete sufficient insulin in response to the increased glucose level, leading to stable hyperglycemia and relative insulin deficiency as in the late stage of T2DM in rats (Skovsø, 2014). T2DM normally begins with insulin resistance, however as the disease progresses a lack of insulin may also develop, characterised by high blood glucose in the context of insulin resistance and relative insulin deficiency (Tripathy et al., 2012). Population based studies suggest in T2DM patients without obesity, mainly found in Asian countries such as Japan, China and Korea, the reduction in insulin secretion seems to be more important than the increase in insulin resistance. These defects may be caused by long-term hypersecretion of insulin in response to the intake of high caloric food owing to westernized food habits. The hypersecretion of insulin leads to depletion of the insulin stock and hence to the decline in insulin secretion from the  $\beta$  pancreatic cells (Nakamura et al., 2006).

In a study coupling HF diet with STZ injection (50 mg/kg, intravenously), prior to STZ injection, rats fed with HF diet for 2 weeks showed similar glucose level, but significantly higher insulin compared with rats fed with normal laboratory diet. Moreover, adipocyte glucose clearance was significantly reduced under maximal insulin stimulation, suggesting high fat diet induced insulin resistance (Reed et al., 2000), while STZ injection increased glucose and insulin levels and induced hyperglycemia with normal insulin function

compared with rats injected with STZ and fed normal diet 3 days after STZ injection (Reed et al., 2000). Studies show that the increase in plasma glucose can reach peak levels within 3 days after STZ administration and this is stable for at least 21 days and that insulin levels reach a peak after 24 hours and become stable 3 days after STZ, as reviewed recently (Goyal et al., 2016). However, in our experiment, the first glucose tolerance test was conducted 4 weeks after STZ injections. The STZ injections alone induced a mild increase in response to glucose compared with controls. This data is consistent with evidence showing severe hyperglycemia occurs 3 weeks after STZ injection, but only mild hyperglycemia has been observed 4 weeks following STZ injections in some studies (Ito et al., 2001; Ventura-Sobrevilla et al., 2011). But we also observed mild increased glucose level at later time points in STZ-injected rats, which suggests the STZ effect may still exist. However, in the STZ-CD treated rats we found the most obvious stable hyperglycemia across time, which was much higher than that induced by STZ alone, suggesting this combined CD and STZ treatment exacerbates glucose tolerance. Our insulin test was only conducted at the end of experiment; STZ alone induced a mild increase in blood insulin, which may be consistent with relative high glucose level in these rats. Importantly, some studies classified early and late stages of T2DM in STZ-HF induced models based on insulin level, of course they also show hyperglycemia. If the animals show higher glucose and insulin levels than controls, this is considered to mimic the early stage of T2DM; if their insulin levels are lower than, or the same as in controls, this mimics late stage of T2DM (Skovsø, 2014). Based on this classification, we conclude that rats treated with STZ-CD developed late stage T2DM by the end of the experiment.

Obesity is often associated with peripheral insulin resistance, while it is difficult to separate the phenomena of insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia (Tabák et al., 2009). Insulin resistance is widely referred to as an impairment of glucose disposal in response to insulin stimulation (Biddinger and Kahn, 2006). Hyperinsulinemia refers to elevated basal and/or stimulated insulin secretion, which is nearly universal in the early stage of T2DM. Both insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia are associated with impaired glucose tolerance. There is a hyperbolic relationship between insulin resistance and impaired insulin secretion, hyperinsulinemia has been considered to be a compensatory response to prevent elevated blood glucose when the body is failing to take in excess glucose due to conditions resulting from obesity (Shanik et al., 2008). While the mechanism of obesity induced insulin resistance is not clear, whether or not elevated insulin is a causal contributor to obesity and its associated complications remains unclear (Templeman et al., 2017).

## Does T2DM promote the development of memory deficits and AD?

The next question we asked was whether T2DM could promote the development of AD; which is the link between these two diseases. To investigate this, half of the rats in each group were infused with soluble Aβ42 into the lateral ventricles to determine whether the T2DM phenotype would exacerbate the effect induced by Aβ alone. This form of Aβ alone does not form amyloid plaques and does not induce long-lasting

memory deficits. Throughout the experiments, spatial recognition memory, a hippocampal dependent memory task, was conducted regularly to test the onset and evolution of memory deficits.

We chose to use a spatial recognition memory task as it is susceptible to damage or dysfunction in the hippocampus (Vann and Albasser, 2011; Cordner and Tamashiro, 2015). Firstly, without A $\beta$  our STZ-CD treated rats showed consistent mild memory deficits throughout the whole period of the experiment, which could be mediated independently by injections of STZ alone or CD alone, rats in these groups also showed similar memory deficits. Our data are consistent with studies on learning and memory deficits in diet induced obesity models (Cordner and Tamashiro, 2015) and STZ induced diabetic model (Reagan, 2012) in several tasks, especially spatial memory. Few studies show learning and memory deficits in STZ-HF treated rats (Rahigude et al., 2012; Ma et al., 2013). The deficits were found either before the impairment of glucose and insulin levels (Kaczmarczyk et al., 2013) or after (Valladolid-Acebes et al., 2013). In our experiment, spatial memory deficits were seen after 4 month of CD feeding and 2 months after STZ injections in CD treated alone, STZ injected alone or STZ-CD treated rats. At this time point, we have observed increased glucose levels and impaired glucose tolerance in STZ-CD treated rats, but not in the CD treated alone rats or STZ alone injected rats, which indicates the memory deficits induced by different treatment may not be directly associated with changes of glucose level in the periphery.

Spatial memory deficits have been shown either in young and aged mice fed HF diet (Heyward et al., 2012; Carey et al., 2014) or AD transgenic mice fed with HF diet, where HF diet contributes to increased cerebral Aβ levels and memory loss (Petrov et al., 2015). Several potential mechanisms have been proposed for memory deficits in diet induced obesity models. Cognitive deficits in animals fed HF diet have been linked with impairment in peripheral and central insulin signalling (Pintana et al., 2012) or inflammation (Jeon et al., 2012). Studies of chronic treatment with naringenin, an anti-oxidative, anti-inflammatory and anti-diabetic molecule, showed decreased blood glucose levels and improved memory, which might be through increasing insulin sensitivity and extra-pancreatic actions (Mulvihill et al., 2009; Rahigude et al., 2012). But the underlying mechanism of memory deficits in diet induced obesity models and STZ induced models is not clear. Acute administration of leptin was shown to enhance phosphorylation of Akt in controls but not in mice with HF diet, suggesting HF diet treatment triggers desensitization of this pathway (Valladolid-Acebes et al., 2013).

Our main focus was the effect of T2DM treatment on A $\beta$ -related dysfunction. A large amount of evidence shows a strong association between soluble A $\beta$  and memory impairments in animals (Cleary et al., 2005; Lesné et al., 2006; Townsend et al., 2006), which has been considered more toxic than the aggregated form. In our experiment, we used a soluble A $\beta$ 42 isopeptide, which alone induces memory deficits in a time dependent manner, but the deficits were not long lasting. Interesting, only the STZ-CD treatment exacerbated and prolonged the memory deficits induced by A $\beta$  infusion showing long lasting severe memory deficits in this group; STZ alone and CD alone rats infused with A $\beta$  showed temporary deficits and recovered as seen in A $\beta$  alone treatment. There is no similar study found in T2DM models.

Interestingly, only with STZ-CD treatment have we seen a typical T2DM phenotype, with stable hyperglycemia and possible reduced insulin production, which may be associated with the memory deficits. Most importantly, we observed the dysregulation of many key proteins in the PI3K-Akt signalling and APP processing pathways in this T2DM model coupled with Aβ, as we examined in CA1. Similar changes of those proteins were found in studies of AD, especially at the same phosphorylation sites of key proteins. More interestingly, although there were fewer studies conducted, several changes in our STZ-CD treated rats infused with Aβ were also observed in studies of AD patients with T2DM or in T2DM-AD animal models (Liu et al., 2011; Ma et al., 2013) (see summarized Table 5). These proteins are involved in autophagy, glucose metabolism and inflammation, many of which are mediated by insulin regulation of the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway. PI3K-Akt signalling has also been associated with memory consolidation (Horwood et al., 2006; Callaghan and Kelly, 2012) and several metabolic processes (De Felice, 2013; Mackenzie and Elliott, 2014), and was shown to be dysregulated in both brains of AD and peripheral organs or brains of T2DM patients (De Felice, 2013; Mittal and Katare, 2016).

Several studies showed a decrease in insulin-PI3K-Akt signalling in the CNS in T2DM and AD patients (Steen et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2011), such as reduction in pAkt and pGSK3β; interestingly the deficits were more severe in patients with both T2DM and AD (Liu et al., 2011). Once insulin binds to subunits of neuronal insulin receptors (IR), insulin promotes phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrates (IRS) (Duarte et al., 2012), which in turn activates several signalling pathways, such as PI3K-Akt/GSK3ß, Ras/Raf-1/extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK) (Duarte et al., 2012) and MAPK pathways (del Rincón et al., 2004). There is a decrease in levels of IRS, with an increase in inactivation of IRS-1 (Ser312 and Ser616) found in the cortex of AD patients. These increased levels of phosphoserine epitopes were colocalised with neurofibrillary tangles (Moloney et al., 2010). In our experiment, we didn't test brain insulin levels and there are limited studies of direct testing of brain insulin levels in the literature. However, some studies did show insulin changes in the brains of AD patients, with the majority showing a reduction in insulin/insulin receptor signalling (Stanley et al., 2016). A decrease in PI3K activity was also detected in the cortex in AD (Calon et al., 2004). It is known that active IRS proteins interact with PI3-kinase and activate Akt signalling (Chang and Chiang, 2005). We have shown a decrease in the activity of Akt that is consistent with results from the brains of AD patients (Steen et al., 2005), of patients with both T2DM and AD (Liu et al., 2011), and of Tg2576 mice fed with high fat diet (Ho et al., 2004). This suggest that the activity of Akt is dysregulated in the brains of AD and/or T2DM. Akt is a key protein in PI3K-Akt signalling pathway. Once Akt is activated, it phosphorylates several targets including mTOR (Taguchi and White, 2008; Jewell and Guan, 2013), GSK3 (Doble and Woodgett, 2003), BAD (Datta et al., 1997), transcription factors NFκB (through IKKα) (Manning and Cantley, 2007), FOXOs (Brunet et al., 1999), regulating multiple processes. However, regulation of downstream proteins in the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway is complex; in addition to regulation by Akt, these proteins can be regulated by other signalling pathways and signalling events, and they also interact with each other.

Under normal conditions, insulin stimulation of Akt prevents downstream target proteins being functional such as GSK3 $\beta$ , BAD and FoxOs, whereas it activates others such as mTOR, IKK, where in concert with regulation by other proteins can modulate functions such as oxidative stress, glucose metabolism, apoptosis, inflammation, protein synthesis (Duarte et al., 2008). Dysregulation in glucose metabolism is an important feature of T2DM and AD. Imaging studies have shown progressive reduction in glucose metabolism that correlates with the severity of the disease in AD patients (Mosconi et al., 2006). Glucose transporter 1(GluT 1) is insensitive to insulin and is the major glucose transporter in the blood brain barrier (Brant et al., 1993; Ngarmukos et al., 2001). *In vitro* studies have shown insulin treatment of neuronal cells could regulate GluT 4 levels and stimulate glucose uptake, which was dependent on PI3K activation (Benomar et al., 2006). Only in STZ-CD treated rats infused with A $\beta$  was there a significant decrease in GluT 1 expression in CA1, suggesting a decrease in glucose transport into the brain. Similar results have been found in the cortex of AD patients (Simpson et al., 1994; Mooradian et al., 1997) and the brains of GluT1 deficient mice over expressing APP (Winkler et al., 2015).

Glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK $3\beta$ ) has been found to be dysregulated in the brains of T2DM and AD animal models (Ho et al., 2004; Jimenez et al., 2011) and AD patients (Steen et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2011). GSK $3\beta$  is involved in Tau phosphorylation in AD, leading to the formation of paired helical filaments, the main component of neurofibrillary tangles (Cole et al., 2007). Overexpression of GSK $3\beta$ coincides with development of neurofibrillary changes (Pei et al., 1999). In addition, GSK $3\beta$  has been shown to facilitate A $\beta$  release by increasing the cellular maturation of APP (Citron et al., 1994; Aplin et al., 1997). In our experiments we found a decrease in Akt-mediated phosphorylation of GSK $3\beta$  that is accompanied by an increase in the constitutively active form in STZ-CD treated rats infused with A $\beta$ , while there was decreased activity of GSK $3\beta$  in CD rats, which suggests it is differently regulated in the brains of obese models. Dysregulation of GSK $\beta$ , either *via* its expression or phosphorylation, was found in the brains of both T2DM and AD patients (Steen et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2011).

GSK3 is involved in a number of functions such as microtubule stability, apoptosis, receptor trafficking, inflammation, that is largely depending on its target proteins or their interactions (Sutherland, 2011).  $\beta$ -Catenin is one of the key downstream proteins of GSK3 $\beta$ , which is involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis. Inhibition of GSK3 by Akt would result in increased activity of the protein function by blocking the degradation of  $\beta$ -Catenin (Zhao et al., 2005; Sutherland, 2011). In our experiment, the expression of  $\beta$ -Catenin was increased in the T2DM phenotype, which was mainly mediated by CD treatment; A $\beta$  infusion had no additional effect on CD treated and STZ-CD treated rats, only in STZ injected rats A $\beta$  exacerbated the increase. Interestingly, the phosphorylation level of  $\beta$ -Catenin was remarkably reduced in CD treated rats infused with A $\beta$ , which was exacerbated in T2DM phenotype infused with A $\beta$ , indicating a dysregulation of  $\beta$ -Catenin activity in these rats. Jimenez et al. found phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -Catenin was increased in the age of 18 months but not at 6 months, while the total protein was increased at 6 months but decreased in 18 months (Jimenez et al., 2011) corresponding with the

phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$ , which was increased at 6 month of age, but markedly decreased later (18 months).

GSK3ß is also involved in apoptosis. Constitutively active GSK3ß results cell death, while inhibition of GSK3ß prevents apoptosis (Pap and Cooper, 1998; Sanchez et al., 2003). Dysfunctional apoptotic mechanisms have been found in AD patients (Pompl et al., 2003) and obese rats (Moraes et al., 2009). In parallel with abnormal activation of Akt and GSK3B, we observed abnormal expression of proteins involved in apoptotic process such as increased BAD expression in our STZ-CD treated rats, but no changes in phosphorylation of BAD. Activation of Akt leads to inhibition of apoptotic pathway by phosphorylation of BAD (Datta et al., 1997). Activation of BAD results in apoptotic processes where cytochome c is released to engage initiator caspases to promote cell death (Galluzzi et al., 2016). In our study, increased expression of BAD was only found in STZ-CD treated rats either with or without AB infusion, while AB infusion alone induced a temporary increase in expression of BAD. All this indicates the change in BAD expression is mainly mediated by T2DM treatment, while we haven't observed changes in phosphorylation of BAD to suggest inhibition of its activity by Akt. Although we did see changes in some of the caspases (an indicator of apoptotic activity) early after the end of infusion of Aβ infusion these were not enduring. The apoptotic proteins are sensitive in response to stress signals and initiate the apoptotic process, while our westernblotting analysis was conducted a long time after the treatments; that may be one reason why we haven't observed many changes in these proteins.

The most striking effect was on the apoptotic related protein FoxO3a. We found an increased level of FoxO3a expression principally mediated by CD treatment; with increased expression in STZ-CD rats that was significantly lower than CD alone, while A $\beta$  infusion also increased the expression of FoxO3a independently. However, the increased level was most striking immediately after A $\beta$  infusion. Regulation of FoxO3a and the functions it has been shown to be involved in are complex (Zhao et al., 2005; Tilstra et al., 2011). Whilst some studies show that it plays a role in promoting longevity (Tilstra et al., 2011), it is not entirely clear how this is mediated. Moreover, it is also associated with autophagy (Greer et al., 2007; Brunet, 2015) and apoptosis (Shukla et al. 2016), suggesting it could be associated with a complex balance between survival and death of cells depending on the state of the cell and the type of regulation of FoxO3a. In terms of the increase in expression of FoxO3a that we observed in our experiment, other studies have shown that active FoxO3 increases A $\beta$ 1-42 levels and astrocytosis in p25 transgenic AD mice (Shi et al., 2016); while inactivation of FoxO3a activity was correlated with prevention of spatial memory deficits and attenuation of amyloid neuropathology in the Tg2576 mice, which was associated with insulin receptor activation by caloric restriction (Qin et al., 2008). Together it suggests FoxO3a is closely correlated with early pathological changes in AD.

In addition to inactivation of FoxO3 by Akt, it is also inactivated by Inhibitor of Nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (I $\kappa$ B) kinase (IKK), IKK $\beta$  (Hu et al., 2004; Chapuis et al., 2010). IKK/NF $\kappa$ B complex is one of the important signalling pathway in inflammation, which can also be activated by Akt signalling (Sizemore et al., 1999).

Dysregulation of IKK/NFκB has been widely found in AD (Tilstra et al., 2011), diabetes and obesity (Patel and Santani, 2009). Our data showed remarkable increase in pNFκB (Ser536) in STZ-CD rats, Aβ infusion had no additional effect; while Aβ infusion alone induced a slight increase in controls, indicating increased inflammation. Increased pNFkB (Ser536) was seen in the hippocampus of APP/PS1 mice (Guillot et al., 2016). Activation of the transcription factor, NF $\kappa$ B is mediated by the IKK complex (Zandi et al., 1997; Sakurai et al., 1999). In addition to its role in inflammation, IKK/NFkB also interact with proteins associated with apoptosis and autophagy (Tilstra et al., 2011). In particular, IKKa contributes to the regulation of mTORC1, FOXO3 and GSK3β in an Akt-dependent way (Dan et al., 2014). An increase in IKKα was found in our CD and STZ-CD treated rats, while A<sub>β</sub> infusion alone also increased the IKK<sub>α</sub> expression in controls and STZ injected rats. However, the most striking effect was on STZ-CD rats with A<sup>β</sup> infusion. To date, most studies reporting on regulation of inflammation and IKK/NFkB mediated by obesity (De Souza et al., 2005; Chiang et al., 2009; Moraes et al., 2009) and T2DM (Cai et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2008) have focused on peripheral tissues and/or the hypothalamus; they have shown increased in expression of IKK and NFKB (De Souza et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2008; Chiang et al., 2009). Importantly, inflammation in the blood is associated with increased risk of AD (Engelhart et al., 2004), which suggests the inflammation in the periphery may contribute to the brain disease and the processes are detectable long before clinical symptoms occur (Reinhold et al., 2002). Increased inflammation induced by high fat diet in young rats is associated with impairments in hippocampus dependent memory (Boitard et al., 2014). Hyperinsulinemia promotes inflammation in adipose tissue, which contributes to metabolic disruption such as lipogenesis (Pedersen et al., 2015). While the mechanism of obesity-induced insulin resistance is not clear, energy imbalance induced changes in obesity are described, briefly, as excess exposure to high fat, high carbohydrates leads to cellular dysfunction, manifested as abnormalities in adipokines, increased circulating free fatty acids, inflammation and oxidative stress. These in turn affect lipid accumulation, peripheral insulin resistance and lipid deposition (De Ferranti and Mozaffarian, 2008).

mTOR is a kinase involved in autophagy and cell growth; mTOR1 has been considered to regulate metabolism in response to nutrient availability, and also regulates protein synthesis and autophagy (Wullschleger et al., 2006). mTORC1 activates its downstream target S6K, which is routinely involved in promoting protein synthesis via the elongation factor EiF4B (Backer, 2008; Díaz-Troya et al., 2008). However, it can also act as a negative feedback mechanism to turn off PI3K by phosphorylation of IRS-1 at sites that inactivate IRS-1 (Gual et al., 2005). The autophagic mechanisms are mediated by a complex balance between inhibition of mTOR1 activity and activation of Beclin-1 (Salminen and Kaarniranta, 2009), which constitutes a critical mechanism for recycling proteins under conditions of low nutrient availability (Minina et al., 2013) and also degrading misfolded proteins (Xie and Klionsky, 2007). STZ-CD treated rats showed an increase in mTOR level, which is consistent with studies in T2DM model (Ma et al., 2013); the change was also seen in STZ alone or CD treatment alone. Increased phosphorylation of mTOR was found in CD treated rats; increased mTOR activation was found in peripheral tissues of obese rats and *in vitro* studies show over activation of mTOR contributes to elevated IRS-1 phosphorylation leading to insulin

signalling dysregulation (Khamzina et al., 2005). However, the increased pmTOR and deceased Beclin-1 were dependent on A $\beta$  infusion in STZ-CD treated rats; in a similar manner to that seen in the brains of AD patients (Griffin et al., 2005; Pickford et al., 2008). In PDAPP mice, long-term inhibition of mTOR increased autophagy in neurons, which was accompanied by reduced A $\beta$ 42 levels and improved learning and memory indicating the autophagic response (Spilman et al., 2010). In addition, studies have also shown infusion of soluble A $\beta$  can hyperactivate mTOR in the hippocampus of wild type mice (Caccamo et al., 2011). Similarly, in our experiment we observed increased level of mTOR in controls rats infused with A $\beta$  (at 107 days). All these data suggest that the T2DM phenotype with A $\beta$  infusion caused dysregulation of proteins associated with autophagy and protein synthesis, which may lead to dysfunction in autophagy processes for clearance of misfolded proteins in this model, such as abnormal A $\beta$ .

Importantly, we found abnormal changes of proteins involved in markers of APP processing in T2DM phenotype rats infused with A $\beta$ ; such as increased APP levels and decreased IDE levels. APP is a key protein where A $\beta$  peptide is released by the amyloidogenic pathway. A consistent increase in APP has been found in the brains of AD patients (Steen et al., 2005) and AD models (Hiltunen et al., 2012; Guillot et al., 2016). Interestingly, decreased IDE level is also specific to STZ-CD treated rats infused with A $\beta$  in our experiments, which may suggest reduced clearance of A $\beta$ . A $\beta$  alone had no long-term effect on IDE. Similarly, decreased IDE level has been reported in the hippocampus of AD patients (Cook et al., 2003; Čaušević et al., 2010), APP/PS1 mice (Vepsäläinen et al., 2008) and Tg3576 mice fed with high fat diet (Ho et al., 2004). Mice with mutated forms of IDE show increased A $\beta$  accumulation and AD phenotypes (Farris et al., 2003; Miller et al., 2003); and conversely overexpression of IDE in mouse brains reduces A $\beta$  accumulation and slows the progression of AD (Leissring et al., 2003). Increased IDE was found CD rats and STZ-CD rats, which may correlate with abnormal insulin level induced by the diabetic treatment. Increased IDE was shown in cortex of IGF-2 transgenic mice (Hiltunen et al., 2012), but was decreased in Goto-Kakizaki (GK) diabetic rat (Fakhrai-Rad et al., 2000).

Many of the proteins examined here are closely related to the Akt signalling pathway, however is it due to the impaired insulin signalling and glucose metabolism in the brain induced by T2DM? As we did not measure insulin or glucose levels in CA1 directly; we can only speculate from the literature whether deregulation of the proteins we examined might be a result of dysfunctional insulin signalling and glucose availability in the brain. Evidence shows there is a decrease in mRNA levels of insulin in AD patients (Rivera et al., 2005; Steen et al., 2005) and a progressive reduction in levels of mRNA of insulin, IGFs and their receptors with advancing Braak staging in the frontal cortex of AD patients, that correlates with progressive increases in levels of APP (Rivera et al., 2005).

Hypoglycemia is often linked to cognitive deficits in human studies of T2DM patients and AD patients (Osborne et al., 2016; Sheen and Sheu, 2016). Interestingly, hyperinsulinemia could increase the risk of developing AD, and increased insulin levels are also found in AD patients (Luchsinger et al., 2004). Insulin resistance has been considered to increase Aβ and Tau phosphorylation (Starks et al., 2015; Willette et al.,

2015). However, whether insulin is a cause or consequence of the disease and playing what kind of roles in AD brains are poorly understood (Stanley et al., 2016). It is still not clear what the mechanisms are that allow peripheral insulin to influence brain insulin signalling. It has been assumed that insulin resistance and chronic hyperinsulinemia in the periphery impairs insulin transport into the brain, resulting in long-term reduction of brain insulin levels (Craft, 2005; Duarte et al., 2012). More recently, studies also focused on the impairment and disruption of the blood brain barrier (BBB) in AD leading to impaired transporter function, which is associated with inflammatory cytokines, reactive oxidative stress (ROS), microglia activation and increased neuroinflammation as reviewed (Erdo et al., 2016). Some studies have pointed out the significant role of obesity and diabetes in inducing BBB disruption in central nervous system disorders (Prasad et al., 2014; Tucsek et al., 2014). Glucose changes in the blood have been associated with alteration in BBB transport functions and oxidative stress in the brain, which may be an important link between diabetes and AD due to impaired insulin and glucose transport (Prasad et al., 2014). The most convincing and consistent changes of insulin signalling in AD brains are lower levels of IRS-1 and higher levels of pIRS-1, which is thought to be a marker of insulin resistance in the brains of AD patients (Stanley et al., 2016). But there is no clear understanding about whether the insulin resistance in the brain is similar as that seen in the periphery.

Taken together, the possible reason for memory deficits induced by diabetes may be due to the disruption in glucose and energy metabolism (Cao et al., 2003), impaired insulin signalling (Steen et al., 2005) and increased advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and oxidative stress (Roriz-Filho et al., 2009; Mittal and Katare, 2016), and possible BBB dysfunction (Cordner and Tamashiro, 2015). All of these could cause changes in synaptic plasticity and transmission in the hippocampus (Biessels et al., 2002; Kamal et al., 2006) and lead to memory deficits in diabetic animals (Rahigude et al., 2012). These dysfunctional environments induced by diabetic phenotype may favour the abnormal A $\beta$  production, as the combination exacerbated the dysregulation in many functions associated with glucose metabolism, autophagy and inflammation, which are common to both AD and T2DM.

## Effect of enrichment

In our study, we used environmental enrichment (EE) to try to rescue the memory deficits in STZ-CD rats infused with Aβ. EE has shown beneficial effects in both diabetic (Beauquis et al., 2010; Pamidi and Nayak, 2014) and AD models (Lazarov et al., 2005; Cracchiolo et al., 2007) in memory performance (Cavallini et al. 2003) and synaptic plasticity (Lövdén et al., 2010). In our experiment, a 14-day EE period showed a beneficial effect on memory consolidation both in controls and STZ-CD treated rats. Enrichment rescued the memory deficits induced by STZ-CD treatment and/or Aβ infusion. However, the beneficial effect on STZ-CD treated rats whether infused with Aβ or not was not long lasting; while the beneficial effect of enrichment in controls was robust. Evidence shows that the length of time rats are housed in an enriched environment has an impact on the potential beneficial effects of EE. For example, 2 weeks of enrichment did not improve recognition memory, whereas 3 and 6 weeks did. Moreover, the longer exposure also improved spatial learning and memory (Kelly et al., 2013). In a study comparing the effect of EE on spatial memory in young and aged mice using different enrichment protocols over a 6-week period (3hr/day or 24hr continuous complex enrichment); young mice outperformed aged mice (Harburger et al. 2007). In a study from our laboratory using same enrichment protocol (3hr/day for 14 days) in young rats, enrichment resulted in a marked facilitation of long-term memory either in 24-hr or 48-hr memory consolidation in novel object recognition task when tested 3 days after the end of enrichment (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2005), that was mediated by EE induced increase in neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus (Bruel-Jungerman et al., 2005). In general EE is believed to be mediated to a large extent by neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (van Praag et al., 1999; Rueda and Trejo, 2007). Evidence also shows enrichment ameliorates Aβ-deposition and memory deficits in APP transgenic mice fed with high fat diet (Maesako et al., 2012); mice exposed to enrichment showed 50% less brain Aβ (Costa et al., 2007). Environmental enrichment manipulation before diabetic induction prevents the development of memory deficits induced by diabetes in STZ-treated rats, but does not correlate with cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus (Piazza et al., 2011). In most studies the beneficial effect of EE on neurogenesis, synaptogenesis and angiogenesis is assessed shortly after the enrichment period or after relatively long exposures to enrichment. For example, studies found increased nerve growth factors, cell survival and synaptogenesis in the dentate gyrus following 6 weeks of enrichment with a significant positive correlation between neurogenesis and recognition memory performance (Kelly et al., 2013).

#### **Conclusion and Perspective**

In conclusion STZ-CD treated rats showed classic signs of T2DM, characterized by weight gain stable hyperglycemia with early hyperinsulinemia and later  $\beta$ -pancreatic cell failure. They also prolonged a deficit in spatial recognition memory induced by infusion of AB that could be temporarily mitigated by exposure to environmental enrichment. In addition, a number of proteins in or associated with the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway were aberrantly regulated following infusion of A $\beta$ , supporting our hypothesis that T2DM can induce a dysfunctional neuronal environment that exacerbates an impairment in memory and potential underlying mechanisms observed in AD. Deconstruction of the component parts of the T2DM phenotype suggest that STZ injections alone contributed little to the long-term effects observed in the T2DM phenotype. In contrast, CD was an important contribution to the phenotype; most notably in regulation of the proteins that in fact could be attributed to the CD regime regardless of any potential effect of Aβ. Moreover, regulation of certain proteins associated with CD was mediated in a converse manner compared with the combined STZ-CD treatment. As the characteristics of T2DM would suggest that STZ-CD treated rats may reflect a more advanced stage of the disease than rats fed CD alone; we can only suggest the differential regulation of proteins may similarly reflect different stages of the disease. One important effect was that where there was common regulation of proteins by different treatments, there was little evidence that they were mediated in a concerted manner. On the contrary, they seemed to be mediated in a parallel independent

manner.

The results we found, particularly in terms of potential mechanisms underlying the effects of the treatments are complex and to a certain extent it could be argued that they raise more questions than were answered. This is in part because of the longitudinal nature of the experiment and also as we wished to mimic more closely the disease in humans; we chose to substitute a calibrated high fat diet for the use of human junk food. Given we were not sure what biochemical changes may be induced and to date there is relatively few studies reported in the literature on the underlying mechanisms in the brain that would link T2DM to AD; we chose to assess a relatively wide panel of proteins associated with known dysfunctions in both AD and T2DM. The results therefore suggest a number of important future experiments that will allow us to 'drill' down into the dysfunctional mechanism.

Firstly, we did not measure  $A\beta$  or insulin levels in the brain; two key markers of amyloid pathology and insulin resistance. The importance of measuring the level of  $A\beta$  is particularly relevant as evidence has shown that picomole levels have a beneficial effect on synaptic plasticity and learning and memory (Garcia-Osta and Alberini, 2009). It becomes important to know now what are the levels in control animals and those displaying a T2DM phenotype as our hypothesis suggests that T2DM will promote an environment that would favour development of early  $A\beta$  dysfunction.

A second important avenue to pursue is based on the dramatic reduction in levels of glucose transporter-1. As this transporter constitutes a major mechanism underlying the principle conduit for glucose to enter the brain, in depth biochemical and immunohistochemical analyses would clarify mechanisms by with a peripheral born dysfunction can impact the brain.

Finally, a third approach is based on the time limited beneficial effects of enrichment on memory performance in rats treated with STZ-CD and infused with A $\beta$ . A potentially more relevant treatment to attempt to reverse the memory deficits and potentially the dysregulation of proteins would be to change CD to normal laboratory diet, given that caloric restriction has beneficial effects and that proteins associated with nutrient sensing such as mTOR and Beclin-1 are dysfunctionally regulated. A further study attempting to rescue deficits pharmacologically and in particular *via* infusion of IGF-II, a growth factor that regulates insulin and insulin growth factor receptors, could be interesting. Currently we do have preliminary data showing in an experiment coupling infusion of A $\beta$  with pharmacological inhibition of Akt, that injection of a low concentration of IGF-II has a much more enduring beneficial effect that environmental enrichment.

In summary, our experiment has revealed a number of complex, yet important results that strongly support T2DM as a risk factor for developing early stage AD and the potential mechanisms that may play a critical role.

# References

- Adams MM, Shi L, Linville MC, Forbes ME, Long AB, Bennett C, Newton IG, Carter CS, Sonntag WE, Riddle DR, Brunso-Bechtold JK (2008) Caloric restriction and age affect synaptic proteins in hippocampal CA3 and spatial learning ability. Exp Neurol 211:141–149.
- Adlard PA, Perreau VM, Pop V, Cotman CW (2005) Voluntary exercise decreases amyloid load in a transgenic model of Alzheimer's Disease. 25:4217–4221.
- Aguiree F, Brown A, Cho N, Dahlquist G (2013) IDF Diabetes Atlas. International Diabetes Federation. Six edition. 03: 1-155.
- Aizenstein HJ, Nebes RD, Saxton JA, Price JC, Mathis CA, Tsopelas ND, Ziolko SK, James JA, Snitz BE, Houck PR, Bi W, Cohen AD, Lopresti BJ, DeKosky ST, Halligan EM, Klunk WE (2008) Frequent amyloid deposition without significant cognitive impairment among the elderly. Arch Neurol 65:1509–1517.
- Akomolafe A, Beiser A, Meigs JB, Au R, Green RC (2006) Diabetes mellitus and risk of developing Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 63:1551–1555.
- Al-awar A, Kupai K, Veszelka M, Szűcs G, Attieh Z, Murlasits Z, Török S, Pósa A, Varga C (2016) Experimental diabetes mellitus in different animal models. J Diabetes Res 2016:1–12.
- Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ (1998) Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med 15:539– 553.
- Alejandro EU, Gregg B, Blandino-Rosano M, Cras-Méneur C, Bernal-Mizrachi E (2014) Natural history of beta-cell adaptation and failure in type 2 diabetes. Mol Asp Med 1:19–41.
- Alexis M. Stranahan, David Khalil and EG (2007) Running induces widespread structural alterations in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. Hippocampus 17:801–812.
- Alexopoulos P, Roesler J, Thierjung N, Werle L, Buck D, Yakushev I, Gleixner L, Kagerbauer S, Ortner M, Grimmer T, Kubler H, Martin J, Laskaris N, Kurz A, Perneczky R (2016) Mapping CSF biomarker profiles onto NIA-AA guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 266:587–597.
- Allinson TMJ, Parkin ET, Turner AJ, Hooper NM (2003) ADAMs family members as amyloid precursor protein alphasecretases. J Neurosci Res 74:342–352.
- Almeida OP, Hulse GK, Lawrence D, Flicker L (2002) Smoking as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: contrasting evidence from a systematic review of case-control and cohort studies. Addiction 97:15–28.
- Almkvist O, Basun H, Wagner SL, Rowe BA, Wahlund LO, Lannfelt L (1997) Cerebrospinal fluid levels of alphasecretase-cleaved soluble amyloid precursor protein mirror cognition in a Swedish family with Alzheimer disease and a gene mutation. Arch Neurol 54:641–644.
- Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI) (2010) World Alzheimer Report 2010: The Global Economic Impact of Dementia. Alzheimer's Dis Int (ADI ):1–52.
- American Diabetes Association. (2015) Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 38:S8–S16.
- Andersen K, Launer LJ, Dewey ME, Letenneur L, Ott A, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Kragh-Sorensen P, Baldereschi M, Brayne C, Lobo A, Martinez-Lage JM, Stijnen T, Hofman A (1999) Gender differences in the incidence of AD and vascular dementia: The EURODEM Studies. EURODEM Incidence Research Group. Neurology 53:1992– 1997.
- Anderson JJ, Holtz G, Baskin PP, Wang R, Mazzarelli L, Wagner SL, Menzaghi F (1999) Reduced cerebrospinal fluid levels of alpha-secretase-cleaved amyloid precursor protein in aged rats: correlation with spatial memory deficits. Neuroscience 93:1409–1420.
- Anderson RM, Weindruch R (2012) The caloric restriction paradigm: Implications for healthy human aging. Am J Hum Biol 24:101–106.
- Aplin A E, Jacobsen JS, Anderton BH, Gallo JM (1997) Effect of increased glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity upon the maturation of the amyloid precursor protein in transfected cells. Neuroreport 8:639–643.
- Arenaza-Urquijo EM, Wirth M, Chételat G (2015) Cognitive reserve and lifestyle: moving towards preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Front Aging Neurosci 7:134.
- Arendash GW, Garcia MF, Costa DA, Cracchiolo JR, Wefes IM, Potter H (2004) Environmental enrichment improves cognition in aged Alzheimer's transgenic mice despite stable beta-amyloid deposition. Neuroreport 15:1751– 1754.

- Arendash GW, Gordon MN, Diamond DM, Austin L a, Hatcher JM, Jantzen P, DiCarlo G, Wilcock D, Morgan D (2001) Behavioral assessment of Alzheimer's transgenic mice following long-term Abeta vaccination: task specificity and correlations between Abeta deposition and spatial memory. DNA Cell Biol 20:737–744.
- Arriagada P V, Marzloff K, Hyman BT (1992) Distribution of Alzheimer-type pathologic changes in nondemented elderly individuals matches the pattern in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 42:1681–1688.
- Arvanitakis Z, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Evans D a, Bennett D a (2004) Diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer disease and decline in cognitive function. Arch Neurol 61:661–666.
- Bachurin SO, Bovina E V., Ustyugov AA (2017) Drugs in clinical trials for Alzheimer's Disease: The major trends. Med Res Rev. 0:1–41.
- Backer JM (2008) The regulation and function of Class III PI3Ks: novel roles for Vps34. Biochem J 410:1–17.
- Banks WA, Owen JB and Erickson MA (2014) Insulin in the Brain : There and back again. Pharmacol Ther 136:82–93.
- Bao J, Atkinson F, Petocz P, Willett WC, Brand-Miller JC (2011) Prediction of postprandial glycemia and insulinemia in lean, young, healthy adults: Glycemic load compared with carbohydrate content alone. Am J Clin Nutr 93:984– 996.
- Barbagallo M, Domingue LJ (2014) Type 2 diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease. World J Diabetes 5:889-893.
- Barnes CA (1979) Memory deficits associated with senescence: a neurophysiological and behavioral study in the rat. J Comp Physiol Psychol 93:74–104.
- Barnes DE, Yaffe K (2011) The projected effect of risk factor reduction on Alzheimer's disease prevalence. Lancet Neurol 10:819–828.
- Bateman RJ, Xiong C, Benzinger TL, Fagan AM, Goate A, Fox NC, Marcus DS, Cairns NJ, Xie X, Blazey TM, Holtzman DM, Santacruz A, Buckles V, Oliver A, Moulder K, Aisen PS, Ghetti B, Klunk WE, McDade E, Martins RN, Masters CL, Mayeux R, Ringman JM, Rossor MN, Schofield PR, Sperling RA, Salloway S, Morris JC (2012) Clinical and biomarker changes in dominantly inherited Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 367:795–804.
- Baum L, Ng HK (1998) A new kind of Alzheimer's disease plaque. Adv Anat Pathol 5:170–174.
- Baumkötter F, Schmidt N, Vargas C, Schilling S, Weber R, Wagner K, Fiedler S, Klug W, Radzimanowski J, Nickolaus S, Keller S, Eggert S, Wild K, Kins S (2014) Amyloid precursor protein dimerization and synaptogenic function depend on copper binding to the growth factor-like domain. J Neurosci 34:11159–11172.
- Bayer AJ, Bullock R, Jones RW, Wilkinson D, Paterson KR, Jenkins L, Millais SB, Donoghue S (2005) Evaluation of the safety and immunogenicity of synthetic A 42 (AN1792) in patients with AD. Neurology 64:94–101.
- Beach TG, Walker R, McGeer EG (1989) Patterns of gliosis in alzheimer's disease and aging cerebrum. Glia 2:420– 436.
- Beauquis J, Roig P, De Nicola AF, Saravia F (2010) Short-term environmental enrichment enhances adult neurogenesis, vascular network and dendritic complexity in the hippocampus of type 1 diabetic mice. PLoS One 5:e13993.
- Belyaev ND, Nalivaeva NN, Makova NZ, Turner AJ (2009) Neprilysin gene expression requires binding of the amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain to its promoter: implications for Alzheimer disease. EMBO Rep 10:94–100.
- Benarroch EE (2012) Insulin-like growth factors in the brain and their potential clinical implications. Neurology 79:2148–2153.
- Bennett DA, Schneider JA, Arvanitakis Z, Kelly JF, Aggarwal NT, Shah RC, Wilson RS (2006) Neuropathology of older persons without cognitive impairment from two community-based studies. Neurology 66:1837–1844.
- Benomar Y, Naour N, Aubourg A, Bailleux V, Gertler A, Djiane J, Guerre-Millo M, Taouis M (2006) Insulin and leptin induce Glut4 plasma membrane translocation and glucose uptake in a human neuronal cell line by a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent mechanism. Endocrinology 147:2550–2556.
- Bergamini E, Cavallini G, Donati A, Gori Z (2007) The role of autophagy in aging: Its essential part in the anti-aging mechanism of caloric restriction. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1114:69–78.
- Bernstein HG, Ansorge S, Riederer P, Reiser M, Frölich L, Bogerts B (1999) Insulin-degrading enzyme in the Alzheimer's disease brain: prominent localization in neurons and senile plaques. Neurosci Lett 263:161–164.
- Berti V, Polito C, Lombardi G, Ferrari C, Sorbi S, Pupi A (2016) Rethinking on the concept of biomarkers in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Neurol Sci 37:663–672.

- Betterle C, Zanette F, Pedini B, Presotto F, Rapp LB, Monciotti CM, Rigon F (1984) Clinical and subclinical organspecific autoimmune manifestations in type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic patients and their first-degree relatives. Diabetologia 26:431–436.
- Bickel H, Kurz A (2009) Education, occupation, and dementia: The bavarian school sisters study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 27:548–556.
- Biddinger SB, Kahn CR (2006) From mice to men: insights into the insulin resistance syndromes. J Biol Chem 68:123– 158.
- Biedermann S V., Fuss J, Steinle J, Auer MK, Dormann C, Falfan-Melgoza C, Ende G, Gass P, Weber-Fahr W (2016) The hippocampus and exercise: histological correlates of MR-detected volume changes. Brain Struct Funct 221:1353–1363.
- Biessels GJ, De Leeuw F-E, Lindeboom J, Barkhof F, Scheltens P (2006) Increased cortical atrophy in patients with Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 77:304–307.
- Biessels GJ, Reijmer YD (2014) Brain changes underlying cognitive dysfunction in diabetes: What can we learn from MRI? Diabetes 63:2244–2252.
- Biessels GJ, Van der Heide LP, Kamal A, Bleys RLAW, Gispen WH (2002) Ageing and diabetes: Implications for brain function. Eur J Pharmacol 441:1–14.
- Billings LM, Oddo S, Green KN, McGaugh JL, LaFerla FM (2005) Intraneuronal Aβ causes the onset of early Alzheimer's disease-related cognitive deficits in transgenic mice. Neuron 45:675–688.
- Bittner T, Fuhrmann M, Burgold S, Ochs SM, Hoffmann N, Mitteregger G, Kretzschmar H, Laferla FM, Herms J(2010) Multiple events lead to dendritic spine loss in triple transgenic Alzheimer's disease mice. PLoS One 5:1–9.
- Blazquez E, Velozquez E, Hurtado-Carneiro V, Ruiz-Albusac JM (2014) Insulin in the brain: Its pathophysiological implications for states related with central insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes and alzheimer's disease. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 5:1–21.
- Blennow K, Hampel H, Weiner M, Zetterberg H (2010) Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma biomarkers in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol 6:131–144.
- Blodgett HC, Mccutchan K (1947) Place versus response learning in the simple T-maze. J Exp Psychol 37:412–422.
- Boekhoorn K (2006) Improved long-term potentiation and memory in young Tau-P301L transgenic mice before onset of hyperphosphorylation and tauopathy. J Neurosci 26:3514–3523.
- Boitard C, Cavaroc A, Sauvant J, Aubert A, Castanon N, Laye S, Ferreira G (2014) Impairment of hippocampaldependent memory induced by juvenile high-fat diet intake is associated with enhanced hippocampal inflammation in rats. Brain Behav Immun 40:9–17.
- Boller F, Bick K, Duyckaerts C (2007) They have shaped Alzheimer disease: The protagonists, well known and less well known. Cortex 43:565–569.
- Bookheimer SY, Strojwas MH, Cohen MS, Saunders AM, Pericak-Vance MA, Mazziotta JC, Small GW (2000) Patterns of brain activation in people at risk for Alzheimer's Disease. N Engl J Med 343:450–456.
- Borchelt DR, Ratovitski T, Van Lare J, Lee MK, Gonzales V, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Price DL, Sisodia SS (1997) Accelerated amyloid deposition in the brains of transgenic mice coexpressing mutant presenilin 1 and amyloid precursor proteins. Neuron 19:939–945.
- Braak H, Alafuzoff I, Arzberger T, Kretzschmar H, Del Tredici K (2006) Staging of Alzheimer disease-associated neurofibrillary pathology using paraffin sections and immunocytochemistry. Acta Neuropathol 112:389–404.
- Braak H, Braak E (1991) Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol 82:239–259.
- Brant AM, Jess TJ, Milligan G, Brown CM, Gould GW (1993) Immunological analysis of glucose transporters expressed in different regions of the rat brain and central nervous system. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 192:1297–1302.
- Brembeck FH, Rosário M, Birchmeier W (2006) Balancing cell adhesion and Wnt signaling, the key role of beta-catenin. Curr Opin Genet Dev 16:51–59.
- Brion J-P (1985) Immunological demonstration of tau protein in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 9:177–185.

- Brito-Moreira J, Paula-Lima AC, Bomfim TR, Oliveira FB, Sepúlveda FJ, De Mello FG, Aguayo LG, Panizzutti R, Ferreira ST (2011) Aβ oligomers induce glutamate release from hippocampal neurons. Curr Alzheimer Res 8:552–562.
- Bruel-Jungerman E, Laroche S, Rampon C (2005) New neurons in the dentate gyrus are involved in the expression of enhanced long-term memory following environmental enrichment. Eur J Neurosci 21:513–521.
- Bruel-Jungerman E, Veyrac A, Dufour F, Horwood J, Laroche S, Davis S (2009) Inhibition of PI3K-Akt signaling blocks exercise-mediated enhancement of adult neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. PLoS One 4:e7901.
- Brunet A, Bonni A, Zigmond MJ, Lin MZ, Juo P, Hu LS, Anderson MJ, Arden KC, Blenis J, Greenberg ME (1999) Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead Transcription Factor. Cell 96:857–868.
- Brunetti A, Chiefari E, Foti D (2014) Recent advances in the molecular genetics of type 2 diabetes mellitus. World J Diabetes 5:128–140.
- Buckman LB, Hasty AH, Flaherty DK, Buckman CT, Thompson MM, Matlock BK, Weller K, Ellacott KLJ (2014) Obesity induced by a high-fat diet is associated with increased immune cell entry into the central nervous system. Brain Behav Immun 35:33–42.
- Buckner RL, Snyder AZ, Shannon BJ, LaRossa G, Sachs R, Fotenos AF, Sheline YI, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, Morris JC, Mintun MA (2005) Molecular, structural, and functional characterization of Alzheimer's Disease: Evidence for a relationship between default activity, amyloid, and memory. J Neurosci 25:7709–7717.
- Buettner R, Schölmerich J, Bollheimer LC (2007) High-fat diets: modeling the metabolic disorders of human obesity in rodents. Obesity (Silver Spring) 15:798–808.
- Bush AI, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (1993) The beta A4 amyloid protein precursor in human circulation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 695:175–182.
- Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA, Butler PC (2003) Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes 52:102–110.
- Cabrera O, Berman DM, Kenyon NS, Ricordi C, Berggren P-O, Caicedo A (2006) The unique cytoarchitecture of human pancreatic islets has implications for islet cell function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:2334–2339.
- Caccamo A, Majumder S, Richardson A, Strong R, Oddo S (2010) Molecular Interplay between mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), amyloid-β, and Tau: effects on cognitive implairments. J Biol Chem 285:13107–13120.
- Caccamo A, Maldonado MA, Majumder S, Medina DX, Holbein W, Magri A, Oddo S (2011) Naturally secreted amyloidβ increases mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activity via a PRAS40-mediated mechanism. J Biol Chem 286:8924–8932.
- Cai D (2013) Neuroinflammation in overnutrition-induced diseases. Vitamins and Hormones 91: 195-218.
- Cai D, Yuan M, Frantz DF, Melendez PA, Hansen L, Lee J, Shoelson SE (2005) Local and systemic insulin resistance resulting from hepatic activation of IKK-beta and NF-kappaB. Nat Med 11:183–190.
- Caillé I, Allinquant B, Dupont E, Bouillot C, Langer A, Müller U, Prochiantz A (2004) Soluble form of amyloid precursor protein regulates proliferation of progenitors in the adult subventricular zone. Development 131:2173–2181.
- Callaghan CK, Kelly ÁM (2012) Differential BDNF signaling in dentate gyrus and perirhinal cortex during consolidation of recognition memory in the rat. Hippocampus 22: 2127–2135.
- Calon F, Lim GP, Yang F, Morihara T, Teter B, Ubeda O, Rostaing P, Triller A, Salem N, Ashe KH, Frautschy SA, Cole GM (2004) Docosahexaenoic acid protects from dendritic pathology in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Neuron 43:633–645.
- Candeias E, Duarte AI, Carvalho C, Correia SC, Cardoso S, Santos RX, Plácido AI, Perry G, Moreira PI (2012) The impairment of insulin signaling in Alzheimer's disease. IUBMB Life 64:951–957.
- Cao Q, Jiang K, Zhang M, Liu Y, Xiao S, Zuo C, Huang H (2003) Brain glucose metabolism and neuropsychological test in patients with mild cognitive impairment. Chin Med J (Engl) 116:1235–1238.
- Caporaso GL, Takei K, Gandy SE, Matteoli M, Mundigl O, Greengard P, De Camilli P (1994) Morphologic and biochemical analysis of the intracellular trafficking of the Alzheimer β/A4 amyloid precursor protein. J Neurosci 14:3122–3138.
- Carey AN, Gomes SM, Shukitt-hale B (2014) Blueberry supplementation improves memory in middle-aged mice fed a high-fat diet. J Agric Food Chem 62: 3972-3978.

- Carro E, Nuñez A, Busiguina S, Torres-Aleman I (2000) Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates effects of exercise on the brain. J Neurosci 20:2926–2933.
- Carter A, Hendrikse J, Lee N, Yücel M, Verdejo-Garcia A, Andrews Z, Hall W (2016) The Neurobiology of "Food Addiction" and its implications for obesity treatment and policy. Annu Rev Nutr 36:105–128.
- Catlow BJ, Rowe AR, Clearwater CR, Mamcarz M, Arendash GW, Sanchez-ramos J (2008) Effects of environmental enrichment and physical activity on neurogenesis in transgenic PS1 / APP mice. Brain Res 1256:173–179.
- Čaušević M, Farooq U, Lovestone S, Killick R (2010) β-Amyloid precursor protein and tau protein levels are differently regulated in human cerebellum compared to brain regions vulnerable to Alzheimer's type neurodegeneration. Neurosci Lett 485:162–166.
- Cavallini E, Pagnin A, Vecchi T (2003) Aging and everyday memory: The beneficial effect of memory training. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 37:241–257.
- Celone KA, Calhoun VD, Dickerson BC, Atri A, Chua EF, Miller SL, DePeau K, Rentz DM, Selkoe DJ, Blacker D, Albert MS, Sperling RA (2006) Alterations in memory networks in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's Disease: An independent component analysis. J Neurosci 26:10222–10231.
- Chaalal A, Poirier R, Blum D, Gillet B, Le Blanc P, Basquin M, Buée L, Laroche S, Enderlin V (2014) PTU-induced hypothyroidism in rats leads to several early neuropathological signs of Alzheimer's disease in the hippocampus and spatial memory impairments. Hippocampus 24:1381–1393.
- Chang EH, Savage MJ, Flood DG, Thomas JM, Levy RB, Mahadomrongkul V, Shirao T, Aoki C, Huerta PT (2006a) AMPA receptor downscaling at the onset of Alzheimer's disease pathology in double knockin mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:3410–3415.
- Chang K-A, Kim H-S, Ha T-Y, Ha J-W, Shin KY, Jeong YH, Lee J-P, Park C-H, Kim S, Baik T-K, Suh Y-H (2006b) Phosphorylation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) at Thr668 regulates the nuclear translocation of the APP intracellular domain and induces neurodegeneration. Mol Cell Biol 26:4327–4338.
- Chang L, Chiang S-H (2005) Insulin signaling and the regulation of glucose transport. Mol Med 12:1.
- Chao DT, Korsmeyer SJ (1998) BCL-2 FAMILY: Regulators of cell death. Annu Rev Immunol:395-419.
- Chapman PF, White GL, Jones MW, Cooper-Blacketer D, Marshall VJ, Irizarry M, Younkin L, Good MA, Bliss T V, Hyman BT, Younkin SG, Hsiao KK (1999) Impaired synaptic plasticity and learning in aged amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. Nat Neurosci 2:271–276.
- Chapuis N, Park S, Leotoing L, Tamburini J, Verdier F, Bardet V, Green AS, Willems L, Agou F, Ifrah N, Dreyfus F, Bismuth G, Baud V, Lacombe C, Mayeux P, Bouscary D (2010) IkB kinase overcomes PI3K/Akt and ERK/MAPK to control FOXO3a activity in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 116:4240–4250.
- Chen J, Wang M, Waheed Khan RA, He K, Wang Q, Li Z, Shen J, Song Z, Li W, Wen Z, Jiang Y, Xu Y, Shi Y, Ji W (2015) The GSK3β gene confers risk for both major depressive disorder and schizophrenia in the Han Chinese population. J Affect Disord 185:149–155.
- Chen JH, Lin KP, Chen YC (2009) Risk factors for dementia. J Formos Med Assoc 108:754–764.
- Chen K, Langbaum JBS, Fleisher AS, Ayutyanont N, Reschke C, Lee W, Liu X, Bandy D, Alexander GE, Thompson PM, Foster NL, Harvey DJ, de Leon MJ, Koeppe RA, Jagust WJ, Weiner MW, Reiman EM, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (2010) Twelve-month metabolic declines in probable Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment assessed using an empirically pre-defined statistical region-of-interest: Findings from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. Neuroimage 51:654–664.
- Chen Y, Liang Z, Blanchard J, Dai CL, Sun S, Lee MH, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Liu F, Gong CX (2013) A nontransgenic mouse model (icv-STZ mouse) of Alzheimer's Disease: Similarities to and differences from the transgenic model (3xTg-AD mouse). Mol Neurobiol 47:1–15.
- Chen Y, Tian Z, Liang Z, Sun S, Dai C ling, Lee MH, LaFerla FM, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Liu F, Gong CX (2012) Brain gene expression of a sporadic (icv-STZ mouse) and a familial mouse model (3xTg-AD mouse) of Alzheimer's Disease. PLoS One 7:1–12.
- Chen Z, Zhong C (2013) Decoding Alzheimer's disease from perturbed cerebral glucose metabolism: implications for diagnostic and therapeutic strategies. Prog Neurobiol 108:21–43.
- Cheng D, Noble J, Tang MX, Schupf N, Mayeux R, Luchsinger JA (2011) Type 2 diabetes and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 31:424–430.

- Chhatwal J, Sperling R (2013) Functional MRI of Mnemonic Networks across the spectrum of Normal Aging, Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 31:S155–S167.
- Chiang SH, Bazuine M, Lumeng CN, Geletka LM, Mowers J, White NM, Ma JT, Zhou J, Qi N, Westcott D, Delproposto JB, Blackwell TS, Yull FE, Saltiel AR (2009) The protein kinase IKKε regulates energy balance in obese mice. Cell 138:961–975.
- Chishti MA, Yang DS, Janus C, Phinney AL, Horne P, Pearson J, Strome R, Zuker N, Loukides J, French J, Turner S, Lozza G, Grilli M, Kunicki S, Morissette C, Paquette J, Gervais F, Bergeron C, Fraser PE, Carlson GA, George-Hyslop PS, Westaway D (2001) Early-onset amyloid deposition and cognitive deficits in transgenic mice expressing a double mutant form of amyloid precursor protein 695. J Biol Chem 276:21562–21570.
- Chong ZZ, Li F, Maiese K (2005) Stress in the brain: novel cellular mechanisms of injury linked to Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 49:1-21.
- Citron M, Vigo-Pelfrey C, Teplow DB, Miller C, Schenk D, Johnston J, Winblad B, Venizelos N, Lannfelt L, Selkoe DJ (1994) Excessive production of amyloid beta-protein by peripheral cells of symptomatic and presymptomatic patients carrying the Swedish familial Alzheimer disease mutation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:11993–11997.
- Cleary JP, Walsh DM, Hofmeister JJ, Shankar GM, Kuskowski MA, Selkoe DJ, Ashe KH (2005) Natural oligomers of the amyloid-beta protein specifically disrupt cognitive function. Nat Neurosci 8:79–84.
- Clinton LK, Billings LM, Green KN, Caccamo A, Ngo J, Oddo S, McGaugh JL, LaFerla FM (2007) Age-dependent sexual dimorphism in cognition and stress response in the 3xTg-AD mice. Neurobiol Dis 28:76–82.
- Cocores JA, Gold MS (2009) The salted food addiction hypothesis may explain overeating and the obesity epidemic. Med Hypotheses 73:892–899.
- Cohen NJ, Squire LR (1980) Preserved learning and retention of pattern-analyzing skill in amnesia: dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. Science 210:207–210.
- Colcombe S, Kramer AF (2003) Fitness effects on the cognitive function of older adults: a meta-analytic study. Psychol Sci 14:125–130.
- Cole AR, Astell A, Green C, Sutherland C (2007) Molecular connexions between dementia and diabetes. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:1046–1063.
- Contestabile A, Ciani E, Contestabile A (2004) Dietary restriction differentially protects from neurodegeneration in animal models of excitotoxicity. Brain Res 1002:162–166.
- Conway MA (2009) Episodic memories. Neuropsychologia 47:2305-2313.
- Cook DG, Leverenz JB, McMillan PJ, Kulstad JJ, Ericksen S, Roth R a, Schellenberg GD, Jin L-W, Kovacina KS, Craft S (2003) Reduced hippocampal insulin-degrading enzyme in late-onset Alzheimer's disease is associated with the apolipoprotein E-epsilon4 allele. Am J Pathol 162:313–319.
- Cordner ZA, Tamashiro KLK (2015) Effects of high-fat diet exposure on learning and memory. Physiol Behav 152:363– 371.
- Costa D A, Cracchiolo JR, Bachstetter AD, Hughes TF, Bales KR, Paul SM, Mervis RF, Arendash GW, Potter H (2007) Enrichment improves cognition in AD mice by amyloid-related and unrelated mechanisms. Neurobiol Aging 28:831–844.
- Cotman CW, Berchtold NC (2002) Exercise: A behavioral intervention to enhance brain health and plasticity. Trends Neurosci 25:295–301.
- Cotman CW, Berchtold NC, Christie LA (2007) Exercise builds brain health: key roles of growth factor cascades and inflammation. Trends Neurosci 30:464–472.
- Counts SE, Ikonomovic MD, Mercado N, Vega IE, Mufson EJ (2016) Biomarkers for the early detection and progression of Alzheimer's Disease. Neurotherapeutics:1–19.
- Cracchiolo JR, Mori T, Nazian SJ, Tan J, Potter H, Arendash GW (2007) Enhanced cognitive activity over and above social or physical activity is required to protect Alzheimer's mice against cognitive impairment, reduce Aβ deposition, and increase synaptic immunoreactivity. 88:277–294.
- Craft S (2005) Insulin resistance syndrome and Alzheimer's disease: Age- and obesity-related effects on memory, amyloid, and inflammation. Neurobiol Aging 26:65–69.

- Craft S, Peskind E, Schwartz MW, Schellenberg GD, Raskind M, Porte D (1998) Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma insulin levels in Alzheimer's disease: relationship to severity of dementia and apolipoprotein E genotype. Neurology 50:164–168.
- Crews L, Masliah E (2010) Molecular mechanisms of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet 19:12–20.
- Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M HB et al. (1995) Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. Nature 378: 785-789.
- Cuadrado-Tejedor M, Cabodevilla JF, Zamarbide M, Gómez-Isla T, Franco R, Perez-Mediavilla A (2013) Age-related mitochondrial alterations without neuronal loss in the hippocampus of a transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 10:390–405.
- Cui Y, Jiao Y, Chen Y-C, Wang K, Gao B, Wen S, Ju S, Teng G-J (2013) Altered spontaneous brain activity in type 2 diabetes: a resting-state functional MRI study. Diabetes 63:749–760.
- Cullen WK, Suh YH, Anwyl R, Rowan MJ (1997) Block of LTP in rat hippocampus in vivo by beta-amyloid precursor protein fragments. Neuroreport 8:3213–3217.
- Cunnane S, Nugent S, Roy M, Courchesne-Loyer A, Croteau E, Tremblay S, Castellano A, Pifferi F, Bocti C, Paquet N, Begdouri H, Bentourkia M, Turcotte E, Allard M, Barberger-Gateau P, Fulop T, Rapoport SI (2011) Brain fuel metabolism, aging, and Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition 27:3–20.
- D'Amelio M, Cavallucci V, Middei S, Marchetti C, Pacioni S, Ferri A, Diamantini A, De Zio D, Carrara P, Battistini L, Moreno S, Bacci A, Ammassari-Teule M, Marie H, Cecconi F (2011) Caspase-3 triggers early synaptic dysfunction in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Nat Neurosci 14:69–76.
- Dan HC, Antonia RJ, Baldwin AS (2014a) PI3K/Akt promotes feedforward mTORC2 activation through IKKα. Oncotarget 7:1–12.
- Dan HC, Ebbs A, Pasparakis M, Dyke T Van, Basseres DS, Baldwin AS (2014b) Akt-dependent Activation of mTORC1 Complex Involves Phosphorylation of mTOR (Mammalian Target of Rapamycin) by IkB Kinase α (IKKα). 289:25227–25240.
- Das P, Murphy MP, Younkin LH, Younkin SG, Golde TE (2001) Reduced effectiveness of Abeta1-42 immunization in APP transgenic mice with significant amyloid deposition. Neurobiol Aging 22:721–727.
- Datta SR, Dudek H, Xu T, Masters S, Haian F, Gotoh Y, Greenberg ME (1997) Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell- intrinsic death machinery. Cell 91:231–241.
- Davis J, Xu F, Deane R, Romanov G, Previti M Lou, Zeigler K, Zlokovic B V., Van Nostrand WE (2004) Early-onset and robust cerebral microvascular accumulation of amyloid β-protein in transgenic mice expressing low levels of a vasculotropic Dutch/Iowa mutant form of amyloid β-protein precursor. J Biol Chem 279:20296–20306.
- Davis PC, Gearing M, Gray L, Mirra SS, Morris JC, Edland SD, Lin T, Heyman A (1995) The CERAD experience, Part VIII: Neuroimaging-neuropathology correlates of temporal lobe changes in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 45:178–179.
- Davis S, Laroche S (2003) What can rodent models tellus about cognitive decline in Alzheimer's Disease? Mol Neurobiol 27:249–276.
- Dawkins E, Small DH (2014) Insights into the physiological function of the β-amyloid precursor protein: beyond Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 129:756–769.
- de Bruijn RF, Ikram MA (2014) Cardiovascular risk factors and future risk of Alzheimer's disease. BMC Med 12:1-9.
- De Felice FG (2013) Alzheimer's disease and insulin resistance : translating basic science into clinical applications. J Clin Invest 123:531–539.
- De Felice FG, Vieira MNN, Bomfim TR, Decker H, Velasco PT, Lambert MP, Viola KL, Zhao W-Q, Ferreira ST, Klein WL (2009) Protection of synapses against Alzheimer's-linked toxins: Insulin signaling prevents the pathogenic binding of Aβ oligomers. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:1971–1976.
- De Ferranti S, Mozaffarian D (2008) The perfect storm: Obesity, adipocyte dysfunction, and metabolic consequences. Clin Chem 54:945–955.
- De la Monte SM, Wands JR (2008) Alzheimer's disease is type 3 diabetes evidence reviewed. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2:1101–1113.

- De Sarno P, Li X, Jope RS (2002) Regulation of Akt and glycogen synthase kinase-3β phosphorylation by sodium valproate and lithium. Neuropharmacology 43:1158–1164.
- De Souza CT, Araujo EP, Bordin S, Ashimine R, Zollner RL, Boschero AC, Saad MJA, Velloso LA (2005) Consumption of a fat-rich diet activates a proinflammatory response and induces insulin resistance in the hypothalamus. Endocrinology 146:4192–4199.
- De Strooper B, Saftig P, Craessaerts K, Vanderstichele H, Guhde G, Annaert W, Von Figura K, Van Leuven F (1998) Deficiency of presenilin-1 inhibits the normal cleavage of amyloid precursor protein. Nature 391:387–390.

Debnath J, Baehrecke EH, Kroemer G (2005) Does autophagy contribute to cell death? Autophagy 1:66-74.

- Deeds MC, Anderson JM, Armstrong AS, Gastineau DA, Hiddinga HJ, Jahangir A, Eberhardt NL, Kudva YC (2011) Single dose streptozotocin-induced diabetes: considerations for study design in islet transplantation models. Lab Anim 45:131–140.
- DeFronzo RA (1988) The triumvirate: beta-cell, muscle, liver. A collusion responsible for NIDDM. Diabetes 37:667-687.
- del Rincón S V, Guo Q, Morelli C, Shiu H-Y, Surmacz E, Miller WH (2004) Retinoic acid mediates degradation of IRS-1 by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, via a PKC-dependant mechanism. Oncogene 23:9269–9279.
- Den Heijer T, Vermeer SE, Van Dijk EJ, Prins ND, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Breteler MMB (2003) Type 2 diabetes and atrophy of medial temporal lobe structures on brain MRI. Diabetologia 46:1604–1610.
- Desai GS, Zheng C, Geetha T, Mathews ST, White BD, Huggins KW, Zizza CA, Broderick TL, Babu JR (2014) The pancreas-brain axis: Insight into disrupted mechanisms associating type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis 42:347–356.
- Deweer B, Ergis AM, Fossati P, Pillon B, Boller F, Agid Y, Dubois B (1994) Explicit memory, procedural learning and lexical priming in Alzheimers disease. Cortex 30:113–126.
- Dey P, Ström A, Gustafsson JA (2014) Estrogen receptor β upregulates FOXO3a and causes induction of apoptosis through PUMA in prostate cancer. Oncogene 33:4213–4225.
- Deyts C, Thinakaran G, Parent AT (2016) APP receptor? To be or not to be. Trends Pharmacol Sci 37:390-411.
- Díaz-Troya S, Pérez-Pérez ME, Florencio FJ, Crespo JL (2008) The role of TOR in autophagy regulation from yeast to plants and mammals. Autophagy 4:851–865.
- Dickerson BC, Salat DH, Bates JF, Atiya M, Killiany RJ, Greve DN, Dale AM, Stern CE, Blacker D, Albert MS, Sperling RA (2004) Medial temporal lobe function and structure in mild cognitive impairment. Ann Neurol 56:27–35.
- Dickson DW (1997) The pathogenesis of senile plaques. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 56:321–339.
- Dickson TC, Vickers JC (2001) The morphological phenotype of beta-amyloid plaques and associated neuritic changes in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 105:99–107.
- Djoussé L, Padilla H, Nelson TL, Gaziano JM, Mukamal KJ (2010) Diet and metabolic syndrome. Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets 10:124–137.
- Dobarro M, Gerenu G, Ramírez MJ (2013) Propranolol reduces cognitive deficits, amyloid and tau pathology in Alzheimer's transgenic mice. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 16:2245–2257.
- Doble BW, Woodgett JR (2003) GSK-3: tricks of the trade for a multi-tasking kinase. J Cell Sci 116:1175–1186.
- Dobson M, Ramakrishnan G, Ma S, Kaplun L, Balan V, Fridman R, Tzivion G (2011) Bimodal regulation of FoxO3 by AKT and 14-3-3. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1813:1453–1464.
- Dodart J-C, Bales KR, Gannon KS, Greene SJ, DeMattos RB, Mathis C, DeLong CA, Wu S, Wu X, Holtzman DM, Paul SM (2002) Immunization reverses memory deficits without reducing brain Abeta burden in Alzheimer's disease model. Nat Neurosci 5:452–457.
- Dodart JC, Mathis C, Ungerer A (2000) The beta-amyloid precursor protein and its derivatives: from biology to learning and memory processes. Rev Neurosci 11:75–93.
- Donati a, Cavallini G, Paradiso C, Vittorini S, Pollera M, Gori Z, Bergamini E (2001) Age-related changes in the regulation of autophagic proteolysis in rat isolated hepatocytes. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 56: 288-293.
- Dourmashkin JT, Chang GQ, Hill JO, Gayles EC, Fried SK, Leibowitz SF (2006) Model for predicting and phenotyping at normal weight the long-term propensity for obesity in Sprague-Dawley rats. Physiol Behav 87:666–678.

- Drago D, Bettella M, Bolognin S, Cendron L, Scancar J, Milacic R, Ricchelli F, Casini A, Messori L, Tognon G, Zatta P (2008) Potential pathogenic role of β-amyloid1–42–aluminum complex in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 40:731–746.
- Dringen R, Gebhardt R, Hamprecht B (1993) Glycogen in astrocytes: possible function as lactate supply for neighboring cells. Brain Res 623:208–214.
- Duarte AI, Moreira PI, Oliveira CR (2012) Insulin in central nervous system: More than just a peripheral hormone. J Aging Res 2012.
- Duarte AI, Santos P, Oliveira CR, Santos MS, Rego AC (2008) Insulin neuroprotection against oxidative stress is mediated by Akt and GSK-3β signaling pathways and changes in protein expression. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1783:994–1002.
- Duff K, Eckman C, Zehr C, Yu X, Prada CM, Perez-tur J, Hutton M, Buee L, Harigaya Y, Yager D, Morgan D, Gordon MN, Holcomb L, Refolo L, Zenk B, Hardy J, Younkin S (1996) Increased amyloid-β42(43) in brains of mice expressing mutant presenilin 1. Nature 383:710–713.
- Duffy AM, Hölscher C (2013) The incretin analogue D-Ala2GIP reduces plaque load, astrogliosis and oxidative stress in an APP/PS1 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 228:294–300.
- Dulin F, Léveillé F, Ortega JB, Mornon J-P, Buisson A, Callebaut I, Colloc'h N (2008) P3 peptide, a truncated form of A beta devoid of synaptotoxic effect, does not assemble into soluble oligomers. FEBS Lett 582:1865–1870.
- Dunnett SB (1993) The role and repair of forebrain cholinergic systems in short-term memory. Studies using the delayed matching-to-position task in rats. Adv Neurol 59:53–65.
- Eftekharzadeh B, Ramin M, Khodagholi F, Moradi S, Tabrizian K, Sharif R, Azami K, Beyer C, Sharifzadeh M (2012) Inhibition of PKA attenuates memory deficits induced by beta-amyloid (1-42), and decreases oxidative stress and NF-kappaB transcription factors. Behav Brain Res 226:301–308.
- Ekstrand J, Hellsten J, Tingström A (2008) Environmental enrichment, exercise and corticosterone affect endothelial cell proliferation in adult rat hippocampus and prefrontal cortex. 442:203–207.
- Eldar-Finkelman H, Kaidanovich O (2002) The role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in insulin resistance and Type 2 diabetes. Expert Opin Ther Targets 6:555–561.
- Eldar-Finkelman H, Seger R, Vandenheede JR, Krebs EG (1995) Inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by epidermal growth factor is mediated by mitogen-activated protein kinase/p90 ribosomal protein S6 kinase signaling pathway in NIH/3T3 cells. J Biol Chem 270:987–990.
- Elder GA, Gama Sosa MA, De Gasperi R (2010) Transgenic mouse models of Alzheimer's Disease. Mt Sinai J Med 77:69–81.
- Elmore S (2007) Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol 35:495–516.
- Engelhart MJ, Geerlings MI, Meijer J, Kiliaan A, Ruitenberg A, van Swieten JC, Stijnen T, Hofman A, Witteman JCM, Breteler MMB (2004) Inflammatory proteins in plasma and the risk of dementia: the rotterdam study. Arch Neurol 61:668–672.
- Engler H, Forsberg A, Almkvist O, Blomquist G, Larsson E, Savitcheva I, Wall A, Ringheim A, Langstrom B, Nordberg A (2006) Two-year follow-up of amyloid deposition in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Brain 129:2856–2866.
- Ennaceur A, Meliani K (1992) A new one-trial test for neurobiological studies of memory in rats. III. Spatial vs. nonspatial working memory. Behav Brain Res 51:83–92.
- Erdő F, Denes L, de Lange E (2016) Age-associated physiological and pathological changes at the blood–brain barrier: A review. J Cereb Blood Flow 37: 4-24.
- Erickson KI, Leckie RL, Weinstein AM (2014) Physical activity, fitness, and gray matter volume. Neurobiol Aging 35:S20–S28.
- Erickson KI, Voss MW, Prakash RS, Basak C, Szabo A, Chaddock L, Kim JS, Heo S, Alves H, White SM, Wojcicki TR, Mailey E, Vieira VJ, Martin SA, Pence BD, Woods JA, McAuley E, Kramer AF (2011) Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:3017–3022.
- Erol A (2008) An integrated and unifying hypothesis for the metabolic basis of sporadic Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis 13:241–253.
- Erten-Lyons D, Woltjer RL, Dodge H, Nixon R, Vorobik R, Calvert JF, Leahy M, Montine T, Kaye J (2009) Factors associated with resistance to dementia despite high Alzheimer disease pathology. Neurology 72:354–360.

- Eslamizade MJ, Madjd Z, Rasoolijazi H, Saffarzadeh F, Pirhajati V, Aligholi H, Janahmadi M, Mehdizadeh M (2016) Impaired memory and evidence of histopathology in CA1 pyramidal neurons through injection of Aβ1-42 peptides into the frontal cortices of rat. Basic Clin Neurosci 7:31–42.
- Espeland MA, Bryan RN, Goveas JS, Robinson JG, Siddiqui MS, Liu S, Hogan PE, Casanova R, Coker LH, Yaffe K, Masaki K, Rossom R, Resnick SM (2013) Influence of type 2 diabetes on brain volumes and changes in brain volumes: Results from the Women's Health Initiative Magnetic Resonance Imaging Studies. Diabetes Care 36:90–97.
- Esteve M, Rafecas I, Fernández-López J, Remesar X, Alemany M (1994) Effect of a cafeteria diet on energy intake and balance in Wistar rats. Physiol Behav 56:65–71.
- Ewers M, Insel PS, Stern Y, Weiner MW, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) (2013) Cognitive reserve associated with FDG-PET in preclinical Alzheimer disease. Neurology 80:1194–1201.
- Fabel K, Tam B, Kaufer D, Baiker A, Simmons N, Kuo CJ, Palmer TD, Elisa S (2003) VEGF is necessary for exercise. Eur J Neurosci 18:2803–2812.
- Fagan AM, Xiong C, Jasielec MS, Bateman RJ, Goate AM, Benzinger TL, Ghetti B, Martins RN, Masters CL, Mayeux R, Ringman JM, Rossor MN, Salloway S, Schofield PR, Sperling RA, Marcus D, Cairns NJ, Buckles VD, Ladenson JH, Morris JC, Holtzman DM (2014) Longitudinal change in CSF biomarkers in autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease. Sci Transl Med 6:226-230.
- Fagan AM, Mintun MA, Mach RH, Lee S-Y, Dence CS, Shah AR, LaRossa GN, Spinner ML, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, DeKosky ST, Morris JC, Holtzman DM (2006) Inverse relation between in vivo amyloid imaging load and cerebrospinal fluid Aβ42 in humans. Ann Neurol 59:512–519.
- Fakhrai-Rad H, Nikoshkov a, Kamel a, Fernström M, Zierath JR, Norgren S, Luthman H, Galli J (2000) Insulindegrading enzyme identified as a candidate diabetes susceptibility gene in GK rats. Hum Mol Genet 9:2149– 2158.
- Falck RS, Davis JC, Liu-Ambrose T (2016) What is the association between sedentary behaviour and cognitive function? A systematic review. Br J Sports Med bjsports 2015-095551.
- Fang X, Yu SX, Lu Y, Bast RC, Woodgett JR, Mills GB (2000) Phosphorylation and inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 by protein kinase A. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:11960–11965.
- Farmer J, Zhao X, Van Praag H, Wodtke K, Gage FH, Christie BR (2004) Effects of voluntary exercise on synaptic plasticity and gene expression in the dentate gyrus of adult male sprague-dawley rats in vivo. Neuroscience 124:71–79.
- Farris W, Mansourian S, Chang Y, Lindsley L, Eckman EA, Frosch MP, Eckman CB, Tanzi RE, Selkoe DJ, Guenette S (2003) Insulin-degrading enzyme regulates the levels of insulin, amyloid beta-protein, and the beta-amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:4162–4167.
- Feldman H, Qadi N (2006) Addressing severe Alzheimer's Disease: A clinical approach. Can Rev Alzheimer's Dis other Dementias 8:4–9.
- Ferreira-Marques M, Aveleira CA, Carmo-Silva S, Botelho M, Pereira de Almeida L, Cavadas C (2016) Caloric restriction stimulates autophagy in rat cortical neurons through neuropeptide Y and ghrelin receptors activation. Aging (Albany NY) 8:1470–1484.
- Ferreira LK, Tamashiro-Duran JH, Squarzoni P, Duran FL, Alves TC, Buchpigue CA, Busatto GF (2014) The link between cardiovascular risk, alzheimer's disease, and mild cognitive impairment: Support from recent functional neuroimaging studies. Rev Bras Psiguiatr 36:344–357.
- Fiala JC, Feinberg M, Peters A, Barbas H (2007) Mitochondrial degeneration in dystrophic neurites of senile plaques may lead to extracellular deposition of fine filaments. Brain Struct Funct 212:195–207.
- Filippini N, Zarei M, Beckmann CF, Galluzzi S, Borsci G, Testa C, Bonetti M, Beltramello A, Ghidoni R, Benussi L, Binetti G, Frisoni GB (2009) Regional atrophy of transcallosal prefrontal connections in cognitively normal *APOE* ε4 carriers. J Magn Reson Imaging 29:1021–1026.
- Fitzjohn SM, Morton RA, Kuenzi F, Rosahl TW, Shearman M, Lewis H, Smith D, Reynolds DS, Davies CH, Collingridge GL, Seabrook GR (2001) Age-related impairment of synaptic transmission but normal long-term potentiation in transgenic mice that overexpress the human APP695SWE mutant form of amyloid precursor protein. J Neurosci 21:4691–4698.
- Fleisher AS, Houston WS, Eyler LT, Frye S, Jenkins C, Thal LJ, Bondi MW (2005) Identification of Alzheimer Disease risk by functional magnetic resonance imaging. Arch Neurol 62:1881.

- Flood DG, Reaume AG, Dorfman KS, Lin YG, Lang DM, Trusko SP, Savage MJ, Annaert WG, De Strooper B, Siman R, Scott RW (2002) FAD mutant PS-1 gene-targeted mice: Increased Aβ42 and Aβ deposition without APP overproduction. Neurobiol Aging 23:335–348.
- Fontana L, Partridge L, Longo VD (2010) Extending healthy life span--From yeast to humans. Science 328:321–326.
- Forette F, Seux M-L, Staessen JA, Thijs L, Babarskiene M-R, Babeanu S, Bossini A, Fagard R, Gil-Extremera B, Laks T, Kobalava Z, Sarti C, Tuomilehto J, Vanhanen H, Webster J, Yodfat Y, Birkenhäger WH, Systolic Hypertension in Europe Investigators (2002) The prevention of dementia with antihypertensive treatment: new evidence from the Systolic Hypertension in Europe (Syst-Eur) study. Arch Intern Med 162:2046–2052.
- Forlenza O V., Torres CA, Talib LL, de Paula VJ, Joaquim HPG, Diniz BS, Gattaz WF (2011) Increased platelet GSK3B activity in patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. J Psychiatr Res 45:220–224.
- Formichi P, Battisti C, Radi E, Federico A (2006) Cerebrospinal fluid tau, A beta, and phosphorylated tau protein for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. J Cell Physiol 208:39–46.
- Foster TC, Fugger HN, Cunningham SG (2000) Receptor blockade reveals a correspondence between hippocampaldependent behavior and experience-dependent synaptic enhancement. Brain Res 871:39–43.
- Frautschy SA, Cole GM (2010) Why pleiotropic interventions are needed for Alzheimer's Disease. Mol Neurobiol 41:392–409.
- Freude S, Plum L, Schnitker J, Leeser U, Udelhoven M, Krone W et a (2005) Peripheral hyperinsulinemia promotes Tau phosphorylation in vivo. Diabetes 7:305–308.
- Furst AJ, Rabinovici GD, Rostomian AH, Steed T, Alkalay A, Racine C, Miller BL, Jagust WJ (2012) Cognition, glucose metabolism and amyloid burden in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 33:215–225.
- Furukawa K, Sopher BL, Rydel RE, Begley JG, Pham DG, Martin GM, Fox M, Mattson MP (1996) Increased activityregulating and neuroprotective efficacy of alpha-secretase-derived secreted amyloid precursor protein conferred by a C-terminal heparin-binding domain. J Neurochem 67:1882–1896.
- Fuss J, Biedermann S V, Falfán-Melgoza C, Auer MK, Zheng L, Steinle J, Hörner F, Sartorius A, Ende G, Weber-Fahr W, Gass P (2014) Exercise boosts hippocampal volume by preventing early age-related gray matter loss. Hippocampus 24:131–134.
- Galluzzi L, López-Soto A, Kumar S, Kroemer G (2016) Caspases connect cell-death signaling to organismal homeostasis. Immunity 44:221–231.
- Games D, Adams D, Alessandrini R, Barbour R, Berthelette P, Blackwell C, Carr T, Clemens J, Donaldson T, Gillespie F, Guido T, hagopian S, Johnson=Wood K, Khan K, Lee M, Leibowitz P, Lieberburg I, Little S, Masliah E, McConlogue L, Montoya-Zavala M, Mucke L, Paganini L, Penniman E, Pwer M, Schenk D, Seubert P, Snyder B, Sorlando F, tan H, Vitale J, Wadsworth S, Wolozin B, Zhao J (1995) Alzheimer-type neuropathology in transgenic mice overexpressing V717F β-amyloid precursor protein. Nature 373:523–527.
- García-Mesa Y, López-Ramos JC, Giménez-Llort L, Revilla S, Guerra R, Gruart A, Laferla FM, Cristòfol R, Delgado-García JM, Sanfeliu C (2011) Physical exercise protects against Alzheimer's disease in 3xTg-AD mice. J Alzheimer's Dis 24:421–454.
- Garcia-Osta A, Alberini CM (2009) Amyloid beta mediates memory formation. Learn Mem 16:267–272.
- Garcia C, Feve B, Ferré P, Halimi S, Baizri H, Bordier L, Guiu G, Dupuy O, Bauduceau B, Mayaudon H (2010) Diabetes and inflammation: fundamental aspects and clinical implications. Diabetes Metab 36:327–338.
- Gasparini L, Gouras GK, Wang R, Gross RS, Beal MF, Greengard P, Xu H (2001) Stimulation of beta-amyloid precursor protein trafficking by insulin reduces intraneuronal beta-amyloid and requires mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J Neurosci 21:2561–2570.
- Gastard MC, Troncoso JC, Koliatsos VE (2003) Caspase activation in the limbic cortex of subjects with early Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 54:393–398.
- Gearhardt AN, Davis C, Kuschner R, Brownell KD (2011) The addiction potential of hyperpalatable foods. Curr Drug Abuse Rev 4:140–145.
- Gengler S, Hamilton A, Hölscher C (2010) Synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus of a APP/PS1 mouse model of Alzheimer's Disease is impaired in old but not young mice. PLoS One 5:1–10.
- Giacchino J, Criado JR, Games D, Henriksen S (2000) In vivo synaptic transmission in young and aged amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. Brain Res 876:185–190.

- Giannopoulos PF, Chu J1, Joshi YB, Sperow M, Li JG, Kirby LG, Praticò D(2014) Gene knockout of 5-lipoxygenase rescues synaptic dysfunction and improves memory in the triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. 33:395–401.
- Giffard B, Laisney M, Mezenge F, de la Sayette V, Eustache F, Desgranges B (2008) The neural substrates of semantic memory deficits in early Alzheimer's disease: Clues from semantic priming effects and FDG-PET. Neuropsychologia 46:1657–1666.

Gillette-Guyonnet S, Vellas B (2008) Caloric restriction and brain function. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 11:686–692.

- Giménez-Llort L, Blázquez G, Cañete T, Johansson B, Oddo S, Tobeña A, LaFerla FM, Fernández-Teruel A (2007) Modeling behavioral and neuronal symptoms of Alzheimer's disease in mice: a role for intraneuronal amyloid. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:125–147.
- Glabe CG (2008) Structural classification of toxic amyloid oligomers. J Biol Chem 283:29639-29643.
- Glenner GG, Wong CW (1984) Alzheimer's disease: Initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 120:885–890.
- Glick D, Barth S, Macleod KF (2010) Autophagy : cellular and molecular mechanisms. J Pathol 221:3–12.
- Goedert M, Ghetti B (2007) Alois Alzheimer: His life and times. Brain Pathol 17:57-62.
- Goedert M, Spillantini MG (2006) A century of Alzheimer's disease. Science 314:777-781.
- Golay A, Felber JP, Jequier E, DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E (1988) Metabolic basis of obesity and noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Metab Rev 4:727–747.
- Golde TE, Estus S, Younkin LH, Selkoe DJ, Younkin SG (1992) Processing of the amyloid protein precursor to potentially amyloidogenic derivatives. Science 255:728–730.
- Gomez-Isla T, Hollister R, West H, Mui S, Growdon JH, Petersen RC, Parisi JE, Hyman BT (1997) Neuronl Loss Correlates with but Exceeds Neurofibrillary Tangles in Alzheimer 's Disease. Ann Neurol 41:17–24.
- Gómez-Isla T, Price JL, McKeel DW, Morris JC, Growdon JH, Hyman BT (1996) Profound loss of layer II entorhinal cortex neurons occurs in very mild Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 16:4491–4500.
- Gong B, Vitolo O V, Trinchese F, Liu S, Shelanski M (2004) Persistent improvement in synaptic and cognitive functions in an Alzheimer mouse model after rolipram treatment. J Clin Invest 114.
- Gorska-Ciebiada M, Saryusz-Wolska M, Ciebiada M, Loba J (2014) Mild cognitive impairment and depressive symptoms in elderly patients with diabetes: prevalence, risk factors, and comorbidity. J Diabetes Res 2014:179648.
- Gould TD, Manji HK (2002) The Wnt signaling pathway in bipolar disorder. Neuroscientist 8:497–511.
- Gowing E, Roher AE, Woods AS, Cotter RJ, Chaney M, Little SP, Ball MJ (1994) Chemical characterization of A beta 17-42 peptide, a component of diffuse amyloid deposits of Alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem 269:10987–10990.
- Goyal SN, Reddy NM, Patil KR, Nakhate KT, Ojha S, Patil CR, Agrawal YO (2016) Challenges and issues with streptozotocin-induced diabetes - A clinically relevant animal model to understand the diabetes pathogenesis and evaluate therapeutics. Chem Biol Interact 244:49–63.
- Greer EL, Oskoui PR, Banko MR, Maniar JM, Gygi MP, Gygi SP, Brunet A (2007) The energy sensor AMP-activated protein kinase directly regulates the mammalian FOXO3 transcription factor. J Biol Chem 282:30107–30119.
- Grieb P (2016) Intracerebroventricular Streptozotocin injections as a model of Alzheimer's Disease: in search of a relevant mechanism. Mol Neurobiol 53:1741–1752.
- Griffin RJ, Moloney A, Kelliher M, Johnston JA, Ravid R, Dockery P, O'Connor R, O'Neill C (2005) Activation of Akt/PKB, increased phosphorylation of Akt substrates and loss and altered distribution of Akt and PTEN are features of Alzheimer's disease pathology. J Neurochem 93:105–117.
- Grillo CA, Piroli GG, Junor L, Wilson SP, Mott DD, Wilson MA, Reagan LP (2011) Obesity/hyperleptinemic phenotype impairs structural and functional plasticity in the rat hippocampus. Physiol Behav 105:138–144.
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung YC, Quinlan M, Wisniewski HM, Binder LI (1986) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913–4917.
- Gual P, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Tanti J-F (2005) Positive and negative regulation of insulin signaling through IRS-1 phosphorylation. Biochimie 87:99–109.

- Guillot F, Kemppainen S, Lavasseur G, Miettinen PO, Laroche S, Tanila H, Davis S (2016b) Brain-specific basal and novelty-induced alternations in PI3K-Akt and MAPK/ERK signaling in a middle-aged AβPP/PS1 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 51:1157–1173.
- Guo Q, Fu W, Sopher BL, Miller MW, Ware CB, Martin GM, Mattson MP (1999) Increased vulnerability of hippocampal neurons to excitotoxic necrosis in presenilin-1 mutant knock-in mice. Nat Med 5:101–106.
- Gureviciene I, Ikonen S, Gurevicius K, Sarkaki A, Van Groen T, Pussinen R, Ylinen A, Tanila H (2004) Normal induction but accelerated decay of LTP in APP + PS1 transgenic mice. Neurobiol Dis 15:188–195.
- Haass C, Hung AY, Selkoe DJ (1991) Processing of beta-amyloid precursor protein in microglia and astrocytes favors an internal localization over constitutive secretion. J Neurosci 11:3783–3793.
- Haass C, Kaether C, Thinakaran G, Sisodia S (2012) Trafficking and Proteolytic Processing of APP.pdf. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med:1–26.
- Haass C, Koo EH, Mellon A, Hung AY, Selkoe DJ (1992) Targeting of cell-surface beta-amyloid precursor protein to lysosomes: alternative processing into amyloid-bearing fragments. Nature 357:500–503.
- Habib SL, Liang S (2014) Hyperactivation of Akt/mTOR and deficiency in tuberin increased the oxidative DNA damage in kidney cancer patients with diabetes. Oncotarget 5:2542–2550.
- Hagenbuchner J, Kuznetsov a., Hermann M, Hausott B, Obexer P, Ausserlechner MJ (2012) FOXO3-induced reactive oxygen species are regulated by BCL2L11 (Bim) and SESN3. J Cell Sci 125:1191–1203.
- Hak AE, Pols HAP, Stehouwer CDA, Meijer J, Kiliaan AJ, Hofman A, Breteler MMB, Witteman JCM (2001) Markers of iinflammation and cellular adhesion molecules in relation to insulin resistance in nondiabetic elderly: The Rotterdam study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:4398–4405.
- Halagappa VKM, Guo Z, Pearson M, Matsuoka Y, Cutler RG, LaFerla FM, Mattson MP (2007) Intermittent fasting and caloric restriction ameliorate age-related behavioral deficits in the triple-transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis 26:212–220.
- Hales CN, Barker DJP (2013) Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. Int J Epidemiol 42:1215–1222.
- Hamer M, Chida Y (2009) Physical activity and risk of neurodegenerative disease: a systematic review of prospective evidence. Psychol Med 39:3–11.
- Hamilton LK, Aumont A, Julien C, Vadnais A, Calon F, Fernandes KJL (2010) Widespread deficits in adult neurogenesis precede plaque and tangle formation in the 3xTg mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurosci 32:905–920.
- Hampel H, Prvulovic D, Teipel S, Jessen F, Luckhaus C, Frölich L, Riepe MW, Dodel R, Leyhe T, Bertram L, Hoffmann W, Faltraco F, German Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease (GTF-AD) (2011) The future of Alzheimer's disease: The next 10 years. Prog Neurobiol 95:718–728.
- Hannan AJ (2014) Review: Environmental enrichment and brain repair: Harnessing the therapeutic effects of cognitive stimulation and physical activity to enhance experience-dependent plasticity. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 40:13–25.
- Hansen RA, Gartlehner G, Webb AP, Morgan LC, Moore CG, Jonas DE (2008) Efficacy and safety of donepezil, galantamine, and rivastigmine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Interv Aging 3:211–225.
- Harburger LL, Lambert TJ, Frick KM, Program IN, Haven N (2007) Age-dependent effects of environmental enrichment on spatial reference memory in male mice. 185:43–48.
- Hardy JA, Higgins GA (1992) Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 256:184–185.
- Harik SI, Kalaria RN, Andersson L, Lundahl P, Perry G (1990) Immunocytochemical localization of the erythroid glucose transporter: abundance in tissues with barrier functions. J Neurosci 10:3862–3872.
- Hariri N, Thibault L (2010) High-fat diet-induced obesity in animal models. Nutr Res Rev 23:270-299.
- Harrold JA, Williams G, Widdowson PS (2000) Early leptin response to a palatable diet predicts dietary obesity in rats: key role of melanocortin-4 receptors in the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus. J Neurochem 74:1224–1228.
- Hartman RE, Izumi Y, Bales KR, Paul SM, Wozniak DF, Holtzman DM (2005) Treatment with an amyloid-beta antibody ameliorates plaque load, learning deficits, and hippocampal long-term potentiation in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 25:6213–6220.

- Havrankova J, Roth J, Brownstein M (1978) Insulin receptors are widely distributed in the central nervous system of the rat. Nature 272:827–829.
- Hedden T, Dijk KRA Van, Becker JA, Mehta A, Sperling RA, Johnson KA, Buckner RL (2009) Older Adults Harboring Amyloid Burden. J Neurosci 29:12686–12694.
- Heindel WC, Salmon DP, Shults CW, Walicke PA, Butters N (1989) Neuropsychological evidence for multiple implicit memory systems: a comparison of Alzheimer's, Huntington's, and Parkinson's disease patients. J Neurosci 9:582–587.
- Heininger K (1999) A unifying hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. II. Pathophysiological processes. Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp 14:525–581.
- Heras-Sandoval D, Pérez-Rojas JM, Hernández-Damián J, Pedraza-Chaverri J (2014) The role of PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in the modulation of autophagy and the clearance of protein aggregates in neurodegeneration. Cell Signal 26:2694–2701.
- Herring A, Yasin H, Ambrée O, Sachser N, Paulus W, Keyvani K (2008) Environmental Enrichment Counteracts Alzheimer 's Neurovascular Dysfunction in TgCRND8 Mice. 18:32–39.
- Herrup K (2010) Reimagining Alzheimer's Disease--an age-based hypothesis. J Neurosci 30:16755–16762.
- Herrup K (2015) The case for rejecting the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Nat Neurosci 18:794–799.
- Herrup K, Carrillo MC, Schenk D, Cacace A, DeSanti S, Fremeau R, Bhat R, Glicksman M, May P, Swerdlow R, Van Eldik LJ, Bain LJ, Budd S (2013) Beyond amyloid: Getting real about nonamyloid targets in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 9:452–458.e1.
- Hesse L, Beher D, Masters CL, Multhaup G (1994) The beta A4 amyloid precursor protein binding to copper. FEBS Lett 349:109–116.
- Heydemann A (2016) An overview of murine high fat diet as a model for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Diabetes Res 2016.
- Heyn P, Abreu BC, Ottenbacher KJ (2004) The effects of exercise training on elderly persons with cognitive impairment and dementia: A meta-analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 85:1694–1704.
- Heyward FD, Walton RG, Carle MS, Coleman MA, Garvey WT, Sweatt JD (2012) Adult mice maintained on a high-fat diet exhibit object location memory deficits and reduced hippocampal SIRT1 gene expression. Neurobiol Learn Mem 98:25–32.
- Higgins LS, Murphy GM, Forno LS, Catalano R, Cordell B (1996) P3 beta-amyloid peptide has a unique and potentially pathogenic immunohistochemical profile in Alzheimer's disease brain. Am J Pathol 149:585–596.
- Hildebrandt AL, Kelly-Sullivan DM, Black SC (2003) Antiobesity effects of chronic cannabinoid CB1 receptor antagonist treatment in diet-induced obese mice. Eur J Pharmacol 462:125–132.
- Hiltunen M, Khandelwal VKM, Yaluri N, Tiilikainen T, Tusa M, Koivisto H, Krzisch M, Vepsäläinen S, Mäkinen P, Kemppainen S, Miettinen P, Haapasalo A, Soininen H, Laakso M, Tanila H (2012) Contribution of genetic and dietary insulin resistance to Alzheimer phenotype in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. J Cell Mol Med 16:1206–1222.
- Hinz M, Scheidereit C (2014) The I kappa B kinase complex in NF-kappa B regulation and beyond. EMBO Rep 15:46– 61.
- Hirai K, Aliev G, Nunomura A, Fujioka H, Russell RL, Atwood CS, Johnson AB, Kress Y, Vinters H V, Tabaton M, Shimohama S, Cash AD, Siedlak SL, Harris PL, Jones PK, Petersen RB, Perry G, Smith MA (2001) Mitochondrial abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 21:3017–3023.
- Ho L, Qin W, Pompl PN, Xiang Z, Wang J, Zhao Z, Peng Y, Cambareri G, Rocher A, Mobbs C V, Hof PR, Pasinetti GM (2004) Diet-induced insulin resistance promotes amyloidosis in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J 18:902–904.
- Hodges JR, Salmon DP, Butters N (1992) Semantic memory impairment in Alzheimer's Disease : Failure of access or degraded Knowledge ? Newopsychologi 30:301–314.
- Holcomb LA, Gordon MN, Jantzen P, Hsiao K, Duff K, Morgan D (1999) Behavioral changes in transgenic mice expressing both amyloid precursor protein and presenilin-1 mutations: Lack of association with amyloid deposits. Behav Genet 29:177–185.
- Holcomb L, Gordon MN, McGowan E, Yu X, Benkovic S, Jantzen P, Wright K, Saad I, Mueller R, Morgan D, Sanders S, Zehr C, O'Campo K, Hardy J, Prada CM, Eckman C, Younkin S, Hsiao K, Duff K (1998) Accelerated Alzheimer-

type phenotype in transgenic mice carrying both mutant amyloid precursor protein and presenilin 1 transgenes. Nat Med 4:97–100.

- Holmes C, Boche D, Wilkinson D, Yadegarfar G, Hopkins V, Bayer A, Jones RW, Bullock R, Love S, Neal JW, Zotova E, Nicoll JA (2008) Long-term effects of Aβ42 immunisation in Alzheimer's disease: follow-up of a randomised, placebo-controlled phase I trial. Lancet 372:216–223.
- Hommet C, Mondon K, Camus V, Ribeiro MJ, Beaufils E, Arlicot N, Corcia P, Paccalin M, Minier F, Gosselin T, Page G, Guilloteau D, Chalon S (2014) Neuroinflammation and beta amyloid deposition in Alzheimer's disease: in vivo quantification with molecular imaging. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 37:1–18.
- Hori N, Hirotsu I, Davis PJ, Carpenter DO (1992) Long-term potentiation is lost in aged rats but preserved by calorie restriction. Neuroreport 3:1085–1088.
- Horwood JM, Dufour F, Laroche S, Davis S (2006) Signalling mechanisms mediated by the phosphoinositide 3kinase/Akt cascade in synaptic plasticity and memory in the rat. Eur J Neurosci 23:3375–3384.
- Howarth C, Gleeson P, Attwell D (2012) Updated energy budgets for neural computation in the neocortex and cerebellum. J Cereb blood flow Metab 32:1222–1232.
- Hsiao K, Chapman P, Nilsen S, Eckman C, Harigaya Y, Younkin S, Yang F, Cole G (1996) Amyloid plaques in transgenic mice. 274:7–10.
- Hu MC-T, Lee D-F, Xia W, Golfman LS, Ou-Yang F, Yang J-Y, Zou Y, Bao S, Hanada N, Saso H, Kobayashi R, Hung M-C (2004) IkappaB kinase promotes tumorigenesis through inhibition of forkhead FOXO3a. Cell 117:225–237.
- Humphrey AR, McCarty DJ, Mackay IR, Rowley MJ, Dwyer T, Zimmet P (1998) Autoantibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase and phenotypic features associated with early insulin treatment in individuals with adult-onset diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med 15:113–119.
- Hung YH, Bush AI, Cherny RA (2010) Copper in the brain and Alzheimer's disease. JBIC J Biol Inorg Chem 15:61-Moncek76.
- Hussain I, Powell D, Howlett DR, Tew DG, Meek TD, Chapman C, Gloger IS, Murphy KE, Southan CD, Ryan DM, Smith TS, Simmons DL, Walsh FS, Dingwall C, Christie G (1999) Identification of a Novel Aspartic Protease (Asp 2) as β-Secretase. Mol Cell Neurosci 14:419–427.
- Hüttenrauch M, Brauß A, Kurdakova A, Borgers H, Klinker F, Liebetanz D, Salinas-Riester G, Wiltfang J, Klafki HW, Wirths O (2016) Physical activity delays hippocampal neurodegeneration and rescues memory deficits in an Alzheimer disease mouse model. Transl Psychiatry 6:e800.
- Hye A, Kerr F, Archer N, Foy C, Poppe M, Brown R, Hamilton G, Powell J, Anderton B, Lovestone S (2005) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is increased in white cells early in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 373:1–4.
- Idrobo F, Nandy K, Mostofsky DI, Blatt L, Nandy L (1987) Dietary restriction: effects on radial maze learning and lipofuscin pigment deposition in the hippocampus and frontal cortex. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 6:355–362.
- Ingelsson M, Fukumoto H, Newell KL, Growdon JH, Hedley-Whyte ET, Frosch MP, Albert MS, Hyman BT, Irizarry MC (2004) Early Abeta accumulation and progressive synaptic loss, gliosis, and tangle formation in AD brain. Neurology 62:925–931.
- Ingle DJ (1949) A simple means of producing obesity in the rat. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 72:604.
- Irizarry M, McNamara M, K F, Hsiao K Hyman B (1997) APPSw transgenic mice develop age-related Aβ deposits and neuropil abnormalities, but no neuronal loss in CA1. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 56:965–973.
- Isla AG, Vázquez-Cuevas FG, Peña-Ortega F (2016) Exercise prevents amyloid-β-induced hippocampal network disruption by inhibiting GSK3β activation. J Alzheimers Dis 52:333–343.
- Itagaki S, McGeer PL, Akiyama H, Zhu S, Selkoe D (1989) Relationship of microglia and astrocytes to amyloid deposits of Alzheimer disease. J Neuroimmunol 24:173–182.
- Ito M, Kondo Y, Nakatani A, Hayashi K, Naruse A (2001) Characterization of low dose streptozotocin-induced progressive diabetes in mice. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 9:71–78.
- Iwasa H, Yoshida Y, Kai I, Suzuki T, Kim H, Yoshida H (2012) Leisure activities and cognitive function in elderly community-dwelling individuals in Japan: A 5-year prospective cohort study. J Psychosom Res 72:159–164.
- Iwatsubo T, Saido TC, Mann DM, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ (1996) Full-length amyloid-beta (1-42(43)) and aminoterminally modified and truncated amyloid-beta 42(43) deposit in diffuse plaques. Am J Pathol 149:1823–1830.

- Jack CR, Barrio JR, Kepe V (2013) Cerebral amyloid PET imaging in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol 126:643– 657.
- Jack CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Shaw LM, Aisen PS, Weiner MW, Petersen RC, Trojanowski JQ (2010) Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. Lancet Neurol 9:119–128.
- Jack CR, Lowe VJ, Weigand SD, Wiste HJ, Senjem ML, Knopman DS, Shiung MM, Gunter JL, Boeve BF, Kemp BJ, Weiner M, Petersen RC, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (2009) Serial PIB and MRI in normal, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: implications for sequence of pathological events in Alzheimer's disease. Brain 132:1355–1365.
- Jacobsen JS, Wu C-C, Redwine JM, Comery TA, Arias R, Bowlby M, Martone R, Morrison JH, Pangalos MN, Reinhart PH, Bloom FE (2006) Early-onset behavioral and synaptic deficits in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:5161–5166.
- Jalloh I, Carpenter KLH, Helmy A, Carpenter TA, Menon DK, Hutchinson PJ (2015) Glucose metabolism following human traumatic brain injury: methods of assessment and pathophysiological findings. Metab Brain Dis 30:615– 632.
- Jankowsky JL, Melnikova T, Fadale DJ, Xu GM, Slunt HH, Gonzales V, Younkin LH, Younkin SG, Borchelt DR, Savonenko A V (2005) Environmental enrichment mitigates cognitive deficits in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 25:5217–5224.
- Janson J, Laedtke T, Parisi JE, O'Brien P, Petersen RC, Butler PC (2004) Increased risk of type 2 diabetes in Alzheimer disease. Diabetes 53:474–481.
- Janus C P, J M, PM M (2000) Aβ peptide immunization reduces behavioural impairment and plaques in a model of Alzheimer's disease. 334:1998–2001.
- Jarrett JT, Lansburry PT (1993) Seeding "one dimensional cristallization" of amyloid: a pathogenic mechanism in Alzheimer's disease and scrapie? Cell 73:1055–1058.
- Jellinger KA (2008) The pathology of "vascular dementia": A critical update. J Alzheimers Dis 14:107–123.
- Jensen LE, Bultynck G, Luyten T, Amijee H, Bootman MD, Roderick HL (2013) Alzheimer's disease-associated peptide Aβ42 mobilizes ER Ca(2+) via InsP3R-dependent and -independent mechanisms. Front Mol Neurosci 6-36.
- Jeon BT, Jeong EA, Shin HJ, Lee Y, Lee DH, Kim HJ, Kang SS, Cho GJ, Choi WS, Roh GS (2012) Resveratrol attenuates obesity-associated peripheral and central inflammation and improves memory deficit in mice fed a high-fat diet. Diabetes 61:1444–1454.
- Jewell JL, Guan KL (2013) Nutrient signaling to mTOR and cell growth. Trends Biochem Sci 38:233–242.
- Jiang S, Li Y, Zhang X, Bu G, Xu H, Zhang Y (2014) Trafficking regulation of proteins in Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurodegener 9:6.
- Jimenez S, Torres M, Vizuete M, Sanchez-Varo R, Sanchez-Mejias E, Trujillo-Estrada L, Carmona-Cuenca I, Caballero C, Ruano D, Gutierrez A, Vitorica J (2011) Age-dependent accumulation of soluble amyloid beta (Aβ) oligomers reverses the neuroprotective effect of soluble amyloid precursor protein-α (sAPPα) by modulating phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt-GSK-3β pathway in Alzheimer mouse model. J Biol Chem 286:18414–18425.
- John M, Ikuta T, Ferbinteanu J (2016) Graph analysis of structural brain networks in Alzheimer's disease: beyond small world properties. Brain Struct Funct:1–20.
- Johnson AMF, Olefsky JM (2013) The origins and drivers of insulin resistance. Cell 152:673-684.
- Johnson KA, Fox NC, Sperling RA, Klunk WE (2012) Brain Imaging in Alzheimer Disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006213–a006213.
- Julien C, Tremblay C, Phivilay A, Berthiaume L, Emond V, Julien P, Calon F (2010) High-fat diet aggravates amyloidbeta and tau pathologies in the 3xTg-AD mouse model. Neurobiol Aging 31:1516–1531.
- Jurgensen S, Antonio LL, Mussi GEA, Brito-Moreira J, Bomfim TR, De Felice FG, Garrido-Sanabria ER, Cavalheiro EA, Ferreira ST (2011) Activation of D1/D5 dopamine receptors protects neurons from synapse dysfunction induced by amyloid oligomers. J Biol Chem 286:3270–3276.
- Kaczmarczyk MM, Machaj AS, Chiu GS, Lawson MA, Gainey SJ, York JM, Meling DD, Martin SA, Kwakwa KA, Newman AF, Woods JA, Kelley KW, Wang Y, Miller MJ, Freund GG (2013) Methylphenidate prevents high-fat diet (HFD)-induced learning/memory impairment in juvenile mice. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38:1553–1564.

- Kahn CR, Vicent D, Doria A (1996) Genetics of non-insulin-dependent (type-II) diabetes mellitus. Annu Rev Med 47:509–531.
- Kahn SE, Alessio DAD, Schwartz MW, Fujimoto WY, Ensinck JW, Taborsky GJ, Porte D (1990) Evidence of Cosecretion of Islet Amyloid Polypeptide and Insulin by β-Cells. Diabetes 39:634–638.
- Kalalian-Moghaddam H, Baluchnejadmojarad T, Roghani M, Goshadrou F, Ronaghi A (2013) Hippocampal synaptic plasticity restoration and anti-apoptotic effect underlie berberine improvement of learning and memory in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Eur J Pharmacol 698:259–266.
- Kalmijn S, Launer LJ, Ott A, Witteman JCM, Hofman A, Breteler MMB (1997) Dietary fat intake and the risk of incident dementia in the Rotterdam study. Ann Neurol 42:776–782.
- Kamal A, Biessels GJ, Gispen WH, Ramakers GMJ (2006) Synaptic transmission changes in the pyramidal cells of the hippocampus in streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus in rats. Brain Res 1073–1074:276–280.
- Kamat PK, Kalani A, Rai S, Tota SK, Kumar A, Ahmad AS (2016) Streptozotocin intracerebroventricular-induced neurotoxicity and brain insulin resistance: a therapeutic intervention for treatment of sporadic Alzheimer's Disease (sAD)-like pathology. Mol Neurobiol 53:4548–4562.
- Kammesheidt A, Boyce FM, Spanoyannis AF, Cummings BJ, Ortegón M, Cotman C, Vaught JL, Neve RL (1992) Deposition of beta/A4 immunoreactivity and neuronal pathology in transgenic mice expressing the carboxylterminal fragment of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor in the brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89:10857–10861.
- Kang J, Lemaire H-G, Unterbeck A, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Grzeschik K-H, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K, Müller-Hill B (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. Nature 325:733–736.
- Kapaki E, Paraskevas GP, Mantzou E, Papapostolou A, Alevizaki M, Vassilopoulos D (2006) Thyroid function in patients with Alzheimer Disease: Implications on response to Anticholinesterase treatment. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 20:242–247.
- Karp A, Kåreholt I, Qiu C, Bellander T, Winblad B, Fratiglioni L (2004) Relation of education and occupation-based socioeconomic status to incident Alzheimer's disease. Am J Epidemiol 159:175–183.
- Kawabata S, Higgins GA, Gordon JW (1991) Amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles and neuronal loss in brains of transgenic mice overexpressing a C-terminal fragment of human amyloid precursor protein. Nature 354:476–478.
- Keene JM, Hope T (1997) Hyperphagia in dementia: 2. Food choices and their macronutrient contents in hyperphagia, dementia and ageing. Appetite 28:167–175.
- Kelly M, Birch AM, Mcgarry NB (2013) Short-term environmental enrichment, in the absence of exercise, improves emory and increases NGF concentration, early neuronal survival and synaptogenesis in the dentate gyrus in a time-dependent manner. Hippocampus 23:437–450.
- Kempermann G, Kuhn HG, Gage FH (1998) Experience-induced neurogenesis in the senescent dentate gyrus. J Neurosci 18:3206–3212.
- Khamzina L, Veilleux A, Bergeron S, Marette A (2005) Increased activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin pathway in liver and skeletal muscle of obese rats: Possible involvement in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Endocrinology 146:1473–1481.
- Khemka VK, Bagchi D, Bandyopadhyay K, Bir A, Chattopadhyay M, Biswas A, Basu D, Chakrabarti S (2014) Altered serum levels of adipokines and insulin in probable Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 41:525–533.
- Killgore WDS, Olson EA, Weber M (2013) Physical exercise habits correlate with gray matter volume of the hippocampus in healthy adult humans. Sci Rep 3:3457.
- Kim I, Lee J, Hong HJ, Jung ES, Ku YH, Jeong IK, Cho YM, So I, Park KS, Mook-Jung I (2010) A relationship between Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus through the measurement of serum amyloid-beta autoantibodies. J Alzheimers Dis 19:1371–1376.
- Kim M, Hersh LB, Leissring MA, Ingelsson M, Matsui T, Farris W, Lu A, Hyman BT, Selkoe DJ, Bertram L, Tanzi RE (2007) Decreased catalytic activity of the insulin-degrading enzyme in chromosome 10-linked Alzheimer disease families. J Biol Chem 282:7825–7832.
- Kimberly WT, Esler WP, Ye W, Ostaszewski BL, Gao J, Diehl T, Selkoe DJ, Wolfe MS (2003) Notch and the Amyloid Precursor Protein Are Cleaved by Similar γ-Secretase(s). Biochemistry 42:137–144.
- King A, Bowe J (2016) Animal models for diabetes: Understanding the pathogenesis and finding new treatments. Biochem Pharmacol 99:1–10.

- King DL, Arendash GW (2002) Behavioral characterization of the Tg2576 transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease through 19 months. Physiol Behav 75:627–642.
- King S, Klineberg I, Levinger I, Brennan-Speranza TC (2016) The effect of hyperglycaemia on osseointegration: a review of animal models of diabetes mellitus and titanium implant placement. Arch Osteoporos 11:1-29.
- Kirkman MS, Briscoe VJ, Clark N, Florez H (2012) Diabetes in older adults: Consesus report. J Am Geriatr Soc 60:2342–2356.
- Kirova A-M, Bays RB, Lagalwar S, Kirova A-M, Bays RB, Lagalwar S (2015) Working memory and executive function decline across normal aging, mild cognitive impairment, and Alzheimer's Disease. Biomed Res Int 2015:1–9.
- Kistler B, Rolink A, Marienfeld R, Neumann M, Wirth T (1998) Induction of nuclear NF-kB during primary β-cell differentiation. JImmunol 160:2308–2317.
- Kitada M, Ogura Y, Koya D (2016) Rodent models of diabetic nephropathy: Their utility and limitations. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis 9:279–290.
- Kitaguchi N, Takahashi Y, Tokushima Y, Shiojiri S, Ito H (1988) Novel precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid protein shows protease inhibitory activity. Nature 331:530–532.
- Kitamura T, Mishina M, Sugiyama H (2003) Enhancement of neurogenesis by running wheel exercises is suppressed in mice lacking NMDA receptor ε1 subunit. Neurosci Res 47:55–63.
- Kitamura T, Mishina M, Sugiyama H (2006) Dietary restriction increases hippocampal neurogenesis by molecular mechanisms independent of NMDA receptors. Neurosci Lett 393:94–96.
- Klunk WE et al. (2004) Imaging brain amyloid in Alzheimer's disease with Pittsburgh Compound-B. Ann Neurol 55:306– 319.
- Knight EM, Martins IVA, Gümüsgöz S, Allan SM, Lawrence CB (2014) High-fat diet-induced memory impairment in triple-transgenic Alzheimer's disease (3xTgAD) mice isindependent of changes in amyloid and tau pathology. Neurobiol Aging 35:1821–1832.
- Knopman DS, Parisi JE, Salviati A, Floriach-Robert M, Boeve BF, Ivnik RJ, Smith GE, Dickson DW, Johnson KA, Petersen LE, McDonald WC, Braak H, Petersen RC (2003) Neuropathology of cognitively normal elderly. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 62:1087–1095.
- Koch W, Teipel S, Mueller S, Benninghoff J, Wagner M, Bokde ALW, Hampel H, Coates U, Reiser M, Meindl T (2012) Diagnostic power of default mode network resting state fMRI in the detection of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 33:466–478.
- Kodl CT, Seaquist ER (2008) Cognitive dysfunction and diabetes mellitus. Endocr Rev 29:494–511.
- Kondo M, Takei Y, Hirokawa N (2012) Article motor protein KIF1A is essential for hippocampal synaptogenesis and learning enhancement in an enriched environment. Neuron 73:743–757.
- Koo EH, Sisodia SS, Archer DR, Martin LJ, Weidemann A, Beyreuther K, Fischer P, Masters CL, Price DL (1990) Precursor of amyloid protein in Alzheimer disease undergoes fast anterograde axonal transport. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:1561–1565.
- Kopycinska J, Kempińska-Podhorodecka A, Haas T, Elias E, Depinho RA, Paik J, Milkiewicz P, Milkiewicz M (2013) Activation of FoxO3a/Bim axis in patients with Primary Biliary Cirrhosis. Liver Int 33:231–238.
- Korolev IO, Symonds LL, Bozoki AC (2016) Predicting progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's dementia using clinical, MRI, and plasma biomarkers via probabilistic pattern classification. PLoS One 11: e0138866.
- Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044–4048.
- Kraft R (2015) STIM and ORAI proteins in the nervous system. Anal Cell Pathol 9:244–252.
- Kreitzman SN, Coxon AY, Szaz KF (1992) Glycogen storage: illusions of easy weight loss, excessive weight regain, and distortions in estimates of body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 56:292S–293S.
- Kretschmer BD, Schelling P, Beier N, Liebscher C, Treutel S, Krüger N, Scholz H-P, Haus A (2005) Modulatory role of food, feeding regime and physical exercise on body weight and insulin resistance. Life Sci 76:1553–1573.
- Kukull WA, Higdon R, Bowen JD, McCormick WC, Teri L, Schellenberg GD, van Belle G, Jolley L, Larson EB (2002) Dementia and Alzheimer disease incidence: a prospective cohort study. Arch Neurol 59:1737–1746.

- Kulstad JJ, Green PS, Cook DG, Watson GS, Reger M a, Baker LD, Plymate SR, Asthana S, Rhoads K, Mehta PD, Craft S (2006) Differential modulation of plasma beta-amyloid by insulin in patients with Alzheimer disease. Neurology 66:1506–1510.
- Kumar-Singh S, Dewachter I, Moechars D, Lübke U, De Jonghe C, Ceuterick C, Checler F, Naidu a, Cordell B, Cras P, Van Broeckhoven C, Van Leuven F (2000) Behavioral disturbances without amyloid deposits in mice overexpressing human amyloid precursor protein with Flemish (A692G) or Dutch (E693Q) mutation. Neurobiol Dis 7:9–22.
- Kwak Y-D, Brannen CL, Qu T, Kim HM, Dong X, Soba P, Majumdar A, Kaplan A, Beyreuther K, Sugaya K (2006) Amyloid precursor protein regulates differentiation of human neural stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 15:381–389.
- LaFerla FM, Green KN, Oddo S (2007) Intracellular amyloid-β in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:499–509.
- Lannert H, Hoyer S (1998) Intracerebroventricular administration of streptozotocin causes long-term diminutions in learning and memory abilities and in cerebral energy metabolism in adult rats. Behav Neurosci 112:1199–1208.
- Lannfelt L, Basun H, Wahlund LO, Rowe BA, Wagner SL (1995) Decreased alpha-secretase-cleaved amyloid precursor protein as a diagnostic marker for Alzheimer's disease. Nat Med 1:829–832.
- Lanz TA, Carter DB, Merchant KM (2003) Dendritic spine loss in the hippocampus of young PDAPP and Tg2576 mice and its prevention by the ApoE2 genotype. Neurobiol Dis 13:246–253.
- Laplante M, Sabatini DM (2012) MTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell 149:274–293.
- Lappas M (2014) GSK3β is increased in adipose tissue and skeletal muscle from women with gestational diabetes where it regulates the inflammatory response. PLoS One 9:1–24.
- Lardinois CK, Starich GH (1991) Polyunsaturated fats enhance peripheral glucose utilization in rats. J Am Coll Nutr 10:340–345.
- Larson J, Lynch G, Games D, Seubert P (1999) Alterations in synaptic transmission and long-term potentiation in hippocampal slices from young and aged PDAPP mice. Brain Res 840:23–35.
- Larson M, Sherman MA, Amar F, Nuvolone M, Schneider JA, Bennett DA, Aguzzi A, Lesné SE (2012) The complex PrP(c)-Fyn couples human oligomeric Aβ with pathological tau changes in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 32:16857–71.
- Larson ME, Lesne SE (2012) Soluble Abeta oligomer production and toxicity. J Neurochem 120 Suppl:125–139.
- Lassmann H, Bancher C, Breitschopf H, Wegiel J, Bobinski M, Jellinger K, Wisniewski HM (1995) Cell death in Alzheimer's disease evaluated by DNA fragmentation in situ. Acta Neuropathol 89:35–41.
- Launer LJ, Andersen K, Dewey ME, Letenneur L, Ott A, Amaducci LA, Brayne C, Copeland JR, Dartigues JF, Kragh-Sorensen P, Lobo A, Martinez-Lage JM, Stijnen T, Hofman A (1999) Rates and risk factors for dementia and Alzheimer's disease: results from EURODEM pooled analyses. EURODEM Incidence Research Group and Work Groups. European Studies of Dementia. Neurology 52:78–84.
- Laurin D, Verreault R, Lindsay J, MacPherson K, Rockwood K (2001) Physical activity and risk of cognitive impairment and dementia in elderly persons. Arch Neurol 58:498–504.
- Laviola G, Hannan AJ, Macrì S, Solinas M, Jaber M (2008) Neurobiology of Disease Effects of enriched environment on animal models of neurodegenerative diseases and psychiatric disorders. 31:159–168.
- Lazarov O, Robinson J, Tang Y-P, Hairston IS, Korade-Mirnics Z, Lee VM-Y, Hersh LB, Sapolsky RM, Mirnics K, Sisodia SS (2005) Environmental enrichment reduces Abeta levels and amyloid deposition in transgenic mice. Cell 120:701–713.
- Lazarus R, Prettyman R, Cherryman G (2005) White matter lesions on magnetic resonance imaging and their relationship with vascular risk factors in memory clinic attenders. Int J Ger 20:274–279.
- Leahy JL (2005) Pathogenesis of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Arch Med Res 36:197-209.
- Lehmann M, Crutch SJ, Ridgway GR, Ridha BH, Barnes J, Warrington EK, Rossor MN, Fox NC (2011) Cortical thickness and voxel-based morphometry in posterior cortical atrophy and typical Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 32:1466–1476.
- Leissring MA, Farris W, Chang AY, Walsh DM, Wu X, Sun X, Frosch MP, Selkoe DJ (2003) Enhanced proteolysis of βamyloid in APP transgenic mice prevents plaque formation, secondary pathology, and premature death. Neuron 40:1087–1093.
- Leissring MA, Farris W, Wu X, Christodoulou DC, Haigis MC, Guarente L, Selkoe DJ (2004) Alternative translation initiation generates a novel isoform of insulin-degrading enzyme targeted to mitochondria. Biochem J 383:439–446.
- Lemere CA, Masliah E (2010) Can Alzheimer disease be prevented by amyloid-beta immunotherapy? Nat Rev Neurol 6:108–119
- Lenzi D, Serra L, Perri R, Pantano P, Lenzi GL, Paulesu E, Caltagirone C, Bozzali M, Macaluso E (2011) Single domain amnestic MCI: a multiple cognitive domains fMRI investigation. Neurobiol Aging 32:1542–1557.
- Leong MLL, Maiyar AC, Kim B, Keeffe BAO, Firestone GL (2003) Expression of the Serum- and Glucocorticoidinducible protein kinase, Sgk, is a cell survival response to multiple types of environmental stress stimuli in mammary epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 278:5871–5882.
- Lesné S, Koh MT, Kotilinek L, Kayed R, Glabe CG, Yang A, Gallagher M, Ashe KH (2006) A specific amyloid-β protein assembly in the brain impairs memory. Nature 440:352–357.
- Lester-Coll N, Rivera EJ, Soscia SJ, Doiron K, Wands JR, de la Monte SM (2006) Intracerebral streptozotocin model of type 3 diabetes: relevance to sporadic Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 9:13–33.
- Levi O, Jongen-Relo AL, Feldon J, Roses AD, Michaelson DM (2003) ApoE4 impairs hippocampal plasticity isoformspecifically and blocks the environmental stimulation of synaptogenesis and memory. Neurobiol Dis 13:273–282.
- Levin BE, Dunn-Meynell AA (2002) Reduced central leptin sensitivity in rats with diet-induced obesity. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283:R941-8.
- Levine H (1995) Soluble multimeric Alzheimer beta(1-40) pre-amyloid complexes in dilute solution. Neurobiol Aging 16:755–764.
- Levites Y, Das P, Price RW, Rochette MJ, Kostura LA, McGowan EM, Murphy MP, Golde TE (2005) Anti-Aβ42- and anti-Aβ40-specific mAbs attenuate amyloid deposition in an Alzheimer disease mouse model. J Clin Invest 116:193–201.
- Levy-lahad AE et al. (1995) Candidate gene for the chromosome 1 familial Alzheimer's Disease locus. Science 269:973–977.
- Levy E, Carman MD, Fernandezmadrid IJ, Power MD, Lieberburg I, Vanduinen SG, Bots G, Luyendijk W, Frangione B (1990) Mutation of the Alzheimers-Disease amyloid gene in hereditary cerebral-hemorrhage, Dutch Type. Science 248:1124–1126.
- Li N et al. (2013) Loss of acinar cell IKK a triggers spontaneous pancreatitis in mice. J Clin Invest 123:2231–2243.
- Li S, Hong S, Shepardson NE, Walsh DM, Shankar GM, Selkoe D (2009) Soluble oligomers of amyloid β protein facilitate hippocampal long-term depression by disrupting neuronal glutamate uptake. Neuron 62:788–801.
- Li X, Song D, Leng SX (2015) Link between type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease : from epidemiology to mechanism and treatment. Clin Interv Aging 10:549–560.
- Li Y, Tennekoon GI, Birnbaum M, Marchionni MA, Rutkowski JL (2001) Neuregulin signaling through a PI3K/Akt/Bad pathway in Schwann cell survival. Mol Cell Neurosci 17:761–767.
- Lin X, Koelsch G, Wu S, Downs D, Dashti A, Tang J (2000) Human aspartic protease memapsin 2 cleaves the betasecretase site of beta-amyloid precursor protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:1456–1460.
- Lindsay J, Laurin D, Verreault R, Hébert R, Helliwell B, Hill GB, McDowell I (2002) Risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: a prospective analysis from the Canadian Study of Health and Aging. Am J Epidemiol 156:445–453.
- Lista I, Sorrentino G (2010) Biological mechanisms of physical activity in preventing cognitive decline. Cell Mol Neurobiol 30:493–503.
- Litersky JM, Johnson G V, Jakes R, Goedert M, Lee M, Seubert P (1996) Tau protein is phosphorylated by cyclic AMPdependent protein kinase and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II within its microtubule-binding domains at Ser-262 and Ser-356. Biochem J:655–660.
- Liu F, Brezniceanu ML, Wei CC, Chenier I, Sachetelli S, Zhang SL, Filep JG, Ingelfinger JR, Chan JS (2008a) Overexpression of angiotensinogen increases tubular apoptosis in diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol 19:269–280.
- Liu H Ii, Zhao G, Zhang H, Shi L de (2013) Long-term treadmill exercise inhibits the progression of Alzheimer's diseaselike neuropathology in the hippocampus of APP/PS1 transgenic mice. Behav Brain Res 256:261–272.
- Liu L, Guo X-E, Zhou Y-Q, Xia J-L (2003) Prevalence of dementia in China. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 15:226-230.

- Liu P et al. (2014) Cell-cycle-regulated activation of Akt kinase by phosphorylation at its carboxyl terminus. Nature 508:541–545..
- Liu Q, Zerbinatti C V, Zhang J, Hoe H-S, Wang B, Cole SL, Herz J, Muglia L, Bu G (2007) Amyloid precursor protein regulates brain apolipoprotein E and cholesterol metabolism through lipoprotein receptor LRP1. Neuron 56:66–78.
- Liu Y, Grundke-Iqbal FLI, Gong KI and C-X (2011) Deficient brain insulin signalling pathway in Alzheimer's disease and diabetes. J pathol 225:54–62.
- Liu Y, Liu F, Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I, Al. C-XG et (2008b) Decreased glucose transporters correlate to abnormal hyperphosphorylation of tau in Alzheimer disease. FEBS Lett 582:359–364.
- Liu Z, Patil IY, Jiang T, Sancheti H, Walsh JP, Stiles BL, Yin F, Cadenas E (2015) High-fat diet induces hepatic insulin resistance and impairment of synaptic plasticity. PLoS One 10:e0128274.
- Llovera RE, De Tullio M, Alonso LG, Leissring MA, Kaufman SB, Roher AE, Gay GDP, Morelli L, Castaño EM (2008) The catalytic domain of insulin-degrading enzyme forms a denaturant-resistant complex with amyloid β peptide: Implications for Alzheimer disease pathogenesis. J Biol Chem 283:17039–17048.
- Long Z, Zheng M, Zhao L, Xie P, Song C, Chu Y, Song W, He G (2013) Valproic acid attenuates neuronal loss in the brain of APP/PS1 double transgenic Alzheimer's disease mice model. Curr Alzheimer Res 10:261–269.
- Lorenzo A, Yankner BA (1994) Beta-amyloid neurotoxicity requires fibril formation and is inhibited by congo red. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:12243–12247.
- Lövdén M, Bodammer NC, Kühn S, Kaufmann J, Schütze H, Tempelmann C, Heinze HJ, Düzel E, Schmiedek F, Lindenberger U (2010) Experience-dependent plasticity of white-matter microstructure extends into old age. Neuropsychologia 48:3878–3883.
- Lu FP, Lin KP, Kuo HK (2009) Diabetes and the risk of multi-system aging phenotypes: A systematic review and metaanalysis. PLoS One 4: e4144.
- Luchsinger JA, Tang M-X, Shea S, Mayeux R (2002) Caloric intake and the risk of Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 59:1258–1263.
- Luchsinger JA, Gustafson DR (2009) Adiposity and Alzheimer's disease. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 12:15–21.
- Luchsinger JA, Tang M-X, Shea S, Mayeux R (2004) Hyperinsulinemia and risk of Alzheimer disease. Neurology 63:1187–1192.
- Luchsinger JA, Tang MX, Stern Y, Shea S, Mayeux R (2001) Diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer's disease and dementia with stroke in a multiethnic cohort. Am J Epidemiol 154:635–641.
- Lue LF, Brachova L, Civin WH, Rogers J (1996) Inflammation, A beta deposition, and neurofibrillary tangle formation as correlates of Alzheimer's disease neurodegeneration. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 55:1083–1088.
- Lue LF, Kuo YM, Roher AE, Brachova L, Shen Y, Sue L, Beach T, Kurth JH, Rydel RE, Rogers J (1999) Soluble amyloid beta peptide concentration as a predictor of synaptic change in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol 155:853–862.
- Lue LF, Walker DG (2002) Modeling Alzheimer's disease immune therapy mechanisms: Interactions of human postmortem microglia with antibody-opsonized amyloid beta peptide. J Neurosci Res 70:599–610.
- Lue LF, Walker DG, Rogers J (2001) Modeling microglial activation in Alzheimer's disease with human postmortem microglial cultures. Neurobiol Aging 22:945–956.
- Lund S, Flyvbjerg A, Holman GD, Larsen FS, Pedersen O, Schmitz O (1994) Comparative effects of IGF-I and insulin on the glucose transporter system in rat muscle. Am J Physiol 267:E461-6.
- Ma T, Hoeffer CA, Capetillo-Zarate E, Yu F, Wong H, Lin MT, Tampellini D, Klann E, Blitzer RD, Gouras GK (2010) Dysregulation of the mTOR pathway mediates impairment of synaptic plasticity in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 5:1–10.
- Ma X, Li Z, Jing B, Liu H, Li D, Li H (2016) Identify the atrophy of Alzheimer's Disease, mild cognitive impairment and normal aging using morphometric MRI analysis. Front Aging Neurosci 8:1–10.
- Ma YQ, Wu DK, Liu JK (2013) mTOR and tau phosphorylated proteins in the hippocampal tissue of rats with type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. Mol Med Rep 7:623–627.

- Mably AJ, Liu W, Mc JM, Dodart J, Bard F, Lemere CA, Nuallain BO, Walsh DM (2015) Anti-Aβ antibodies incapable of reducing cerebral Aβ oligomers fail to attenuate spatial referencememory deficits in J20mice. Neurobiol Dis 82:372–384.
- Maccioni RB, Muñoz JP, Barbeito L (2001) The molecular bases of Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. Arch Med Res 32:367–381.
- Mackenzie RW, Elliott BT (2014) Akt/PKB activation and insulin signaling: a novel insulin signaling pathway in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes 7:55–64.
- Maesako M, Uemura K, Kubota M, Kuzuya A, Sasaki K, Asada M, Watanabe K, Hayashida N, Ihara M, Ito H, Shimohama S, Kihara T, Kinoshita A (2012a) Environmental enrichment ameliorated high-fat diet-induced Aβ deposition and memory deficit in APP transgenic mice. Neurobiol Aging 33:1011.e11-23.
- Magdesian MH, Carvalho MMVF, Mendes FA, Saraiva LM, Juliano MA, Juliano L, Garcia-Abreu J, Ferreira ST (2008) Amyloid- Binds to the Extracellular Cysteine-rich Domain of Frizzled and Inhibits Wnt/ β-Catenin Signaling. J Biol Chem 283:9359–9368.
- Maiuri MC, Zalckvar E, Kimchi A, Kroemer G (2007) Self-eating and self-killing: crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:741–752.
- Mancino A, Habbeddine M, Johnson E, Luron L, Bebien M, Memet S, Fong C, Bajenoff M, Wu X, Karin M, Caamano J, Chi H, Seed M, Lawrence T (2013) I kappa B kinase alpha (IKKα) activity is required for functional maturation of dendritic cells and acquired immunity to infection. EMBO J 32:816–828.
- Mandelkow EM, Mandelkow E (1998) Tau in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Cell Biol 8:425-427.
- Manning B, Cantley L (2007) AKT/PKB Signalling: Navigating Downstream. Cell 129:1261–1274.
- Marchetti M, Marie H (2011) Hippocampal synaptic plasticity in Alzheimer's disease: What have we learned so far from transgenic models? Rev Neurosci 22:373–402.
- Marlatt MW, Potter MC, Bayer TA, van Praag H, Lucassen PJ (2013) Prolonged Running, not Fluoxetine Treatment, Increases Neurogenesis, but does not Alter Neuropathology, in the 3xTg Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. In: Current topics in behavioral neurosciences, pp 313–340.
- Martha Clare Morris; Denis A. Evans, MD; Christine C. Tangney, PhD; Julia L. Bienias SRSW (2005) Fish consumption and cognitive decline with age in a large community study. Arch Neurol 62:1849–1853.
- Martins R, Lithgow G, Link W (2016) Long live FOXO: Unraveling the role of FOXO proteins in aging and longevity. Aging Cell 15:196–207.
- Masliah E, Hansen LA, Quijada S, Deteresa R, Alford M, Kauss J, Terry R (1991) Late onset dementia with argyrophilic grains and subcortical tangles or atypical progressive supranuclear palsy? Ann Neurol 29:389–396.
- Masliah E, Mallory M, Hansen L, DeTeresa R, Alford M, Terry R (1994) Synaptic and neuritic alterations during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 174:67–72.
- Masliah E, Sisk A, Mallory M, Games D (2001) Neurofibrillary pathology in transgenic mice overexpressing V717F βamyloid precursor protein. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 60:357–368.
- Mattson MP, Duan W, Guo Z (2003) Meal size and frequency affect neuronal plasticity and vulnerability to disease: cellular and molecular mechanisms. J Neurochem 84:417–431.
- Maurer K, Volk S, Gerbaldo H (1997) Auguste D and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 349:1906–1909.
- McCarthy MI (2015) Genomic medicine at the heart of diabetes management. Diabetologia 58:1725–1729.
- McClean PL, Parthsarathy V, Faivre E, Holscher C (2011) The Diabetes Drug Liraglutide Prevents Degenerative Processes in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. J Neurosci 31:6587–6594.
- McLellan KCP, Lerario AC, Burini RC (2011) Prevention of diabetes: Effects of a lifestyle intervention. InTech 8: 163-176.
- McNay EC, Ong CT, McCrimmon RJ, Cresswell J, Bogan JS, Sherwin RS (2010) Hippocampal memory processes are modulated by insulin and high-fat-induced insulin resistance. Neurobiol Learn Mem 93:546–553.
- Medina M, Wandosell F (2011) Deconstructing GSK-3: The fine regulation of its activity. Int J Alzheimers Dis 2011:479249.
- Meneilly GS, Tessier DM (2016) Diabetes, dementia and hypoglycemia. Can J Diabetes 40:73–76.

- Mercken EM, Carboneau BA, Krzysik-Walker SM, De Cabo R (2012) Of mice and men: The benefits of caloric restriction, exercise, and mimetics. Ageing Res Rev 11:390–398.
- Meziane H, Dodart JC, Mathis C, Little S, Clemens J, Paul SM, Ungerer A (1998) Memory-enhancing effects of secreted forms of the beta-amyloid precursor protein in normal and amnestic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:12683–12688.
- Middleton LE, Barnes DE, Lui LY, Yaffe K (2010) Physical activity over the life course and its association with cognitive performance and impairment in old age. J Am Geriatr Soc 58:1322–1326.
- Mielke JG, Nicolitch K, Avellaneda V, Earlam K, Ahuja T, Mealing G, Messier C (2006) Longitudinal study of the effects of a high-fat diet on glucose regulation, hippocampal function, and cerebral insulin sensitivity in C57BL/6 mice. Behav Brain Res 175:374–382.
- Mielke JG, Taghibiglou C, Liu L, Zhang Y, Jia Z, Adeli K, Wang YT (2005) A biochemical and functional characterization of diet-induced brain insulin resistance. J Neurochem 93:1568–1578.
- Miklossy J, Qing H, Radenovic A, Kis A, Vileno B, Làszló F, Miller L, Martins RN, Waeber G, Mooser V, Bosman F, Khalili K, Darbinian N, McGeer PL (2010) Beta amyloid and hyperphosphorylated tau deposits in the pancreas in type 2 diabetes. Neurobiol Aging 31:1503–1515.
- Miller BC, Eckman EA, Sambamurti K, Dobbs N, Chow KM, Eckman CB, Hersh LB, Thiele DL (2003) Amyloid-beta peptide levels in brain are inversely correlated with insulysin activity levels in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:6221–6226.
- Miller SL, Celone K, DePeau K, Diamond E, Dickerson BC, Rentz D, Pihlajamäki M, Sperling RA (2008) Age-related memory impairment associated with loss of parietal deactivation but preserved hippocampal activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:2181–2186.
- Minina EA, Sanchez-Vera V, Moschou PN, Suarez MF, Sundberg E, Weih M, Bozhkov P V. (2013) Autophagy mediates caloric restriction-induced lifespan extension in Arabidopsis. Aging Cell 12:327–329.
- Minoshima S, Giordani B, Berent S, Frey KA, Foster NL, Kuhl DE (1997) Metabolic reduction in the posterior cingulate cortex in very early Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 42:85–94.
- Mintun MA, Larossa GN, Sheline YI, Dence CS, Lee SY, Mach RH, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, DeKosky ST, Morris JC (2006) [11C]PIB in a nondemented population: potential antecedent marker of Alzheimer disease. Neurology 67:446–452.
- Mirochnic S, Wolf S, Staufenbiel M, Kempermann G (2009) Age effects on the regulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis by physical activity and environmental enrichment in the APP23 mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Hippocampus 19:1008–1018.
- Mitchell JC, Ariff BB, Yates DM, Lau K-F, Perkinton MS, Rogelj B, Stephenson JD, Miller CCJ, McLoughlin DM (2009) X11beta rescues memory and long-term potentiation deficits in Alzheimer's disease APPswe Tg2576 mice. Hum Mol Genet 18:4492–4500.
- Mittal K, Katare DP (2016) Shared links between type 2 diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease: A review. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev 10:1–6.
- Moechars D, Dewachter I, Reversé D, Baekelandt V, Naidu A, Tesseur I, Spittaels K, Haute V Den, Checler F, Cordell B, Van F, Chem JB, Lorent K, Reverse D, Haute C Van Den, Godaux E, Leuven F Van (1999) Early Phenotypic Changes in Transgenic Mice That Overexpress Different Mutants of Amyloid Precursor Protein in Brain Early Phenotypic Changes in Transgenic Mice That Overexpress Different Mutant. 274:6483–6492.
- Moloney AM, Griffin RJ, Timmons S, O'Connor R, Ravid R, O'Neill C (2010) Defects in IGF-1 receptor, insulin receptor and IRS-1/2 in Alzheimer's disease indicate possible resistance to IGF-1 and insulin signalling. Neurobiol Aging 31:224–243.
- Monsonego A, Imitola J, Petrovic S, Zota V, Nemirovsky A, Baron R, Fisher Y, Owens T, Weiner HL (2006) A betainduced meningoencephalitis is IFN-gamma-dependent and is associated with T cell-dependent clearance of A beta in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:5048–5053.
- Mooradian AD, Chung HC, Shah GN (1997) GLUT-1 expression in the cerebra of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 18:469–474.
- Moore KM, Girens RE, Larson SK, Jones MR, Restivo JL, Holtzman DM, Cirrito JR, Yuede CM, Zimmerman SD, Timson BF (2016) A spectrum of exercise training reduces soluble Aβ in a dose-dependent manner in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis 85:218–224.

- Mora F, Segovia G, Arco A (2007) Aging , plasticity and environmental enrichment: Structural changes and neurotransmitter dynamics in several areas of the brain. Brain Res Rev 5:78–88.
- Moraes JC, Coope A, Morari J, Cintra DE, Roman EA, Pauli JR, Romanatto T, Carvalheira JB, Oliveira ALR, Saad MJ, Velloso LA (2009) High-fat diet induces apoptosis of hypothalamic neurons. PLoS One 4: e5045.
- Morais Cardoso S, Swerdlow RH, Oliveira CR (2002) Induction of cytochrome c-mediated apoptosis by amyloid β 25-35 requires functional mitochondria. Brain Res 931:117–125.
- Morgan D, Diamond DM, Gottschall PE, Ugen KE, Dickey C, Hardy J, Duff K, Jantzen P, DiCarlo G, Wilcock D, Connor K, Hatcher J, Hope C, Gordon M, Arendash GW (2000) Aβ peptide vaccination prevents memory loss in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 408:982–985.
- Morris RG, Garrud P, Rawlins JN, O'Keefe J (1982) Place navigation impaired in rats with hippocampal lesions. Nature 297:681–683.
- Morroni F, Sita G, Tarozzi A, Rimondini R, Hrelia P (2016) Early effects of Aβ1-42 oligomers injection in mice: Involvement of PI3K/Akt/GSK3 and MAPK/ERK1/2 pathways. Behav Brain Res 314:106–115.
- Mortimore GE, Pösö AR (1987) Intracellular protein catabolism and its control during nutrient deprivation and supply. Annu Rev Nutr 7:539–564.
- Mortimore GE, Poso AR, Lardeux BR (1989) Mechanism and regulation of protein degradation in liver. Diabetes/Metab Rev 5:49–70.
- Mosconi L, Santi S De, Li Y, Li J, Zhan J, Tsui WH, Boppana M, Pupi A, Leon MJ De (2006) Visual rating of medial temporal lobe metabolism in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease using FDG-PET. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 33.
- Motyl K, Mccabe LR (2009) Streptozotocin, Type I Diabetes Severity and Bone. Biol Proced inline 11:296–315.
- Mouton PR, Chachich ME, Quigley C, Spangler E, Ingram DK (2009) Caloric restriction attenuates amyloid deposition in middle-aged dtg APP/PS1 mice. Neurosci Lett 464:184–187.
- Mucke L, Masliah E, Johnson WB, Ruppe MD, Alford M, Rockenstein EM, Forss-Petter S, Pietropaolo M, Mallory M, Abraham CR (1994) Synaptotrophic effects of human amyloid beta protein precursors in the cortex of transgenic mice. Brain Res 666:151–167.
- Mucke L, Masliah E, Yu GQ, Mallory M, Rockenstein EM, Tatsuno G, Hu K, Kholodenko D, Johnson-Wood K, McConlogue L (2000) High-level neuronal expression of abeta 1-42 in wild-type human amyloid protein precursor transgenic mice: synaptotoxicity without plaque formation. J Neurosci 20:4050–4058.
- Mullan M, Houlden H, Windelspecht M, Fidani L, Lombardi C, Diaz P, Rossor M, Crook R, Hardy J, Duff K, Crawford F (1992) A locus for familial early-onset Alzheimer's disease on the long arm of chromosome 14, proximal to the alpha 1-antichymotrypsin gene. Nat Genet 2:340–342.
- Mullane K, Williams M (2013) Alzheimer's therapeutics: Continued clinical failures question the validity of the amyloid hypothesis But what lies beyond? Biochem Pharmacol 85:289–305.
- Müller T, Meyer HE, Egensperger R, Marcus K (2008) The amyloid precursor protein intracellular domain (AICD) as modulator of gene expression, apoptosis, and cytoskeletal dynamics-relevance for Alzheimer's disease. Prog Neurobiol 85:393–406.
- Mulvihill EE, Allister EM, Sutherland BG, Telford DE, Sawyez CG, Edwards JY, Markle JM, Hegele RA (2009) Receptor – null mice with diet-induced insulin resistance. Diabetes 58:2198–2210.
- Nakamura T, Terajima T, Ogata T, Ueno K, Hashimoto N, Ono K, Yano S (2006) Establishment and pathophysiological characterization of type 2 diabetic mouse model produced by streptozotocin and nicotinamide. Biol Pharm Bull 29:1167–1174.
- Nathan DM et al. (2009) International expert committee report on the role of the A1C assay in the diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care 32:1327–1334.
- Nelson TJ, Alkon DL (2005) Insulin and cholesterol pathways in neuronal function, memory and neurodegeneration. Biochem Soc Trans 33:1033–1036.
- Ngandu T, Von Strauss E, Helkala EL, Winblad B, Nissinen A, Tuomilehto J, Soininen H, Kivipelto M (2007) Education and dementia: What lies behind the association? Neurology 69:1442–1450.
- Ngarmukos C, Baur EL, Kumagai AK (2001) Co-localization of GLUT1 and GLUT4 in the blood-brain barrier of the rat ventromedial hypothalamus. Brain Res 900:1–8.

- Nicolia V, Lucarelli M, Fuso A (2015) Environment, epigenetics and neurodegeneration: Focus on nutrition in Alzheimer's disease. Exp Gerontol 68:8–12.
- Nicoll JAR, Wilkinson D, Holmes C, Steart P, Markham H, Weller RO (2003) Neuropathology of human Alzheimer disease after immunization with amyloid-beta peptide: a case report. Nat Med 9:448–452.

Nijhawan D, Honarpour N, Wang X (2000) Apoptosis in neural development and disease. Proteins 37:73–87.

- Nithianantharajah J, Hannan AJ (2006) Enriched environments, experience-dependent plasticity and disorders of the nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:697–709.
- Nordstedt C, Caporaso GL, Thyberg J, Gandy SE, Greengard P (1993) Identification of the Alzheimer beta/A4 amyloid precursor protein in clathrin-coated vesicles purified from PC12 cells. J Biol Chem 268:608–612.
- Ntsapi C, Loos B (2016) Caloric restriction and the precision-control of autophagy: A strategy for delaying neurodegenerative disease progression. Exp Gerontol 83:97–111.
- O'Brien PD, Sakowski SA, Feldman EL (2014) Mouse models of diabetic neuropathy. ILAR 54:259-272.
- O'Neil JN, Mouton PR, Tizabi Y, Ottinger MA, Lei DL, Ingram DK, Manaye KF (2007) Catecholaminergic neuronal loss in locus coeruleus of aged female dtg APP/PS1 mice. J Chem Neuroanat 34:102–107.
- O'Neill C, Kiely AP, Coakley MF, Manning S, Long-Smith CM (2012) Insulin and IGF-1 signalling: longevity, protein homoeostasis and Alzheimer's disease. Biochem Soc Trans 40:721–727.
- Oddo S, Caccamo A, Shepherd JD, Murphy MP, Golde TE, Kayed R, Metherate R, Mattson MP, Akbari Y, LaFerla FM (2003) Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's Disease with plaques and tangles: Intracellular Aβ and synaptic dysfunction. Neuron 39:409–421.
- Ogunniyi A, Lane KA, Baiyewu O, Gao S, Gureje O, Unverzagt FW, Murrell JR, Smith-Gamble V, Hall KS, Hendrie HC (2011) Hypertension and incident dementia in community-dwelling elderly Yoruba Nigerians. Acta Neurol Scand 124:396–402.
- Ohno M, Chang L, Tseng W, Oakley H, Citron M, Klein WL, Vassar R, Disterhoft JF (2006) Temporal memory deficits in Alzheimer's mouse models: Rescue by genetic deletion of BACE1. Eur J Neurosci 23:251–260.
- Opferman JT, Korsmeyer SJ (2003) Apoptosis in the development and maintenance of the immune system. Nat Immunol 4:410–415.
- Orgogozo JM, Gilman S, Dartigues JF, Laurent B, Puel M, Kirby LC, Jouanny P, Dubois B, Eisner L, Flitman S, Michel BF, Boada M, Frank A, Hock C (2003) Subacute meningoencephalitis in a subset of patients with AD after Abeta42 immunization. Neurology 61:46–54.
- Osborne DM, O'Leary KE, Fitzgerald DP, George AJ, Vidal MM, Anderson BM, McNay EC (2016) Context-dependent memory following recurrent hypoglycaemia in non-diabetic rats is mediated via glucocorticoid signalling in the dorsal hippocampus. Diabetologia:1–10.
- Palop JJ, Mucke L (2010) Amyloid-beta-induced neuronal dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease: from synapses toward neural networks. Nat Neurosci 13:812–818.
- Pamidi N, Nayak S (2014) Effect of environmental enrichment exposure on neuronal morphology of streptozotocininduced diabetic and stressed rat hippocampus. Biomed J 37:225.
- Panza F, Frisardi V, Imbimbo BP, Seripa D, Solfrizzi V, Pilotto A (2011) Monoclonal antibodies against β-amyloid (Aβ) for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: the Aβ target at a crossroads. Expert Opin Biol Ther 11:679–686.
- Pap M, Cooper GM (1998) Role of Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 in the Akt Cell Survival Pathway. J Biol Chem 273:19929–19932.
- Parihar MS, Brewer GJ (2011) Amyloid Beta as a Modulator of Synaptic Plasticity. J Alzheimers Dis 22 (3): 741-763.
- Park C. (2001) Cognitive effects of insulin in the central nervous system. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 25:311-323.
- Parvathy S, Hussain I, Karran EH, Turner AJ, Hooper NM (1999) Cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by alpha-secretase occurs at the surface of neuronal cells. Biochemistry 38:9728–9734.
- Patel S, Santani D (2009) Role of NFkB in the pathogenesis of diabetes and its associated complications. Pharmacol Reports 61:595–603.
- Patel N V, Gordon MN, Connor KE, Good RA, Engelman RW, Mason J, Morgan DG, Morgan TE, Finch CE (2005) Caloric restriction attenuates Aβ-deposition in Alzheimer transgenic models. Neurobiol Aging 26:995–1000.

- Pedersen DJ, Guilherme A, Danai L V., Heyda L, Matevossian A, Cohen J, Nicoloro SM, Straubhaar J, Noh HL, Jung D, Kim JK, Czech MP (2015) A major role of insulin in promoting obesity-associated adipose tissue inflammation. Mol Metab 4:507–518.
- Pei J-J, Braak E, Braak H, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Winblad B, Cowburn RF (1999) Distribution of active glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK-3β) in brains staged for Alzheimer disease neurofibrillary changes. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 58:1010–1019.
- Peila R, Rodriguez BL, Launer LJ (2002) Type 2 Diabetes, APOE Gene, and the risk for dementia and related pathologies. Diabetes 51:1256–1262.
- Pellerin L (2008) Brain energetics (thought needs food). Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 11:701–705.
- Petersen RC (2004) Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. J Intern Med 256:183–194.
- Peterson MD, Gordon PM, Hurvitz EA (2013) Chronic disease risk among adults with cerebral palsy: The role of premature sarcopoenia, obesity and sedentary behaviour. Obes Rev 14:171–182.
- Petrov D, Pedrós I, Artiach G, Sureda FX, Barroso E, Pallàs M, Casadesús G, Beas-Zarate C, Carro E, Ferrer I, Vazquez-Carrera M, Folch J, Camins A (2015) High-fat diet-induced deregulation of hippocampal insulin signaling and mitochondrial homeostasis deficiences contribute to Alzheimer disease pathology in rodents. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis 1852:1687–1699.
- Phiel CJ, Wilson C a, Lee VM-Y, Klein PS (2003) GSK-3alpha regulates production of Alzheimer's disease amyloidbeta peptides. Nature 423:435–439.
- Piazza F V, Pinto G V, Trott G, Marcuzzo S, Gomez R, Fernandes Mda C (2011) Enriched environment prevents memory deficits in type 1 diabetic rats. Behav Brain Res 217:16–20.
- Pickford F, Masliah E, Britschgi M, Lucin K, Narasimhan R, Jaeger P a, Small S, Spencer B, Rockenstein E, Levine B, Wyss-coray T (2008a) The autophagy-related protein beclin 1 showes reduced expression in eary Alzheimer disease and regulates amyloid beta accumulation in mice. J Clin Invest 118:2190–2199.
- Pietropaolo S, Feldon J, Yee BK (2008) Age-dependent phenotypic characteristics of a triple transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Behav Neurosci 122:733–747.
- Pike CJ, Overman MJ, Cotman CW (1995) Amino-terminal deletions enhance aggregation of beta-amyloid peptides in vitro. J Biol Chem 270:23895–23898.
- Pintana H, Apaijai N, Pratchayasakul W, Chattipakorn N, Chattipakorn SC (2012) Effects of metformin on learning and memory behaviors and brain mitochondrial functions in high fat diet induced insulin resistant rats. Life Sci 91:409–414.
- Piras F, Cherubini A, Caltagirone C, Spalletta G (2011) Education mediates microstructural changes in bilateral hippocampus. Hum Brain Mapp 32:282–289.
- Plassman BL, Havlik RJ, Steffens DC, Helms MJ, Newman TN, Drosdick D, Phillips C, Gau BA, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Burke JR, Guralnik JM, Breitner JC (2000) Documented head injury in early adulthood and risk of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. Neurology 55:1158–1166.
- Podewils LJ, Guallar E, Kuller LH, Fried LP, Lopez OL, Carlson M, Lyketsos CG (2005) Physical activity, APOE genotype, and dementia risk: findings from the Cardiovascular Health Cognition Study. Am J Epidemiol 161:639–651.
- Pompl PN, Yemul S, Xiang Z, Ho L, Haroutunian V, Purohit D, Mohs R, Pasinetti GM (2003) Caspase gene expression in the brain as a function of the clinical progression of Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 60:369–376.
- Pozueta J, Lefort R, Shelanski ML (2013) Synaptic changes in Alzheimer's disease and its models. Neuroscience 251:51–65.
- Prasad S, Sajja RK, Naik P, Cucullo L (2014) Diabetes Mellitus and Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction: An Overview. J Pharmacovigil 2:125–150.
- Prats E, Monfar M, Castellà J, Iglesias R, Alemany M (1989) Energy intake of rats fed a cafeteria diet. Physiol Behav 45:263–272.
- Price JL et al. (2009) Neuropathology of nondemented aging: presumptive evidence for preclinical Alzheimer disease. Neurobiol Aging 30:1026–1036.
- Prince M, Karagiannidou M, Prince M, Karagiannidou M, Comas-Herrera A, Knapp M, Comas-herrera A, Knapp M (2016) World Alzheimer Report 2016 Improving healthcare for people living with dementia. Alzheimers Dis Int.

- Profenno LA, Porsteinsson AP, Faraone S V. (2010) Meta-Analysis of Alzheimer's Disease Risk with Obesity, Diabetes, and Related Disorders. Biol Psychiatry 67:505–512.
- Prohaska TR, Peters KE (2007) Physical activity and cognitive functioning: translating research to practice with a public health approach. Alzheimers Dement 3:S58–S64.
- Punthakee Z, Miller ME, Launer LJ, Williamson JD, Lazar RM, Cukierman-Yaffee T, Seaquist ER, Ismail-Beigi F, Sullivan MD, Lovato LC, Bergenstal RM, Gerstein HC (2012) Poor Cognitive Function and Risk of Severe Hypoglycemia in Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care 35:1–7.
- Puzzo D, Privitera L, Leznik E, Fà M, Staniszewski A, Palmeri A, Arancio O (2008) Picomolar amyloid-beta positively modulates synaptic plasticity and memory in hippocampus. J Neurosci 28:14537–14545.
- Qin W, Zhao W, Ho L, Wang J, Walsh K, Gandy S, Pasinetti GM (2008) Regulation of forkhead transcription factor FoxO3a contributes to calorie restriction-induced prevention of Alzheimer's disease-type amyloid neuropathology and spatial memory deterioration. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1147:335–347.
- Qiu G, Spangler EL, Wan R, Miller M, Mattson MP, So KF, de Cabo R, Zou S, Ingram DK (2012) Neuroprotection provided by dietary restriction in rats is further enhanced by reducing glucocortocoids. Neurobiol Aging 33:2398– 2410.
- Radenković, Miroslav Stojanović M, Prostran M (2016) Experimental diabetes induced by alloxan and streptozotocin: The current state of the art. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 78:13–31.
- Rahigude A, Bhutada P, Kaulaskar S, Aswar M, Otari K (2012) Participation of antioxidant and cholinergic system in protective effect of naringenin against type-2 diabetes-induced memory dysfunction in rats. Neuroscience 226:62–72.
- Raichle ME, MacLeod AM, Snyder AZ, Powers WJ, Gusnard DA, Shulman GL (2001) A default mode of brain function. Proc Natl Acad Sci 98:676–682.
- Ramos-Rodriguez JJ, Molina-Gil S, Rey-Brea R, Berrocoso E, Garcia-Alloza M (2013) Specific serotonergic denervation affects tau pathology and cognition without altering senile plaques deposition in APP/PS1 mice. PLoS One 8:e79947.
- Reagan LP (2012) Diabetes as a chronic metabolic stressor: Causes, consequences and clinical complications. Exp Neurol 233:68–78.
- Redila VA, Christie BR (2006) Exercise-induced changes in dendritic structure and complexity in the adult hippocampal dentate gyrus. Neuroscience 137:1299–1307.
- Reed JC (1996) Mechanisms of Bcl-2 family protein function and dysfunction in health and disease. Behring Inst Mitt 97: 72–100.
- Reed MJ, Meszaros K, Entes LJ, Claypool MD, Pinkett JG, Gadbois TM, Reaven GM (2000) A new rat model of type 2 diabetes: The fat-fed, streptozotocin-treated rat. Metabolism 49:1390–1394.
- Reger MA, Watson GS, Frey WH, Baker LD, Cholerton B, Keeling ML, Belongia DA, Fishel MA, Plymate SR, Schellenberg GD, Cherrier MM, Craft S (2006) Effects of intranasal insulin on cognition in memory-impaired older adults: modulation by APOE genotype. Neurobiol Aging 27:451–458.
- Reger MA, Watson GS, Green PS, Wilkinson CW, Baker LD, Cholerton B, Fishel MA, Plymate SR, Breitner JC, DeGroodt W, Mehta P, Craft S (2008) Intranasal insulin improves cognition and modulates beta-amyloid in early AD. Neurology 70:440–448.
- Reijmer YD, Brundel M, De Bresser J, Kappelle LJ, Leemans A, Biessels GJ (2013) Microstructural white matter abnormalities and cognitive functioning in type 2 diabetes: A diffusion tensor imaging study. Diabetes Care 36:137–144.
- Reinhold, Schmidt H, Curb JD, Masaki K, White LR, Launer LJ (2002) Early inflammation and dementia: A 25-year follow-up of the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. Ann Neurol 52:168–174.
- Reisberg B, Franssen EH, Hasan SM, Monteiro I, Boksay I, Souren LE, Kenowsky S, Auer SR, Elahi S, Kluger A (1999) Retrogenesis: clinical, physiologic, and pathologic mechanisms in brain aging, Alzheimer's and other dementing processes. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 249 Suppl:28–36.
- Resende R, Moreira PI, Proença T, Deshpande A, Busciglio J, Pereira C, Oliveira CR (2008) Brain oxidative stress in a triple-transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Free Radic Biol Med 44:2051–2057.
- Reuter TY (2007) Diet-induced models for obesity and type 2 diabetes. Drug Discov Today Dis Model 4:3-8.

- Riccardi G, Giacco R, Rivellese A (2004) Dietary fat, insulin sensitivity and the metabolic syndrome. Clin Nutr 23:447– 456.
- Riley KP, Snowdon DA, Desrosiers MF, Markesbery WR (2005) Early life linguistic ability, late life cognitive function, and neuropathology: findings from the Nun Study. Neurobiol Aging 26:341–347.
- Rivera EJ, Goldin A, Fulmer N, Tavares R, Wands JR, de la Monte SM (2005) Insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and function deteriorate with progression of Alzheimer's disease: link to brain reductions in acetylcholine. J Alzheimers Dis 8:247–268.
- Rizza W, Veronese N, Fontana L (2014) What are the roles of calorie restriction and diet quality in promoting healthy longevity? Ageing Res Rev 13:38–45.
- Roch JM, Masliah E, Roch-Levecq AC, Sundsmo MP, Otero DA, Veinbergs I, Saitoh T (1994) Increase of synaptic density and memory retention by a peptide representing the trophic domain of the amyloid beta/A4 protein precursor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:7450–7454.
- Rocher AB, Chapon F, Blaizot X, Baron J-C, Chavoix C (2003) Resting-state brain glucose utilization as measured by PET is directly related to regional synaptophysin levels: a study in baboons. Neuroimage 20:1894–1898.
- Rockwood K, Middleton L (2007) Physical activity and the maintenance of cognitive function. Alzheimer's Dement 3:38– 44.
- Rodríguez A, Catalán V, Gómez-Ambrosi J, García-Navarro S, Rotellar F, Valentí V, Silva C, Gil MJ, Salvador J, Burrell MA, Calamita G, Malagón MM, Frühbeck G (2011) Insulin- and leptin-mediated control of aquaglyceroporins in human adipocytes and hepatocytes is mediated via the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling cascade. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96:586–597.
- Rogaev EI, Sherrington R, Rogaeva E a, Levesque G, Ikeda M, Liang Y, Chi H, Lin C, Holman K, Tsuda T (1995) Familial Alzheimer's disease in kindreds with missense mutations in a gene on chromosome 1 related to the Alzheimer's disease type 3 gene. Nature 376:775–778.
- Rohan de Silva HA, Jen A, Wickenden C, Jen LS, Wilkinson SL, Patel AJ (1997) Cell-specific expression of betaamyloid precursor protein isoform mRNAs and proteins in neurons and astrocytes. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 47:147–156.
- Rohn TT, Rissman RA, Davis MC, Kim YE, Cotman CW, Head E (2002) Caspase-9 activation and caspase cleavage of tau in the Alzheimer's disease brain. Neurobiol Dis 11:341–354.
- Roriz-Filho JS, Sá-Roriz TM, Rosset I, Camozzato AL, Santos AC, Chaves MLF, Moriguti JC, Roriz-Cruz M (2009) (Pre)diabetes, brain aging, and cognition. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis 1792:432–443.
- Rösler N, Wichart I, Jellinger KA (2001) Intra vitam lumbar and post mortem ventricular cerebrospinal fluid immunoreactive interleukin-6 in Alzheimer's disease patients. Acta Neurol Scand 103:126–130.
- Rossini AA, Like AA, Chick WL, Appel MC, Cahill GF Jr (1977) Studies of streptozotocin-induced insulitis and diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 74:2485–2489.
- Rothwell NJ, Stock MJ (1988) The cafeteria diet as a tool for studies of thermogenesis. J Nutr 118:925–928.
- Rovio S, Kareholt I, Helkala E, Viitanen M, Winblad B, Tuomilehto J, Soininen H, Nissinen A, Kivipelto M (2005) Leisuretime physical activity at midlife and the risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol 4:705–711.
- Ruan YY, Zhai W, Shi XM, Zhang L, Hu YL (2016) Safflower yellow ameliorates cognition deficits and reduces tau phosphorylation in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. Metab Brain Dis:1–10.
- Rudy CC, Hunsberger HC, Weitzner DS, Reed MN (2015) The role of the tripartite glutamatergic synapse in the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease. Aging Dis 6:131–148.
- Rueda N, Trejo JL (2007) Both increases in immature dentate neuron number and decreases of immobility time in the forced swim test occurred in parallel after environmental enrichment of mice. Neuroscience 147:631–638.
- Ruitenberg A, Ott A, van Swieten JC, Hofman A, Breteler MM (2001) Incidence of dementia: does gender make a difference? Neurobiol Aging 22:575–580.
- Rusanen M, Kivipelto M, Quesenberry CP, Zhou J, Whitmer RA (2011) Heavy smoking in midlife and long-term risk of Alzheimer Disease and vascular dementia. Arch Intern Med 171:333-339.
- Ryan DJ, Stebbings GK, Onambele GL (2015) The emergence of sedentary behaviour physiology and its effects on the cardiometabolic profile in young and older adults. Age (Dordr) 37:1-11.

- Ryan JP, Fine DF, Rosano C (2014) Type 2 Diabetes and Cognitive Impairment: Contributions from Neuroimaging. 100:130–134.
- Ryder JW, Chibalin A V., Zierath JR (2001) Intracellular mechanisms underlying increases in glucose uptake in response to insulin or exercise in skeletal muscle. Acta Physiol Scand 171:249–257.
- Sacks FM, Bray GA, Carey VJ, Smith SR, Ryan DH, Anton SD, McManus K, Champagne CM, Bishop LM, Laranjo N, Leboff MS, Rood JC (2009) Comparison of weight-loss diets with different compositions of fat, protein, and carbohydrates. N Engl J Med 360:859–873.
- Saczynski JS, Siggurdsson S, Jonsson P V., Eiriksdottir G, Olafsdottir E, Kjartansson O, Harris TB, van Buchem M, Gudnason V, Launer LJ (2009) Glycemic Status and Brain Injury in Older Individuals. Diabetes Care 32:1608– 1613.
- Sakono M, Zako T (2010) Amyloid oligomers: Formation and toxicity of Aβ oligomers. FEBS J 277:1348–1358.
- Sakurai H, Chiba H, Miyoshi H, Sugita T, Toriumi W (1999) IkB kinases phosphorylate NF-kB p65 subunit on serine 536 in the transactivation domain. J Biol Chem 274:30353–30356.
- Salkovic-Petrisic M, Knezovic A, Hoyer S, Riederer P (2013) What have we learned from the streptozotocin-induced animal model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease, about the therapeutic strategies in Alzheimer's research. J Neural Transm 120:233–252.
- Salkovic-Petrisic M, Osmanovic-Barilar J, Brückner MK, Hoyer S, Arendt T, Riederer P (2011) Cerebral amyloid angiopathy in streptozotocin rat model of sporadic Alzheimer's disease: A long-term follow up study. J Neural Transm 118:765–772.
- Salminen A, Kaarniranta K (2009) Regulation of the aging process by autophagy. Trends Mol Med 15:217–224.
- Salminen A, Ojala J, Suuronen T, Kaarniranta K, Kauppinen A (2008) Amyloid-beta oligomers set fire to inflammasomes and induce Alzheimer's pathology. J Cell Mol Med 12:2255–2262.
- Sanchez JF, Sniderhan LF, Williamson AL, Fan S, Chakraborty-Sett S, Maggirwar SB (2003) Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta-mediated apoptosis of primary cortical astrocytes involves inhibition of nuclear factor kappaB signaling. Mol Cell Biol 23:4649–4662.
- Sandhu FA, Salim M, Zain SB (1991) Expression of the human beta-amyloid protein of Alzheimer's disease specifically in the brains of transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 266:21331–21334.
- Sasaki-Hamada S, Sacai H, Oka J-I (2012) Diabetes onset influences hippocampal synaptic plasticity in streptozotocintreated rats. Neuroscience 227:293–304.
- Sato T, Dohmae N, Qi Y, Kakuda N, Misonou H, Mitsumori R, Maruyama H, Koo EH, Haass C, Takio K, Morishima-Kawashima M, Ishiura S, Ihara Y (2003) Potential link between amyloid beta-protein 42 and C-terminal fragment gamma 49-99 of beta-amyloid precursor protein. J Biol Chem 278:24294–24301.
- Saura CA, Choi SY, Beglopoulos V, Malkani S, Zhang D, Rao BSS, Chattarji S, Kelleher RJ, Kandel ER, Duff K, Kirkwood A, Shen J (2004) Loss of presenilin function causes impairments of memory and synaptic plasticity followed by age-dependent neurodegeneration. Neuron 42:23–36.
- Scahill RI, Schott JM, Stevens JM, Rossor MN, Fox NC (2002) Mapping the evolution of regional atrophy in Alzheimer's disease: Unbiased analysis of fluid-registered serial MRI. Proc Natl Acad Sci 99:4703–4707.
- Scarmeas N, Stern Y, Tang MX, Mayeux R, Luchsinger J a (2006) Mediterranean diet and risk for Alzheimer's disease. AnnNeurol 59:912–921.
- Scheff SW, DeKosky ST, Price DA (1990) Quantitative assessment of cortical synaptic density in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 11:29–37.
- Scheff SW, Price DA (1993) Synapse loss in the temporal lobe in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 33:190–199.
- Scheff SW, Price DA, Schmitt FA, Mufson EJ (2006) Hippocampal synaptic loss in early Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging 27:1372–1384.
- Schenk D et al. (1999) Immunization with amyloid-beta attenuates Alzheimer-disease-like pathology in the PDAPP mouse. Nature 400:173–177.
- Scherder E, Scherder R, Verburgh L, Königs M, Blom M, Kramer AF, Eggermont L (2014) Executive Functions of Sedentary Elderly May Benefit from Walking: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 22:782–791.

- Schettini G, Govoni S, Racchi M, Rodriguez G (2010) Phosphorylation of APP-CTF-AICD domains and interaction with adaptor proteins: signal transduction and/or transcriptional role--relevance for Alzheimer pathology. J Neurochem 115:1299–1308.
- Schneider JA, Aggarwal NT, Barnes L, Boyle P, Bennett DA (2009) The neuropathology of older persons with and without dementia from community versus clinic cohorts. Montine T, Sonnen J, eds. J Alzheimers Dis 18:691–701.
- Schneider LS, Mangialasche F, Andreasen N, Feldman H, Giacobini E, Jones R, Mantua V, Mecocci P, Pani L, Winblad B, Kivipelto M (2014) Clinical trials and late-stage drug development for Alzheimer's disease: an appraisal from 1984 to 2014. J Intern Med 275:251–283.
- Schöll M, Almkvist O, Axelman K, Stefanova E, Wall A, Westman E, Långström B, Lannfelt L, Graff C, Nordberg A (2011) Glucose metabolism and PIB binding in carriers of a His163Tyr presenilin 1 mutation. Neurobiol Aging 32:1388–1399.
- Schubert M, Gautam D, Surjo D, Ueki K, Baudler S, Schubert D, Kondo T, Alber J, Galldiks N, Küstermann E, Arndt S, Jacobs AH, Krone W, Kahn CR, Brüning JC (2004) Role for neuronal insulin resistance in neurodegenerative diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101:3100–3105.
- Sclafani A, Gorman AN (1977) Effects of age, sex, and prior body weight on the development of dietary obesity in adult rats. Physiol Behav 18:1021–1026.
- Scoville WB, Bettis DB (1979) Unilateral inferior temporal lobectomy with hippocampectomy for relief of incisural herniation. Acta Neurochir 47:149–160.
- Segovia G, Yag AG, Mora F (2006) Environmental enrichment promotes neurogenesis and changes the extracellular concentrations of glutamate and GABA in the hippocampus of aged rats. 70:8–14.
- Selkoe DJ (2001) Alzheimer's Disease : Genes, proteins, and therapy. Physiol Rev 81:741–766.
- Sergeant N, Delacourte A, Buée L (2005) Tau protein as a differential biomarker of tauopathies. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Basis Dis 1739:179–197.
- Serrano-Pozo A, Frosch MP, Masliah E, Hyman BT (2011) Neuropathological Alterations in Alzheimer Disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 1:a006189–a006189.
- Setti SE, Littlefield AM, Johnson SW, Kohman RA (2015) Diet-induced obesity attenuates endotoxin-induced cognitive deficits. Physiol Behav 141:1–8.
- Shanik MH, Xu Y, Skrha J, Dankner R, Zick Y, Roth J (2008) Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia: is hyperinsulinemia the cart or the horse? Diabetes Care 31 Suppl 2.
- Sharma AK, Pavlova ST, Kim J, Kim J, Mirica LM (2013) The effect of Cu2+ and Zn2+ on the Aβ42 peptide aggregation and cellular toxicity. Metallomics 5:1529.
- Sharma S, Kaur G (2005) Neuroprotective potential of dietary restriction against kainate-induced excitotoxicity in adult male Wistar rats. Brain Res Bull 67:482–491.
- Sheen Y-J, Sheu WHH (2016) Association between hypoglycemia and dementia in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 116:279–287.
- Sherman MA, LaCroix M, Amar F, Larson ME, Forster C, Aguzzi A, Bennett DA, Ramsden M, Lesne SE (2016) Soluble Conformers of Aβ and Tau Alter Selective Proteins Governing Axonal Transport. J Neurosci 36:9647–9658.
- Sherrington R, Rogaev EI, Liang Y, Rogaeva EA, Levesque G, Ikeda M, Chi H, Lin C, Li G, Holman K, Tsuda T, Mar L, Foncin JF, Bruni AC, Montesi MP, Sorbi S, Rainero I, Pinessi L, Nee L, Chumakov I, Pollen D, Brookes A, Sanseau P, Polinsky RJ, Wasco W, Da Silva HA, Haines JL, Perkicak-Vance MA, Tanzi RE, Roses AD, Fraser PE, Rommens JM, St George-Hyslop PH (1995) Cloning of a gene bearing missense mutations in early-onset familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature 375:754–760.
- Shi C, Viccaro K, Lee H, Shah K (2016) Cdk5–Foxo3 axis: initially neuroprotective, eventually neurodegenerative in Alzheimer's disease models. J Cell Sci 129:1815–1830.
- Shukla S, Sharma A, Pandey VK, Raisuddin S, Kakkar P (2016) Concurrent acetylation of FoxO1/3a and p53 due to sirtuins inhibition elicit Bim/PUMA mediated mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis in berberine-treated HepG2 cells. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 291:70–83.
- Sim MO, Ham JR, Lee HI, Seo K II, Lee MK (2014) Long-term supplementation of umbelliferone and 4methylumbelliferone alleviates high-fat diet induced hypertriglyceridemia and hyperglycemia in mice. Chem Biol Interact 216:9–16.

- Simpson IA, Chundu KR, Davies-Hill T, Honer WG, Davies P (1994) Decreased concentrations of GLUT1 and GLUT3 glucose transporters in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 35:546–551.
- Simpson J, Kelly JP (2011) The impact of environmental enrichment in laboratory rats-Behavioural and neurochemical aspects. Behav Brain Res 222:246–264.
- Singh SS, Yap WN, Arfuso F, Kar S, Wang C, Cai W, Dharmarajan AM, Sethi G, Kumar AP (2015) Targeting the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in gastric carcinoma: A reality for personalized medicine? World J Gastroenterol 21:12261–12273.
- Sinha S, Lieberburg I (1999) Cellular mechanisms of beta-amyloid production and secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:11049–11053.
- Sipos E, Kurunczi A, Kasza Á, Horváth J, Felszeghy K, Laroche S, Toldi J, Párducz Á, Penke B, Penke Z (2007) β-Amyloid pathology in the entorhinal cortex of rats induces memory deficits: Implications for Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 147:28–36.
- Sizemore N, Leung S, Stark GR (1999) Activation of Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase in Response to Interleukin-1 Leads to Phosphorylation and Activation of the NF-KB p65/RelA Subunit. Mol Cell Biol 19:4798–4805.
- Skovsø S (2014) Modeling type 2 diabetes in rats using high fat diet and streptozotocin. J Diabetes Investig 5:349–358.
- Sleder J, Chen YDI, Cully MD, Reaven GM (1980) Hyperinsulinemia in fructose-induced hypertriglyceridemia in the rat. Metabolism 29:303–305.
- Smale G, Nichols NR, Brady DR, Finch CE, Horton WE (1995) Evidence for Apoptotic Cell Death in Alzheimer's Disease. Exp Neurol 133:225–230.
- Small DH, Nurcombe V, Reed G, Clarris H, Moir R, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (1994) A heparin-binding domain in the amyloid protein precursor of Alzheimer's disease is involved in the regulation of neurite outgrowth. J Neurosci 14:2117–2127.
- Smith-Swintosky VL, Pettigrew LC, Craddock SD, Culwell AR, Rydel RE, Mattson MP (1994) Secreted forms of betaamyloid precursor protein protect against ischemic brain injury. J Neurochem 63:781–784.
- So W, Ng M (2000) Genetics of type 2 diabetes. HKMJ 6:69-76.
- Soldano A, Hassan BA (2014) Beyond pathology: APP, brain development and Alzheimer's disease. Curr Opin Neurobiol 27:61–67.
- Solé-Padullés C, Bartrés-Faz D, Junqué C, Vendrell P, Rami L, Clemente IC, Bosch B, Villar A, Bargalló N, Jurado MA, Barrios M, Molinuevo JL (2009) Brain structure and function related to cognitive reserve variables in normal aging, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 30:1114–1124.
- Solomon B, Koppel R, Frankel D, Hanan-Aharon E (1997) Disaggregation of Alzheimer beta-amyloid by site-directed mAb. Proc Natl Acad Sci 94:4109–4112.
- Solomon B, Koppel R, Hanan E, Katzav T (1996) Monoclonal antibodies inhibit in vitro fibrillar aggregation of the Alzheimer beta-amyloid peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci 93:452–455.
- Sonksen P, Sonksen J (2000) Insulin: understanding its action in health and disease. Br J Anaesth 85:69–79.
- Soto I, Grabowska WA, Onos KD, Graham LC, Jackson HM, Simeone SN, Howell GR (2016) Meox2 haploinsufficiency increases neuronal cell loss in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 42:50–60.
- Sperling RA, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, Bennett DA, Craft S, Fagan AM, Iwatsubo T, Jack CR Jr, Kaye J, Montine TJ, Park DC, Reiman EM, Rowe CC, Siemers E, Stern Y, Yaffe K, Carrillo MC, Thies B, Morrison-Bogorad M, Wagster MV, Phelps CH (2011) Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 7:280–292.
- Spilman P, Podlutskaya N, Hart MJ, Debnath J, Gorostiza O, Bredesen D, Richardson A, Strong R, Galvan V (2010) Inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin abolishes cognitive deficits and reduces amyloid-beta levels in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 5:e9979.

Spindler A.A., Renvall M.J., Nichols J.F. RJW (1996) Nutritional status of patients with Alzheimer's disease: a 1-year study. J Am Diet Assoc 96:1013–1018.

Sperling RA, Aisen PS, Beckett LA, Bennett DA, Craft S, Fagan AM, Iwatsubo T, Jack CR Jr, Kaye J, Montine TJ, Park DC, Reiman EM, Rowe CC, Siemers E, Stern Y, Yaffe K, Carrillo MC, Thies B, Morrison-Bogorad M, Wagster

MV, Phelps CH (2005) Combination of high-fat diet-fed and low-dose streptozotocin-treated rat: A model for type 2 diabetes and pharmacological screening. Pharmacol Res 52:313–320.

- Srinivasan K, Ramarao P (2007) Animal models in type 2 diabetes research: an overview. Indian J Med Res 125:451– 472.
- St-Amour I, Cicchetti F, Calon F (2016) Immunotherapies in Alzheimer's disease: Too much, too little, too late or offtarget? Acta Neuropathol 131:481–504.
- St George-Hyslop PH, Tanzi RE, Polinsky RJ, Haines JL, Nee L, Watkins PC, Myers RH, Feldman RG, Pollen D, Drachman D(1987) The Genetic Defect Causing Familial Alzheimer's Disease Maps on Chromosome 21. Science 12: 885-890.
- Stampfer MJ (2006) Cardiovascular disease and Alzheimer's disease: Common links. J Intern Med 260:211–223.
- Stanley M, Macauley SL, Holtzman DM (2016) Changes in insulin and insulin signaling in Alzheimer's disease: cause or consequence? J Exp Med 213:1375–1385.
- Starks EJ, Patrick O'Grady J, Hoscheidt SM, Racine AM, Carlsson CM, Zetterberg H, Blennow K, Okonkwo OC, Puglielli L, Asthana S, Dowling NM, Gleason CE, Anderson RM, Davenport-Sis NJ, DeRungs LM, Sager MA, Johnson SC, Bendlin BB (2015) Insulin Resistance is Associated with Higher Cerebrospinal Fluid Tau Levels in Asymptomatic APOEε4 Carriers. J Alzheimers Dis 46:525–533.
- Steen E, Terry BM, Rivera EJ, Cannon JL, Neely TR, Tavares R, Xu XJ, Wands JR, de la Monte SM (2005) Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease - is this type 3 diabetes? J Alzheimers Dis 7:63–80.
- Stern Y (2009) Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia 47:2015–2028.
- Stewart J, Mitchell J, Kalant N (1989) The effects of life-long food restriction on spatial memory in young and aged Fischer 344 rats measured in the eight-arm radial and the Morris water mazes. Neurobiol Aging 10:669–675.
- Stopford CL, Thompson JC, Neary D, Richardson AMT, Snowden JS (2012) Working memory, attention, and executive function in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal dementia. Cortex 48:429–446.
- Storlien LH, Jenkins AB, Chisholm DJ, Pascoe WS, Khouri S, Kraegen EW (1991) Influence of dietary fat composition on development of insulin resistance in rats. Relationship to muscle triglyceride and omega-3 fatty acids in muscle phospholipid. Diabetes 40:280–289.
- Struble RG, Ala T, Patrylo PR, Brewer GJ, Yan XX (2010) Is brain amyloid production a cause or a result of dementia of the Alzheimer's type? J Alzheimer's Dis 22:393–399.
- Sturchler-Pierrat C, Abramowski D, Duke M, Wiederhold KH, Mistl C, Rothacher S, Ledermann B, Bürki K, Frey P, Paganetti PA, Waridel C, Calhoun ME, Jucker M, Probst A, Staufenbiel M, Sommer B (1997) Two amyloid precursor protein transgenic mouse models with Alzheimer disease-like pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:13287–13292.
- Sugano M, Yamato H, Hayashi T, Ochiai H, Kakuchi J, Goto S, Nishijima F, lino N, Kazama JJ, Takeuchi T, Mokuda O, Ishikawa T, Okazaki R (2006) High-fat diet in low-dose-streptozotocin-treated heminephrectomized rats induces all features of human type 2 diabetic nephropathy: A new rat model of diabetic nephropathy. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 16:477–484.
- Sun XJ, Rothenberg P, Kahn CR, Backer JM, Araki E, Wilden P a, Cahill D a, Goldstein BJ, White MF (1991) Structure of the insulin receptor substrate IRS-1 defines a unique signal transduction protein. Nature 352:73–77.
- Sutherland C (2011) What Are the bona fide GSK3 Substrates? Int J Alzheimers Dis 2011:1-23.
- Swenne I, Borg LA, Crace CJ, Schnell Landström A (1992) Persistent reduction of pancreatic beta-cell mass after a limited period of protein-energy malnutrition in the young rat. Diabetologia 35:939–945.
- Szczepanik AM, Rampe D, Ringheim GE (2001) Amyloid-beta peptide fragments p3 and p4 induce pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production in vitro and in vivo. J Neurochem 77:304–317.
- Szkudelski T (2001) The mechanism of alloxan and streptozotocin action in B cells of the rat pancreas. Physiol Res 50:537–546.
- Tabák AG, Jokela M, Akbaraly TN, Brunner EJ, Kivimäki M, Witte DR (2009) Trajectories of glycaemia, insulin sensitivity, and insulin secretion before diagnosis of type 2 diabetes: an analysis from the Whitehall II study. Lancet 373:2215–2221.

- Taguchi A, White MF (2008) Insulin-Like Signaling, Nutrient Homeostasis, and Life Span. Annu Rev Physiol 70:191– 212.
- Tamagno E, Parola M, Guglielmotto M, Santoro G, Bardini P, Marra L, Tabaton M, Danni O (2003) Multiple signaling events in amyloid β-induced, oxidative stress-dependent neuronal apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 35:45–58.
- Tamayev R, Zhou D, D'Adamio L (2009) The interactome of the amyloid beta precursor protein family members is shaped by phosphorylation of their intracellular domains. Mol Neurodegener 4:1-28.
- Tan ZS, Beiser A, Vasan RS, Au R, Auerbach S, Kiel DP, Wolf PA, Seshadri S (2008) Thyroid function and the risk of Alzheimer disease: The Framingham study. Arch Intern Med 168:1514–1520.
- Tan ZS, Beiser AS, Fox CS, Au R, Himali JJ, Debette S, Decarli C, Vasan RS, Wolf PA, Seshadri S (2011) Association of metabolic dysregulation with volumetric brain magnetic resonance imaging and cognitive markers of subclinical brain aging in middle-aged adults: The Framingham offspring study. Diabetes Care 34:1766–1770.
- Tapia-Rojas C, Aranguiz F, Varela-Nallar L, Inestrosa NC (2016) Voluntary Running Attenuates Memory Loss, Decreases Neuropathological Changes and Induces Neurogenesis in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Brain Pathol 26:62–74.
- Taylor CJ, Ireland DR, Ballagh I, Bourne K, Marechal NM, Turner PR, Bilkey DK, Tate WP, Abraham WC (2008) Endogenous secreted amyloid precursor protein-alpha regulates hippocampal NMDA receptor function, longterm potentiation and spatial memory. Neurobiol Dis 31:250–260.
- Taylor SI, Accili D, Imai Y (1994) Insulin resistance or insulin deficiency. Which is the primary cause of NIDDM? Diabetes 43:735–740.
- Templeman NM, Skovsø S, Page MM, Lim GE, Johnson JD (2017) A causal role for hyperinsulinemia in obesity. J Endocrinol 3:JOE-16-0449.
- Tentolouris-Piperas V, Ryan NS, Thomas DL, Kinnunen KM (2016) Brain imaging evidence of early involvement of subcortical regions in familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 1655:23–32.
- Terranova JP, Kan JP, Storme JJ, Perreaut P, Le Fur G, Soubrie P (1996) Administration of amyloid β-peptides in the rat medial septum causes memory deficits: Reversal by SR 57746A, a non-peptide neurotrophic compound. Neurosci Lett 213:79–82.
- Terry RD (1994) Neuropathological changes in Alzheimer disease. Prog Brain Res 101:383–390.
- Terry RD, Masliah E, Salmon DP, Butters N, Deteresa R, Hill R, Hansen L a, Katzman R (1991) Physical Basis of Cognitive Alterations in Alzheimer's Disease: Synapse h s s Is the Major Correlate of Cognitive Impairment. :572–580.
- Terwel D, Muyllaert D, Dewachter I, Borghgraef P, Croes S, Devijver H, Van Leuven F (2008) Amyloid Activates GSK-3β to Aggravate Neuronal Tauopathy in Bigenic Mice. Am J Pathol 172:786–798.
- Thal DR, Rüb U, Orantes M, Braak H (2002) Phases of A beta-deposition in the human brain and its relevance for the development of AD. Neurology 58:1791–1800.
- Thal DR, Sassin I, Schultz C, Haass C, Braak E, Braak H (1999) Fleecy amyloid deposits in the internal layers of the human entorhinal cortex are comprised of N-terminal truncated fragments of Abeta. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 58:210–216.
- Thomas J, Garg ML, Smith DW (2013) Altered expression of histone and synaptic plasticity associated genes in the hippocampus of streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Metab Brain Dis 28:613–618.
- Thompson PM, Hayashi KM, Dutton RA, Chiang MC, Leow AD, Sowell ER, De Zubicaray G, Becker JT, Lopez OL, Aizenstein HJ, Toga AW (2007) Tracking Alzheimer's Disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci:183–214.
- Thornton E, Vink R, Blumbergs PC, Van Den Heuvel C (2006) Soluble amyloid precursor protein α reduces neuronal injury and improves functional outcome following diffuse traumatic brain injury in rats. Brain Res 1094:38–46.
- Tilstra JS, Clauson CL, Niedernhofer LJ, Robbins PD (2011) NF-κB in Aging and Disease. Aging Dis 2:449–465.
- Tiwari MK, Kepp KP (2015) Modeling the Aggregation Propensity and Toxicity of Amyloid-β Variants Acquaah-Mensah G, ed. J Alzheimer's Dis 47:215–229.
- Tornatore L, Thotakura AK, Bennett J, Moretti M, Franzoso G (2012) The nuclear factor kappa B signaling pathway: Integrating metabolism with inflammation. Trends Cell Biol 22:557–566.

- Townsend M, Mehta T, Selkoe DJ (2007) Soluble Abeta Inhibits Specific Signal Transduction Cascades Common to the Insulin Receptor Pathway. J Biol Chem 282:33305–33312.
- Townsend M, Shankar GM, Mehta T, Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ (2006) Effects of secreted oligomers of amyloid betaprotein on hippocampal synaptic plasticity: a potent role for trimers. J Physiol 572:477–492.
- Trejo JL, Carro E, Torres-Aleman I (2001) Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates exercise-induced increases in the number of new neurons in the adult hippocampus. J Neurosci 21:1628–1634.
- Trinchese F, Liu S, Battaglia F, Walter S, Mathews PM, Arancio O (2004) Progressive age-related development of Alzheimer-like pathology in APP/PS1 mice. Ann Neurol 55:801–814.
- Trinchese F, Liu S, Zhang H (2008) Inhibition of calpains improves memory and synaptic transmission in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. J Clin Invest 118:2796–2807.
- Tripathy et al. (2012) RSSDI Textbook of Diabetes Mellitus. Jaypee Brothers Medical Publishers. Second edition.
- Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM-Y (2000) "Fatal Attractions " of Proteins Underlying Alzheimer 's Disease and Other. Ann New York Acad Sci 924:62–67.
- Tromp D, Dufour A, Lithfous S, Pebayle T, Despres O (2015) Episodic memory in normal aging and Alzheimer disease: Insights from imaging and behavioral studies. Ageing Res Rev 24:232–262.
- Troncoso JC, Martin LJ, Dal Forno G, Kawas CH (1996) Neuropathology in controls and demented subjects from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Neurobiol Aging 17:365–371.
- Tsai J, Grutzendler J, Duff K, Gan W-B (2004) Fibrillar amyloid deposition leads to local synaptic abnormalities and breakage of neuronal branches. Nat Neurosci 7:1181–1183.
- Tucsek Z, Toth P, Sosnowska D, Gautam T, Mitschelen M, Koller A, Szalai G, Sonntag WE, Ungvari Z, Csiszar A (2014) Obesity in aging exacerbates blood-brain barrier disruption, neuroinflammation, and oxidative stress in the mouse hippocampus: effects on expression of genes involved in beta-amyloid generation and Alzheimer's disease. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 69:1212–1226.
- Tyas SL, Snowdon DA, Desrosiers MF, Riley KP, Markesbery WR (2007) Healthy ageing in the Nun Study: definition and neuropathologic correlates. Age Ageing 36:650–655.
- Tytus M, Gisele PD and Thuret S (2014) Effects of diet on brain plasticity in animal and human studies: Mind the gap. Neural Plast 2014: 1-32.
- Tzivion G, Dobson M, Ramakrishnan G (2011) FoxO transcription factors; Regulation by AKT and 14-3-3 proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta - Mol Cell Res 1813:1938–1945.
- Tzivion G, Hay N (2011) PI3K-AKT-FoxO axis in cancer and aging. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1813:1925.
- Vaag A, Brøns C, Gillberg L, Hansen NS, Hjort L, Arora GP, Thomas N, Broholm C, Ribel-Madsen R, Grunnet LG (2014) Genetic, nongenetic and epigenetic risk determinants in developmental programming of type 2 diabetes. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 93:1099–1108.
- Valero J, España J, Parra-Damas A, Martín E, Rodríguez-Álvarez J, Saura CA (2011) Short-term environmental enrichment rescues adult neurogenesis and memory deficits in APP(Sw,Ind) transgenic mice. PLoS One 6:e16832.
- Valladolid-Acebes I, Fole A, Martín M, Morales L, Victoria Cano M, Ruiz-Gayo M, Olmo N Del (2013) Spatial memory impairment and changes in hippocampal morphology are triggered by high-fat diets in adolescent mice. Is there a role of leptin? Neurobiol Learn Mem 106:18–25.
- Van Cauwenberghe C, Vandendriessche C, Libert C, Vandenbroucke RE (2016) Caloric restriction: beneficial effects on brain aging and Alzheimer's disease. Mamm Genome 27:300–319.
- van de Ree M., Huisman M., Princen HM., Meinders A., Kluft C (2003) Strong decrease of high sensitivity C-reactive protein with high-dose atorvastatin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis 166:129–135.
- van der Heide LP, Ramakers GMJ, Smidt MP (2006) Insulin signaling in the central nervous system: Learning to survive. Prog Neurobiol 79:205–221.
- Van Nostrand WE, Farrow JS, Wagner SL, Bhasin R, Goldgaber D, Cotman CW, Cunningham DD (1991) The predominant form of the amyloid beta-protein precursor in human brain is protease nexin 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci 88:10302–10306.

- van Praag H (2005) Exercise enhances learning and hippocampal neurogenesis in aged mice. J Neurosci 25:8680– 8685.
- van Praag H (2009) Exercise and the brain: something to chew on. Trends Neurosci 32:283–290.
- van Praag H, Christie BR, Sejnowski TJ, Gage, F. H. (1999a) Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and longterm potentiation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci 96:13427–13431.
- van Praag H, Kempermann G, Gage FH (1999b) Running increases cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. Nat Neurosci 2:266–270.
- van Praag H, Kempermann G, Gage FH (2000) Neural consequences of environmental enrichment. Nat Rev Neurosci 1:191–198.
- Vanderwolf CH (1964) Effect of combined medial thalamic and septal lesions on active-avoidance behavior. J Comp Physiol Psychol 58:31–37.
- Vann SD, Albasser MM (2011) Hippocampus and neocortex: recognition and spatial memory. Curr Opin Neurobiol 21:440–445.
- Vassar R et al. (1999) Beta-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. Science 286:735–741.
- Vassar R, Kovacs DM, Yan R, Wong PC (2009) The beta-secretase enzyme BACE in health and Alzheimer's disease: regulation, cell biology, function, and therapeutic potential. J Neurosci 29:12787–12794.
- Vaynman S, Ying Z, Gomez-Pinilla F (2004) Hippocampal BDNF mediates the efficacy of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. Eur J Neurosci 20:2580–2590.
- Ventura-Sobrevilla J, Boone-Villa VD, Aguilar CN, Román-Ramos R, Vega-Avila E, Campos-Sepúlveda E, Alarcón-Aguilar F (2011) Effect of varying dose and administration of streptozotocin on blood sugar in male CD1 mice. Proc West Pharmacol Soc 54:5–9.
- Vepsäläinen S, Hiltunen M, Helisalmi S, Wang J, van Groen T, Tanila H, Soininen H (2008) Increased expression of Aβ degrading enzyme IDE in the cortex of transgenic mice with Alzheimer's disease-like neuropathology. Neurosci Lett 438:216–220.
- Verdile G. KKN. CVF. MS. SM. RJ. WN. MRN. FPE. NP (2015) Inflammation and Oxidative Stress: The Molecular Connectivity between Insulin Resistance, Obesity, and Alzheimer's Disease. Mediators Inflamm 2015.
- Verret L, Krezymon A, Halley H, Trouche S, Zerwas M, Lazouret M, Lassalle J-M, Rampon C (2013) Transient enriched housing before amyloidosis onset sustains cognitive improvement in Tg2576 mice. Neurobiol Aging 34:211–225.
- Vessby B, Uusitupa M, Hermansen K, Riccardi G, Rivellese AA, Tapsell LC, Nälsén C, Berglund L, Louheranta A, Rasmussen BM, Calvert GD, Maffetone A, Pedersen E, Gustafsson IB, Storlien LH, KANWU Study (2001) Substituting dietary saturated for monounsaturated fat impairs insulin sensitivity in healthy men and women: The KANWU Study. Diabetologia 44:312–319.
- Villemagne VL, Pike KE, Chételat G, Ellis KA, Mulligan RS, Bourgeat P, Ackermann U, Jones G, Szoeke C, Salvado O, Martins R, O'Keefe G, Mathis CA, Klunk WE, Ames D, Masters CL, Rowe CC (2011) Longitudinal assessment of Aβ and cognition in aging and Alzheimer disease. Ann Neurol 69:181–192.
- Virally M, Blicklé J-F, Girard J, Halimi S, Simon D, Guillausseau P-J (2007) Type 2 diabetes mellitus: epidemiology, pathophysiology, unmet needs and therapeutical perspectives. Diabetes Metab 33:231–244.
- Virgintino D, Robertson D, Monaghan P, Errede M, Bertossi M, Ambrosi G, Roncali L (1997) Glucose transporter GLUT1 in human brain microvessels revealed by ultrastructural immunocytochemistry. J Submicrosc Cytol Pathol 29:365–370.
- Vivar C, Potter MC, van Praag H (2012) All about running: Synaptic plasticity, Growth factors and dult hippocampal neurogenesis. Current topics in behavioral neurosciences, pp 189–210.
- Von Diemen V, Trindade EN, Trindade MRM (2006) Experimental model to induce obesity in rats. Acta Cir Bras 21:425–429.
- von Rotz RC, Kohli BM, Bosset J, Meier M, Suzuki T, Nitsch RM, Konietzko U (2004) The APP intracellular domain forms nuclear multiprotein complexes and regulates the transcription of its own precursor. J Cell Sci 117:4435–4448.

- Vos SJB, Gordon BA, Su Y, Visser PJ, Holtzman DM, Morris JC, Fagan AM, Benzinger TLS (2016) NIA-AA staging of preclinical Alzheimer disease: Discordance and concordance of CSF and imaging biomarkers. Neurobiol Aging 44:1–8.
- Walker JM, Dixit S, Saulsberry AC, May JM, Harrison FE (2017) Reversal of high fat diet-induced obesity improves glucose tolerance, inflammatory response, β-amyloid accumulation and cognitive decline in the APP/PSEN1 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis 100: 87-98.
- Walker JM, Harrison FE (2015) Shared neuropathological characteristics of obesity, type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease: Impacts on cognitive decline. Nutrients 7.
- Walsh DM, Klyubin I, Fadeeva J V, Cullen WK, Anwyl R, Wolfe MS, Rowan MJ, Selkoe DJ (2002) Naturally secreted oligomers of amyloid beta protein potently inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. Nature 416:535– 539.
- Wang H, Reiser G (2003) Thrombin Signaling in the Brain: The role of protease-activated receptors. Biol Chem 384:193–202.
- Wang J, Ho L, Qin W, Rocher AB, Seror I, Humala N, Maniar K, Dolios G, Wang R, Hof PR, Pasinetti GM (2005) Caloric restriction attenuates beta-amyloid neuropathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J 19:659– 661.
- Wang Q, Rowan MJ, Anwyl R (2004) β-amyloid mediated inhibition of NMDA receptor-dependent long-term otentiation induction involves activation of microglia and stimulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase and superoxide. J Neurosci 24:6049–6056.
- Wang Z-X, Lan T, Liu J, Yu J-T (2016) The essential role of soluble Aβ oligomers in Alzheimer's Disease. Mol Neurobiol:1905–1924.
- Wang Z, Wang B, Yang L, Guo Q, Aithmitti N, Songyang Z, Zheng H (2009) Presynaptic and postsynaptic interaction of the amyloid precursor protein promotes peripheral and central synaptogenesis. J Neurosci 29:10788–10801.
- Watamura N, Toba J, Yoshii A, Nikkuni M, Ohshima T (2016) Colocalization of phosphorylated forms of WAVE1, CRMP2, and tau in Alzheimer's disease model mice: Involvement of Cdk5 phosphorylation and the effect of ATRA treatment. J Neurosci Res 94:15–26.
- Webb AE, Brunet A (2015) FOXO transcription factors: key regulators of cellular quality control. Trends Biochem Sci 39:159–169.
- Webster SJ, Bachstetter AD, Nelson PT, Schmitt F a, Van Eldik LJ (2014) Using mice to model Alzheimer's dementia: an overview of the clinical disease and the preclinical behavioral changes in 10 mouse models. Front Genet 5:88.
- Wei W, Wang X, Kusiak JW (2002) Signaling events in amyloid beta-peptide-induced neuronal death and insulin-like growth factor I protection. J Biol Chem 277:17649–17656.
- Weiner MW et al. (2015) Update of the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative: A review of papers published since its inception. Alzheimers Dement 11:e1-120.
- Werner H, LeRoith D (2014) Insulin and insulin-like growth factor receptors in the brain: Physiological and pathological aspects. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 24:1947–1953.
- Westerman MA, Cooper-Blacketer D, Mariash A, Kotilinek L, Kawarabayashi T, Younkin LH, Carlson GA, Younkin SG, Ashe KH (2002) The relationship between Abeta and memory in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 22:1858–1867.
- Whitmer RA, Gunderson EP, Quesenberry CP, Zhou J, Yaffe K (2007) Body mass index in midlife and risk of Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. Curr Alzheimer Res 4:103–109.
- Willcox DC, Scapagnini G, Willcox BJ (2014) Healthy aging diets other than the Mediterranean: A focus on the Okinawan diet. Mech Ageing Dev 136–137:148–162.
- Willette AA, Johnson SC, Birdsill AC, Sager MA, Christian B, Baker LD, Craft S, Oh J, Statz E, Hermann BP, Jonaitis EM, Koscik RL, La Rue A, Asthana S, Bendlin BB (2015) Insulin resistance predicts brain amyloid deposition in late middle-aged adults. Alzheimers Dement 11:504–510.
- Willis JA, Scott RS, Brown LJ, Forbes L V, Schmidli RS, Zimmet PZ, MacKay IR, Rowley MJ (1996) Islet cell antibodies and antibodies against glutamic acid decarboxylase in newly diagnosed adult-onset diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 33:89–97.
- Winkler EA et al. (2015) GLUT1 reductions exacerbate Alzheimer's disease vasculo-neuronal dysfunction and degeneration. Nat Neurosci 18:521–530.

- Winzell MS and Ahren B(2004) The high-fat diet–fed mouse: a model for studying mechanisms and treatment of impaired glucose tolerance and Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes 237:215–219.
- Wirak DO, Bayney R, Kundel CA, Lee A, Scangos GA, Trapp BD, Unterbeck AJ (1991) Regulatory region of human amyloid precursor protein (APP) gene promotes neuron-specific gene expression in the CNS of transgenic mice. EMBO J 10:289–296.
- Wirawan E, Berghe T Vanden, Lippens S, Agostinis P, Vandenabeele P (2012) Autophagy: for better or for worse. Cell Res 22:43–61.
- Wisniewski T, Sigurdsson EM (2010) Murine models of Alzheimer's disease and their use in developing immunotherapies. Biochim Biophys Acta 1802:847–859.
- Witte AV; Fobker M; Gellner R, Knecht S FA (2009) Caloric restriction improves memory in elderly humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:1255-1260.
- Wollen KA (2010) Alzheimer's Disease: The Pros and Cons of Pharmaceutical, Nutritional, Botanical, and Stimulatory Therapies, with a Discussion of Treatment Strategies from the Perspective of Patients and Practitioners. Altern Med Rev 15(3): 223-244.
- Wong HKA, Veremeyko T, Patel N, Lemere CA, Walsh DM, Esau C, Vanderburg C, Krichevsky AM (2013) Derepression of FOXO3a death axis by microRNA-132 and -212 causes neuronal apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet 22:3077–3092.
- Woo J, Shin K, Park S, Jang K, Kang S (2013) Effects of exercise and diet change on cognition function and synaptic plasticity in high fat diet induced obese rats. Lipids Health Dis 12:144.
- Woods SC, Seeley RJ, Rushing P a, D'Alessio D, Tso P (2003) A controlled high-fat diet induces an obese syndrome in rats. J Nutr 133:1081–1087.
- Woods YL, Rena G, Morrice N, Barthel A, Becker W, Guo S, Unterman TG, Cohen P (2001) The kinase DYRK1A phosphorylates the transcription factor FKHR at Ser329 in vitro, a novel in vivo phosphorylation site. Biochem J 355:597–607.

World Health Organisation (2014) Global status report on Noncommunicable Diseases. WHO 1-302.

- World Health Organization (1985) Diabetes Mellitus.WHO 1-113.
- World Health Organization (2000) Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 894:1-253.
- World Health Organization (2014) Global Status Report On Noncommunicable Diseases 2014.
- Wu C-W, Chang Y-T, Yu L, Chen H, Jen CJ, Wu S-Y, Lo C-P, Kuo Y-M (2008a) Exercise enhances the proliferation of neural stem cells and neurite growth and survival of neuronal progenitor cells in dentate gyrus of middle-aged mice. J Appl Physiol 105:1585–1594.
- Wu P, Shen Q, Dong S, Xu Z, Tsien JZ, Hu Y (2008b) Calorie restriction ameliorates neurodegenerative phenotypes in forebrain-specific presenilin-1 and presenilin-2 double knockout mice. Neurobiol Aging 29:1502–1511.
- Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN (2006) TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. Cell 124:471–484.
- Xiang Q, Zhang J, Li CY, Wang Y, Zeng MJ, Cai ZX, Tian RB, Jia W, Li XH (2015) Insulin resistance-induced hyperglycemia decreased the activation of Akt/CREB in hippocampus neurons: Molecular evidence for mechanism of diabetes-induced cognitive dysfunction. Neuropeptides 54:9–15.
- Xie H, Litersky JM, Hartigan JA, Jope RS, Johnson G V (1998) The interrelationship between selective tau phosphorylation and microtubule association. Brain Res 798:173–183.
- Xie Z, Klionsky DJ (2007) Autophagosome formation: core machinery and adaptations. Nat Cell Biol 9:1102–1109.
- Yang F, Chu X, Yin M, Liu X, Yuan H, Niu Y, Fu L (2014) MTOR and autophagy in normal brain aging and caloric restriction ameliorating age-related cognition deficits. Behav Brain Res 264:82–90.
- Yang L, Li P, Fu S, Calay ES, Hotamisligil GS (2010) Defective hepatic autophagy in obesity promotes ER stress and causes insulin resistance. Cell Metab 11:467–478.
- Yankner BA, Dawes LR, Fisher S, Villa-Komaroff L, Oster-Granite ML, Neve RL (1989) Neurotoxicity of a fragment of the amyloid precursor associated with Alzheimer's disease. Science 245:417–420.
- Yao H, Han X, Han X (2014) The Cardioprotection of the Insulin-Mediated PI3K/Akt/mTOR Signaling Pathway. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 14:433–442.

- Ye J, Keller JN (2010) Regulation of energy metabolism by inflammation: A feedback response in obesity and calorie restriction. Aging (Albany NY) 2:361–368.
- Yin R, Yin K, Guo ZQ, Zhang ZQ, Chen LP, Cao L, Li YM, Wei YX, Fu XF, Shi XQ (2016) Protective effects of colivelin against Alzheimer's disease in a PDAPP mouse model. Cell Physiol Biochem 38:1138–1146.
- Yip J, Geng X, Shen J, Ding Y (2017) Cerebral Gluconeogenesis and Diseases. Front Pharmacol 7:521.
- Yong J, Ki B, Shin O, Woo J, Heon S (2016) Exercise and dietary change ameliorate high fat diet induced obesity and insulin resistance via mTOR signaling pathway. 20:28–33.
- Yoshiike Y, Kimura T, Yamashita S, Furudate H, Mizoroki T, Murayama M, Takashima A (2008) GABA(A) receptormediated acceleration of aging-associated memory decline in APP/PS1 mice and its pharmacological treatment by picrotoxin. PLoS One 3: e3029.
- Yu C, Rahmani M, Dai Y, Conrad D, Krystal G, Dent P, Grant S (2003) The lethal effects of pharmacological cyclindependent kinase inhibitors in human leukemia cells proceed through a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Aktdependent process. Cancer Res 63:1822–1833.
- Yu H, Saura CA, Choi SY, Sun LD, Yang X, Handler M, Kawarabayashi T, Younkin L, Fedeles B, Wilson MA, Younkin S, Kandel ER, Kirkwood A, Shen J (2001) APP processing and synaptic plasticity in presenilin-1 conditional knockout mice. Neuron 31:713–726.
- Yu J, Guo JT, Zhu H, Kindy MS (2000) Amyloid formation in the rat: adenoviral expression of mouse serum amyloid A proteins. Amyloid 7:32–40.
- Yuede CM, Zimmerman SD, Dong H, Kling MJ, Bero AW, Holtzman DM, Timson BF, Csernansky JG (2009) Effects of voluntary and forced exercise on plaque deposition, hippocampal volume, and behavior in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Dis 35:426–432.
- Zago W, Buttini M, Comery TA, Nishioka C, Gardai SJ, Seubert P, Games D, Bard F, Schenk D, Kinney GG (2012) Neutralization of soluble, synaptotoxic amyloid beta species by antibodies is epitope specific. J Neurosci 32:2696–2702.
- Zandi E, Rothwarf DM, Delhase M, Hayakawa M, Karin M (1997) The IkB Kinase Complex (IKK) Contains Two Kinase Subunits, IKKβ1and IKKβ2, necessary for IkB phosphorylation and NFkB activation. Cell 91:243–252.
- Zavaroni I, Sander S, Scott S, Reaven GM (1980) Effect of fructose feeding on insulin secretion and insulin action in the rat. Metabolism 29:970–973.
- Zhang H, Ma Q, Zhang Y, Xu H (2012) Proteolytic processing of Alzheimer's β-amyloid precursor protein. J Neurochem 120:9–21.
- Zhang M, Lv X-Y, Li J, Xu Z-G, Chen L (2008) The characterization of high-fat diet and multiple low-dose streptozotocin induced type 2 diabetes rat model. Exp Diabetes Res 2008:704045.
- Zhang S, Smailagic N, Hyde C, Noel-Storr AH, Takwoingi Y, McShane R, Feng J (2014) (11)C-PIB-PET for the early diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease dementia and other dementias in people with mild cognitive impairment (MCI). Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews Cochrane Database Syst Rev 7: 1-59.
- Zhang X, Gao S, Niu J, Li P, Deng J, Xu S, Wang Z, Wang W, Kong D, Li C (2016) Cannabinoid 2 Receptor Agonist Improves Systemic Sensitivity to Insulin in High-Fat Diet/Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Mice. Cell Physiol Biochem 40:1175–1185.
- Zhang X, Zhang G, Zhang H, Karin M, Bai H, Cai D (2008a) Hypothalamic IKKβ/NF-kB and ER Stress Link Overnutrition to Energy Imbalance and Obesity. Cell 135:61–73.
- Zhang Y, Wang R, Liu Q, Zhang H, Liao F-F, Xu H (2007) Presenilin/gamma-secretase-dependent processing of betaamyloid precursor protein regulates EGF receptor expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:10613–10618.
- Zhao C (2006) Distinct Morphological Stages of Dentate Granule Neuron Maturation in the Adult Mouse Hippocampus. J Neurosci 26:3–11.
- Zhao W-Q, De Felice FG, Fernandez S, Chen H, Lambert MP, Quon MJ, Krafft G a, Klein WL (2008) Amyloid beta oligomers induce impairment of neuronal insulin receptors. FASEB J 22:246–260.
- Zhao ZC, Li F, Maiese K (2005) Oxidative stress in the brain: Novel cellular targets that govern survival during neurodegenerative disease. Prog Neurobiol 75:207–246.
- Zhao L, Teter B, Morihara T L et al. (2004) Insulin-Degrading Enzyme as a Downstream Target of Insulin Receptor Signaling Cascade: Implications for Alzheimer's Disease Intervention. J Neurosci 24:11120–11126.

- Zheng-Fischhöfer Q, Biernat J, Mandelkow EM, Illenberger S, Godemann R, Mandelkow E (1998) Sequential phosphorylation of Tau by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and protein kinase A at Thr212 and Ser214 generates the Alzheimer-specific epitope of antibody AT100 and requires a paired-helical-filament-like conformation. Eur J Biochem 252:542–552.
- Zhou H, Li XM, Meinkoth J, Pittman RN (2000) Akt regulates cell survival and apoptosis at a postmitochondrial level. J Cell Biol 151:483–494.

# List of abbreviations

AD : Alzheimer's disease ADDLs : Aβ-derived diffusible ligands AGEs : Advanced glycation end products AICD : APP intracellular domain Akt : Protein kinase B (PKB) AMPAR : α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid receptor APFs : Annular protofibrils APP : Amyloid precursor protein **APs : Amyloid Plagues** Aß : Amyloid beta BACE : Beta-site amyloid precursor protein cleaving enzyme BAD : Bcl-2-associated death promotor BBB : Blood Brain Barrier BDNF : Brain-derived neurotrophic factor BMI : Body mass index CaMKII: Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II cAMP : Cyclic adenosine monophosphate CD : Cafeteria Diet Cdk5 : Cyclin dependent kinase 5 CNS : Central nervous system CR : Caloric restriction CSF : Cerebrospinal fluid CTF : C-terminal fragment DIO : Diet induced obesity DYRK : Dual Specificity Tyrosine Phosphorylation Regulated Kinase EE : Environmental enrichment EOAD : Early Onset Alzheimer's Disease ERK : extracellular signal-related kinase FAD : Familial Alzheimer's Disease FDA : Food and Drug Administration FFA : free fatty acid FOXOs : Forkhead transcription factors FPG : Fasting plasma glucose GDM : Gestational diabetes mellitus

GK rat : Goto-Kakizaki diabetic rat

GluTs : Glucose transporters GSK3β : Glycogen synthase kinase 3β GTT : Glucose tolerance test HC diet : High calorific diet HF diet : High-fat diet IDE : Insulin Degrading Enzyme

IGF : Insulin growth like factor IKK : Inhibitor of nuclear factor-κB (ΙκΒ) kinase IR : Insulin receptor IRS : Insulin receptor substrate

JNK : c-Jun N-terminal kinase

LTP : Long-term potentiation MAPK : Mitogen-activated protein kinase MCI: Mild cognitive impairment mGluR : metabotropic glutamate receptors MRI : Magnetic Resonance Imagery mTOR : Mammalian Target of Rapamycin NFTs : Neurofibrillary Tangles NFkB : Nuclear factor-kB NGF : Nerve growth factor NIDDM : Non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus NMDAR : N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor PET : Positron Emission Tomography PHFs : Paired helical filaments PI3K : phosphatidylinositide 3-kinases PKA : Protein kinase A PKC : Protein kinase C PS : Presenilin RAGE : Receptor for Advanced Glycation End product STZ: Streptozotocin T1DM : Type 1 diabetes mellitus T2DM : Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Tg mice : transgenic mice

VEGF : Vascular endothelial growth factor WMH : White matter hyperintensity







NNT: 2017SACLS121

# THESE DE DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITE PARIS-SACLAY PREPAREE A L'UNIVERSITE PARIS-SUD INSTITUT DES NEUROSCIENCES PARIS-SACLAY

ECOLE DOCTORALE N°568 : BIOSIGNE Signalisations et Réseaux Intégratifs en Biologie

Spécialité de doctorat : Aspects moléculaires et cellulaires de la biologie Neurosciences

Par

Mme Su Men

# Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus acts as a risk factor for the development of early stage Alzheimer's disease

## Thèse présentée et soutenue à Orsay, le 6 Juin 2017

### **Composition du Jury :**

Dr. Davis Sabrina	Chargée de recherche	University of Paris-Saclay	Directrice de thèse
Dr. Ferreira Guillaume	Directeur de recherche	University of Bordeaux	Rapporteur
Pr. Kelly Aine	Professeur	University of Dublin	Rapporteur
Dr. Daumas Stéphanie	Maitre de conférences	University of Sorbonne	Examinateur
Pr. Taouis, Mohammed	Professeur	University of Paris-Saclay	Président du jury

#### Résumé

Les formes sporadiques de la maladie d'Alzheimer (MA) sont multifactorielles et représentent 99% des cas de MA. L'âge est le plus important facteur de risque, suivit par le Diabète Mellitus de Type 2 (DMT2), une maladie métabolique caractérisée par une hyperglycémie et une résistance à l'insuline qui se développe vers la cinquantaine et est fortement favorisée par l'obésité. Ces deux maladies partagent des événements pathologiques communs, en particulier liés à l'inflammation, l'autophagie, l'apoptose, la régulation du glucose et la signalisation par l'insuline ; mécanismes dont beaucoup impliquent la voie de signalisation cellulaire PI3K-Akt.

Nous avons exploré l'impact potentiel du DMT2 sur le développement de la MA dans une étude longitudinale (8-10 mois) chez le Rat. Pour cela, nous avons utilisé un protocole qui mime le développement d'un phénotype DMT2 chez l'Homme en couplant un régime alimentaire cafétéria (RC), qui induit une obésité, avec des injections de faibles doses de Streptozotocine (STZ) qui induisent une résistance pancréatique à l'insuline (STZ-CD). Cinq mois après le début du régime alimentaire, la moitié des rats reçoivent une infusion intracérébrale de peptides β-amyloïdes solubles (Aβ) qui ne forment pas de plaques amyloïdes et ne conduisent pas à des déficits mnésiques durables. Ceci permet de rechercher si le DMT2 peut exacerber les effets du peptide Aβ seul. Durant toute l'expérience, on contrôle le gain de poids et l'hyperglycémie et on analyse en fin d'expérience le taux sanguin d'insuline. La mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale, une fonction dépendante de l'hippocampe, est évaluée régulièrement pour détecter le début et analyser l'évolution des déficits mnésiques altérations de la voie PI3K et de marqueurs de la cascade amyloïde.

Les rats STZ-CD montrent des signes classiques de DMT2 et des déficits légers de consolidation en mémoire de reconnaissance, déficits qui peuvent être induits indépendamment par les injections de STZ seules ou le régime cafétéria seul. L'infusion de peptides A $\beta$  seule ou chez les rats CD ou STZ seuls induit des déficits mnésiques temporaires qui récupèrent en environ 6 semaines. Seul le phénotype DMT2 chez les rats STZ-CD exacerbe les déficits mnésiques observés avec le peptide A $\beta$  en les prolongeant dans le temps. L'enrichissement environnemental pendant une période critique de 2 semaines après l'infusion d'A $\beta$  est capable de compenser les déficits mnésiques induits par la combinaison des traitements STZ-CD et A $\beta$ , mais l'effet bénéfique de l'enrichissement est peu durable comparé à son effet bénéfique robuste chez les rats contrôles.

Des analyses biochimiques montrent que le peptide Aß seul induit peu de changements durables de phosphorylation de protéines neuronales dans CA1, en concordance avec la récupération rapide des déficits mnésiques. Le phénotype DMT2 seul est associé à des changements pour quelques protéines-clé, largement en liaison avec le régime cafétéria. Par contre, la majorité des modifications dysfonctionnelles de protéines est observée chez les rats montrant un phénotype de type DMT2 et recevant le peptide Aß. Ces altérations, similaires à celles rapportées chez des patients atteints de la MA et chez des modèles animaux de la MA, concernent notamment l'expression et/ou la phosphorylation de protéines de la voie PI3K-Akt impliquée dans des fonctions comme l'autophagie, l'inflammation et la cascade amyloïde. L'altération de ces protéines pourrait contribuer aux déficits mnésiques durables observés et mettre en lumière des mécanismes moléculaires induits par le DMT2 et promouvant un milieu neuronal favorisant le développement d'un stade précoce de la MA.

3

#### Introduction

La maladie d'Alzheimer (MA) est une maladie neurodégénérative liée à l'âge qui a un début lent et insidieux. Elle est définie cliniquement par une démence et pathologiquement par la présence généralisée de plaques amyloïdes, de dégénérescences neurofibrillaires et de pertes neuronales (Heininger, 1999, Dickson et Vickers, 2001). Jusqu'à récemment, l'accent mis sur la recherche pour comprendre la progression de la maladie et pour le développement de traitements pour endiguer ou arrêter la pathologie était basé sur la pathologie amyloïde. Toutefois, au cours des 10 dernières années, l'accumulation de données suggère maintenant que les plaques amyloïdes ne sont probablement pas le principal mécanisme de déclenchement de la démence associée à la maladie d'Alzheimer. Les principales données à l'appui de cette vision sont, d'une part, les essais cliniques basés sur l'utilisation de médicaments éliminant les plaques qui n'améliorent pas la cognition ni prolongent la vie chez les patients atteints de la MA (Holmes et al., 2008) ; d'autre part le fait que les personnes âgées cognitivement « normales » ont une charge en plaques amyloïdes équivalente à celles diagnostiquées pour la maladie (Knopman et al., 2003; Oh et al., 2015, Mufson et al., 2016).

De plus, des recherches plus récentes ont montré que les peptides amyloïdes pré-agrégés peuvent être plus déterminants pour induire la démence associée à la maladie (Larson et Lesne, 2012; Lesne, 2014). Ces peptides sont toxiques, relativement mobiles et, de manière extracellulaire, peuvent se lier à un certain nombre de récepteurs neuronaux et rendre dysfonctionnels ces récepteurs et leurs voies de signalisation cellulaire (Sakono et Zako, 2010). Cela peut favoriser les processus d'inflammation et d'apoptose (Eftekharzadeh et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 2016) et aussi déréguler les processus homéostatiques tels que l'autophagie et la balance énergétique (Townsend et al., 2007; Caccamo et al., 2011; voir Wang et al., 2016). Les données expérimentales chez les rongeurs suggèrent que ces peptides amyloïdes solubles induisent des déficits de mémoire (Cleary et al., 2005; Sipos et al., 2007; Eslamizade et al., 2016) et de plasticité synaptique (Walsh et al., 2002; Townsend et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2008). Enfin, des données montrent que la charge amyloïde augmente lentement pendant environ 15 à 20 ans avant que le début des premiers signes cliniques identifiables aient atteint un plateau (Jack et al., 2010; Jack et al., 2013; Swerdlow et al., 2014). Ainsi, il existe un consensus croissant qui suggère que les peptides pré-agrégées peuvent constituer un stade préclinique de la maladie où le développement de traitements interventionnels pourrait être la stratégie optimale. Cependant, en l'absence de marqueurs in vivo de l'amyloïde pré-agrégée chez l'homme, il devient difficile de dissocier les déficits de mémoire légers qui peuvent survenir chez les personnes âgées normales de ceux chez des patients qui développeront une MA.

Un marqueur prédictif potentiel du développement précoce de la MA est le diabète Mellitus de type 2 (DMT2), une maladie caractérisée par une hyperglycémie et une résistance à l'insuline et/ou une hyperinsulinémie (Alberti et Zimmet, 1998; Brunetti et al., 2014). Après le vieillissement, c'est le facteur de risque le plus important pour développer une MA. L'incidence de la maladie d'Alzheimer est de 2 à 5 fois plus élevée chez les personnes atteintes de DMT2 (Mayeux et Stern, 2006; Desai et al., 2014). Comme pour la MA, le DMT2 se développe avec le temps, montrant des symptômes caractéristiques vers la cinquantaine (Aguiree et al., 2013; American Diabetes Association, 2015), et est également soumis à des facteurs de risque, en particulier l'obésité (van Leiden et al., 2003; Organisation Mondiale de la Santé, 2000). Les études épidémiologiques et celles chez l'animal montrent une forte association entre le DMT2 et la MA et il a été suggéré que le DMT2 pourrait exacerber le processus de la MA (Verdile et al., 2015a).

Les patients diabétiques présentent des niveaux inférieurs de cognition globale, de mémoire

4

épisodique, de mémoire sémantique, de mémoire de travail et de vitesse perceptuelle (Arvanitakis et al., 2004). Les patients atteints de DMT2 ou de MA partagent également certaines neuropathologies communes, telles qu'une atrophie de l'hippocampe et une altération de la connectivité neuronale structurale et fonctionnelle (Den Heijer et al., 2003; Reijmer et al., 2013), de la glycémie à jeun (Janson et al., 2004) et la présence de dégénérescences neurofibrillaires et de plaques amyloïdes (Peila et al., 2002, Mittal et Katare, 2016), bien que ces lésions clés soient dans le pancréas chez les patients atteints de DMT2. En outre, des études ont montré une altération de la signalisation par la voie insuline-PI3K-Akt chez les patients atteints de MA et de DMT2 (Schubert et al., 2004; Steen et al., 2005), qui pourrait contribuer à des dysfonctionnements neuronaux tels que l'inflammation, l'apoptose, l'autophagie, le stress oxydatif, la signalisation par l'insuline et le métabolisme du glucose, dont beaucoup sont médiés par la voie de signalisation insuline-PI3K-Akt (voir pour revue : Cole et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2010; Verdile, 2015b; Mittal et Katare, 2016). Bien que ces dysfonctionnements communs soient principalement observés dans les tissus périphériques dans le DMT2, on sait que le cerveau dépend largement du système périphérique pour le glucose et la majorité de son insuline, suggérant que la dérégulation par le DMT2 pourrait affecter l'homéostasie énergétique du cerveau.

Ainsi, compte tenu des pathologies communes et des mécanismes dysfonctionnels, les déficits de mémoire observés dans le DMT2 pourraient constituer un état précoce et fragile, où une légère perturbation de la régulation homéostatique de mécanismes neuronaux pourrait faire basculer l'équilibre en faveur du développement de la MA et de la démence. En outre, l'âge auquel ces maladies se manifestent les placent au moment où commence à apparaître une hausse de l'amyloïde chez les patients.

Un certain nombre d'études ont montré que les formes sporadiques de la MA sont des troubles du métabolique cérébral (Iqbal et Grundke-Iqbal, 2005; Heiss et al., 1991; Gong et al., 2006), où l'altération du métabolisme du glucose survient avant l'apparition de symptômes de la MA et s'aggravent avec l'âge (Heiss et al., 1991; Smith et al., 1992; Hoyer, 2004). En outre, le cerveau de patients atteints de la MA présente une résistance à l'insuline (Riveral et al., 2005; Talbot et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2011) associée à une diminution du métabolisme du glucose (Liu et al., 2009; 2011). Certaines études ont couplé le DMT2 avec la MA, principalement sur la base de données chez des souris transgéniques modèles de la MA (Ho et al., 2004; Hiltunen et al., 2012; McClean et Hölscher, 2014; Yeh et al., 2015) qui ont surtout porté sur la pathologie amyloïde et tau (Ho et al., 2004; Takeda et al., 2010; Yeh et al., 2015) ou sur la pathologie du DMT2 (Takeda et al., 2010; Hiltunen et al., 2010; Hiltunen et al., 2012).

Compte tenu des associations entre les deux maladies, le but de nos expériences était de rechercher des mécanismes dysfonctionnels médiés par le DMT2 dans l'aire CA1 de l'hippocampe qui pourraient exacerber une augmentation précoce de l'amyloïde telle que celle observée dans les stades précliniques de la MA. Bien que l'hypothèse de la cascade amyloïde (Hardy et Higgins, 1992; Selkoe et Hardy, 2016), qui joue un rôle moteur de la recherche en sur la MA, suggère que de nombreuses pathologies non spécifiques de la déstabilisation de faible niveau, mais chronique, des fonctions cérébrales induite par le DMT2 pourrait favoriser un environnement neuronal permettant une régulation dysfonctionnelle de l'Aβ. À cette fin, nous avons développé un modèle de DMT2 chez le rat qui imite de façon aussi proche que possible la condition humaine et mené des analyses comportementales et biochimiques longitudinales. Lorsque les symptômes caractéristiques du DMT2 ont été établis, nous avons infusé en intracérébral une faible concentration de peptide Aβ42 et avons suivi les animaux pendant 15 semaines. Pour les tests fonctionnels, nous avons examiné à plusieurs temps pendant toute la période expérimentale la mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale. Enfin, nous avons examiné la régulation de protéines de la voie de signalisation cellulaire PI3K-Akt associé à

la régulation homéostatique normale de fonctions qui sont altérées dans la MA.

#### Objectifs de la thèse

Après le vieillissement, le DMT2 est le principal facteur de risque associé à la MA. Il est largement induit par l'obésité et se manifeste à l'âge moyen. Le DMT2 et la MA partagent un certain nombre de signes pathologiques, y compris la pathologie amyloïde, une altération des fonctions cellulaires en partie contrôlées par la cascade de signalisation PI3K-Akt, une voie qui répond directement à l'apport environnemental (Desai et al., 2014). La différence majeure entre les deux pathologie prend place dans le DMT2 cette pathologie est observée à la périphérie, alors que dans la MA, la pathologie prend place dans le cerveau. Cependant, dans des conditions physiologiques, le cerveau doit accéder à la fois au glucose et à l'insuline de la périphérie et comme ce sont les deux dysfonctionnements caractéristiques du DMT2, ils pourraient avoir un impact sur le cerveau. Le but spécifique du projet était donc de comprendre comment et par quel mécanisme le DMT2 pourrait induire un environnement neuronal favorisant l'apparition de dysfonctionnements neuronaux et de déficits cognitifs associés à la MA. Pour répondre à cette question, notre stratégie a consisté à mener des études sur un modèle animal mimant au plus près la condition humaine en utilisant :

- Des études longitudinales (sur environ 10 mois) qui mimeront plus étroitement l'apparition lente des dysfonctionnements comme cela a été observé dans le DMT2 et la MA.
- Un régime alimentaire utilisant de la nourriture de type « junk food » humaine sous un régime de type cafétéria, au lieu de granulés calibrés de laboratoire à haute teneur en graisse.
- Une infusion intracérébrale de faibles doses de peptide Aβ42 soluble pour assurer une augmentation du taux de peptides Aβ42 dans le cerveau.
- Une analyse des dysfonctionnements de la régulation de l'expression et de la phosphorylation de protéines de la voie de signalisation PI3K-Akt dans l'aire CA1 de l'hippocampe.

Par conséquent, notre hypothèse était qu'un effet dysfonctionnel induit par l'Aβ serait exacerbé par un phénotype de type DMT2. En particulier, que la pathologie de type DMT2 créerait un dysfonctionnement de la régulation homéostatique du glucose et du métabolisme énergétique et une diminution de la signalisation par l'insuline dans le cerveau, ceci exacerbant tout effet induit par le peptide Aβ seul.

#### Méthodes

#### Protocole général et groupes expérimentaux

Nous avons effectué des études longitudinales sur 8 à 10 mois. Les rats sont d'abord nourris avec le régime alimentaire et sont ensuite injectés à deux reprises, séparées d'une semaine, avec des doses sousdiabétogènes de streptozotocin (STZ). Après 20 semaines, certains rats ont été implantés avec des minipompes osmotiques contenant de l'Aβ42 soluble et l'expérience a été poursuivie pendant encore 15 semaines. Tout au long de la période expérimentale, des tests réguliers de tolérance au glucose (GTT) et des tests de mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale ont été effectués (voir la chronologie ci-dessous, Figure 1). Quatre groupes expérimentaux principaux ont été utilisés : des rats témoins nourris avec un régime standard de laboratoire (Ct), des rats nourris avec un régime cafétéria (CD), des rats injectés avec la streptozotocin (STZ) et des rats nourris avec un régime cafétéria combiné à des injections de STZ (STZ-CD). Des sous-groupes



Figure 1. Déroulé du protocole expérimental : le protocole commence par l'alimentation avec le régime de cafétéria (CD) à la semaine 0. Ensuite, on distingue différents traitements pendant une période de 35 semaines. Abréviations : STZ1 et 2 sont les moments où des injections de faibles doses de streptozotocine sont administrées ; SR1-4 représentent les temps auxquels la mémoire de référence spatiale est testée ; GTT1-4 représentent les temps auxquels les tests de tolérance au glucose sont effectués ;  $A\beta$ + indique le temps qui suit la fin de la perfusion d'A $\beta$ .

- Protocole d'alimentation : Les rats sont nourris avec un régime de laboratoire calibré (LD) ou un régime cafétéria (CD) comprenant des aliments de type « junk food ».
- Injections de streptozotocine (STZ) : 30 mg/kg i.p., deux fois, 7 semaines après le début du régime d'alimentation.
- Procédure chirurgicale et infusion de peptides Aβ : infusion par mini-pompes osmotiques de peptides Aβ42 en intra-cérébroventriculaire (icv) pendant 7 jours.
- Test de tolérance au glucose (GTT) : Après une nuit de jeûne, le sang de la veine de la queue est prélevé avant (0 min) et 15, 30, 60 et 120 minutes après une injection en bolus de glucose.
- Test d'insuline dans le sang : l'insuline plasmatique a été mesurée à l'aide d'un kit ELISA d'insuline de rat / souris.
- Tâche de mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale : Utilisation d'une tâche de reconnaissance de la position spatial d'objets dans l'environnement.
- Enrichissement de l'environnement : les rats ont été placés en groupe, quelques heures par jours pendant 15 jours, dans une grande enceinte contenant un grand nombre d'objets qu'ils peuvent explorer à loisir.
- Préparation des tissus cérébraux pour les analyses biochimiques : les rats ont été sacrifiés et l'hippocampe a été disséqué et immédiatement congelé dans de l'azote liquide et maintenu à -80°C pour une utilisation ultérieure d'analyses biochimiques.
- Western-blot : Analyses de l'expression et de la phosphorylation des protéines.

#### Résultats

#### Caractéristiques du modèle de DMT2

#### Prise alimentaire et gain de poids

Nous avons effectué des analyses de la consommation alimentaire sur une période de 6 semaines au milieu de l'expérience pour les groupes alimentés en alimentation de laboratoire (contrôle et STZ seul) ou sous régime cafétéria (CD seul et STZ-CD). Nous avons constaté que des rats alimentés en régime CD consommaient près du double de la quantité de calories hebdomadaires (853 kcal) par rapport aux rats sous régime de laboratoire (488 kcal). En ce qui concerne les principaux groupes d'aliments nutritionnels, les rats nourris sous régime CD ont consommé environ la même quantité de glucides que ceux alimentés en alimentation de laboratoire (t = 0,7383; p> 0,05), moins de teneur globale en protéines (t = 72,29; p <0,0001) et plus de lipides (t = 204,2; p <0,0001). Cependant, la quantité de glucides contenue dans le régime CD était

d'environ 49,4% alors que celle du régime de laboratoire était de 3,2%.

Le poids des animaux a été mesuré sur une base hebdomadaire et, bien sûr, au début de l'expérience tous les rats avaient le même poids (F<1). Comme on l'attendait, les rats nourris avec un régime de type cafétéria (CD seul et STZ-CD) ont gagné beaucoup plus de poids que les groupes placés en alimentation de laboratoire (Contrôles et STZ seul) pendant toute la période expérimentale. À la fin de l'expérience, les rats alimentés sous régime CD avaient gagné environ 25% de poids en plus que ceux sous régime témoin.

#### Taux sanguins de glucose et d'insuline

Les rats du groupe STZ-CD ont montré une hyperglycémie évidente qui se manifeste par une augmentation constante du glucose plasmatique basal à jeun et une tolérance au glucose altérée en réponse à un challenge de glucose qui a évolué avec le temps.

À la fin de l'expérience, l'insuline plasmatique a été mesurée à l'aide d'ELISA. L'ANOVA a montré des niveaux très élevés chez les rats nourris avec le régime CD, une caractéristique commune de l'obésité (voir Templeman et al., 2017), avec une légère augmentation non significative chez les rats injectés avec STZ seul et une tendance à une diminution chez les rats STZ-CD (F(3,15)=18,14; p<0,0001; Figure 2A). Pour comparer la relation entre glucose et insuline, nous avons normalisé les taux d'insuline sanguine et de glucose du dernier test à leurs témoins correspondants (Figure 2B). Chez les rats injectés avec STZ seul, bien qu'il y ait eu une légère augmentation du taux insuline/glucose, ceci n'atteint pas le seuil de significativité. Chez les rats nourris avec le régime CD, il y a une forte augmentation significative du taux d'insuline par rapport à un taux relativement normal de glucose (t=9,19; p<0,01), suggérant soit une résistance à l'insuline, soit une hyperinsulinémie. En revanche, les rats STZ-CD avaient des niveaux accrus de glucose et une diminution correspondante des taux d'insuline (t=6,24; p<0,05), ce qui suggère une insuffisance des cellules  $\beta$  pancréatiques.



Figure 2. Régulation de l'insuline : (A) Montre le taux d'insuline sanguin à la fin de l'expérience dans les 4 groupes expérimentaux majeurs. (B et C) Montrent la relation entre le glucose (barres pleines) au dernier test et l'insuline (barres hachurées) en fin d'expérience. Les données sont normalisées par rapport aux niveaux de contrôle respectifs. (B) Montre la relation entre les niveaux de glucose et d'insuline à la fin de l'expérience. (C) Relie la relation entre le glucose et l'insuline dans un sous-groupe de rats traités par STZ-CD et chez des rats témoins examinés au temps inférieur de 21 semaines. Les données sont représentées par la moyenne  $\pm$  erreur standard, \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001.

Pris dans leur ensemble, le gain de poids, l'hyperglycémie et l'altération de l'insuline spécifiques aux rats traités par STZ-CD suggèrent que ce traitement favorise au moins un certain nombre de caractéristiques associées à un phénotype de DMT2. En outre, la différence entre les niveaux de glucose et d'insuline au temps antérieur suggère que le phénotype DMT2 a évolué avec le temps et à la fin de l'expérience représente un

stade plus avancé de DMT2 que celui induit par le régime CD seul.

#### Déficits de mémoire induits par le DMT2 et par l'infusion d'Aß

Les rats traités par STZ-CD ont montré des signes classiques de DMT2 et un déficit modeste dans la consolidation de la mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale, qui peut être observé indépendamment chez les groupes recevant des injections de STZ seul (STZ) ou soumis au régime CD seul (CD). La perfusion d'Aß seule ou chez les rats alimentés par CD seul ou seulement injecté avec la STZ induit un déficit de mémoire temporaire qui a récupéré environ 6 semaines après la perfusion chez les rats témoins. Seul le phénotype DMT2 a exacerbé les déficits de mémoire induits par l'infusion d'Aß en prolongeant le déficit pendant au moins 13 semaines (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Effet de l'A $\beta$  seul et en conjonction avec le DMT2 et les autres traitements seuls sur la mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale. (A) Dépeint une étude préliminaire testant l'effet que l'A $\beta$  seul (barres hachurées) par rapport à des rats non infusés (barres blanches) testés à différents moments après l'infusion d'A $\beta$ . (B) Montre le protocole de test de l'effet de la perfusion d'A $\beta$  en STZ seul, CD seul et en combinaison (STZ-CD). (C-E) Déficits de mémoire induits dans tous les groupes à différents moments après l'infusion d'A $\beta$  (barres hachurées) par rapport aux groupes non infusés (barres pleines). Les données sont représentées par la moyenne  $\pm$  erreur standard, \*p<0.05; \*\*p<0.01; \*\*\*p<0.001.

#### Effet bénéfique de l'enrichissement environnemental sur la mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale

L'enrichissement environnemental (EE) a été mené quelques heures par jour pendant une période critique de deux semaines après l'infusion d'Aβ. Il a permis de récupérer des déficits de mémoire induits par un traitement Aβ et/ou STZ-CD, les rats présentant une capacité de mémoire améliorée lorsqu'ils sont testés immédiatement après l'exposition à l'enrichissement. Alors que l'effet bénéfique de l'EE sur la performance en mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale était robuste chez les rats témoins, étant toujours observé 45 jours après l'enrichissement, chez les rats traités par STZ-CD, cet effet bénéfique ne persiste pas à long terme.

#### Régulation de la voie de signalisation PI3K-Akt et des protéines associées

Nous avons effectué une analyse par Western Blot dans l'aire CA1 de l'hippocampe sur l'expression et la phosphorylation de protéines clés de la voie de signalisation PI3K-Akt, protéines associées à un certain nombre de dysfonctionnements communs au DMT2 et la MA.

En résumé, bien qu'il y ait eu de nombreuses protéines régulées dans le groupe présentant un phénotypique de DMT2 infusé avec les peptides Aβ, peu étaient spécifiques du groupe, le phénotype seul ou la perfusion d'Aβ seul, ce qui constitue les principaux facteurs du processus de la maladie. Nous avons trouvé

certains changements dans l'expression ou la phosphorylation des protéines spécifiques au phénotype DMT2 ayant reçu des infusions de peptites Aβ en termes de sens de changement, mais ceux-ci ont été accompagnés en grande partie par des effets opposés médiés par le régime CD ou par l'Aβ à un stade précoce.

Les analyses biochimiques montrent que le peptide Aß seul induit peu de changements durables de phosphorylation de protéines neuronales dans CA1, en concordance avec la récupération rapide des déficits mnésiques. Le phénotype DMT2 seul est associé à des changements pour quelques protéines-clé, largement en liaison avec le régime CD. Lorsque nous avons déconstruit le phénotype en analysant les effets médiés indépendamment par STZ et par le régime CD, nous avons constaté que de nombreux effets observés avec le phénotype DMT2 infusé ou non avec les peptides Aß étaient médiés par le régime CD seul. Les injections de STZ seules ont eu très peu d'effet sur la régulation des protéines, mais lorsque les rats ont reçu de l'Aß, certaines protéines ont été régulées d'une manière similaire à celle observée dans le phénotype DMT2 avec infusion d'Aβ. Par contre, la majorité des modifications dysfonctionnelles de protéines est observée chez les rats montrant un phénotype de type DMT2 et recevant le peptide Aβ. Ces modifications concernant notamment l'expression et/ou la phosphorylation de protéines de la voie de signalisation cellulaire PI3K-Akt.

#### Conclusion

En conclusion, les rats traités par STZ-CD présentaient des signes classiques du DMT2, caractérisés par un gain de poids, une hyperglycémique stable avec une hyperinsulinémie précoce et, ultérieurement, une insuffisance des cellules β-pancréatiques. Associé à l'infusion intracérébrale de peptides Aβ, les rats STZ-CD montrent également un déficit durable de mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale, qui peut être atténué temporairement par l'exposition de quelques heures par jour à un enrichissement environnemental. De plus, un certain nombre de protéines de la voie de signalisation cellulaire PI3K-Akt, ou associées à cette voie, montrent une régulation anomale après la perfusion d'Aβ, ce qui renforce notre hypothèse selon laquelle le DMT2 peut induire un environnement neuronal dysfonctionnel qui exacerbe les déficits de mémoire et les mécanismes moléculaires sous-jacents associés à la MA.

L'analyse séparée des composantes du phénotype DMT2 suggère que les injections de STZ seules ont peu contribué aux effets à long terme observés dans le phénotype DMT2. En revanche, le régime CD a eu une contribution importante au phénotype, plus particulièrement dans la régulation de différentes protéines neuronales qui, en fait, pourrait être attribuée au régime CD quel que soit l'effet potentiel de l'infusion de peptides Aβ. De plus, la régulation de certaines protéines associées au régime CD va dans un sens inverse par rapport à celle observée après traitement STZ-CD combiné. Comme les caractéristiques du phénotype DMT2 suggèrent que les rats traités par STZ-CD correspondent à un stade plus avancé de la maladie que les rats alimentés par le régime CD seul, nous pouvons suggérer que la régulation différentielle de certaines de ces protéines peut également refléter différents stades de la maladie. Un effet important était que, lorsqu'il y avait une régulation similaire de certaines protéines par différents traitements, il y avait peu de données suggérant que ces régulations puissent être médiées de manière concertée. Au contraire, il semble qu'elles puissent être médiées d'une manière indépendante et parallèle.

Enfin, nos résultats montrent que les modifications de protéines observées chez les rats montrant un phénotype de type DMT2 et recevant le peptide Aβ sont similaires à celles rapportées chez des patients atteints de la MA et chez des modèles animaux de la MA. Celles-ci concernent notamment l'expression et/ou la phosphorylation de protéines de la voie PI3K-Akt impliquée dans des fonctions comme l'autophagie, l'inflammation et la cascade amyloïde. L'altération de ces protéines pourrait contribuer aux déficits mnésiques durables observés et mettre en lumière des mécanismes moléculaires induits par le DMT2 qui pourraient

favoriser le développement d'un stade précoce de la MA.

#### Références bibliographiques

Aguiree F, Brown A, Cho N, Dahlquist G (2013) IDF Diabetes Atlas. International Diabetes Federation. Six edition. 03: 1-155.

Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ (1998) Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med15:539-553.

American Diabetes Association. (2015) Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 38:S8–S16.

Arvanitakis Z, Wilson RS, Bienias JL, Evans D, Bennett D (2004) Diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer disease and decline in cognitive function. Arch Neurol 61:661–666.

- Brunetti A, Chiefari E, Foti D (2014) Recent advances in the molecular genetics of type 2 diabetes mellitus. World J Diabetes 5:128–140.
- Caccamo A, Maldonado MA, Majumder S, Medina DX, Holbein W, Magrí A, Oddo S (2011) Naturally secreted amyloid-b increases mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) activity via a PRAS40-mediated mechanism. J Biol Chem 286:8924–8932.

Cleary JP, Walsh DM, Hofmeister JJ, Shankar GM, Kuskowski M a, Selkoe DJ, Ashe KH (2005) Natural oligomers of the amyloid-beta protein specifically disrupt cognitive function. Nat Neurosci 8:79–84.

Cole AR, Astell A, Green C, Sutherland C (2007) Molecular connexions between dementia and diabetes. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 31:1046–1063.

Den Heijer T, Vermeer SE, Van Dijk EJ, Prins ND, Koudstaal PJ, Hofman A, Breteler MMB (2003) Type 2 diabetes and atrophy of medial temporal lobe structures on brain MRI. Diabetologia 46:1604–1610.

- Desai GS, Zheng C, Geetha T, Mathews ST, White BD, Huggins KW, Zizza CA, Broderick TL, Babu JR (2014) The pancreas-brain axis: Insight into disrupted mechanisms associating type 2 diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 42:347–356.
- Dickson TC, Vickers JC (2001) The morphological phenotype of beta-amyloid plaques and associated neuritic changes in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 105:99–107.
- Eftekharzadeh B, Ramin M, Khodagholi F, Moradi S, Tabrizian K, Sharif R, Azami K, Beyer C, Sharifzadeh M (2012) Inhibition of PKA attenuates memory deficits induced by beta-amyloid (1-42), and decreases oxidative stress and NFkappaB transcription factors. Behav Brain Res 226:301–308.
- Eslamizade MJ, Madjd Z, Rasoolijazi H, Saffarzadeh F, Pirhajati V, Aligholi H, Janahmadi M, Mehdizadeh M (2016) Impaired memory and evidence of histopathology in CA1 pyramidal neurons through injection of Abeta1-42 peptides into the frontal cortices of rat. Basic Clin Neurosci 7:31–42.
- Gong C-X, Liu F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (2006) Impaired brain glucose metabolism leads to Alzheimer neurofibrillary degeneration through a decrease in tau O-GlcNAcylation. J Alzheimers Dis 9:1–12.

Hardy JA, Higgins GA (1992) Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 256:184-185.

Heininger K (1999) A unifying hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. II. Pathophysiological processes. Hum Psychopharmacol Clin Exp 14:525–581.

Heiss WD, Szelies B, Kessler J, Herholz K (1991) Abnormalities of energy metabolism in Alzheimer's disease studied with PET. Ann N Y Acad Sci 640:65–71.

- Hiltunen M, Khandelwal VKM, Yaluri N, Tiilikainen T, Tusa M, Koivisto H, Krzisch M, Vepsäläinen S, Makinen P, Kemppainen S, Miettinen P, Haapasalo A, Soininen H, Laakso M, Tanila H (2012) Contribution of genetic and dietary insulin resistance to Alzheimer phenotype in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. J Cell Mol Med 16:1206–1222.
- Ho L, Qin W, Pompl PN, Xiang Z, Wang J, Zhao Z, Peng Y, Cambareri G, Rocher A, Mobbs C V, Hof PR, Pasinetti GM (2004) Diet-induced insulin resistance promotes amyloidosis in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J 18:902–904.
- Holmes C, Boche D, Wilkinson D, Yadegarfar G, Hopkins V, Bayer A, Jones RW, Bullock R, Love S, Neal JW, Zotova E, Nicoll JAR (2008) Long-term eff ects of Aβ 42 immunisation in Alzheimer's disease : follow-up of a randomised, placebo-controlled phase I trial. 372:11–14.
- Hoyer S (2004) Glucose metabolism and insulin receptor signal transduction in Alzheimer disease. Eur J Pharmacol 490:115–125.
- Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I (2005) Metabolic/signal transduction hypothesis of Alzheimer?s disease and other tauopathies. Acta Neuropathol 109:25–31.

Jack CR, Knopman DS, Jagust WJ, Shaw LM, Aisen PS, Weiner MW, Petersen RC, Trojanowski JQ (2010) Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. Lancet Neurol 9:119–128.

- Jack CR, Barrio JR, Kepe V (2013) Cerebral amyloid PET imaging in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol 126:643– 657.
- Janson J, Laedtke T, Parisi JE, O'Brien P, Petersen RC, Butler PC (2004) Increased risk of type 2 diabetes in Alzheimer disease. Diabetes 53:474–481.
- Kim I, Lee J, Hong HJ, Jung ES, Ku YH, Jeong IK, Cho YM, So I, Park KS, Mook-Jung I (2010) A relationship between Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus through the measurement of serum amyloid-beta autoantibodies. J Alzheimers Dis 19:1371–1376.
- Knopman DS, Parisi JE, Salviati A, Floriach-Robert M, Boeve BF, Ivnik RJ, Smith GE, Dickson DW, Johnson KA, Petersen LE, McDonald WC, Braak H, Petersen RC (2003) Neuropathology of cognitively normal elderly. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 62:1087–1095.
- Kumar S, Paul A, Kalita S, Ghosh AK, Mandal B, Mondal AC (2016) Protective effects of β-sheet breaker α/β-hybrid peptide against amyloid β-induced neuronal apoptosis in vitro. Chem Biol Drug Des 2016 1-13.

Larson ME, Lesne SE (2012) Soluble Abeta oligomer production and toxicity. J Neurochem 120 Suppl:125–139.

- Lesne SE (2014) Toxic oligomer species of amyloid-β in Alzheimer's disease, a timing issue. Swiss Med Wkly 144:w14021 1-10.
- Liu Y, Liu F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Gong C-X (2009) Brain glucose transporters, O-GIcNAcylation and phosphorylation

of tau in diabetes and Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 111:242-249.

Liu Y, Grundke-Iqbal FLI, Gong KI and Gong C-X (2011) Deficient brain insulin signalling pathway in Alzheimer's disease and diabetes. J pathol 225:54–62.

Mayeux R, Stern Y (2006) epidemiology of Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord 20:S58–S62.

McClean PL, Hölscher C (2014) Lixisenatide, a drug developed to treat type 2 diabetes, shows neuroprotective effects in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuropharmacology 86:241–258.

Mittal K, Katare DP (2016) Shared links between type 2 diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease: A review. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev 10:1–6.

- Mufson E, Malek-Ahmadi M, Perez S, Chen K (2016) Braak staging, plaque pathology, and APOE status in elderly persons without cognitive impairment. Neurobiol Aging 37:147–153.
- Oh H, Steffener J, Razlighi QR, Habeck C, Liu D, Gazes Y, Janicki S, Stern Y (2015) Abeta-related hyperactivation in frontoparietal control regions in cognitively normal elderly. Neurobiol Aging 36:3247–3254.
- Rivera EJ, Goldin A, Fulmer N, Tavares R, Wands JR, de la Monte SM (2005) Insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and function deteriorate with progression of Alzheimer's disease: link to brain reductions in acetylcholine. J Alzheimers Dis 8:247–268.

Sakono M, Zako T (2010) Amyloid oligomers: Formation and toxicity of Aβ oligomers. FEBS J 277:1348–1358.

Schubert M, Gautam D, Surjo D, Ueki K, Baudler S, Schubert D, Kondo T, Alber J, Galldiks N, Küstermann E, Arndt S, Jacobs AH, Krone W, Kahn CR, Brüning JC (2004) Role for neuronal insulin resistance in neurodegenerative diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101:3100–3105.

Selkoe DJ, Hardy J (2016) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. EMBO Mol Med, 8:595-608.

- Sipos E, Kurunczi A, Kasza Á, Horváth J, Felszeghy K, Laroche S, Toldi J, Párducz Á, Penke B, Penke Z (2007) Beta-Amyloid pathology in the entorhinal cortex of rats induces memory deficits: Implications for Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience 147:28–36.
- Smith GS, de Leon MJ, George AE, Kluger A, Volkow ND, McRae T, Golomb J, Ferris SH, Reisberg B, Ciaravino J (1992) Topography of cross-sectional and longitudinal glucose metabolic deficits in Alzheimer's disease. Pathophysiologic implications. Arch Neurol 49:1142–1150.
- Steen E, Terry BM, Rivera EJ, Cannon JL, Neely TR, Tavares R, Xu XJ, Wands JR, de la Monte SM (2005) Impaired insulin and insulin-like growth factor expression and signaling mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease is this type 3 diabetes? J Alzheimers Dis 7:63–80.
- Swerdlow RH, Burns JM, Khan SM (2014) The Alzheimer's disease mitochondrial cascade hypothesis: Progress and perspectives. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1842:1219–1231.
- Takeda S, Sato N, Uchio-Yamada K, Sawada K, Kunieda T, Takeuchi D, Kurinami H, Shinohara M, Rakugi H, Morishita R (2010) Diabetes-accelerated memory dysfunction via cerebrovascular inflammation and Abeta deposition in an Alzheimer mouse model with diabetes. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:7036–7041.
- Talbot K, Wang H, Kazi H, Han L, Bakshi KP, Stucky A, Fuino RL, Kawaguchi KR, Samoyedny AJ, Wilson RS, Arvanitakis Z, Schneider J a, Wolf B a, Bennett D a, Trojanowski JQ, Arnold SE (2012) Demonstrated brain insulin resistance in alzheimer's disease patients is assocaited with IGF-1 resisitance, IRS-1 dysregulation, and cogntive decline. J Clin Invest 122: 1316-1338.
- Townsend M, Shankar GM, Mehta T, Walsh DM, Selkoe DJ (2006) Effects of secreted oligomers of amyloid beta-protein on hippocampal synaptic plasticity: a potent role for trimers. J Physiol 572:477–492.
- Townsend M, Mehta T, Selkoe DJ (2007) Soluble Abeta inhibits specific signal transduction cascades common to the insulin receptor pathway. J Biol Chem 282:33305–33312.
- van Leiden H a, Dekker JM, Moll AC, Nijpels G, Heine RJ, Bouter LM, Stehouwer CD, Polak BCP (2003) Risk factors for incident retinopathy in a diabetic and nondiabetic population: the Hoorn study. Arch Ophthalmol 121:245–251.
- Verdile G, Fuller SJ, Martins RN (2015a) The role of type 2 diabetes in neurodegeneration. Neurobiol Dis 84:22–38.
- Walsh DM, Klyubin I, Fadeeva J V, Cullen WK, Anwyl R, Wolfe MS, Rowan MJ, Selkoe DJ (2002) Naturally secreted oligomers of amyloid beta protein potently inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. Nature 416:535–539.
- Wang Z-X, Lan T, Inyuan L, T Y in-T (2016) The essential role of soluble Aβ oligomers in Alzheimer's Disease. Mol Neurobiol:1905–1924.
- World Health Organization (2000) Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 894:1-253.
- Yeh CW, Yeh SHH, Shie FS, Lai WS, Liu HK, Tzeng TT, Tsay HJ, Shiao YJ (2015) Impaired cognition and cerebral glucose regulation are associated with astrocyte activation in the parenchyma of metabolically stressed APPswe/PS1dE9 mice. Neurobiol Aging 36:2984–2994.
- Zhao W-Q, De Felice FG, Fernandez S, Chen H, Lambert MP, Quon MJ, Krafft G, Klein WL (2008) Amyloid beta oligomers induce impairment of neuronal insulin receptors. FASEB J 22:246–260.


**Titre :** Le Diabète de Type 2 agit comme un facteur de risque dans le développement de stades précoces de la maladie d'Alzheimer

Mots clés : β-amyloïdes solubles, Voie PI3K-Akt, Dysfonctionnement, CA1, Mémoire spatiale, Obésité

## Résumé :

Après le vieillissement, le diabète Mellitus de type 2 (DMT2) est le facteur de risque le plus important pour développer la maladie d'Alzheimer (MA). Le DMT2 est une maladie métabolique caractérisée par une hyperglycémie et une résistance à l'insuline qui se développe vers la cinquantaine et est fortement favorisée par l'obésité. Nous avons exploré l'impact potentiel du DMT2 sur le développement de la MA chez le Rat. Pour cela, nous avons utilisé un régime alimentaire cafétéria (RC) couplé à des injections de faibles doses de Streptozotocine (STZ) (STZ-CD). Les rats STZ-CD montrent des signes classiques de DMT2 et des déficits légers de consolidation en mémoire de reconnaissance spatiale. Afin d'imiter le développement des stades précoces de la MA, la moitié des rats reçoivent une infusion intracérébrale de peptides β-amyloïdes solubles (Aβ) qui ne conduisent pas à des déficits mnésiques durables. Par contre, le phénotype DMT2 chez les rats STZ-CD exacerbe les déficits mnésiques observés avec le peptide A $\beta$  en les prolongeant dans le temps. L'enrichissement environnemental pendant une période critique de 2 semaines après l'infusion d'Aß est capable

de compenser les déficits mnésiques induits par le peptide Aß et/ou le traitement STZ-CD; mais d'une manière limitée dans le temps. Des analyses biochimiques dans l'aire CA1 de l'hippocampe ont été effectuées pour explorer de possibles altérations de la voie PI3K, de marqueurs de la cascade amyloïde et du DMT2. Le peptide Aß seul induit peu de changements durables ; le phénotype DMT2 seul est associé à des changements pour quelques protéines-clé, largement en liaison avec le régime cafétéria. Par contre, la majorité des modifications dysfonctionnelles de protéines est observée chez les rats montrant un phénotype de type DMT2 et recevant le peptide Aß. Ces altérations, similaires à celles rapportées chez des patients atteints de la MA et chez des modèles animaux de la MA, concernent notamment des protéines de la voie PI3K-Akt impliquée dans des fonctions comme l'autophagie et l'inflammation et des marqueurs de la MA. L'altération de ces protéines pourrait contribuer aux déficits mnésiques durables observés et mettre en lumière des mécanismes moléculaires induits par le DMT2 et promouvant un milieu neuronal favorisant le développement d'un stade précoce de la maladie d'Alzheimer.

Title: Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus acts as a risk factor for the development of early stage Alzheimer's disease

**Keywords:** Soluble β-amyloid, PI3K-Akt signaling pathway, Insulin dysfunction, CA1, Spatial memory, Obesity

## Abstract:

Following aging, type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) is the most important risk factor of developing Alzheimer's disease (AD). It is a metabolic disorder characterised by hyperglycemia and insulin resistance that develops in middle age and is promoted largely by obesity. In this study, we used a T2DM rat model to assess the potential impact T2DM may have on the development of AD. Rats were fed cafeteria-style diet (CD) coupled with low dose injections of Streptozotocin (STZ)(STZ-CD). We found that STZ-CD treated rats showed classic signs of T2DM and a modest deficit in consolidation of spatial recognition memory. In order to mimic the development of early stage AD, half of the rats were infused with a soluble oligomeric amyloid beta (A $\beta$ ), which alone was not sufficient to induce long-lasting memory deficits. Interestingly, the T2DM phenotype exacerbated the memory deficits induced by Aß infusion by prolonging these deficits. Environmental enrichment during a critical two-week period following infusion of AB rescued memory deficits induced by AB

and/or STZ-CD treatment; however, this was time-limited. Biochemical analyses were conducted mainly in proteins involved in the PI3K-Akt signalling pathway and markers of AD and T2DM in CA1 of the hippocampus. A $\beta$  alone induced few long-lasting changes; T2DM phenotype alone induced some changes that were largely mediated by CD treatment alone; however, the majority of dysfunctional regulation of proteins was observed in rats showing a T2DM phenotype that were infused with Aβ. More importantly, many of these changes are similar to those reported in brains of AD patients or rodent models of the disease; notably key proteins in the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway that mediate functions such as autophagy, inflammation and markers of AD. Dysregulation of these proteins may contribute to the long-lasting memory deficits seen in this model, which may provide evidence of molecular mechanisms induced by T2DM that could promote a dysfunctional neuronal environment favouring the development of early stages of Alzheimer's disease.